# MYOB Advanced

Release Notes

2021.1.1



# Contents

Introduction	1
What's New in this Release?	1
Installing this Release	1
New Features	2
Construction	2
Debit Adjustments for Subcontracts	2
Subcontract Billing	4
UI Improvements	4
CRM	5
Enhanced Workflows	5
Enhanced Duplicate Validation Workflow	9
Enhancements Related to Contacts and Employees	11
Multifaceted View for Business Accounts	12
Multifaceted View for Opportunities, Contacts, and Cases	14
Finance	18
Company Groups	18
Financial Dashboards	20
Fixed Assets Under Construction	26
Paid Amounts and Line-Level Balances in AR Reports	29
New Workflow Support on Finance Screens	
Prepare Payments by Project	
Restricted Visibility of Supplier Records	35
Support for Cash Transactions in Bank Deposits	38
Support for Price Lists for Net/Gross Prices	40
Synchronisation of Tax Periods with Financial Periods	43
Tax Support for Expenses on Bank Transfers	44
Other Improvements	45

Integration	49
Changes to Product Exporting	49
Changes to Tax Settings	50
Enhancements in the Commerce Sync Monitoring Dashboard	53
Filtering Entities by Custom Fields and Attributes	54
Importing Order Fraud Analysis from Shopify	56
Importing Returns and Refunds from BigCommerce	58
Support for Multiple Warehouse Locations for Shopify	61
Synchronisation of Multiple Order Types with BigCommerce	62
Other Improvements	63
Manufacturing	67
Capable-to-Promise Functionality	67
Enhanced Linking of Sales Order Lines and Production Orders	70
Enhanced Work Centre Capacity Scheduling	74
New Workflow in Engineering Change Requests, Engineering Change Orders, and Supplier Shipments	78
Other Improvements	79
Distribution	82
Cross-Company Sales	82
Dead Stock Detection	92
Improvements to Drop-Ship Processing	93
Matrix Item Enhancements	97
Multi-Currency in Purchase Returns	.103
New Workflow in Order Management Documents	104
Purchase Receipts for Non-Stock Items Without the Inventory Feature	108
UI Changes in Inventory and Order Management Screens	111
Platform	.118
SMS Messaging for Business Events	118
Mobile Push Notifications for Business Events	.122
Improvements to Business Events and Notification Configuration	.123
Business Events Triggered by an Action	.126
Key Performance Indicator (KPI) Widget	.127

Link Widgets for Dashboards	130
Changing the Title of a Generic Inquiry	132
Navigating from a Generic Inquiry to an External URI	134
Improvements to Generic Inquiry Side Panels	135
Selecting the Table for Notes and File Attachments	139
Expanded Search and Recently Viewed Records	140
Creating Business Events from an Inquiry Screen	141
Project Management	142
Account Groups	142
Closing Commitments	142
Default Accounts and Subaccounts	144
New Workflow Support on Project Entry Screens	148
Service Management	151
Customisation Improvements to Calendar Boards	151
Addition of AP Bills to Appointments and Service Orders	153
Ability to Make Corrections in a Field Service Document	154
Integration with Workflow Engine	158
Other Improvements	164
User Interface	166
Screen Subtitles	166
Customisation	168
Customising Screens of the Self-Service Portal	168
Default Values of User-Defined Fields	169
Improvements in Workflows	170
Upgraded Automated Warehouse Operations Engine	173
Mobile Development	174
Mapping Smart Panels to the Mobile App	174
Platform API	175
Moved Functionality	

# Resolved Issues

Finance	176
Distribution	176
Project Management	177
Service Management	177
Customer Portal	177
System and Platform	177

# 176

# Introduction

Welcome to the 2021.1.1 release of MYOB Advanced.

# What's New in this Release?

MYOB Advanced 2021.1.1 is a major release that adds a wide range of new features across the entire MYOB Advanced system.

# Installing this Release

The 2021.1.1 release is automatically deployed to all production accounts.

# **New Features**

# Construction

# Debit Adjustments for Subcontracts

In previous releases, users could not process a partial debit adjustment for a bill prepared for a subcontract with retainage because in the lines of the prepared debit adjustment, the quantities, unit cost and extended cost have been unavailable for editing.

As of this release, users can create a partial debit adjustment for a bill prepared for a subcontract with retainage.

#### UI Changes to the Bills and Adjustments Screen

The Add Subcontracts window has been renamed to Add Subcontract.

On the table toolbar of the Document Details tab of the Bills and Adjustments screen (AP301000), an **Add Subcontract Line** button has been added. In the Add Subcontract Line window, which is opened when the user clicks the **Add Subcontract Line** button, Project Task and Cost Code columns have been added; the Subitem column has been removed, and the Subcontract Date has been renamed to Date.

#### Debit Adjustment Creation

A user can create a debit adjustment on the Bills and Adjustments screen (AP301000) and add particular lines or all lines of a subcontract to this document.

When the user clicks the **Add Subcontract** button, the system opens the Add Subcontract window, which lists the subcontracts of the selected supplier that have at least one non-cancelled line (see the following screenshot). For each subcontract, the system displays the following columns: Subcontract, Project, Supplier, Location, Date, Currency, Subcontract Total, Total Billed Qty., and Total Billed Amount.

Account

# Construction

When the user clicks the **Add Subcontract Line** button, the system opens the Add Subcontract Line window, which lists the non-cancelled lines of the subcontracts of the selected supplier (see the following screenshot). By default, the table lists the lines with a nonzero billed quantity and billed amount. The user can select the **Show Unbilled Lines** check box to also review the lines with a zero billed quantity and a zero billed amount).

For each subcontract line, the following columns are displayed: Subcontract, Project, Project Task, Cost Code, Supplier, Location, Date, Currency, Inventory ID, Ext. Cost, Unbilled Qty., Unbilled Amount, Billed Qty., Billed Amount.

Bills and Ad Debit Ad		nts BC Studios In	c.									🗋 NOTES
← ♡	6	) v +	🛍 () - К	< >	>I PRE	-RELEASE REL	EASE	ACTIONS - INQUI	RIES - REF	PORTS -		
Туре:		Debit Adj. 👻	* Supplier:	V00000001 -	ABC Studios	Inc. P		Detail Total:	0.00			
Reference	Nbr.:	<new> ,0</new>	* Location:	MAIN - Primar	y Location	Q		Discount Total:	0.00			
Status:		Balanced	Currency:	AUD 1.0	• 0	VIEW BASE		GST Taxable Total:	0.00			
			Terms:					GST Exempt Total:	0.00			
* Date:		11/06/2021 -	Due Date:					Tax Total:	0.00			
* Post Perio		12-2021 <sup>,</sup>	Prompt Payme		🗌 Pay by	Line Track for	TPAR	With. Tax:	0.00			
Supplier R	ef.:							Balance:	0.00			
								Rounding Diff.:	0.00			
Description	1:							Prompt Payment	0.00			
DOCUME		TAILS FINAN	CIAL DETAILS T	AX DETAILS	APPROVAL D		JNT DETAIL	S APPLICATIONS	COMPLIAN	ICE		
						_		_				
Ů +	0	× VIEW	DEFERRALS AD	D PO RECEIPT	ADD SUBC	CONTRACT ADD	SUBCONT	RACT LINE ADD LC	<b>↔</b> X	t		
	Add	Subcontract Lir								×	Amount	Balance *Account
_	/100	oubcontract En								~		
	Sub	ocontract Nbr.:	SC-000002	Q		Show Unbilled	Lines					
	Ċ	⊷  <b>X</b>										
	8	Subcontract Nbr.	Project	Project Task	Cost Code	Supplier	Location	Date	Currency	Inventory ID		
	>	SC-000002	PR0000075	INSTALL	0000	V00000001	MAIN	11/06/2021	AUD	DATAMIG		
		SC-000002	PR00000075	INSTALL	0000	V00000001	MAIN	11/06/2021	AUD	SAASSWLICN		
	€									•		
			Q						< <	> >		
							A	DD SUBCONTRACT LIN	E ADD & CL	OSE CANCEL		

In the Add Subcontract or Add Subcontract Line window, when the user selects the unlabelled check box for the subcontract or subcontract lines to be added, and clicks **Add & Close**, the system adds the selected subcontract lines to the debit adjustment. The following values are specified in the added debit adjustment lines:

- Account, Subaccount, Tax Category, Project, Project Task, and Cost Code, which are copied from the corresponding subcontract line and can be overridden
- **Ext. Cost**, which is copied from the Billed Amount of the subcontract line and can be overridden
- **Quantity** and **Unit Cost**, which are equal to zero and can be overridden
- **Discount Percent** and **Discount Amount**, which are equal to zero and cannot be overridden
- **Retainage Percent** and **Retainage Amount**, which are equal to zero and cannot be overridden

On release of the debit adjustment, the system decreases the billed amount and billed quantity in the subcontract lines of the corresponding subcontract on the Subcontracts screen (SC301000).

If the debit adjustment line is linked to a subcontract line that was closed and completed, on the release of the debit adjustment, the system also clears the **Closed** and **Completed** check boxes in the subcontract line on the Document Details tab of the Subcontracts screen.

#### Known Limitations

The following limitations apply to the functionality:

- A quantity in a debit adjustment line may not exceed the billed quantity in the corresponding subcontract line. If the quantity in a debit adjustment line is greater than or equal to the billed quantity in the subcontract line, the debit adjustment cannot be released.
- In a debit adjustment line linked to a subcontract, the particular project and project task specified in this line cannot be changed. If a non-project code is specified in a debit adjustment line linked to a subcontract, it can be changed to a particular project, and a project task can be specified in the line; the system will warn the user that the specified project and project task differs from those in the corresponding subcontract line.

# Subcontract Billing

The logic related to the billing of subcontract lines that are closed by amount has been adjusted in this release and works as described below.

If the inventory item of a subcontract line has the "By Amount" option selected in the **Close PO Line** field on the General Settings tab of the Non-Stock Items screen (IN202000), when an accounts payable document is created for the subcontract line or the subcontract line is added to an AP document on the Document Details tab of the Bills and Adjustments screen (AP301000), the system populates the value of the **Ext. Cost** column of the corresponding AP document line with the value of the **Unbilled Amount** column of the subcontract line from the Document Details tab of the Subcontracts screen (SC301000).

Also, the system does not copy the discount percent and discount amount of such a subcontract line to an accounts payable document created for the line. That is, the values in the Discount Percent and Discount Amount columns on the Document Details tab of the Bills and Adjustments screen will be zero, as the following screenshot shows.

## **UI** Improvements

In MYOB Advanced 2021.1.1, multiple minor enhancements have been made to construction-related screens to make these screens easier to use:

- On the General tab of the Suppliers screen (AP303000), the Supplier Defaults section has been renamed to Project Defaults.
- In the tables on the following screens, the **Has Expired Compliance Documents** column has been renamed to **Expired Compliance**:
  - The Document Details tab of the Bills and Adjustments screen (AP301000)
  - The Documents To Apply and Application History tabs of the Checks and Payments screen (AP302000)
  - The Document Details and Applications tabs of the Invoices and Memos screen (AR301000)
  - The Documents To Apply and Application History tabs of the Payments and Applications screen (AR302000)
  - The Commitments tab of the Change Orders screen (PM308000)
  - The Document Details tab of the Purchase Orders screen (PO301000)

# CRM

# Enhanced Workflows

In this release, the workflows used for business accounts, customers, suppliers, and locations have been redesigned.

### Improved Layout of the Business Accounts Screen

In previous versions of MYOB Advanced, a user manually changed the state of a business account. As of this release, with the new workflow, the state of a business account is changed by the system based on the actions in the Actions menu that are executed. On the Business Accounts screen (CR303000), all the actions to change the state of a business account are now in the Actions menu of the screen toolbar (see the following screenshot).

Business Accounts ACITAISYST - Acit	ai Systems - Co	omputer Se	ervices	Fo	r Busines	SS			
	+ 🖻	ĵ∙ K	<	>	>  [	EXTEND AS CU	STOMER	ACTIONS -	
	ACITAISYST Prospect		م TIVITIES		Owner: Class: CONTACTS	S LOCATION	s shipi	Activate Hold Credit Hold Remove Credit Hold Deactivate	OPPORTUNITIES
ACCOUNT INFO * Account Name: ACCOUNT ADDRESS _	Acitai Systems -				PRIMA Name Job Ti Email:	itle:	First Nam	View Supplier Change ID Create Contact	
Address Line 1: Address Line 2: City: State:	Leon House 233 High Street Croydon			ρ	Cell	ness 1 • • CT PERSONAL D nsented to the Pro		Charly for Duplicator	
Postal Code: * Country: ADDITIONAL ACCOUNT Business 1 •	CR0 9XT GB - United King INFO					of Consent: ent Expires:		Mark as Validated Close as Duplicate	

When a user clicks a particular action, the system automatically changes the state of the business account in the **Customer Status** field of the screen as part of its processing. The **Customer Status** field is no longer available for manual editing.



The following changes to the layout of the screen have also been made:

- The former **Class ID** field has been renamed to **Class** and moved from the CRM Info tab of the screen to the Summary area. Also, an **Edit** button has been added right of the **Class** field.
- The **Type** field has been moved from the Summary area of the screen to the CRM Info tab. After the upgrade to MYOB Advanced 2021.1.1 from previous versions, for the business accounts that formerly had the "Prospect (PR)" type, the system changes the value in the **Type** field to Business Account.



#### Enhanced Workflow for Business Accounts, Customers, and Suppliers

As of this release, the workflow for business accounts and customers works the same way, and business accounts and customers share the same states. When the state of a business account is changed to a new one, the state of the associated customer changes accordingly. For example, if a user clicks **Actions > Activate** on the screen toolbar of the Business Accounts screen (CR303000), which causes the system to change the state of the selected business account to "Active", the system changes the state of the associated customer to "Active" on the Customers screen (AR303000) as soon as the user specifies the required settings and saves the new customer record. The customer state is displayed in the **Customer Status** field of the Summary area on the Business Accounts and the Customers screens.

For a business account that has been extended as a supplier, the Customer Status field still shows the business account and the customer status, and not the supplier status, even though the business account type becomes Supplier. For more information about the new workflow for customers, see "New Workflow Support on Finance Screens" on page 31.

Starting in MYOB Advanced 2021.1.1, the workflow for suppliers has become independent from the workflows for customers and business accounts. For example, if a supplier has the Active state in the Supplier Status field of the Suppliers screen (AP303000), and a user clicks Actions > Put On Hold on the Business Accounts screen, which causes the system to change the state of the associated customer, the state of the supplier remains Active. (The state of the associated customer changes to On Hold.)

### States of a Business Account and Transitions Between States

With the new workflow, the states of a business account are shared with the states of the associated customer, but these states are separated from the states of the associated supplier.

With the new workflow, transitions between states of a business account have been implemented through actions on the Actions menu on the Business Accounts screen (CR303000). When an action is executed, as part of the processing, the system changes the current state of a business account and the associated customer to the particular state that is defined in the workflow. Customers or partners can customize the new workflow by changing these transitions and defining new values for the states, if needed. For more information about the updated states of a business account and the associated customer, and about the updated states of the supplier, see "New Workflow Support on Finance Screens" on page 31.

When a new business account is created through an API, the business account should have the "Prospect" status (reflected in the **Customer Status** field of the Summary area). If the "Active" status is assigned to the new business account when it is created, errors related to the extension of the account as a customer occur.

#### Improved Layout of the Update Business Accounts Screen

To support transitions between states in business accounts with the new workflow, in the Summary area of the Update Business Accounts screen (CR503320), the following changes have been made:

- An **Operation** field has been added. In this field, a user can select one of the following options: "Update Settings" or "Execute Action". If "Execute Action" is selected and a user clicks **Process** or **Process All** on the screen toolbar, the system executes the action selected in the **Action** field (see the following item) for the selected business account records or all business account records in the table.
- An Action field has been added. If "Update Settings" is selected in the Operation field, the Action field is unavailable for editing and the screen can be used as it was used in previous versions. If "Execute Action" is selected in the Operation field, the Action field can be edited and a filter is applied to the table with the list of business account records, so that the table displays only those records to which the selected action can be applied.

Update Business Ad	counts		
ථ 🖍 PROCESS	PROCESS ALL  ↔	x Y	
Operation:	Execute Action	•	
Action:	Activate	•	
ALL RECORDS MY	Activate Hold Credit Hold	WORK TREE INACTIVE ALL	
🖹 🕕 🗋 Туре	Remove Credit Hold Deactivate Set as One-Time Customer	iccount Name	Customer Status
	Set as Regular Customer	_	

### Improved Layout of the Account Locations Screen

In previous releases of MYOB Advanced, in the Summary area of the Account Locations screen (CR303010), the **Active** check box indicated (if selected) that the business account location was active and could be used in documents. As of this release, the **Active** check box has been replaced by the new **Status** field, as shown in the following screenshot.

ACITAISYST MAIN	- Primary Location		
	+ 🗇 🗘 • K <	> >I ACTIONS -	
* Business Account:	ACITAISYST - Acitai Systems - Compu	0	
* Location ID:	MAIN - Primary Location	0	
Status:	Active		
LOCATION INFO		ADDITIONAL LOCATI	ON INFO
LOCATION INFO	Primary Location	ADDITIONAL LOCATI	ON INFO
Location Name:			
Location Name:	Primary Location		Override

Similar changes have been made on the Customer Locations (AR303020) and Supplier Locations (AP303010) screens. For more information, see "New Workflow Support on Finance Screens" on page 31.

#### Enhanced Workflow for Business Account Locations

With the new workflow, transitions between the states of a business account location have been implemented through actions on the Actions menu on the Account Locations screen (CR303010). When an action is executed, as part of the processing, the system changes the current state of the business account location to the particular state that is defined in the workflow.

The state of the business account location is reflected in the **Status** field and can have one of the following options:

- Active: The business account location is active and can be used in documents.
- **Inactive**: The business account location is inactive and cannot be used in documents.

During an upgrade from previous earlier versions, business account locations that had the **Active** check box selected on the Account Locations screen are assigned the **Active** state. Other locations have been transitioned to the Inactive state. On the Account Locations screen (CR3031PL), the Active column has been hidden and replaced by a new Status column, but a user can still add it back, if needed.

Similar changes have been made on the Customer Locations (AR303020) and Supplier Locations (AP303010) screens. For more information, see "New Workflow Support on Finance Screens" on page 31.

#### Automation Changes

If the organisation uses automation steps, import scenarios, or export scenarios for the Business Accounts (CR303000), Update Business Accounts (CR503320), Account Locations (CR303010), Customers (AR303000), Customer Locations (AR303020), Suppliers (AP303000) or Supplier Locations (AP303010) screens, users who work on customisations will need to redesign the automation of the processes related to these screens by using the new workflow engine. For more information, see the "Creating Workflows" chapter in the MYOB Advanced Customisation Guide.

# Enhanced Duplicate Validation Workflow

In MYOB Advanced 2021.1.1, users can more flexibly configure duplicate validation workflow, which helps to decrease the number of duplicate leads, contacts, and business accounts in the system.

#### Enhanced Duplicate Validation Workflow for Leads and Contacts

In previous releases, users could check if a new lead or contact had duplicates only after the new record had been created in the system. As of this release, the system gives users the ability to check if a lead or contact has duplicates before a new record has been created.

A **Create on Entry** column has been added to the Lead and Contact Validation Rules and Lead and Account Validation Rules tabs of the Customer Management Preferences screen (CR101000). In this column, a user can select one of the following options:

- Allow (default): The system can check the values in the Matching Field column for a new lead or contact record to find duplicates before it is saved at least once. However, the system will not either display a warning message or block the creation of a duplicate record. (The duplicate validation process is the same as in previous versions.) In the Summary area of the Duplicate Validation Settings tab, the Validate Leads and Contacts for Duplicates on Entry check box is available for editing.
- Warn: The system makes the value in the Score Weight column equal to the value in the Lead and Contact Validation Threshold field. The Validate Leads and Contacts for Duplicates on Entry check box becomes selected and unavailable for editing.

As a result, if a user tries to create a lead or contact that has the duplicate setting, the system inserts "Possible Duplicate" in the **Duplicate** field of the Summary area of the Leads (CR301000) or Contacts (CR302000) screens respectively and displays the warning message if the user tries to save the lead or contact. The user can choose to save the lead or contact or to cancel record creation.

Customer Management Preferences			
GENERAL SETTINGS DUPLICATE VALIDATION S	ETTINGS MAILING	SETTINGS	
Lead and Contact Validation Score Threshold: Lead and Account Validation Score Threshold: Account Validation Score Threshold:	5.00 6.00 5.50		
Close Leads with no Activities with Score Higher Than:		nd Contacts for Duplicates on Entry s for Duplicates on Entry	
LEAD AND CONTACT VALIDATION RULES	AND ACCOUNT VALIDAT	ATION RULES ACCOUNT VALIDATION RULES	
$\circlearrowright$ + × $ \neg $ X			
Score Weight	Transformation Rule	Create on Entry	
Email 1.5000	None	Warn -	
First Name 1.0000	None	Allow Warn	
Account Name 1.5000	Split Words	Allow	

The **Require Unique Email Address on Contact Validation** check box in the Summary area is now obsolete, and has been removed from the Customer Management Preferences screen.

#### Enhanced Duplicate Validation Workflow for Business Accounts

In previous versions, users could check if a new business account had duplicates only after the account had been created in the system. As of this release, the system gives users the ability to check if a business account has duplicates before the account has been created or to prevent creation of duplicate business accounts. The system can prevent manual creation of a business account or mass creation of multiple business accounts through an import scenario or API.

A new Create on Entry column has been added to the Account Validation Rules tab of the Customer Management Preferences screen (CR101000). In this column, a user can select one of the following options:

- Allow (default): The system can check the values in the Matching Field column for a new business account record to find duplicates before it has been saved at least once. However, the system will not display a warning message. (The duplicate validation process is the same as in previous versions.) In the Summary area of the Duplicate Validation Settings tab, the Validate Accounts for Duplicates on Entry check box is available for editing.
- Warn (see Item 1 in the following screenshot): If this option is selected for a setting, the system makes the value in the Score Weight column (Item 2) equal to the value in the Account Validation Threshold field (Item 3). The Validate Accounts for Duplicates on Entry check box becomes selected and unavailable for editing (Item 4).

As a result, if a user tries to create a business account that has the duplicate setting, on the Business Accounts screen (CR303000), the system inserts "Possible Duplicate" in the **Duplicate** field of the Summary area and displays the warning message. The user can choose to save the business account or to cancel record creation.

• **Block** (Item 5): If this option is selected for the setting in the Matching Field column, the system makes the value in the Score Weight column (Item 6) equal to the value in the **Account Validation Threshold** field (Item 3). The **Validate Accounts for Duplicates on Entry** check box becomes selected and unavailable for editing (Item 4).



As a result, the system prevents creation of a duplicate business account and shows an error message when the user tries to save the account (see the screenshot below).

Customer Management Preferences			
GENERAL SETTINGS DUPLICATE VALIDATION	SETTINGS MAILING	IG SETTINGS	
Lead and Contact Validation Score Threshold:	5.00		
Lead and Account Validation Score Threshold:	6.00		
Account Validation Score Threshold:	5.50		
Close Leads with no Activities with Score Higher Than:	5.50		
	🗸 Validate Leads ar	and Contacts for Duplicates on Entry	
	Validate Accounts	its for Duplicates on Entry	
LEAD AND CONTACT VALIDATION RULES LEAD	) AND ACCOUNT VALIDA	DATION RULES ACCOUNT VALIDATION RULES	
Č + × ⊢ ⊠			
🖹 * Matching Field Score Weigh	t Transformation Rule	Create on Entry	
Z EMail 2.0000	None	Allow -	
FullName 2.5000	Split Words	Block	
Phone1 1.0000	None	Allow Warn	
Phone2 1.0000	None	Allow	

# Enhancements Related to Contacts and Employees

Enhancements have been made to the layout of the Employees (EP203000) and Contacts (CR302000) screens, and the workflow for contacts has been improved.

#### Removal of Access to Employee Contact Information from Contacts

In previous releases, on the Contacts screen (CR302000), a user could view the employee settings of contacts that had the Employee type. As of this release, employee settings are no longer available for viewing from the Contacts screen: In the **Contact ID** field of the Summary area, a user can select only a contact record of the "Contact" type.

Contact ID:		Bumbry	Q	P	usiness Account:	CUST000001 - BA Ind	h and a s	Q	0		
Status:	-	elect - Contact ID	þ		usiness Account.	C03100001 - BAINC	Justries	2		×	
	5	elect - Contact ID									
	s	SELECT 💍 ⊣-	·I							Q	
DETAILS ACTIVITIE	8	Contact		t	Job Title		Business Account		Compar		TING LIS
ONTACT	>	AI Bumbry			Purchasing		CUST00000	1	BA Ind	ustries	
First Name:		Alan Plain			Software Consultant		CHOCOLATE	=	Chocol	late By	
Last Name:		Albert DosSantos					CUST00000	5	ABC S	tudios I	
Company Name:		Alex Novak			Purchasing Manager		WESTERNT	RC	Wester	n Star	
Job Title: Email:		Alistair Barnard			Facilities Manager		ASAHISUNT	R	Asahi S	Sun Tou	
Business 1 -		Anders Nylander			Sales Manager		MAKSYSTE	MM	Mak Sy	ystem	
Cell -	4									÷	
Home -							K	<	>	ы	

Also, the **Type** field has been removed from the Summary area of this screen.

## Enhanced Workflow for Contacts

In previous releases, in the Summary area of the Contacts screen (CR302000), the Active check box indicated (if selected) that the contact was active and could be used in documents. As of this release, the **Active** check box has been replaced with a new **Status** field.

Contacts Al Bumbry - BA	Industries				
	∽ + @ Ç• к	$\langle \rangle$	SEND LOGIN L	INK ACTIONS -	
Contact ID:	AL Bumbry	0	Business Account:	CUST000001 - BA Industries	P 0
Status:	Active		Owner:		Q,
			Duplicate:	Validated	

With the new workflow, transitions between the states of a contact have been implemented through actions on the Actions menu on the Contacts screen. When an action is executed, as part of the processing, the system changes the current state of the contact to the particular state that is defined in the workflow.

The state of the contact is reflected in the **Status** field and can have one of the following options:

- Active: The contact is active and can be used in documents.
- **Inactive**: The contact is inactive and cannot be used in documents.

During an upgrade from earlier versions, contacts of the "Person" type that had the **Active** check box selected on the Contacts screen are assigned the "Active" state. Other contacts of the "Person" type are assigned the "Inactive" state.

#### Improvements to the Employees Screen

The layout of the Employees screen (EP203000) has been enhanced. The **Employee Contact** field in the Contact Info section of the General Info tab, which showed the link to the associated contact record, has been removed.

Another improvement has been made to the General Info tab of the Employees screen: In the Employee Settings section, a **Synchronize to Exchange** check box has been added. If needed, a user can select this check box for an employee record regardless of the value in the **Status** field.

# Multifaceted View for Business Accounts

A side panel with a number of tabs has been added for the list of business accounts, which gives users the ability to view the list of business accounts while simultaneously viewing (and modifying, if necessary) various information related to any listed account (prospect, customer, or supplier).

#### A Side Panel for the List of Business Accounts

In previous releases of MYOB Advanced, a user seeking more information about a particular business account had to open multiple screens to find contacts, opportunities, sales orders, support cases, or other information associated with the business account, which could be time-consuming. As of this release, the Business Accounts screen (CR3030PL) has a side panel, so that the user can have a comprehensive view of a prospect, customer, or supplier by switching between tabs on the side panel (which show

screens and dashboard widgets). Thus, the user can quickly find, view, and modify the information related to any business account.

Users' ability to view or modify the objects on the tabs of the side panel depends on the access rights of their roles for each screen or dashboard shown on a tab and each screen underlying a dashboard widget. Thus, after the upgrade from a previous version to MYOB Advanced 2021.1.1, the side panel tabs or widgets on a dashboard may not be initially available. In this case, on the Access Rights by Role screen (SM202015), a system administrator makes sure each required user role has the needed access rights to the screen with the side panel, to each of the screens and dashboards that are displayed on the tabs of the side panel, and to the screens any dashboard widgets are based on.

The access rights have been preconfigured for the predefined CRM user roles, such as CR Marketing Manager or CR Viewer, to give users with these roles the ability to view, modify, or delete the objects on the side panel. A system administrator can configure similar access rights for any other user role, if needed. On the Business Accounts generic inquiry screen (CR3030PL), a generic inquiry designer can specify a different set of navigation targets to be displayed on the tabs of the side panel, if needed.

The following screenshot shows the Business Accounts screen (CR3030PL) with the tab of the side panel displaying customer invoices of the selected business account.

	ısi		ss Accounts	CUSTOMI	SATION - TOOLS -	>	Cases AMRO B	ank N.V.			5
Q		\$	> + 0			80	Customer A	AMROBANK - AM	IRO Bank N ル		
	AL	L RE	CORDS MY A	ACCOUNTS ACCOUNT SUMMARY							
Ту	ре	: All	Class: All	•	م	2	ALL CAS				11
Cu	usto	omei	r Status: All 👻		~	0	PENDIN	G CUSTOMER CASES			(
0	•		Business Account	Business Account Name	Туре		OPEN CA	SES 🕐 Updated a moment ago			
Q	)		ACITAISYST	Acital Systems - Computer Services For Bu	Supplier		Case ID	Subject	Status	Priority	Created On
0	9		ADPSERVICE	Automatic Data Processing Inc.	Supplier	+	000056	Clarifications about API	New	Medium	21/05/
0	3		AEROCOREBE	Aerocorebe Travel Agency Corporation	Supplier		000054	Clarification on security feature	s New	Medium	21/05/
Q	3		ALPHABETLD	Alphabetland School Center	Customer	•	000050	Display problems	New	Medium	8/03/2
Q	3	D	AMROBANK	AMRO Bank N.V.	Customer		<u>000044</u>	Login Failed	Open	Medium	8/03/2
Q	3		ANTUNSWEST	Antun's of Westchester	Customer	Ē	000041	Down Server	Open	High	8/03/2
Q	3		APOSTELSCH	Church of The Apostles	Customer		CASES H	IISTORY			
Q	3		ARKTAK	Arktak Networks	Supplier	B	10 7				
0	3		ARTCAGES	Artcages Co.	Customer		10				
	3		ASAHISUNTR	Asahi Sun Tours	Customer	5	5 -				
Q	3		ASARHARD	Asar Hardware Limited	Supplier		۰ ــــــ	call	- 197	- 101	
Q	3	D	ASBLBAR	Nautilus Bar SABL	Customer		20	2020 - Feb 2020 -	Mo.	2020 - May	
Q	3		ATDSECUR	ATD Security Services, Inc.	Supplier		Me	dium 📃 L	ow		
					•		Hig	_			

The side panel has the following tabs:

- **Business Accounts**: The selected business account on the Business Accounts screen (CR303000). A user can view the account settings and any files and notes associated with the account, and the user can modify the data of the account, if needed.
- **Contacts**: The list of any contacts associated with the business account. If the user clicks the link to a contact, the system will open the Contacts screen (CR302000) for the contact in a separate browser tab.
- **Opportunities**: A dashboard with widgets that show details about any opportunities associated with the business account, including open opportunities and the number of open sales quotes associated with these opportunities.

- Sales Orders: A dashboard with widgets that show details of all sales orders associated with the business account, including open and completed sales orders and the number of late sales orders.
- **Receivables**: A dashboard with widgets that show details about any customer invoices associated with the business account, including the customer balance, the list of invoices associated with the business account, and payment history.
- **Cases**: A dashboard with widgets that show details about any support cases associated with the business account, including the list of open cases and the number of pending cases.
- **Services**: A dashboard with widgets that show details about all service orders associated with the business account. The tab is available if the *Service Management* feature is enabled on the Enable/ Disable Features screen (CS100000).
- **Equipment**: A dashboard with widgets that show details about any customer equipment. The tab is available if the *Service Management* feature is enabled on the Enable/Disable Features screen.
- **Contracts**: A dashboard with widgets that show details about any contracts associated with the business account. The tab is available if the *Service Management* feature is enabled on the Enable/ Disable Features screen.
- **Projects**: A dashboard with widgets that show details about all projects and project quotes associated with the business account. The tab is available if the *Projects* feature is enabled on the Enable/Disable Features screen.

The user can click any widget or its title of a dashboard to drill down for more details, and in a separate browser tab, the system will display these details on the screen the widget is based on.

# Multifaceted View for Opportunities, Contacts, and Cases

Side panels with a number of tabs have been added for the lists of opportunities, contacts, and cases, which gives users the ability to view the list of records while simultaneously viewing (and modifying, if necessary) various information related to any listed opportunity, contact, or case, respectively.

## Side Panels for the Lists of Opportunities, Contacts, and Cases

In previous versions, in order to find more information about a particular opportunity, contact, or case, a user had to open multiple screens to find records and statistics related to these records, which could be time-consuming. As of this release, with side panels on the Opportunities (CR3040PL), Contacts (CR3020PL), and Cases (CR3060PL) screens, the user can have a comprehensive view of a record by switching between tabs on the side panel (which show different screens and dashboard widgets). Thus, the user can quickly find, view, and modify the information related to the record.

Users' ability to view or modify the objects on the tabs of the side panel depends on the access rights of their roles for each screen or dashboard shown on a tab and each screen underlying a dashboard widget. Thus, after the upgrade from a previous version to MYOB Advanced 2021.1.1, the side panel tabs or widgets on a dashboard may not be initially available. In this case, on the Access Rights by Role screen (SM202015), a system administrator makes sure each required user role has the needed access rights to the screen with the side panel, to each of the screens and dashboards that are displayed on the tabs of the side panel, and to the screens any dashboard widgets are based on.

The access rights have been preconfigured for the predefined CRM user roles, such as CR Marketing Manager or CR Viewer, to give users with these roles the ability to view, modify, or delete the objects on the side panel. A system administrator can configure similar access rights for any other user role, if needed. On the Opportunities (CR3040PL), Contacts (CR3020PL), or Cases (CR3060PL) generic inquiry screens, a generic inquiry designer can specify a different set of navigation targets to be displayed on the tabs of the side panel, if needed.

The following screenshot shows the Opportunities screen (CR3040PL) with the tab of the side panel displaying information about quotes related to the selected opportunity.

Opportunities CUSTOM	ISATION - TOOLS -	>	Quotes 000099							Г. С.
Č ∽ + ∕ ⊢ ⊠		0	Opportuni	ty ID:	0000	099	Q,			
ALL RECORDS MY OPPORTUNITIES OPPORTUNITY SUMMA	(RY	Ť								
Status: All ▼ Stage: All ▼	م	<u>.</u>	QUOTE	ES TO PRO	CESS					1
Estimation: All 👻 Class ID: All 👻		•	QUOTE	S TO APPR	OVE					0
B D Opportunity ID Subject	Company Name	()	doon							0
Caribbean Secretary Online	Caribbean Secretary O		RELATE	D QUOTE	S					
D 000099     ABC Studios Inc. Implementation query	ABC Studios Inc.		Quote Nbr.	Туре	Prin	Description	s	itatus	Curre	Αποι
D 000098     Asahi Sun Tours	Asahi Sun Tours	(+)	Q000014	Sales Q	True	ABC Studios In	c. Impl [	Draft	NZD	1,10
	Artcages Co.									
O 000096     new software implementations	AMRO Bank N.V.	<b>—</b>	PRODU	CTS OR S	ERVIC	ES				
	Church of The Apostles		Description	1		UOM	Quantity		Unit 'rice	Amount
	Antun's of Westchester		Consulting	- Junior Cons	ultant	HOUR	10.00		0.00	800.0000
Q <u>000093</u> Recabling Opportunity to Service Order Ju	Cartridge World Inc			- Project Mar		HOUR	2.00	150	0.00	300.0000
	Caribbean Secretary O									
O O00091 Structured Cabling Assessment Opportunit	Brass Key Bar									
O O0090     Infra Assessment Opportunity to Service Or	Boulder Earth Moving									
	Borders Books, Music									
	Borders Books, Music									
O 000087     Infra Diagnostics Opportunity to Service Or	Bibimbab Korean Rest									
	•									
1-14 of 99 records	f8pages > >									

The side panel on the Opportunities screen (CR3030PL) has the following tabs:

- **Opportunities**: The selected opportunity on the Opportunities screen (CR304000). A user can view the opportunity settings and any files and notes associated with the opportunity, and the user can modify the data of the opportunity, if needed.
- **Contacts**: The list of contacts associated with the account specified in the opportunity.
- **Quotes** (shown in the screenshot above): A dashboard with widgets that show details about any quotes associated with the opportunity.
- **Sales Orders**: A dashboard with widgets that show details about any sales orders associated with the opportunity.
- **Invoices**: A dashboard with widgets that show details about any invoices associated with the opportunity.
- **Services**: A dashboard with widgets that show details about any service orders associated with the opportunity. The tab is available if the Service Management feature is enabled on the Enable/ Disable Features screen (CS100000).

# CRM

The following screenshot shows the Contacts screen (CR3020PL) with the tab of a side panel displaying the cases related to the selected contact.

Contacts	CUSTOMISATION - TOOLS -			Cases Al Buml	ory			
Ů ∽ + ℓ H X			<u>.</u>	Contact IE	5069 - Al Bum	ibry ,0		
ALL RECORDS MY CONTACTS								
Business Account: All 🔹 🖓 🛄			0	ALL CA				4
Class ID: All 🔹				DENDI	NG CUSTOMER CASES			(
B Contact Company Name			<u></u>	P LINDI	NO COSTOMEN CASES			
				OPEN C	ASES			
Abdul Waheed		Etelligent Solutions		Case ID	Subject	Status	Priority	Created On
Al Bumbry		BA Industries		000042	Down Server	Open	High	8/03/2
Alan Plain		Chocolate By Design Incorporated		<u>000031</u>	Report Issue	New	Medium	8/03/2
Albert DosSantos		ABC Studios Inc.		<u>000025</u>	Worksheet Issue	Open	High	8/03/2
Alex Novak		Western Star Trucks		000021	Connection Issue	Open	High	8/03/2
Alistair Barnard		Asahi Sun Tours		CASES	HISTORY			
Anders Nylander		Mak System						
Manders Wikholm		SPC Machines		6				
Andrea Sims		O'Neill's Trading		4 -				
<u>Andreas Levi</u>		Veracity Credit Consultants		2 -				
Andrew Michaels		AMRO Bank N.V.		0				
Angus McCoss		Phils Photography			205	20 - Mar		
C Anita Bose		Boulder Earth Moving		Hig	ih 🗖	Medium		
				nış		nearan		

The side panel on the Contacts screen (CR3020PL) has the following tabs:

- **Contacts**: The selected contact on the Contacts screen (CR302000). A user can view the contact settings and any files and notes associated with the contact, and the user can modify the data of the contact, if needed.
- **Opportunities** (shown in the screenshot above): A dashboard with widgets that show details about any opportunities associated with the contact, including open opportunities and the number of open sales quotes associated with these opportunities.
- **Cases**: A dashboard with widgets that show details about any cases associated with the contact, including the list of open cases and the number of pending cases.

The following screenshot shows the Cases screen (CR3060PL) with the tab of a side panel displaying the invoices associated with the customer in the selected case.

565	MISATION - TOOL	LS Ŧ	>	Invoices Customer	Account ID:	AMROBAN	IK - AMRO I	Bank N 🔎			5
$\omega + \rho \mapsto \mathbf{x}$											
ALL RECORDS MY CASES CASE SUMMARY										27	7.57k
Business Account: All - Status: All - 7 🖺											
Severity: All   Priority: All											(
	•										
ss ID: All 🔻 SLA: All 👻			INVOI							(	
Case ID Subject	Business Account	Ac		CUSTO	MER INVOID	ES					
000056     Clarifications about API	AMROBANK	AI	(+)	+							
000055 Report Displaying incorrect totals	ANTUNSWEST	Ar				<b>a</b>			<b>T</b>		
<u>000054</u> Clarification on security features and backu	AMROBANK	AI	Ē	Туре	Reference Nbr.	Status	Date	Amou	Total Amou		Curre
D 000053 unable to login	CUST000058	Q		Invoice	001074	Open	30/0	870.48	870.48	870.48	NZD
D 000052 Training	CUST000012	Ac		Invoice	<u>001073</u>	Open	30/0	3,184	3,184	3,184	<u>NZD</u>
000051 AR Invoice issue	AMROBANK	A		Invoice	<u>001072</u>	Open	30/0	1,529	1,529	1,529	<u>NZD</u>
Display problems	AMROBANK	AI		Invoice	<u>001071</u>	Open	30/0	1,279	1,279	1,279	
Display problems	CUST000005	AE		Invoice	001070	Open	30/0	709.70	709.70		
				Invoice Invoice	001056	Closed Closed	1/06/	800.00 800.00	800.00 800.00		<u>NZD</u> NZD
	CUST000012	Ac		Invoice	001055	Closed	1/06/	800.00	800.00		NZD
D 000047 Display Problems	CUST000012	Ac		Invoice	001050	Closed	1/06/	800.00	800.00		NZD
Data View	CUST00005	Aŧ		Invoice	001044	Closed	1/06/	800.00	800.00		NZD
<u>000045</u> Connection Issue	CUST000012	Ac			<u></u>	0.0360		000.00	000.00	0.00	1 Martiel
		÷									



The side panel on the Cases screen (CR3060PL) has the following tabs:

- **Cases**: The selected case on the Cases screen (CR306000). A user can view the case settings and any files and notes associated with the case, and the user can modify the data of the case if needed.
- **Contracts**: A dashboard with widgets that show details about all contracts associated with the case. The tab is available if the *Service Management* feature is enabled on the Enable/Disable Features screen.
- **Cases Links**: A dashboard with widgets that show details about any cases related to the selected case.
- **Sales Orders**: A dashboard with widgets that show details about any sales orders associated with the customer specified in the case.
- **Invoices** (shown in the screenshot above): A dashboard with widgets that show details about all invoices associated with the customer specified in the case.
- **Services**: A dashboard with widgets that show details about any service orders associated with the case. The tab is available if the *Service Management* feature is enabled on the Enable/Disable Features screen.

On a side panel, a user can click the link to a record, such as a contact or an invoice, and the system will open the record in a separate browser tab. The user can also click any widget or its title to drill down for more details, and in a separate browser tab, the system will open the screen the widget is based on.

# Company Groups

Starting in MYOB Advanced 2020.6, users could limit the usage of a customer record to a selected branch or a company. Similar functionality has been implemented for suppliers in this release (for details, see "Restricted Visibility of Supplier Records" on page 35). However, in some cases, multiple related companies may need to have access to the same set of customer and supplier records. For this purpose, MYOB Advanced 2021.1.1 introduces company groups. A company group is an entity that includes multiple companies that share the same customers and suppliers. For reporting purposes, a company can be included in more than one group.

The functionality of company groups is available in the system if the *Customer and Supplier Restriction* feature has been enabled on the Enable/Disable Features screen (CS100000) screen.

## The Company Groups Screen

Company Groups PROD - Production Companies ற e 0 + 面 K < > Х Ē -\* Group ID: PROD Q \* Group Name: Production Companies Currency ID: NZD Ò + ↔ X × Company ID Group Name Actual Ledger Primary Group Rapid Byte Main ACTUAL RBYTEMAIN Rapid Byte Regional ACTUAL **RBYTEREGNL** 

The release introduces the Company Groups screen (CS102500).

The screen is used for creating, viewing, modifying, and deleting company groups. The structure of the Group ID is defined by the COMPANY segmented key.

A **Currency ID** field appears on the screen, as shown in the screenshot above, if the *Multicurrency Accounting* feature has been enabled on the Enable/Disable Features screen (CS100000). The field is unavailable for editing and specifies the base currency of the current tenant.

The Company Groups screen has also been added to the quick menu of the Configuration workspace.

#### Changes to the Companies Screen

A Company Groups tab has been added to the Companies screen (CS101500), as shown in the following screenshot.

RBYTEMAIN - Rap		< > >I	ACTIONS .	CREATE LEDG	ER	
* Company ID:	RBYTEMAIN		Q	Jurisdiction:	NZ	
* Company Name: Rapid Byte Main				Active		
Company Type: Without Branches			•	CDFid:	a48348c4-9387-4fe4-b320-	
COMPANY DETAILS $\dot{O} + \mathbf{x}$ s	DELIVERY SETTINGS	EMPLOYEES	LEDGERS	GL ACCOUNTS	VISUAL APPEARANCE	COMPANY GROUPS
		<u></u>				
• · · ·	Group Namo	Drimany				
Group ID	Group Name Production Companies	Primary				

This tab appears on the screen if the *Customer and Supplier Visibility Restriction* feature has been enabled on the Enable/Disable Features screen (CS100000).

On the tab, a user can review the groups in which the company selected in the Summary area is included, add the company to a group, and exclude the company from a group (by deleting the row with the group). Also, if the company is included in more than one group, the user can or select the company's primary group by selecting the **Primary Group** check box in the row of the group; only one primary group can be selected for a company.

#### Changes to the Drop-Down List of the Company/Branch Box

The multilevel drop-down list in the **Company/Branch** field on multiple screens has been modified to display company groups, along with companies and branches.

If a company is included in multiple groups, in the **Company/Branch** field, this company (and any branch within it) will be displayed multiple times—once under each of the groups in which the company is included. However, if a company or branch was previously selected in the **Company/Branch** field and a user opens the list, the company or branch will be highlighted under its primary group; non-primary groups can be collapsed if they contain more than three companies.

The following screenshot illustrates an updated multilevel drop-down list in the **Company/Branch** field on the Customer Details screen (AR402000).

5	\$ < >	ACTIONS -	REPORTS ▼  ↔	X	Y				
C	ompany/Branch:	RBYTEMAIN		- s	how All Docun	nents			
С	ustomer:	* PROD - Prod	uction Companies		clude Unrelea	sed Documents			
Pe	eriod:	RBYTEM/	RBYTEMAIN - Rapid Byte Main alance by Documents:				0.00		
С	urrency:	<ul> <li>RBYTERE</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>RBYTEREGNL - Rapid Byte Regional</li> </ul>			urrent Balance:		0.00	
A	R Account:		EAUCK - Rapid Byte Auc		epayment Balance:		0.00		
AR Subaccount: RBYTECHRCH - Rapid Byte Christchu				balance Discrepancy:		0.00			
				R	etained Balan	ce:		0.00	
0	Customer	*Branch	Туре	*Refe	rence Nbr.	*Post	*Date	Due Date	

# Financial Dashboards

Previously, financial dashboards were introduced as a customisation package. As of this release, financial dashboards are included in MYOB Advanced. The following dashboards are now available for users:

- **AR Clerk (DBAR0001)**: A dashboard for the sales department (salespeople, adviser, account manager, customer services manager, or sales manager)
- **AP Clerk (DBAP0001)**: A dashboard for employees and managers performing supplier management activities
- **Controller (DBCA0001)**: A dashboard for the finance department

These dashboards include various key performance indicators (KPIs), metrics, and charts, and use generic inquiries to gather the underlying data. Users can access the dashboards from the Dashboards workspace, in the Dashboard: Finance category.

#### REFRESH ALL DESIGN AR Clerk TOOLS -6 1.11M CASH INFLOW FOR 7 DAYS 1.11M 1,300,0 1.200.00 ARAGING 🖒 Updated a moment ag 1,100,0 1.000.000 rdue over 90 day OVERDUE BY SALESPERSON TOTAL AR 1,110,000 1.100.000 1,090,000 TOP 10 OVERDUE BALANCES 1.080.000 200.00 11-2021 04-2021 05-2021 06-2021 09-2021 10-2021 07-2021 08-2021 of Westurn Incorporate the By Design Incorporate Al Antun's of com itute of Culinar

### AR Clerk Dashboard

The AR Clerk dashboard (DBAR0001) is shown in the following screenshot.

The following table lists the KPIs included in the AR Clerk dashboard and briefly describes each of them.

KPI	MYOB Advanced Widget	Description
Documents on Hold	Scorecard KPI	All AR documents and payments with the <i>On Hold</i> status
Unreleased Documents in Prior Months	Scorecard KPI	All unreleased AR documents, payments, and applications that are dated in past months
Documents to Release	Scorecard KPI	All AR documents, payments, and applications that are ready to be released
Rejected Refunds	Scorecard KPI	All customer refunds with the Rejected status
Payments to Apply	Scorecard KPI	All AR payments with the Open status and without unreleased applications
Invoices to Print	Scorecard KPI	All AR documents with the Balanced or Open status, and with the Printed and Don't Print check boxes cleared on the Invoices and Memos screen (AR301000)
Invoices to Email	Scorecard KPI	All AR documents with the Balanced or Open status, and with the Emailed and Don't Email check boxes cleared on the Invoices and Memos screen
Statements to Print	Scorecard KPI	All unprinted customer statements that have the Don't Print check boxes cleared on the Print Statements screen (AR503500)
Statements to Email	Scorecard KPI	All unsent customer statements that have the Don't Email check box cleared on the Print Statements screen
Customers on Credit Hold	Scorecard KPI	All customers with the Credit Hold status
Customers Exceeding Credit Limit	Scorecard KPI	All customers for which Credit Limit or Limit and Days Past Due is selected in the Credit Verification field on the Financial tab of the Customers screen (AR303000) and the value in the Remaining Credit Limit field is less than or equal to 0.00
Average Days to Pay	Scorecard KPI	The average difference (in days) between the payment date and the invoice's due date for all paid invoices (with the "Closed" status) starting from the first day of the quarter before the current one
Days Sales Outstanding	Scorecard KPI	The average number of days that the company takes to collect revenue after a sale has occurred Formula: (Accounts Receivable / Total Credit Sales (Billed Revenue)) * Number of Days
Cash Inflow for 7 Days	Scorecard KPI	The summary of AR document balances that are overdue and due within seven days of today
AR Overdue	Scorecard KPI	The summary of overdue customer balances as of the current day

KPI	MYOB Advanced Widget	Description
AR Aging	Chart Type: Doughnut	The summary of AR document balances that are current and overdue as of the current day, split by the following aging buckets: • Current • Overdue from 1 to 30 days • Overdue from 31 to 60 days • Overdue from 61 to 90 days • Overdue more than 90 days
Cash Inflow for 7 Days by Days	Chart Type: Column	The summary of document balances that are overdue and due in seven days starting from today, split by days; the first column is the total overdue amount
Top 10 Overdue Balances	Chart Type: Column	The 10 customers with the highest overdue balances
Overdue by Salesperson	Chart Type: Stacked Column	The 10 salespersons whose customers have the highest overdue balances, split by customer
Total AR	Chart Type: Line	A summary of the changes in document balances for the past 12 months

## AP Clerk Dashboard

The following screenshot illustrates the AP Clerk dashboard (DBAP0001).



The following table lists the KPIs included in the AP Clerk dashboard and briefly describes each of them.

KPI	MYOB Advanced Widget	Description
Documents on Hold	Scorecard KPI	All AP documents and payments with the <i>On Hold</i> status
Unreleased Documents in Prior Months	Scorecard KPI	All unreleased AP documents, payments, and applications that are dated in past months
Documents to Release (Current Period)	Scorecard KPI	All unreleased AP documents, payments, and applications that are ready to be released
PO Receipts to Bill	Scorecard KPI	All purchase receipts that have not been billed yet
Bills to Pay	Scorecard KPI	All overdue AP documents and documents that willbe due within seven days of today
		<b>Note:</b> This KPI does not include documents with retainage that have a balance of 0.00, because they are already paid but will be closed once the retainage document is closed.
Documents to Approve	Scorecard KPI	All AP documents with the "Pending Approval" status
Payments to Approve	Scorecard KPI	All AP payments with the "Pending Approval" status
Rejected Payments	Scorecard KPI	All customer refunds that have the "Rejected" status
Payments toProcess	Scorecard KPI	All AP payments that need to be printed (that is, they have the "Pending Print" status)
Suppliers on Payment Hold	Scorecard KPI	All suppliers that have the "Hold Payments" status
Cash Discount toTake in 7 Days	Scorecard KPI	The summary of cash discounts of the released and unreleased AP documents that can be taken within seven days
Cash Outflow for 7Days	Scorecard KPI	The summary of AP document balances that are past due and due within seven days of today
AP Overdue	Scorecard KPI	The summary of overdue supplier balances as of the current day
AP Aging	Chart Type: Doughnut	The summary of AP document balances that are current and past due as of the current day, split by the following aging buckets: • Current • Overdue from 1 to 30 days • Overdue from 31 to 60 days • Overdue from 61 to 90 days • Overdue more than 90 days
Cash Outflow for 7 Days by Days	Chart Type: Column	The summary of AP document balances that are past due and due within days of today, split by days; the first column is the total past due amount

KPI	MYOB Advanced Widget	Description
Top 10 Overdue Balances	Chart Type: Column	The 10 suppliers with the highest overdue balances
Supplier Purchasing Trends	Chart Type: Stacked Column	The seven suppliers with the highest summary document amount during the quarter
Total AP	Chart Type: Line	A summary of changes in AP document balances for the past 12 months

# Controller Dashboard

The following screenshot illustrates the Controller dashboard (DBCA0001).



The following table lists the KPIs included in the Controller dashboard and provides a brief description of each.

KPI	MYOB Advanced Widget	Description
AR Clerk	Link	A link to the AR Clerk dashboard (DBAR0001)
AP Clerk	Link	A link to the AP Clerk dashboard (DBAP0001)
Total AR	Scorecard KPI	The actual summary of customer balances
AR Overdue	Scorecard KPI	The summary of overdue customer balances as of the current day
Open SO Amount	Scorecard KPI	The summary of amounts of open sales orders that have the SO (Sales Order), CS (Cash Sale), and IN (Invoice) order types

KPI	MYOB Advanced Widget	Description
Customers onCredit Hold	Scorecard KPI	All customers with the Credit Hold status
Total AP	Scorecard KPI	The actual summary of supplier balances
AP Overdue	Scorecard KPI	The summary of overdue supplier balances as of today
Open PO Amount	Scorecard KPI	The summary amount of open purchase orders
Suppliers on Payment Hold	Scorecard KPI	All suppliers with the Hold Payments status
Payments to Approve	Scorecard KPI	All payments with the Pending Approval status
Cash on Hand	Scorecard KPI	The summary of cash account balances or all active cash accounts for the current month
Cash Demand 30Days	Scorecard KPI	The summary of balances of all overdue AP documents that will be due within 30 days of today
Unreconciled Transactions	Scorecard KPI	The number of unreconciled transactions that are more than 30 days old
AR Aging	Chart Type: Doughnut	<ul> <li>The summary of document balances that are current and overdue as of the current day, split by the following aging buckets:</li> <li>Current</li> <li>Overdue from 1 to 30 days</li> <li>Overdue from 31 to 60 days</li> <li>Overdue from 61 to 90 days</li> <li>Overdue more than 90 days</li> </ul>
AP Aging	Chart Type: Doughnut	<ul> <li>The summary of document balances that are current and past due as of the current day, split by the following aging buckets:</li> <li>Current</li> <li>Overdue from 1 to 30 days</li> <li>Overdue from 31 to 60 days</li> <li>Overdue from 61 to 90 days</li> <li>Overdue more than 90 days</li> </ul>
Month-to-Date Expenses	Chart Type: Doughnut	Expenses by category (class) for the current month
Quarter-to-Date Expenses	Chart Type: Doughnut	Expenses by category (class) for the current quarter
Year-to-Date Expenses	Chart Type: Doughnut	Expenses by category (class) for the current year
Income vs Expense by Quarter	Chart Type: Column	A comparison of income and expenses for each quarter; the duration is eight quarters, including the current quarter

KPI	MYOB Advanced Widget	Description
Cash Position	Chart Type: Stacked Column	The summary of cash account balances for all active cash accounts during the past 12 months
Income vs Expense by Month	Chart Type: Line	A comparison of income and expenses for each month over the duration of the past year.

# Fixed Assets Under Construction

As of this release, MYOB Advanced supports fixed assets that are under construction. Until the construction is complete, these assets do not require depreciation and do not need to have a **Placed-in-Service Date** specified on the General Settings tab (Asset Summary section) of the Fixed Assets screen (FA303000). The cost of assets under construction is recorded in a dedicated asset account. While an asset is under construction, users can process cost additions and deductions, as well as perform other fixed asset operations, except for depreciation.

When the construction of a fixed asset has been completed, a user should do the following:

- 1. Specify the **Placed-in-Service Date** for the fixed asset on the Fixed Assets screen.
- 2. On the Transfer Assets screen (FA507000), transfer the asset to a fixed asset class that is not used for under-construction assets. This process will post the following entry, transferring the asset cost to the Fixed Assets account.

GL Account	Debit	Credit
Fixed Assets	Asset cost	
Fixed Assets under Construction		Asset cost

3. Start depreciating the fixed asset on the Calculate Depreciation screen (FA502000) by selecting Depreciate in the Action field of the Summary area.

#### Changes to the Fixed Asset Classes Screen

On the Fixed Asset Classes screen (FA201000), the following changes have been made, as shown in the screenshot below:

- On the General Settings tab, an **Under Construction** check box has been added.
- On the General Settings tab, the **Depreciate** check box has been renamed to **Depreciable**.

	N - Bi	uildings under construction + ඕ ੵ - I< < > >I							
* Asset Class ID: Parent Class:	BUIL	DINGC A Active							
Description:	Buildi	ngs under construction							
GENERAL SETTI	NGS	DEPRECIATION SETTINGS GLACCOUNTS							
* Asset Type:		BUILDING - Building							
		Tangible							
		Depreciable							
		✓ Under Construction							
* Useful Life, Years	B.:	50.0000							
		Accelerated Depreciation for SL Depr. Method							

The **Under Construction** check box is available for selection only if a class has the **Depreciable** check box selected, because fixed assets under construction will be depreciable after the construction is complete.

By default, the **Under Construction** check box is cleared. If there is at least one fixed asset associated with an asset class for which is it selected, the user cannot change the state of the check box.

#### Changes to the Fixed Assets Screen

On the Fixed Assets screen (FA303000), the **Placed-in-Service Date** field is now optional for a fixed asset associated with a class that has the Under Construction check box selected on the Fixed Asset Classes screen (FA201000). If the **Placed-in-Service Date** field has a value, and the asset class of the selected fixed asset has the Under Construction field selected, the system displays a warning message in the **Placed-in-Service Date** field indicating that the asset will not be depreciated.

The **Placed-in-Service Date** field is available for editing and can be cleared for a fixed asset associated with an under-construction asset class. If the **Placed-in-Service Date** field is empty, the asset can be transferred only to another under-construction asset class. If a user has created at least one depreciation transaction, the asset cannot be transferred to an under-construction class.

The **Depreciate** check box on the General Settings tab has been renamed to **Depreciable**. The following screenshot illustrates the UI changes made on the Fixed Assets screen.

	> ,0 Parent Asset:		Q			
Description: Buildin	g - Head Office					
GENERAL SETTINGS	PURCHASE/TANGIBLE INF	GLACCOUNTS	BALANCE COMPONEN	TS LOCATION HISTORY	TRANSACTION HISTORY	• RECONCILIATION
ASSET SUMMARY		TRACKING INFO				
Asset Class:	BUILDINGCON - Buildings ur		RBYTEMAIN - Rapid Byte M	e D 0		
Property Type:	Property	<ul> <li>Building:</li> </ul>		P 0		
Status:	Active	Floor:				
Asset Type:	BUILDING - Building	P / Room:				
	Tangible	Custodian:		P 0		
Quantity:	1.00	* Department:		P 0		
	Depreciable	Reason:				
Useful Life, Years:	50.0000	Tag Number:	<new></new>			
Receipt Date:	*					
Placed-in-Service Date:	31/05/2021 -					
e fixed asset is under connot be depreciated.	onstruction and					
Replacement Cost:	0.00					
Disposal Date:						

If a fixed asset has at least one depreciation transaction, the user will not be able to do the following:

- Change the class in the **Asset Class** field for a class that has the **Under Construction** check box selected on the Fixed Asset Classes screen.
- On the Transfer Assets screen (FA507000), transfer the fixed asset to a class that has the **Under Construction** check box selected on the Fixed Asset Classes screen.

The **Calculate Depreciation** command on the Actions menu is not available for fixed assets under construction.

#### Changes to the Calculate Depreciation Screen

On the Calculate Depreciation screen (FA502000), the records related to fixed assets under construction are now excluded from selection and are not displayed in the table, regardless of the selection criteria specified.

# Paid Amounts and Line-Level Balances in AR Reports

In MYOB Advanced 2021.1.1, the AR Open Documents by Project (AR634100) and AR Open Documents by Customer (AR634000) reports have been redesigned and now display information as of the current business date; additionally, these reports show amounts paid or applied. By running these reports, a user can see which customers have open documents for a particular project, how much they owe, and how much has been already paid. Both reports are available in the Project Management and Construction workspaces in addition to the Receivables workspace.

#### Changes to the AR Open Documents by Project Report

The AR Open Documents by Project report (AR634100) is now available if the *Projects* group of features is enabled on the Enable/Disable Features screen (CS100000).

The following UI changes have been introduced on Report Parameters tab of the report form:

- The **Financial Period** field has been removed. The report now displays the data as of the current business date.
- The **Include Retainage Documents** check box has been removed. The report does not list retainage documents because their amounts are already included in the amounts of the related original documents.
- A **Report Format** field has been added. A user can select one of the following options:
  - **Detailed** (default): The report shows individual documents.
  - **Summary**: The report shows a list of customers with their aggregated amounts grouped by project.

In the AR Open Documents by Project report, a **Paid/Adjusted** column has been added, which shows the total amount of applications. For original documents, the column includes payment applications to the original documents and to related retainage documents. In the report, the documents are grouped first by project and then by customer.

The following screenshot illustrates the AR Open Documents by Project report printed in the Detailed format.

)pei	n Doci	uments	by Project										
Q	<b>PI</b>	200	K < 3	> >I	PRINT	SEND	EXPORT -				Тур	e your query	here
	mpany/Bra	Document anch: RBY Michael A										Page: Date: 31	1 of 9 1/05/2021 11:03
Pr	oject		Description										
x			Non-Project Cod	e.									
Cu	stomer		Customer Accou	nt Name									
AN	ROBANK		AMRO Bank N.V.										
Ref	. Nbr.	Doc. Type	Customer Ref. /Payment Ref.	Doc Date	Due Date	Description		Total Amount	Original Retainage	Paid/Adjusted	Total Balance	Unreleased Retainage	Net Balance
	070	INVOICE		30/06/2020	30/06/2020	Genset Maint	enance Service Contract	709.70	0.00	0.00	709.70	0.00	709.70
	071	INVOICE		30/06/2020	30/06/2020	Genset Maint	enance Service Contract	1,279.80	0.00	0.00	1,279.80	0.00	1,279.80
	072	INVOICE		30/06/2020	30/06/2020	Genset Maint	enance Service Contract	1,529.30	0.00	0.00	1,529.30	0.00	1,529.30
	073	INVOICE		30/06/2020			enance Service Contract	3,184.00	0.00	0.00	3,184.00	0.00	3,184.00
001	074	INVOICE		30/06/2020	30/06/2020	Genset Maint	enance Service Contract	870.48	0.00	0.00	870.48	0.00	870.48
									Cu	stomer Totals:	7,573.28	0.00	7,573.28
Cu	stomer		Customer Accou	nt Name									
AN	ITUN SWE	ST	Antun's of Westo	hester									
	. Nbr.	Doc. Type	Customer Ref. /Payment Ref.	Doc Date		Description		Total Amount	Retainage	Paid/Adjusted		Unreleased Retainage	
001	069	INVOICE		30/06/2020	30/06/2020	Specific Date	in a Month	1,883.18	0.00	0.00	1,883.18	0.00	1,883.18
									Cu	stomer Totals:	1,883.18	0.00	1,883.18
Cu	stomer		Customer Accou	nt Name									
AF	TCAGES		Artcages Co.										
Ref	. Nbr.	Doc. Type	Customer Ref. /Payment Ref.	Doc Date	Due Date	Description		Total Amount	Original Retainage	Paid/Adjusted	Total Balance	Unreleased Retainage	Net Balance
001	108	CREDIT		23/06/2020				-2,511.60	0.00	0.00	-2,511.60	0.00	-2,511.60
									Cu	stomer Totals:	-2 511 60	0.00	-2.511.60

### Changes to the AR Open Documents by Customer Report

The AR Open Documents by Customer report (AR634000) is available if the *Projects* group of features is enabled on the Enable/Disable Features screen (CS100000).

The following UI changes have been introduced on Report Parameters tab of the report form:

- The **Financial Period** field has been removed. The report now displays the data as of the current business date.
- The **Include Retainage Documents** check box has been removed. The report does not list retainage documents because their amounts are already included in the amounts of the related original documents.
- A **Report Format** field has been added. A user can select one of the following options:
  - **Detailed** (default): The report shows individual documents.
  - **Summary**: The report shows a list of projects with their aggregated amounts grouped by customer.

In the AR Open Documents by Customer report, a **Paid/Adjusted** column has been added, which shows the total amount of applications. For original documents, the column includes payment applications to the original documents and to the related retainage documents. In the report, the documents are grouped first by customer and then by project.

The following screenshot illustrates the AR Open Documents by Customer report printed in the Detailed format.

ben Doo	cuments	by Custome	)r									
) 19	le	< < >	Х	PRINT	SEND	EXPORT -				Тур	e your query	here
	I Document iranch: RBY Michael A		)								Page: Date: 31	1 of 10 /05/2021 11:06
Customer		Customer Account	t Name									
ALPHABET	<u>rld</u>	Alphabetland School	ool Center									
Project		Description										
000000000	4	Software Maintena	ance - ALPHA	1								
Ref. Nbr.	Doc. Type	Customer Ref. /Payment Ref.	Doc Date	Due Date	Description		Total Amount	Original Retainage	Paid/Adjusted	Total Balance	Unreleased Retainage	Net Balance
000952	INVOICE		1/05/2020	1/05/2020	Contract Billin	g 0000000004: Software	920.00	0.00	0.00	920.00	0.00	920.00
001013	INVOICE		1/06/2020	1/06/2020	Contract Billin	g 0000000004: Software	920.00	0.00	0.00	920.00	0.00	920.00
									Project Totals:	1,840.00	0.00	1,840.00
Project		Description										
СТ000000	9	Software Maintena	ince									
Ref. Nbr.	Doc. Type	Customer Ref. /Payment Ref.	Doc Date	Due Date	Description		Total Amount	Original Retainage	Paid/Adjusted	Total Balance	Unreleased Retainage	Net Balance
000945	INVOICE		1/05/2020			g CT00000009: Software	11,040.00	0.00	0.00	11,040.00	0.00	11,040.00
001015	INVOICE		1/06/2020	1/06/2020	Contract Billin	g CT00000009: Software	11,040.00	0.00	0.00	11,040.00	0.00	11,040.00
									Project Totals:	22,080.00	0.00	22,080.00
								Cu	stomer Totals:	23,920.00	0.00	23,920.00
AMROBAN	K	AMRO Bank N.V.										
Project		Description										
x		Non-Project Code.										
Ref. Nbr.	Doc. Type	Customer Ref. /Payment Ref.	Doc Date	Due Date	Description		Total Amount	Original Retainage	Paid/Adjusted	Total Balance	Unreleased Retainage	Net Balance
001070	INVOICE	-	30/06/2020	30/06/2020	Genset Mainte	enance Service Contract	709.70	0.00	0.00	709.70	0.00	709.70
<u>001071</u>	INVOICE		30/06/2020			enance Service Contract	1,279.80	0.00	0.00	1,279.80	0.00	1,279.80
001072	INVOICE		30/06/2020			enance Service Contract	1,529.30	0.00	0.00	1,529.30	0.00	1,529.30
001073	INVOICE		30/06/2020			enance Service Contract	3,184.00	0.00	0.00	3,184.00	0.00	3,184.00
001074			30/06/2020			enance Service Contract	870.48	0.00	0.00	870.48	0.00	870.48

#### Other UI Changes

In the Construction workspace, the AR Docs by Project With Paid Amt (AR734100) report has been removed. Users should instead run the AR Open Documents by Project (AR634100) report to view the AR documents that are open as of the current business date and grouped by project, or a list of customers with their aggregated amounts, depending on the report format.

# New Workflow Support on Finance Screens

In MYOB Advanced 2021.1.1, the finance screens that used automation steps have been redesigned to support the new workflow engine.

The processes that are performed on multiple screens related to the finance functionality work as they did in the previous version. The UI on these screens has been enhanced to support the functionality of the new workflow engine.

**Note:** Because the implementation of the new workflow engine entails changes to DACs and business logic, it may affect custom generic inquiries, customisation projects, import and export scenarios, and API integrations. For the complete list of changes, see Release Notes for Developers.

#### **UI Enhancements**

On multiple screens related to accounts payable, accounts receivable, contract management, general ledger, tax management, and cash management, the buttons representing the actions that are most relevant to the current status of the document opened on the screen are displayed directly on the toolbar, in addition to being included as menu commands on the Actions menu.

The Actions menu on each of these screens displays only the actions that can be performed for the type of the document selected on the screen. The order of commands on the Actions menu has been rearranged. Now the commands related to the document workflow (such as **Hold** and **Pay**) are located at the top of the menu, and the commands not related to the workflow (such as **Reverse** or **Reclassify GL Batch**) have been moved to the bottom of the menu.

The **Hold** check box has been removed from the Summary area and replaced by the **Hold** and **Remove Hold** actions, which can be selected on the screen toolbar. These UI enhancements have been introduced on the following screens:

- Quick Checks (AP304000)
- Bills and Adjustments (AP301000)
- Checks and Payments (AP302000)
- Batch Payments (AP305000)
- Supplier Price Worksheets (AP202010)
- Invoices and Memos (AR301000)
- Payments and Applications (AR302000)
- Cash Sales (AR304000)
- Sales Price Worksheets (AR202010)
- Customer Contracts (CT301000)
- Trial Balance (GL303010)
- Journal Vouchers (GL304000)
- Journal Transactions (GL301000)
- Tax Adjustments (TX301000)
- Tax Bills and Adjustments (TX303000)
- Transactions (CA304000)
- Funds Transfers (CA301000)
- Bank Deposits (CA305000)
- Reconciliation Statements (CA302000)
- Fixed Asset Transactions (FA301000)
- Fixed Assets (FA303000)
### Example of UI Changes to the Invoices and Memos Screen

On the Invoices and Memos screen (AR301000), actions have been renamed to support the workflow engine, as shown in the following table.

Similar UI changes, which support this functionality, have been made on the other screens listed in the previous section.

Action	Renamed to
Put on Credit Hold	Credit Hold
Release from Credit Hold	Remove Credit Hold
Enter Payment/Apply Memo	Apply for documents with the Credit Memo type
Email Invoice/Memo	Email
Print Invoice/Memo	Print
Generate/View AP Document	<b>Generate AP Document</b> if no AP document has been generated <b>View AP Document</b> if an AP document has been generated

The following changes have also been introduced on the screen:

- For all document types except for "Credit Memo", the **Customer Refund** action has been removed from the Actions menu.
- The renamed **Print** action has been removed from the Reports menu and added to the Actions menu.
- For documents of the "Overdue Charge" type, the **Reverse** and **Reverse and Apply** actions have been removed because they are not applicable for this document type.
- For the "Credit WO" document type, the **Pending Print** and **Pending Email** statuses have been removed.
- The **Approve** and **Reject** actions appear on the Actions menu if the *Approval Workflow* feature has been enabled on the Enable/Disable Features screen (CS100000) and an approval map has been added and activated on the Approval tab of the Accounts Receivable Preferences screen (AR101000).

### Finance

The following screenshot shows an AR invoice with the "Open" status on the Invoices and Memos screen. The **Pay** button is displayed on the screen toolbar, and the corresponding menu command is included on the Actions menu. Other menu commands that can be selected for the selected invoice are available for selection on the menu.

<b>∿</b> □ □ →	+ 🗊 🗘	• K	<	> >	PAY	ACTIONS -	INQUIRIES -	REPORTS	•			
Type:         Invoice           Reference Nbr.:         001084           Status:         Open           Date:         22/05/2           Post Period:         02-202'           Customer Ord         000036	ب Curre کارک کارک کارک کارک کارک کارک کارک کار	ency: s: Date:	MAIN - F NZD	Primary L 1.00 DAYS - N 020 -	⊸ V et 30 Days	Remove H Credit Hold Remove C Print Fmail		76,608.00 0.00 76,608.00 0.00 11,491.20 88.099.20	D D D			
Description: WIP Pro	ject Billing FINANCIAL DETAI	LS ADD	PR0000	0120 - S	Pay by L oftware Imple	Release Pay Release R Reverse	etainage nd Apply to Memo	0.01	D	DISCOUNT	DETAILS AP	PPLICATION
Description: WIP Pro	FINANCIAL DETAI	LS ADE	PR0000	0120 - S ETAILS	TAX DET	Release Pay Release R Reverse Reverse a Write Off	5	0.00 88,099.20 0.00 DN APF	0 0 0 PROVAL DETAILS			PPLICATIONS
Description: WIP Pro	ject Billing FINANCIAL DETAI	LS ADD	PR0000	0120 - S	TAX DET	Release Pay Release R Reverse Reverse a Write Off	nd Apply to Memo	0.01	D D	DISCOUNT Ext. Price	DETAILS AF Discount Percent	PPLICATIONS
Description: WIP Pro	FINANCIAL DETAI	LS ADE	PR0000	0120 - S ETAILS 1. Isaction [	TAX DET	Release Pay Release R Reverse Write Off Generate / Add to Sch	nd Apply to Memo AP Document redule o not Email	0.00 88,099.20 0.00 DN APF	0 0 0 PROVAL DETAILS		Discount	Discour
Description: WIP Pro	FINANCIAL DETAI	LS ADE E  ⊷  Subitem	PR0000	0120 - S ETAILS 1 usaction I 00000120	TAX DET	Release Pay Release R Reverse Reverse a Write Off Generate / Add to ScD Reverse a	nd Apply to Memo AP Document redule o not Email e Prices	0.00 88,099 20 0.00 DN APF	0 0 PROVAL DETAILS Unit Price	Ext. Price	Discount Percent	Discou Amou

### Other UI Changes

The following UI changes have been introduced to unify the action names throughout the system:

- On the Customer Details screen (AR402000), the Enter New Invoice action has been renamed to Create Invoice, Enter New Payment has been renamed to Create Payment, and Enter Payment/Apply Memo has been renamed to Pay/Apply Document. The Pay/Apply Document action can be selected for documents with the Invoice, Debit Memo, Overdue Charge, Payment, Prepayment, Credit Memo, and Customer Refund types.
- On the Customers screen (AR303000), the Status field in the Summary area has been renamed to Customer Status. The following commands have been added to the Actions menu: Put on Hold, Put on Credit Hold, Deactivate, Activate, Set as One-Time Customer, and Set as Regular Customer. For more information on the new workflow for customers and customer accounts, see "Enhanced Workflows" on page 5.
- On the Supplier Details screen (AP402000), the Enter New Bill action has been renamed to Create Bill, Enter New Payment has been renamed to Create Payment, and Pay Bill/Apply Adjustment has been renamed to Pay/Apply Document. The Pay/Apply Document action can be selected for documents with the Bill, Debit Adjustment, Credit Adjustment, and Prepayment types.
- On the Suppliers screen (AP303000), the Status field in the Summary area has been renamed to Supplier Status. The following commands have been added to the Actions menu: Put on Hold, Hold Payments, Deactivate, Activate, Set as One-Time Supplier, and Set as Regular Supplier. For more information on the new workflow for suppliers and supplier accounts, see "Enhanced Workflows" on page 5.
- On the Journal Transactions screen (GL301000), the **Reverse Batch** action has been renamed to **Reverse**.

• On the Manage Credit Holds screen (AR523000), in the **Action** field, the "Apply Credit Hold" option has been renamed to "Credit Hold", and the "Release Credit Hold" option has been renamed to "Remove Credit Hold".

#### Automation Changes

If the organisation uses automation steps, import scenarios, or export scenarios for the screens listed above, users who work on customisations will need to redesign the automation of the processes related to the applicable screens by using the new workflow engine. For more information, see the "Creating Workflows" chapter in the MYOB Advanced Customisation Guide.

### Prepare Payments by Project

In previous versions of MYOB Advanced, users could not prepare payments by project, and the system had no way of collecting and paying bills of a particular project. As of this release, the Prepare Payments screen (AP503000) supports filtering by project.

### Changes to the Prepare Payments Screen

In the Selection area of the Prepare Payments screen (AP503000), a **Project** field has been added. This field is displayed on the screen if the *Projects* feature has been enabled on the Enable/Disable Features screen (CS100000). Project-related columns (**Project**, **Project Task**, **Account**, **Inventory ID**, and **Cost Code**) appear in the table on the Documents to Pay tab if both the *Projects* and *Payment Application by Line* features have been enabled on the Enable/Disable Features screen.

By selecting a project in the **Project** field, a user can pay bills related to this particular project.

#### Changes for Documents Paid by Line

For bills with the **Pay by Line** check box selected, each line of a bill that contains the project that matches the project selected in the Selection area of the Prepare Payments screen (AP503000) is displayed on the Documents to Pay tab with the value in the Amount Paid column related to the selected project. Bills with the **Pay by Line** check box cleared and multiple projects in their lines are displayed on the Documents to Pay tab if at least one line of the bill contains a project that matches the project selected in the Selection area of the Prepare Payments screen.

A bill with the **Pay by Line** check box cleared is always shown as one aggregate line on the Prepare Payments screen. If such a bill has multiple projects specified in its lines, when a user filters bills by project, near the line with this bill, the system displays a warning message indicating that the value in the Amount Paid column refers to the whole bill and all projects of its lines.

### Changes for Documents with Retainage

On the Prepare Payments screen (AP503000), the lines of retainage documents for which the Pay by Line check box is cleared are now shown if the project specified in the Project field in the Summary area of this screen is the same as the project specified for a line of the retainage bill. **Note:** If an original bill has the same project specified for each of its lines, this project is specified in the retainage bill. If the original bill has various projects specified for its lines, the retainage bill has X (the non-project code) in the Project column of its lines.

### Restricted Visibility of Supplier Records

When multiple companies with their own accounting departments are configured within the same tenant, users may want to restrict the visibility of supplier accounts to employees of the particular company or branch. To support this requirement, starting in this release, the visibility of each supplier account in MYOB Advanced can be associated with one of the following:

- A branch: If the visibility of the supplier is restricted to a branch, the supplier can be accessed by users assigned to the role specified for the branch in the Access Role field of the Branch Details tab (Configuration Settings section) on the Branches screen (CS102000). The supplier can be selected in documents originating from this branch.
- A company: If the visibility of the supplier is restricted to a company, the supplier can be accessed by a user that has access to at least one of the company's branches (or to the company if it has no branches). That is, the supplier can be accessed by a user with access to the role specified in the Access Role field (Configuration Settings section) on the Branch Details tab of the Branches screen for the branch, or the Company Details tab of the Companies screen (CS101500) for the company. The supplier can be selected in documents originating from any branch of the company.
- **No entity**: If the visibility of the supplier is not restricted to a branch or company, it can be accessed by any user. The supplier can be selected in documents originating from any branch.

These capabilities are now available if the *Customer and Supplier Visibility Restriction* feature has been enabled on the Enable/Disable Features screen (CS100000). With this feature enabled, the UI changes described further in this topic appear on the appropriate screens.

**Note:** If any restriction groups have been configured in the system, they will be applied in addition to the supplier visibility restriction functionality.

#### Changes to the Enable/Disable Features Screen

On the Enable/Disable Features screen (CS100000), the Customer Visibility Restriction feature has been renamed to the Customer and Supplier Visibility Restriction.

### Changes to the Supplier Classes Screen

On the Supplier Classes screen (AP201000), a **Restrict Visibility To** field has been added on the General Settings tab (Default General Settings section), as shown in the following screenshot. If any active branch or company is selected in this field for the class, this branch or company will be used as the default setting for suppliers of the class.

Supplier Classes ADV - Advertising			
	+ 0,• 10 K <	> > ACTIONS	•
* Class ID:	ADV		
Description:	Advertising		
Description.	Adventising		
GENERAL SETTINGS	GLACCOUNTS ATTRIBUTES	MAILING SETTINGS	
DEFAULT GENERAL SET	TINGS	DEFAULT FINANCIAL SET	
Country	NZ - NEW ZEALAND O	Terms:	CASHONLY - Cash Only 🖉 🧷
Restrict Visibility To:	RBYTEMAIN - Rapid Byt 🔹	Payment Method:	CASH - Cash Payment 🖉 🖉
Tax Zone ID:	DOMESTIC P	Cash Account:	D Q
	Require Tax Zone	Payment By:	Due Date 👻
Tax Calculation Mode:	Tax Settings -	Currency ID:	NZD , P Enable Currency Override
	Default Location ID from Branch	Curr. Rate Type:	SPOT $P$ Enable Rate Override
Default Restriction Group	م :		Pay by Line
DEFAULT PURCHASE SE	TTINGS		Apply Retainage
Shipping Terms:	Q	DEFAULT PRINT AND EMA	AIL SETTINGS
Receipt Action:	Accept but Warn 🔹		✓ Print Orders
			✓ Send Orders by Email
		Send Remittances by E	Email Print Remittances

If a user changes this setting for a supplier class, the modified setting applies to new suppliers created based on this class and to existing suppliers that are reassigned to the class after it has been modified.

### Changes to the Suppliers Screen

On the Suppliers screen (AP303000), the Restrict Visibility To field has been added to the Financial Settings section on the Financial tab, as shown in the screenshot below. In this field, a user can select a company or a branch that will work with the supplier exclusively.

If a branch is selected in this field, the system copies this value to the **Default Branch** field on the Purchase Settings tab (Other Settings section) of this screen. If a company is selected in this field, in the **Default Branch** field, the system restricts the list of values for selection to the branches of the selected company.

	+ 🗓 🗘 • 🗠 <	< >	>I ACTIONS -	INQUIRIES - REPORTS -	
Supplier ID:	EDPOWER - Edison Power	Q	Balance:	0.00	
Vendor Status:	Active		Prepayment Balance:	0.00	
Supplier Class:	TRADELOC - Trade Suppliers - Loca	al P 0	Retained Balance:	0.00	
GENERAL FINA	NCIAL PAYMENT PURCHAS	SE SETTING	S ATTRIBUTES	LOCATIONS CONTACTS	ACTIVITI
	NCIAL PAYMENT PURCHAS			LOCATIONS CONTACTS	ACTIVITI
					ACTIVITI
FINANCIAL SETTINGS				TINGS	ACTIVITI
FINANCIAL SETTINGS	CASHONLY - Cash Only	<i>م</i> •	– RETAINAGE SET	TINGS	ACTIVITI

If a user changes the supplier class of an existing supplier in the **Supplier Class** field, the system displays a window asking the user to confirm this change. If the change is confirmed, the system inserts the **Restrict Visibility To** value that is specified for the newly selected supplier class.

On this screen, a user can select in the **Supplier ID** field only suppliers that are visible in the branches the user has access to, based on the **Restrict Visibility To** setting of each supplier, the access role assigned to the branch, and the roles assigned to the user. The list of classes available in the **Supplier Class** field on this screen is also restricted based on the roles assigned to the current user: Only supplier classes with the visibility restriction that is a branch or company accessible by the user can be selected on the screen.

### Other UI Changes

The following list summarises other UI changes that have been made to support the restricted visibility of supplier records:

- On the Supplier Locations screen (AP303010), the list of values in the Default Branch field on the General tab (Other Settings section) is limited based on the supplier visibility restriction.
- On multiple data entity screens that have the originating branch, the list of suppliers is limited to those that are visible in the originating branch.
- On multiple processing screens that have the Company or Branch setting, only suppliers visible in the selected branch or company can be selected in the Supplier field and can be processed. On other screens that have the Supplier setting but do not have the Company or Branch setting, the list of suppliers is limited based on the current user's access role.
- On the Supplier Summary (AP655000) or Supplier Profiles (AP655500) reports, when a user runs the report to display supplier-related information, the report will

show only the suppliers visible to the current user based on the roles assigned to the user.

• The Suppliers (AP3030PL) and Supplier Locations (AP3030P1) lists have been modified to restrict the visibility of suppliers and supplier locations according to the configured visibility of the user.

### Support for Cash Transactions in Bank Deposits

In previous versions of MYOB Advanced, users could not add cash transactions to bank deposits, because clearing accounts could not be selected on the Transactions screen (CA304000). As of this release, MYOB Advanced supports the addition of cash transactions to a bank deposit along with customer payments. Users can now post cash account entries to clearing accounts and add these entries on the Payments tab of the Bank Deposits screen (CA305000).

### Changes to the Transactions Screen

On the Transactions screen (CA304000), a column for the **Clearing Account** check box has been added to the lookup table for the **Cash Account** field, as shown in the following screenshot.

			_	-		<							
ran. Type:	Ca	sh Entry				* Tran	. Date:	13/05/2	021 -		Amount:		0.00
eference Nbr.:	<١	IEW> ,0				* Fin.	Period:		Q		GST Taxabl	e T	0.00
ash Account:					Q	* Entr	у Туре:			ç	GST Exemp	ot T	0.00
urrency: tatus:	S	elect - Cash	Acc	ount								$\square$ ×	0.00
latus.	5	SELECT C	)	⊶  ∑								Q	
escription:	8	Cash Account	Ť	Account	Des	cription			Currency	Subaccount	Branch	Clearing Account	
RANSACTION	>	100015		100015	Che	eque Accou	nt - NZD M	ain	NZD	000-000-000	RBYTEMAIN		
									NZD	000-000-000		-	
+ 0		CIBANZNZ		100017	AN	Z Bank New	/ Zealand		NZD	000-000-000	RBYTEMAIN		
Branch													)ffset

A Payment Information section has been added to the Financial Details tab on this screen. The **Cleared** check box and **Clear Date** field have been moved to the new section from the Link to GL section. The fields in the new section provide information related to the bank deposit, with the **Batch Deposit** check box selected automatically by the system when the user selects a clearing account in the **Cash Account** field of the Summary area.

### Finance

	Ś	+	ÎÌ	0 -	K	<	>	×	REVERSE	ACTIONS -	INQUIR	IES 🕶		
Tran. Type:	Cash Entr	,					Tran.	Date:	24/11/2018				Amount:	355.00
Reference Nbr.:	000001	Q					Fin. P	eriod:	08-2019				GST Taxable T	0.00
Cash Account:	100015 - 0	heque A	ccoun	t - NZD	Main		Entry	Туре:	CHARGE -	Bank Charges			GST Exempt T	0.00
Currency:	NZD	1.00	*	VIEV	/ BASE		Disbu	rsement/.	Disbursem	ent			Tax Total:	0.00
Status:	Released						Docur	ment Ref.	: 098					
							Owne	r:	EP000000	20 - Andy Taylor				
Description:														
				_			TAX S	-	ROVAL DETAI	LS				
LINK TO GL				_			TAX S	SETTING						
LINK TO GL							TAX S Tax	SETTING Zone:						
Batch Number Branch:		000945 RBYTEN	IAIN - I	Rapid B			TAX S Tax	SETTING Zone:	S					
LINK TO GL Batch Number Branch:		000945 RBYTEN	IAIN - I	Rapid B			TAX S Tax	SETTING Zone:	S					
LINK TO GL — Batch Number Branch: PAYMENT INFC	RMATION _	000945 RBYTEN	IAIN - I	Rapid B			TAX S Tax	SETTING Zone:	S					
LINK TO GL Batch Number Branch: PAYMENT INFC	RMATION -	000945 RBYTEN	IAIN - I	Rapid B			TAX S Tax	SETTING Zone:	S					
LINK TO GL Batch Number Branch: PAYMENT INFC Deposit After:	RMATION _	000945 RBYTEN	1AIN - 1 1 18	Rapid B			TAX S Tax	SETTING Zone:	S					
LINK TO GL Batch Number Branch: PAYMENT INFC Deposit After:	RMATION -	000945 RBYTEN Clearer 24/11/20	IAIN - I d 18 Deposit	Rapid B			TAX S Tax	SETTING Zone:	S					
LINK TO GL — Batch Number Branch: PAYMENT INFC Deposit After:	RMATION	000945 RBYTEN Clearee 24/11/20 Batch I	IAIN - I d 18 Deposit	Rapid B			TAX S Tax	SETTING Zone:	S					

### Changes to the Bank Deposits Screen

On the Bank Deposits screen (CA305000), the Add Payment to Deposit window opens when a user clicks **Add Payment** on the table toolbar of the Payments tab. In MYOB Advanced 2021.1.1, the system now displays cash transactions in the table, in addition to customer payments, which can be added to a bank deposit. The following screenshot illustrates the Add Payment to Deposit window with cash transactions.

an. Type: eference Nbr.:	<ne< th=""><th>w&gt; ,0</th><th></th><th>* Deposi * Fin. Pe</th><th></th><th>29/2020 -2020</th><th>۰ ۵</th><th></th><th></th><th>Deposits T Charge Tot</th><th></th><th>0.00 0.00</th><th></th><th></th></ne<>	w> ,0		* Deposi * Fin. Pe		29/2020 -2020	۰ ۵			Deposits T Charge Tot		0.00 0.00		
ash Account: urrency:	Add	Payment to	Deposit											×
atus:	Cle	aring Account			Q	* S	tart Date:		12/22/20	20 -	Selection Total:		-175.00	
escription:	Pa	ment Method			Q	* E	nd Date:		12/29/20	20 -	Number of Docum	ents:	2	
AYMENTS	Q	+ ×	→  X											
0 >	8	Doc. Module	Туре	Reference Nbr.	Customer/Ver	ıdor	Account Name	Loca	ation	Payment Ref.	Payment Date	Currency	Payment Amount	Cash Account
loc. Ty Iodule	V	CA	Cash Entry	000219						29122020-01	12/29/2020	USD	19.00	10400
	> 🖂	CA	Cash Entry	000220						29122020-02	12/29/2020	USD	156.00	10400
		CA	Cash Entry	000221						29122020-02	12/29/2020	USD	157.00	10400
		CA	Cash Entry	000222						12292020-01	12/29/2020	USD	19.00	10400
		CA	Cash Entry	000223						12292020-02	12/29/2020	USD	158.00	10400

A cash transaction added to a bank deposit affects the total amount of the bank deposit as follows, depending on the entry type specified for it on the Transactions screen (CA304000):

- **Disbursement entry type**: The cash transaction produces a credit entry for the clearing account. The amount of this entry is shown with a negative value in the Deposit Amount column on the Payments tab of the on the Bank Deposits screen. This amount is posted to the debit side of the deposit batch.
- **Receipt entry type**: The cash transaction produces a debit entry for the clearing account. The amount of this entry is shown as a positive value in the Deposit Amount column on the Payments tab of the Bank Deposits screen. This amount is posted to the credit side of the deposit batch.

The following screenshot shows a bank deposit to which two cash transactions have been added, one with the "Receipt" entry type and the other with the "Disbursement" entry type. The system has calculated the total amount of the deposit in the **Total Amount** field in the Summary area.

Tran. Type:	CA Depos	it 👻		* Deposit Date:	12/29/2020 -			Deposits	Total:	138.00			
Reference Nbr.:	000226	Q		* Fin. Period:	12-2020			Charge	Total:	0.00			
Cash Account:	10200 - C	ompany Checkir	ig Account	* Document Ref.:	12292020			Total Am	iount:	138.00			
Currency:	USD	1.00 +	VIEW BASE	Cash Drop Acc			Q						
Status:	On Hold			Cash Drop Am	0.00	)							
Description:	Bank depo	osit											
PAYMENTS	CHARGES	FINANCIA AYMENT  ←											
*Doc. Ty Module	pe	Reference Nbr.	Customer/Vend	or Account Name	Location	*Account	Currency	Deposit Amount	Payment Method	Status	Payment Ref.	Payment Date	Charge Type
CA C	ash Entry	000222				10400	USD	-19.00		Released	12292020-01	12/29/2020	
						10400	USD	157.00		Released	29122020-02	12/29/2020	

### Support for Price Lists for Net/Gross Prices

In MYOB Advanced, users can define gross and net prices by assigning business-tobusiness (B2B) and business-to-consumer (B2C) customers or customer locations to different customer price classes and setting up prices that depend on the customer's price class. However, in previous versions, it was not obvious from a price list whether a price was gross or net. For example, it was possible to set up a customer with the Gross tax calculation mode and assign a customer price class with Net prices to this customer. As a result, prices calculated in a sales order or SO invoice could be incorrect.

As of this release, a new setting—**Tax Calculation Mode**—has been added to the Sales Prices (AR202000) and Sales Price Worksheets (AR202010) screens. Users can now create a sales document with the Gross tax calculation mode and specify gross prices or create a sales document with the Net tax calculation mode and specify net prices for it.

This functionality is available if the Net/Gross Entry Mode feature is enabled on the Enable/Disable Features screen (CS100000).

### Changes to the Sales Prices Screen

On the Sales Prices screen (AR202000), a **Tax Calculation Mode** field has been added to the Summary area, and Tax Calculation Mode and Tax Category columns have been added to the table, as shown in the following screenshot.

		CREATE PR	ICE WORKSHEET												
Pr	rice	Туре:	All Prices		<ul> <li>Item Class ID:</li> </ul>			٩	Pr Pr	ice Class:				Q	
Pr	rice	Code:			Inventory ID:			2	D Pr	ice Manag	er:			Q	Me
Та	ax C	alculation Mode:	All Modes		<ul> <li>Warehouse:</li> </ul>			ې	Pr	ice Workg	oup:			Q	ΠM
Ef		ive As Of: + × I⊶I	All Modes Gross Net Not Set												
0	D	Price Type	Price Code	*Inventory ID	Description	UOM	Warehouse	Promotion	Break Qty	Price	*Currency	Tax Calculation Mode	Tax Category	Effe	lective te
0		Base		EXACCLEAN	Airconditioning Unit Clean up	EACH			0.00	108.00	AUD	Not Set	DEFAULTD	1/0	01/20
0	D	Customer	CUST000005	EXACCLEAN	Airconditioning Unit Clean up	EACH			0.00	138.00	AUD	Not Set	DEFAULTD	1/0	01/20
0	D	Customer Price C	EDUC	EXACCLEAN	Airconditioning Unit Clean up	EACH			0.00	120.00	AUD	Not Set	DEFAULTD	1/0	01/20
0	D	Base		HDSERV	Hardware Service	HOUR			0.00	120.00	AUD	Not Set	DEFAULTD	1/0	01/20
0	D	Customer	CUST000005	HDSERV	Hardware Service	HOUR			0.00	172.50	AUD	Not Set	DEFAULTD	1/0	01/20
0	D	Customer Price C	EDUC	HDSERV	Hardware Service	HOUR			0.00	150.00	AUD	Not Set	DEFAULTD	1/0	01/20
0	D	Base		ITM0000001	Standard Keyboard	EACH			0.00	35.79	AUD	Not Set	DEFAULTD	1/0	07/20
0	D	Customer	CUST000005	ITM0000001	Standard Keyboard	EACH			0.00	33.24	AUD	Not Set	DEFAULTD	1/0	07/20
0		Customer Price C	EDUC	ITM0000001	Standard Keyboard	EACH			0.00	30.68	AUD	Not Set	DEFAULTD	1/0	07/20
0	D	Base		ITM0000002	Bluetooth Keyboard	EACH			0.00	19.95	AUD	Not Set	DEFAULTD	1/0	07/20
0	D	Customer	CUST000005	ITM0000002	Bluetooth Keyboard	EACH			0.00	18.52	AUD	Not Set	DEFAULTD	1/0	07/20
0	D	Customer Price C	EDUC	ITM0000002	Bluetooth Keyboard	EACH			0.00	17.10	AUD	Not Set	DEFAULTD	1/0	07/20
0	D	Base		ITM0000003	Kingsbrand Keyboard	EACH			0.00	9.34	AUD	Not Set	DEFAULTD	1/0	07/20
0		Customer	CUST000005	ITM0000003	Kingsbrand Keyboard	EACH			0.00	8.67	AUD	Not Set	DEFAULTD	1/0	07/20
0	D	Customer Price C	EDUC	ITM000003	Kingsbrand Keyboard	EACH			0.00	8.01	AUD	Not Set	DEFAULTD	1/0	07/20
0		Base		ITM0000004	Kingsbrand Bluetooth Keyboard	EACH			0.00	18.67	AUD	Not Set	DEFAULTD	1/0	07/20
0	D	Customer	CUST000005	ITM0000004	Kingsbrand Bluetooth Keyboard	EACH			0.00	17.33	AUD	Not Set	DEFAULTD	1/0	07/20

A user can select one of the following values in the **Tax Calculation Mode** field to narrow the prices listed in the table:

- All Modes (default): Prices with all available tax calculation modes are shown.
- **Not Set**: Only prices with the Not Set tax calculation mode are shown.
- **Gross**: Only prices with the Gross tax calculation mode are shown.
- Net: Only prices with the Net tax calculation mode are shown.

When the user clicks the **Create Price Worksheet** button on the screen toolbar, the system copies the value selected in the **Tax Calculation Mode** field to the created worksheet. If "All Modes" is selected in this field, the system displays an error message indicating that a tax calculation mode must be selected.

The Tax Calculation Mode column in the table can have the following values:

- Not Set (default): The price either includes a tax or does not, depending on the tax settings.
- **Gross**: The tax amount is included in the item price.
- **Net**: The tax amount is not included in the item price.

The Tax Category column is not available for editing; it displays the tax category specified for the stock item or non-stock item on the General tab of the Stock Items (IN202500) or Non-Stock Items (IN202000) screens.

### Changes to the Sales Price Worksheets Screen

On the Sales Price Worksheets screen (AR202010), a **Tax Calculation Mode** field has been added to the Summary area, and a **Tax Category** column has been added to the table, as shown in the following screenshot.

Sales Price Work	sheets stomer based p	price book										C
< ? [			ik k	> > RELEASE AC	TIONS -							
Reference Nbr.:	000011 P	* Effective D	ate: 1/07/201	• •	Promotional							
Status:	Open	Expiration	Date:		Fair Value							
Tax Calculatio	Gross -		Overwrite	te Overlapping Prices	Prorated							
Description:	Gross	price book										
ڻ + ن	Not Set			PENDING PRICES	t x							
Price Type	Price Code	Alternate ID	* Inventory ID	Description	*UOM	Warehouse	Break Qty	Source Price	Pending Price	*Currency	Tax Category	
Customer	CUST000005		ITM0000001	Standard Keyboard	EACH		0.00	51.75	33.240000	AUD	DEFAULTD	
Customer	CUST000005		ITM0000002	Bluetooth Keyboard	EACH		0.00	54.05	18.520000	AUD	DEFAULTD	
Customer	CUST000005		ITM0000003	Kingsbrand Keyboard	EACH		0.00	56.35	8.670000	AUD	DEFAULTD	
Customer	CUST000005		ITM0000004	Kingsbrand Bluetooth Keyboard	EACH		0.00	90.85	17.330000	AUD	DEFAULTD	
Customer	CUST000005		ITM0000005	Standard Mouse	EACH		0.00	40.25	31.200000	AUD	DEFAULTD	
Customer	CUST000005		ITM0000013	Desktop Office Pro Package A	EACH		0.00	640.55	15.610000	AUD	DEFAULTD	
Customer	CUST000005		ITM0000014	Desktop Office Pro Package B	EACH		0.00	661.25	7.800000	AUD	DEFAULTD	
Customer	CUST000005		ITM0000015	Desktop Editor Pro Package A	EACH		0.00	790.05	58,500000	AUD	DEFAULTD	

A user can select one of the following values in the **Tax Calculation Mode** field:

- Not Set (default): The item price can either include a tax or not include it.
- **Gross**: The item price includes the tax amount.
- **Net**: The item price does not include the tax amount.

The Tax Category column is not available for editing; it displays the tax category specified for the stock item or non-stock item on the General tab of the Stock Items (IN202500) or Non-Stock Items (IN202000) screens.

### Other UI Changes

In the Summary area of the Supplier Prices screen (AP202000), the **Effective As Of** field displays the current business date by default.

On the Supplier Price Worksheets screen (AP202010), in the Copy Prices window, which opens when a user clicks **Copy Prices** on the table toolbar, the system copies only the prices that have a tax calculation mode selected in the worksheet.

#### Price Selection Rules

The priority of prices copied by default to a document has not been changed, but if the "Net/Gross Entry Mode" feature has been enabled, the system selects only prices that meet particular criteria as follows, depending on the value in the **Tax Calculation Mode** field specified for a document:

- If the document's tax calculation mode is "Gross", only prices with the Gross or Not Set tax calculation mode can be selected.
- If the document's tax calculation mode is "Net", only prices with the Net or Not Set tax calculation mode can be selected.
- If the document's tax calculation mode is "Tax Settings", prices with any tax calculation mode can be selected.

### Synchronisation of Tax Periods with Financial Periods

In previous versions of MYOB Advanced, if an administrative user changed user-defined periods in the financial calendar on the Master Financial Calendar screen (GL201000), the system updated the tax periods for a tax year with all the tax periods having the "Open" status. If at least one tax period in the tax year had the "Prepared" or "Closed" status, the update of the tax periods based on the financial calendar was not performed.

In MYOB Advanced 2021.1.1, the tax periods for which Financial Periods is selected in the Tax Period Type field on the Tax Periods screen (TX207000) can be synchronised with financial periods in the company calendar, regardless of the status of tax periods.

To support this functionality, on the Tax Periods screen (TX207000), the Synchronize Periods with GL command has been added to the Actions menu. This command synchronises the tax year structure with the company's financial year—which is specified on the Master Financial Calendar screen (GL201000), or on the Company Financial Calendar screen (GL201100) if the "Multiple Calendar Support" feature is enabled starting from the first open tax period; it deletes the existing tax periods and generates new tax periods for the year. If the next tax year has been generated and the end date of the selected tax year does not immediately precede the start date of the next tax year, the next tax year will be deleted upon confirmation.

On the Tax Periods screen, if "Financial Periods" is selected in the **Tax Period Type** field for the company specified in the **Company** field and the tax agency selected in the **Tax Agency** field, when a user changes the user-defined financial periods on the Master Financial Calendar or on the Company Financial Calendar screen, the user should update tax periods based on the updated financial calendar in the following ways:

- On the Prepare Tax Report screen (TX501000), the system displays an error message if the start and end dates of the tax period to be prepared differ from those of the corresponding financial periods for the selected company or if the financial periods have been deleted. The user has to correct the tax period structure by using the **Synchronize Periods with GL** command on the Tax Periods screen.
- On the Release Tax Report screen (TX502000), if the start and end dates of the tax period to be released differ from the corresponding financial period of the selected company or if the financial periods have been deleted, the system displays an error message. The user should void the tax report, and then use the **Synchronize Periods with GL** action on the Tax Periods screen to correct the period structure for the tax year.

### Tax Support for Expenses on Bank Transfers

In previous versions of MYOB Advanced, users could not apply taxes to bank fees and charges created on the Funds Transfers screen (CA301000). In MYOB Advanced 2021.1.1, tax support for expenses on the Funds Transfers screen has been implemented. With this support, users can add a tax to each expense line. One expense line can have multiple tax lines.

#### Changes to the Funds Transfers Screen

The following columns have been added to the table on the Funds Transfers screen (CA301000):

- **Tax Amount**: The total amount of all tax lines added to the current expense. The displayed amount is a link a user can click to open the Expense Taxes window.
- **Total Amount**: The total amount of the expense, which is calculated based on the following formulas, which differ based on whether the taxes are inclusive:
  - **For non-inclusive taxes**: Total Amount = Amount + Tax Amount where Taxable Amount = Amount
  - **For inclusive taxes**: Total Amount = Taxable Amount + Tax Amount where Total Amount = Amount

In these formulas, Amount is the amount of the expense manually defined by a user. For non-inclusive taxes, this amount is also known as the taxable amount. Tax Amount is the total amount of the taxes applied to this expense manually or automatically.

- **Tax Zone**: The tax zone applied to the expense. By default, the tax zone is copied from the tax zone of the selected cash account and entry type.
- **Tax Category**: The tax category of the tax zone.

The following screenshot illustrates the UI changes introduced on the Funds Transfers screen.

Funds Transfers New Record											[	NOTES	ACTIVITIES	FILES CUSTO
	∽ + îi	<b>⊳•</b> K <	> >	RELEASE	HOLD	ACTION	s •							
Transfer Numb	<new> ,P</new>	Description:												
Status:	Balanced	RGOL:	0.00											
OURCE ACCOUN	NT					_								
Account:		Q.	Batch Num	ber:										
Transfer Date:	13/05/2021 - Cl	eared	Clear Date:											
Document Ref.:			GL Balance	0	0.00									
Currency:	AUD 1.00	<ul> <li>VIEW BASE</li> </ul>	Available B	alance:	0.00									
Amount:	0.00		Base Curre	ncy Amount:	0.00									
ESTINATION AC	COUNT					_								
Account:		Q	Batch Num	ber:										
Receipt Date:	13/05/2021 - Cl	ared	Clear Date:											
Document Ref.:			GL Balance	0	0.00									
Currency:	AUD 1.00	<ul> <li>VIEW BASE</li> </ul>	Available B	alance:	0.00									
Amount:	0.00		Base Curre	ncy Amount:	0.00									
0 + ×														
Cash Accourt	*Entry Type	Description	Amount	Tax Amount	Total C Amount	urrency	Currency Document Ref. Rate	* Offset Account	<ul> <li>Offset</li> <li>Subaccount</li> </ul>	*Doc. Date	Fin. Period	Tax Zone	Tax Category	Tax Calculation Mode
	CHARGE	Bank Charges	150.00	0.00	150.00 A	AUD	1.0000000	600691	000-000-000	13/05/2021	11-2021			Tax Settings
0 D 100016	INTEREST	Deposit Inter	50.00	0.00	50.00 A	NID.	1.00000000	400500	000-000-000	13/05/2021	11 2021			Tax Settings

The following screenshot illustrates the Expense Taxes window, which opens when the user clicks a link in the Tax Amount column.



In this window, the user can review the taxes applied to the expense and manually update the values in the Tax Amount and Expense Amount columns.

### Other Improvements

Multiple improvements to the UI and financial management processes have been introduced, as described below.

### Renaming of UI Elements from Validate to Recalculate

In previous versions of MYOB Advanced, UI elements on multiple screens used the word validate to describe the recalculation of values, but the system did not perform validation. In MYOB Advanced, to make the user experience more intuitive, the following UI changes have been made on the following screens:

- Validate Account Balances (CA503000) has been renamed to Recalculate Account Balances. The **Validate** and **Validate All** buttons on the screen toolbar have been renamed to **Process** and **Process All**, respectively.
- Validate Project Balances (PM504000) has been renamed to Recalculate Project Balances. The **Validate** and **Validate All** buttons on the screen toolbar have been renamed to **Process** and **Process All**, respectively.
- Validate Supplier Balances (AP509900) has been renamed to Recalculate Supplier Balances.
- Validate Customer Balances (AR509900) has been renamed to Recalculate Customer Balances.
- Validate Deferred Balances (DR509900) has been renamed to Recalculate Deferred Balances. The **Validate** and **Validate All** buttons on the screen toolbar have been renamed to **Process** and **Process All**, respectively.
- Validate Inventory (IN505000) has been renamed to Recalculate Inventory.
- Validate Account History (GL509900) has been renamed to Recalculate Account History. The **Validate** and **Validate All** buttons on the screen toolbar have been renamed to **Process** and **Process All**, respectively.

• On the Projects screen (PM301000), the Validate Project Balance command on the Actions menu has been renamed to Recalculate Project Balance.

The tooltips for the **Process** and **Process All** buttons on the listed screens have been updated based on these changes.

#### Supplier Class Selection on the Prepare Payments Screen

On the Prepare Payments screen (AP503000), a **Supplier Class** field has been added to the Selection area, as shown in the following screenshot.

Prepare Payn	nents								
PROCESS	PRO	CESS ALL 🖒 🔹							
* Branch:	RBYTEM	IAIN - Rapid Byte Head	Quart 🔎 S	Supplier Class:	EMPLACT - Accou	inting	Q		
* Payment Meth			,o s	upplier:			Q		
* Cash Account:			🗸 🗸	Pay Date Wit	nin	3	Days		
Payment Date:	13/05/202	21 -		Due Date Wit	nin	3	Days		
* Post Period:	11-2021		, c	Prompt Paym	ent Disc. Expire	3	Days		
Currency:	AUD	1.00 - VIE	W BASE	Always Take I	Prompt Paymen				
DOCUMENTS TO			· X						
🖹 🗌 Document Ty	pe	* Reference Nbr.	Supplier ID	Line Nbr.	Supplier Name			Cost Code	Account

By selecting a supplier class in this field, users can narrow the documents that are listed and available for processing on the Process Payments / Print Checks screen (AP505000) and avoid processing the documents of suppliers assigned to other supplier classes.

**Note:** The implementation of this functionality may affect custom generic inquiries, customisation projects, import and export scenarios, and API integrations. For the complete list of changes, see the *MYOB Advanced 2021.1.1 Technical Release Notes*.

### The Change ID Action Added to the Ledgers Screen

On the Ledgers screen (GL201500), an Actions menu with the **Change ID** command has been added, as shown in the following screenshot.

Ledgers ACTUAL - Acti	ual		
← 🕄 🗄	∽ + ڨ ₿• K	< >	
			Change ID
* Ledger ID:	ACTUAL	Q	Currency: AUD
Description:	Actual		Consolidation Source
Type:	Actual		
COMPANIES	BRANCHES		
с + х	↔  X		
Company	Company Name	Active	Company Type
> <u>RBYTEMAIN</u>	Rapid Byte Head Quarters	$\checkmark$	Without Branches
RBYTEREGN	Rapid Byte Regional Offices	$\checkmark$	With Branches Requiring

By clicking **Actions > Change ID**, a user can change the identifier to be used for the ledger—for example, to correct a typo in a ledger ID, or to update the ID of an existing ledger in order to better distinguish it among multiple ledgers in the system.

#### Support for Statistical Ledgers on the Recalculate Account History Screen

Previously, the Recalculate Account History screen (GL509900) listed the Actual and Reporting types of ledgers. Statistical ledgers—those for which Statistical is selected in the Type field on the Ledgers screen (GL201500)—are now displayed along with ledgers of other types, and users can recalculate the balances of these ledgers based on the transactions posted to the ledgers. The following screenshot illustrates a statistical ledger selected for recalculation on the Recalculate Account History screen.

F	Rec	alc	ula	te Account H	istory
	Ċ	¥	2	PROCESS	PROCESS ALL 🖒 ▾ 🖂 🔟 🔟
	* Fii	n. Pe	e <mark>rio</mark> d:	01-2018	Q
8	0			Ledger ID	Description
	0	D		ACTUAL	Actual
	0			REPORTINGM	Reporting - HQ
	0			REPORTINGR	Reporting - Regional
>	0		$\checkmark$	STAT	Statistical Ledger

#### Improved Usability of the Calculate Overdue Charges Screen

On the Calculate Overdue Charges screen (AR507000), when a user updated the value in the **Statement Cycle** field of the Selection area, the system reset the value in the **Overdue Charge Date** field. This happened if on the Accounts Receivable Preferences screen (AR101000), on the General Settings tab (Data Processing Settings section), the **Set Default Overdue Charges by Statement Cycle** check box was selected.

To eliminate this unexpected resetting of the date, the **Statement Cycle** field has been moved to the top of the Selection area, as shown in the following screenshot.

Ca	lculat	e Overdue C	harg	es						
Q	\$	CALCULATE	PF	ROCESS PI	ROCESS ALL	or vi	EW LAST CHARGE	↔	x Y	
	Statemer	it Cycle:		EOTM - End of	The Month	O Custo	omer Class:			Q
* (	Jverdue	Charge Date:		13/05/2021 -		Custo	omer:			Q
* [	Fin. Perio	d:		11-2021	J	Q				
	Туре		Refere	nce Nbr.	Date	Due Date	Customer	Custom	er Name	Currency

### Other UI Improvements

On multiple screens, the following UI changes related to currency management have been made:

- On the Write Off Balances and Credits screen (AR505000), the **Branch** field has been replaced with the **Company/Branch** field.
- On the Revalue AP Accounts (CM504000), Revalue AR Accounts (CM505000), and Revalue GL Accounts (CM506000) screens, a Company/Branch field has been added to the Selection area; in this field, a user can select a company, branch, or company group. The field shows the list of the companies, branches, and company groups to which the current user has access. The default value is the current branch (that is, to which the user is signed in). If a company or branch is selected in the Company/Branch field, the Fin. Period field shows the financial periods from the company calendar; if a company group is selected or the field is empty, the financial periods from the master calendar are shown.
- In the table, the system loads the records related to the branches of the company or company group selected in the **Company/Branch** field or the records of the branch selected in the field.
- On the Cash Flow Forecast screen (CA401000), a **Company/Branch** field has been added to the Summary area. This field appears on the screen if the *Multi-Branch Support* feature has been enabled on the Enable/Disable Features screen. On this screen, the field contains the current branch by default, and the list contains the entities to which the current user has access.

Additionally, the following UI changes have been made on this screen:

- The **Convert To Currency** field has been renamed to **Forecast Currency**.
- The Include AP, AR Documents with No Cash Account Specified check box has been renamed to Include Documents Without Cash Account.
- The Convert Curr. Rate Type field has been renamed to Currency Rate Type.

## Integration

### Changes to Product Exporting

Users can now control which stock, non-stock, and template items should be exported to external e-commerce systems.

### Changes to the Item Classes Screen

On the General Settings tab of the Item Classes screen (IN201000), a new **Export to External System** check box has been added (as shown in the following screenshot).

Item C	Classes								
8	∽ + ı́i	0 • K < >	>I ACT	IONS -					
*	* Class ID:	ELEC Electronics & Compute	ers Mfg 🔎						
	Description:	Electronics & Computers Mfg							
	GENERAL SETTIN	IGS REPLENISHMENT SE	TTINGS RE	ESTRICTIC	N GROUPS	ATTR	IBUTES	SERVICE	MANAGEMENT
GE	ENERAL SETTING	S		U	IT OF MEAS	SURE			
		Stock Item		* 8	ase Unit:		EACH	0	Divisible Unit
		Allow Negative Quantit	у	* 5	ales Unit:		EACH	P 0	Divisible Unit
		Accrue Cost		* F	urchase Uni	t:	EACH	0	Divisible Unit
		Z Export to External Syst	em		<u>ර</u> +	$\times$			
1	Item Type:	Finished Good	-		*From	Multiply/	Divide	Conv	ersion To Unit
١	Valuation Method:	Average	•	•	Unit	matupiyn	DIVID		Factor
1	Tax Category:	DEFAULTD - Default Do	mestic - Attrac 🔎	0					

This check box is displayed only if the *Commerce Integration* feature is enabled on the Enable/Disable Features screen (CS100000). By default, this check box is selected for all new item classes.

#### Changes to the Stock Items, Non-Stock Items, and Template Items Screens

On the eCommerce tab of the Stock Items (IN202500), Non-Stock Items (IN202000) and Template Items (IN203000) screens, an **Export to External System** check box has been added; the following screenshot shows this check box on the Stock Items screen.

This check box is displayed only if the *Commerce Integration* feature is enabled on the Enable/Disable Features screen (CS100000).

### Integration

o computer motherboard	
+ 🗊 🗘 • I< < > >I ACTIONS • INQUIRIES •	
ELEBOADD Lastes consults metho 0 Product Workgroup	
Active   Product Manager:	
Laptop computer motherboard	
S PRICE/COST MANUFACTURING WAREHOUSES SUPPLIERS ()ATTRIBUTES PACKAGING	CROSS-REFERENCE
Z Export To External System Media URLs	
Visible • O + X	
Store Default	Туре
Store Default	
	Image
	ELEBOARD - Laptop computer mothe Product Workgroup:       Product Workgroup:       Product Manager:       Product Manager:

When a new stock, non-stock, or template item is created, the state of the **Export to External System** check box is determined by the state of the similar check box of the item class of the item. That is, if the **Export to External System** check box is selected for the item class to which the item belongs, the check box will be selected for the item as well. The user can override the default state of the check box for the selected item, if necessary.

Only items for which the **Export to External System** check box is selected can be exported to an external e-commerce system during the synchronisation of the Stock Item, Non-Stock Item, and Template Item entities.

For matrix items, the system sets the state of the **Export to External System** check box as follows:

- When matrix items are generated, the initial state of the check box is inherited from the template item the matrix items are based on as follows:
  - If this check box is selected for the template item, it is also selected for all generated matrix items.
  - If this check box is cleared for the template item, it is also cleared for all matrix items generated from it. The check box is not available for editing for individual matrix items.
- If this check box was selected for the template item when matrix items were generated, when a user clears this check box for the template item and then clicks **Update Matrix Items** on the toolbar of the Template Items screen (IN203000), the system also clears the check box for all matrix items. In this case, next time the Template Item entity is synchronised, the system will assign the Invalid status to the synchronisation record of the template item.

The state of the **Export to External System** check box for individual matrix items is currently inherited from the template item settings and cannot be changed manually.

### Changes to Tax Settings

The Taxes section of the Order Settings tab of the BigCommerce Stores (BC201000) and Shopify Stores (BC201010) screens has been redesigned (see the screenshot below).

In previous releases, to synchronize taxes between an online store and MYOB Advanced, a user had to select the synchronisation type, manual or automatic, and then specify either the default tax zone (which was used if no other tax zone could be determined based on the order details) or the primary tax zone (which overrode any other tax zone that was determined based on the order details). Starting in MYOB Advanced 2021.1.1, to specify each store's settings for the synchronisation of taxes, a user needs to perform the following steps:

- 1. Tick the new **Tax Synchronisation** check box to indicate that taxes should be imported from the external e-commerce system.
- 2. In the **Default Tax Zone** field, specify the tax zone that will be used to calculate taxes if the system cannot determine the tax zone based on the customer location or shipping address.

### Integration

3. To indicate that the tax zone specified as the **Default Tax Zone** should be used as the primary tax zone, select the **Use as Primary Tax Zone** check box. If a tax zone is specified as the primary tax zone, the system uses it to calculate taxes for sales orders imported from the external e-commerce system, even if a different tax zone can be determined based on the customer location of the shipping address.

Connector:	BigCommerce			Active				
* Store Name:	Rapidbyte		Q,	🗹 Default				
CONNECTION SETTING	S ENTITY SETTINGS CU	STOM	IER SETTINGS	INVENTORY SI	ETTINGS ORDE	R SETTINGS	PAYMENT SETTI	NGS
GENERAL		_	SHIPPING OP	FION MAPPING				
* Branch:	RBYTEMAIN - Rapid Byte He 🔎	0	ڻ +	× ⊨ x				
ORDER		-	Active	Store Shipping	* Store Shipping	Ship Via	Shipping	Shipping
Order Type for Import:	EO - BigCommerce Order ,0	0		Zone	Method	omp na	Zone	Terms
Order Types for Export:	EO - BigCommerce Order, *							
Return Order Type:	RC - Return for Credit ,0	0						
Refund Amount Item:	م	0						
Refund Reason Code:	م	0						
Order Time Zone:	(GMT+10:00) Canberra, Me							
Show Discounts In:	Document Discount -							
Gift Certificate Item:	م	0						
Earliest Order Date:	-							
TAXES								
	Tax Synchronization							
Default Tax Zone:	DOMESTIC - Domestic							
	✔Use as Primary Tax Zone							
* Tax List:	BCCTAXCODES ,P							
* Tax Category List:	BCCTAXCLASSES							

- 4. If an external tax calculation service is used in the company, the user should select the **Tax Synchronisation check** box, specify the tax zone configured for the service in the **Default Tax Zone** field, and select the **Use as Primary Tax Zone** check box. In this case, on the Financial Settings tab of the Sales Orders screen (SO301000), for each sales order imported from the store, the system will select the **Override Tax Zone** check box and insert the primary tax zone into the **Customer Tax Zone** field.
- 5. When the **Tax Synchronisation** check box is cleared, a sales order is imported from an external system, and the tax zone specified in the order has been defined in MYOB Advanced, then the system will use this tax zone for tax calculations.

If tax synchronisation is turned on, when a sales order is imported from the external ecommerce system to MYOB Advanced, the system searches for the tax zone that should be used for tax calculation as follows, stopping the search when it finds a qualifying tax zone:

- 1. The system searches for the primary tax zone (that is, the tax zone that is specified in the **Default Tax Zone** field if the **Use as Primary Tax Zone** check box is selected).
- 2. The system searches for the tax zone of the customer location.
- 3. The system tries to determine the tax zone based on the zip code of the shipping address.
- 4. The system searches for the default tax zone (that is, the tax zone that is specified in the **Default Tax Zone** field if the **Use as Primary Tax Zone** check box is cleared).

### Integration



### Enhancements in the Commerce Sync Monitoring Dashboard

In MYOB Advanced 2021.1.1, multiple enhancements have been made to the Commerce Sync Monitoring dashboard, which displays commerce-related statistics (see the screenshot below) for the store selected at the top of the dashboard as follows:

- The following tiles have been added:
  - **Aborted Records**: The number of commerce records that have the Aborted status. These are the records that exceeded the maximum number of allowed failed attempts.
  - **Failed Records**: The number of commerce records with the Failed status. These records are within the limit of the maximum number of allowed failed attempts.
  - **Unpaid Orders**: The number of orders that are imported from external systems and that do not have payments attached, as well as the orders that have been created in MYOB Advanced without payments attached and exported to an external system.
  - **Orders>7 Days, Not Shipped**: The number of orders that were imported more than 7 days ago and have not been shipped.
  - **Total Revenue**: The sum of order total values (in the base currency) of all the orders that were imported or exported by using the commerce connector.
  - **Prepared for Processing**: The number of commerce records with the Prepared status.
  - **Processed in Last 7 Days**: The number of commerce records that have been processed in the last 7 days.

**Note:** The records are regarded as processed when they have been processed by the connector; these records can have various statues, such as Processed, Filtered, Invalid, Deleted, or Skipped.

- **Total Processed**: The number of commerce records that have been processed.
- A Sales Order line chart has been added, which shows the number of sales orders imported per day. The maximum number of days shown is 10 by default.
- A Processed Records bar chart has been added. For the selected store, this chart shows the number of commerce records that have been processed for each entity type.
- An Aborted Records table has been added, which shows the commerce records with the Aborted status for the selected store.



### Filtering Entities by Custom Fields and Attributes

As of this release, users can filter entities to be exported to an online store by custom fields and attributes.

### Export Filtering by Custom Fields

Export filtering by custom fields, which are fields added to a screen as a result of publishing a customisation project, is available for the following entities:

- Customer
- Stock Item
- Non-Stock Item
- Template Item
- Sales Order

To use a custom field in a filtering condition, on the Export Filtering tab of the Entities screen (BC202000), a user should type the name of the field in the **Field Name** column of the table (shown in the following screenshot). The system validates the field name against the API field list and displays an error if the field name cannot be found.

### Integration

Entities 🕁								
🖺 🖍 STA	ART REAL-TIME SYNC	STOP F	REAL-TIME SYNC CLEAR SY	INC DATA				
Connector:	BigCommerce		Sync Direction:	Bidirectional	•	Real-Time Import:	Stoppe	d
Store:	SweetStore	Q	Primary System:	External	•	Real-Time Export:	Stoppe	d
Entity:	Customer	•	Max. Number of Failed Attempts:		5	Real-Time Mode:	Prepar	e -
	Active					Real-Time Webhook URL		
IMPORT MAPPIN	ig import filtering	EXPO	RT MAPPING EXPORT FILTER	ING				
🖹 🖟 🗋 Active	Brackets * Field Name		*Condition Value		Val	lue 2	Brackets	Operator
× 0 D 🗹	- BAccount L	IsrLoyalty	+ uals				-	And

To avoid typing errors, the user can copy the name of the needed field from the API Advanced list as follows:

- 1. On the Export Mapping tab, in the Source Object column, the user selects the  $\langle$ Entity $\rangle \rightarrow$  Advanced option.
- 2. In the Source Field / Value column, the user clicks the down arrow, and then selects and copies the needed field name.

#### Export Filtering by Attributes

Export filtering by attributes is available for the following entities:

- Customer
- Stock Item
- Non-Stock Item
- Template Item

When an attribute is created and added to a customer class or item class, it becomes available for selection on the Entities screen (BC202000). To use an attribute in a filtering condition, a user should select it in the Field Name column of the table on the Export Filtering tab. An attribute can be distinguished from other fields by the Attributes prefix before its name (shown in the following screenshot).

Connector:	BigCommerce		Sync Direction:	Export	-	Real-Time Import:	No	t Supported
Store:	SweetStore	Q	Primary System:	Local	*	Real-Time Export:	Sto	opped
Entity:	Stock Item	-	Max. Number of Failed Attempts:	5		Real-Time Mode:	Pre	epare
	Active							
EXPORT MAPP	INC EXFOR	TFILTERING						
$\circ$ + ×	(  →  X	<u>.</u>						
0 🗋 Active	Brackets	*Field Name	*Condition Value		Val	ue 2	Brackets	Operator
<ul> <li>0 □ Active</li> <li>0 □ □</li> </ul>	Brackets	* Field Name	*Condition Value		Val	ue 2	Brackets	Operator And
		*Field Name			Val	ue 2		
		1	← oes Not Equal		Val	ue 2		
		ABC Code Attributes.Ingredient Attributes.Package	← oes Not Equal		Val	ue 2		
		ABC Code Attributes.Ingredient Attributes.Package Attributes.Volume	← oes Not Equal		Val	ue 2		
		ABC Code Attributes.Ingredient Attributes.Package Attributes.Volume Average Cost	← oes Not Equal		Val	ue 2		
		 ABC Code Attributes.Ingredient Attributes.Package Attributes.Volume Average Cost Base Unit	← oes Not Equal		Val	ue 2		
		ABC Code Attributes.Ingredient Attributes.Package Attributes.Volume Average Cost Base Unit Default Issue From	← oes Not Equal		Val	ue 2		
		ABC Code Attributes.Ingredient Attributes.Package Attributes.Volume Average Cost Base Unit Default Issue From Default Price	← oes Not Equal		Val	ue 2		
		ABC Code Attributes.Ingredient Attributes.Package Attributes.Volume Average Cost Base Unit Default Issue From	← oes Not Equal		Val	ue 2		

### Special Considerations

In some situations, a custom field or an attribute used in a filtering condition may become unavailable during export. For example, an attribute may be removed from an item class or a customer class of an item or a customer, respectively, being exported, or a customisation project that added a field may be unpublished. In this case, the system will treat the value in the condition that contains the missing field as null. To avoid issues during the export, the Is Not Empty condition should be added to each filtering condition that includes custom fields or attributes. The following screenshot shows an example of an extended condition that contains the Ingredients attribute.

Connector:	BigCommerce		Sync Direction:	Export	•	Real-Time Import:	Not Sup	pported
Store:	SweetStore	Q	Primary System:	Local	•	Real-Time Export:	Stopped	d
	0. 1.1	•	Max. Number of Failed Attempts:		5	Real-Time Mode:	Prepare	e -
Entity: EXPORT MAPF	Stock Item	FILTERING	mox. Hannoor of Fander Adomptor					
EXPORT MAPP	Active		nda: runnoi o'r anor runnpu.					
EXPORT MAPP	Active	FILTERING	*Condition Value			slue 2	Brackets	Operator

### Importing Order Fraud Analysis from Shopify

In MYOB Advanced 2021.1.1, for sales orders created in Shopify, fraud analysis data with risk recommendations can be imported from Shopify.

### Setting Up the Import of Order Risk Information

To set up the import of fraud analysis data along with sales orders from Shopify, an implementation manager should do the following in the Order section of the Order Settings tab of the Shopify Stores screen (BC201010):

- 1. Select the new Import Order Risks check box (shown in the following screenshot).
- 2. In the new **Hold on Risk Status** field (also shown in the following screenshot), which became available when you selected the check box, select one of the following options:
  - **High Risk**: The system will assign the new Risk Hold status to imported sales orders with high risk only.
  - **Medium or High Risk**: The system will assign the new Risk Hold status to imported sales orders with both medium risk and high risk.

### Integration

Connector:	Shopify		Active			
Store Name:	Rapidbyte	Q	🗹 Default			
CONNECTION SETTINGS	ENTITY SETTINGS CUST	OMER SETTINGS	INVENTORY SETTINGS	ORDER SETTINGS	PAYMENT SETTINGS	SHIPPING SETTING
GENERAL						
Branch:	RBYTEMAIN - Rapid Byte He 🔎	2				
DRDER						
Order Type for Import:	SO - Sales Order 🔎 🖉	1				
Return Order Type:	RC - Return for Credit 🖉 🖉	1				
Refund Amount Item:	P	1				
Refund Reason Code:	Q Q	1				
Order Time Zone:	(GMT+10:00) Canberra, Me *					
Show Discounts In:	Decument Discount					
	Import Order Risks					
Hold on Risk Status:	High Risk -					

### Processing Sales Orders with the Risk Hold Status

A manager who reviews sales orders imported from Shopify can do the following to process the orders with the Risk Hold status:

- 1. Open the sales order on the Sales Orders screen (SO301000).
- 2. Open the new Risks tab (shown in the following screenshot) and analyse information about order risks, such as the following:
  - The status in the **Risk Status** field, which can be Low, Medium, or High.
  - The score in the **Score %** column of the table. (The mapping of risk scores for statuses is listed in the table below the screenshot.)

> > REMOVE RISK HOLD ACTIONS . REPORTS .

• The recommendations in the **Recommendation** column.

Sales	orders
EO	SO005919

Order Type:	EO	Q	* Customer:	E00000009	9 - Acu 123	Q	0	Ordered Qty.:	1.00		
Order Nbr.:	SO005919	Q	* Location:	MAIN - Acu1	124	Q,		Discount Total:	0.00		
Status:	Risk Hold		Contact:	Acu 123		Q	0	VAT Exempt T	0.00		
Date:	1/18/2021	*	Currency:	USD ,P 1	.00 * VI	EW BASE		VAT Taxable T	0.00		
Requested On:	1/18/2021	*	* Project:	X - Non-Proj	ject Code.	Q	0	Tax Total:	50.50		
Customer Ord	#21215							Order Total:	550.50		
External Refer	296928015	159	Description:	AcumaticaPl	lus   #21215   Paid	1					
DETAILS T/ Risk Status:	AXES CO Medium	OMMISS					DISC	OUNTS SHIPMENT	'S PAYMEN	NTS <b>RISK</b>	TOTALS
DETAILS T/ Risk Status: ウ + ×	AXES CO Medium	OMMISS		ICIAL SHIPF			DISC		'S PAYMER	NTS <b>RISK</b>	TOTALS

**Note:** Each order can have more than one risk recommendation and score. The Risk Status field displays the maximum risk in the list of risk recommendations.

- 3. If it seems too risky to process the order, the manager clicks **Actions > Cancel Order** on the screen toolbar. The order is assigned the Cancelled status and excluded from processing.
- 4. To process the order, the manager clicks the new **Remove Risk Hold** button on the screen toolbar. The order is assigned the Open or Pending Approval status, depending on the workflow configuration.

### Integration

Score %	Risk Status
0.00-20.00	Low
20.00-60.00	Medium
60.00-100.00	High

### Importing Returns and Refunds from BigCommerce

The BigCommerce Connector now supports the importing of returns and refunds that have been processed in BigCommerce Store.

### Configuration of the Import of Refunds in MYOB Advanced

To configure the import of refunds from the BigCommerce store to MYOB Advanced the user needs to perform the following general steps:

- 1. On the Entity Settings tab of the BigCommerce Stores screen (BC201010), activate the Refunds entity.
- 2. On the Order Settings tab (see the following screenshot), specify settings in the following fields:
  - **Return Order Type**: The order type, which has been created on the Order Types Order Types screen (SO201000), that is assigned to return orders imported to MYOB Advanced from the BigCommerce store. In this field, only order types based on the "RMA Order" order type template—that is, only order types with RMA Order selected as the automaton behaviour on the Template Settings tab of the Order Types screen—can be selected.
  - **Refund Amount Item**: The non-stock item, which has been created on the Non-Stock Items screen (IN202000), that is used to represent imported refund amounts in sales orders and in return orders. The non-stock item selected in this field is excluded from synchronisation and is not exported when the Non-Stock Item entity is synchronised. The non-stock item representing refund amounts should be exempt from taxes.
  - **Refund Reason Code**: The reason code, which has been created on the Reason Codes screen (CS211000), to be inserted in return orders for refunds imported to MYOB Advanced from the BigCommerce store. In this field, only reason codes of the Issue usage type can be selected.

0	<b>D</b> 1 0		Active				
Connector:	BigCommerce		-				
<ul> <li>Store Name:</li> </ul>	Rapidbyte	Q	🗹 Default				
CONNECTION SETTING	S ENTITY SETTINGS CUST	OMER SETTINGS	INVENTORY SE		R SETTINGS	PAYMENT SETTI	NGS
GENERAL		SHIPPING OPT	FION MAPPING				
Branch:	RBYTEMAIN - Rapid Byte He 🔎 🖉	′° ° +	$\times$ $\bowtie$ $\mathbb{X}$				
ORDER		Active	Store Shipping	* Store Shipping	Ship Via	Shipping	Shipping
			Zone	Method		Zone	Terms
Order Type for Import:	EO - BigCommerce Order 🖉 🖉		20110				
Order Types for Export	EQ - BigCommerce Order -		20110				
Order Types for Export Return Order Type:	EO - BigCommerce Order     *       RC - Return for Credit		2010				
Order Types for Export Return Order Type:	EQ - BigCommerce Order -	2					
Order Types for Export Return Order Type:	EO - BigCommerce Order     *       RC - Return for Credit	2	LUIN				
Order Types for Export Return Order Type: Refund Amount Item:	EQ - BinCommerce Order     *       RC - Return for Credit     P       REFUNDAMT - Refund Amou P     P	2					
Order Types for Export Return Order Type: Refund Amount Item: Refund Reason Code:	FO - RiaCommerce Order       RC - Return for Credit       Ø       REFUNDAMT - Refund Amou       Ø       REFUND - eCommerce Refun	2					

### Import of Refunds

Refunds are imported from the BigCommerce store to MYOB Advanced as part of the synchronisation of the Refunds entity, which can be synchronised only in the Import direction. During the preparation of refund data for synchronisation, the system creates one synchronisation record for all refunds that have been issued for a single sales order in the BigCommerce store.

For a refund to be imported successfully, all of the following conditions must be met:

- The original sales order has been synchronised.
- The original sales order must be either not shipped or shipped in full. If the sales order has been shipped partially, the refund will not be imported.
- The original payment to which the refund pertains has been imported and released, unless the order is fully refunded or cancelled, and the original payment has the Authorised payment processing status. In this case, it is not necessary to release the original payment, because the refund process will void the original payment.

The subsequent sections of this topic describe the results of the successful synchronisation of various types of refunds.

#### Refunds Without Returns

A refund without any returned item is a refund that does not involve the return of a product. A refund of this type may be issued, for example, if a customer has not received the ordered items or has been charged more than expected.

During the import of refunds on order amounts, if the original sales order has the "Open" or "On Hold" status on the Sales Orders screen (SO301000), the following actions occur:

- On the Payments and Applications screen (AR302000), the system creates a payment of the Customer Refund type in the refunded amount and applies it to the original payment if it is a partial refund.
- If the sales order is fully refunded or cancelled and the processing status of the original payment is "Authorised", then the original payment is voided.
- In the original sales order, on the Document Details tab of the Sales Orders screen, the system inserts a line for the non-stock item that was specified in the Refund Amount Item field on the Order Settings tab of the BigCommerce Stores screen (BC201000). In the **Unit Price** and **Ext. Price** columns of the added line, the system inserts the reversed refund amount (that is, an amount with the minus sign). In the **Reason Code** column, the system inserts the reason code that was specified on the Order Settings tab of the BigCommerce.

If the original sales order has the "Completed "status, the following actions are performed:

- On the Sales Orders screen, the system creates a return order of the type selected in the Return Order Type field on the Order Settings tab of the BigCommerce Stores screen. In the **External Reference** field of the Summary area, the system inserts the identifier of the refund in the BigCommerce store.
- In the return order, on the Document Details tab, the system inserts a line with the non-stock item that was specified in the Refund Amount Item field on the Order Settings tab of the BigCommerce Stores screen. In the **Unit Price** and **Ext. Price** columns, the system inserts the refund amount (with the plus sign). In the **Reason Code** column, the system inserts the reason code that was specified on the Order Settings tab of the BigCommerce Stores screen.

If the original sales order has a status other than "Open", "On Hold", or "Completed", the system displays an error message saying that the refund cannot be applied.

#### Refunds for Item Returns

A refund for a returned item is a refund that involves the return of a product. A refund of this type may be issued if, for example, a customer wants to amend the order to decrease the quantity of a purchased item or because the customer wants to return the item whose condition or performance is unsatisfactory.

During the import of refunds on item returns, if the original sales order has the Open or On Hold status on the Sales Orders screen (SO301000), the following actions occur:

- On the Payments and Applications screen (AR302000), the system creates a payment of the Customer Refund type in the refunded amount and applies it to the original payment if it is a partial refund.
- If the sales order is fully refunded or cancelled and the processing status of the original payment is Authorised, then the original payment is voided.
- If the sales order is fully refunded or cancelled and the processing status of the original payment is "Captured" or "Settled", then a new voided payment is created against the original payment.
- In the original sales order, on the Document Details tab of the Sales Orders screen, the system updates the order line or lines to decrease the item quantities. Discounts and taxes, if applied, are recalculated accordingly.

If the original sales order has the Completed status, the following actions occur:

- On the Sales Orders screen, the system creates a return order of the type that was specified in the Return Order Type field on the Order Settings tab of the BigCommerce Stores screen (BC201000). In the **External Reference** field of the Summary area, the system inserts the identifier of the refund in the BigCommerce store.
- In the return order, on the Document Details tab of the Sales Orders screen, the system inserts a line with the applicable quantity of the returned item. In the **Reason Code** column, the system inserts the reason code that was specified on the Order Settings tab of the BigCommerce Stores screen.
- In the return order, on the Document Details tab of the Sales Orders screen, the system inserts a line with the non-stock item that was specified in the Refund Amount Item field on the Order Settings tab of the BigCommerce Stores screen. In the Unit Price and Ext. Price columns, the system inserts the refund amount (with the plus sign). In the Reason Code column, the system inserts the reason code that was specified on the Order Settings tab of the BigCommerce Stores screen.

If the original sales order has a status other than "Open", "On Hold", or "Completed", the system displays an error message saying that the refund cannot be applied.

#### Notes

When a user imports refunds from the BigCommerce store to MYOB Advanced, the user should keep in mind the following information:

• If a refund is created for a sales order in the BigCommerce store before the sales order is synchronised, when the Sales Order entity is synchronised, the refunded or partially refunded sales order is imported with the amount that reflects the refund. In this case, no Customer Refund document is created on the Payments and Applications screen (AR302000).

- If a refund has been imported for a sales order and a Customer Refund document has been created for it on the Payments and Applications screen, a second refund for the same sales order can be imported only after the Customer Refund document is released.
- A Customer Refund document is created on the Payments and Applications screen for each refunded payment. If the original sales order had two payments (for example, if the customer redeemed a gift card for part of the order amount and paid the rest with a credit card) and then two refunds were created (one for each of these payment methods), after the Refund entity is synchronised, two Customer Refund documents are created in MYOB Advanced.

### Support for Multiple Warehouse Locations for Shopify

Multiple warehouse locations are now supported in the synchronisation settings of the Shopify store on the Shopify Stores screen (BC201010).

If more than one warehouse location has been created in Shopify, then an implementation manager can now specify the way the inventory availability data will be exported from MYOB Advanced. To make this possible, multiple settings have been added to the Inventory Settings tab (see the following screenshot).

ح الحالي المحالي	Default     INVENTORY SETTINGS	ORDER SETTINGS	PAYMENT SETTINGS	SHIPPING SETTING
	INVENTORY SETTINGS	ORDER SETTINGS	PAYMENT SETTINGS	SHIPPING SETTING
t as Product Tags	•			
	•			
Available (Don't Track Qty)	•			
thing				
ble for Shipping	•			
fic Warehouses	-			
ii ii	Available (Don't Track Qty) othing able for Shipping fic Warehouses Y EXPORT	s Available (Don't Track Qty)	s Available (Don't Track Qty)  vothing able for Shipping  v fifc Warehouses  v	s Available (Don't Track Qty)  vothing able for Shipping  v fic Warehouses  v

In the new **Warehouse Mode** field, the implementation manager can select one of the following options:

- All Warehouses: The system will always export the inventory availability data to the first warehouse location created in Shopify, even if multiple locations have been created.
- **Specific Warehouses**: An implementation manager specifies the warehouses and their locations in the Warehouse Mapping for Inventory Export table, which appears below the **Warehouse Mode** field when this option is selected.

The Warehouse Mapping for Inventory Export table contains the following columns:

• Warehouse (required): A warehouse from MYOB Advanced that holds inventory items whose availability data should be exported to Shopify. The implementation manager should select a warehouse from the list, which contains the active warehouses that have been created on the Warehouses screen (IN204000).

- Location ID (optional): A warehouse location from MYOB Advanced that contains inventory items whose availability data should be exported to Shopify. The implementation manager can select a warehouse location from the list, which contains the active locations that have been created on the Warehouses screen for the warehouse selected in the Warehouse column of the row. If no location is selected, the system exports the availability data for items stored in all locations of the selected warehouse.
- **Shopify Location** (required): The Shopify warehouse location where the system will export availability data for inventory items from MYOB Advanced. The implementation manager selects a location from the list, which contains all the warehouse locations created in Shopify.

**Note:** If no values are selected in the Warehouse Mapping for Inventory Export table, the system will behave as it would if the All Warehouses mode is selected.

### Synchronisation of Multiple Order Types with BigCommerce

Support has been added for the export of orders of multiple types to BigCommerce stores.

This functionality is available only if the *Custom Order Types* feature is enabled on the Enable/Disable Features screen (CS100000).

#### Export of Orders of Multiple Order Types

In previous versions of MYOB Advanced, during the synchronisation of the Sales Order entity, only one order type could be assigned to orders imported to MYOB Advanced from a BigCommerce store, and only orders of that order type could be exported from MYOB Advanced to the BigCommerce store. An administrative user specified that order type in the **Order Type** field (which has been renamed to **Order Type for Import**) on the Order Settings tab of the BigCommerce Stores screen (BC201000) during the configuration of the connection to the store.

This release adds a new field, **Order Types for Export** (see Item 1 in the following screenshot), to the Order Settings tab. For the BigCommerce store selected on the screen, an administrative user can now select in this field any number of order types for orders to be exported to the BigCommerce store in addition to orders of the type selected in the **Order Type for Import** field (Item 2).

Connector:	BigCommerce	Active		
Store Name:	Rapidbyte $\wp$	Default		
CONNECTION SETTINGS	ENTITY SETTINGS CUSTOMER SETTINGS	INVENTORY SETTINGS	ORDER SETTINGS	PAYMENT SETTINGS
				PAYMENT SETTINGS
GENERAL	SHIPPING OP	TION MAPPING		PAYMENT SETTINGS
GENERAL				PAYMENT SETTINGS
GENERAL	SHIPPING OP	TION MAPPING	hipping Ship Via	PAYMENT SETTINGS

**Note:** Orders are exported to the BigCommerce store only if the synchronisation direction of the Sales Order entity is set to Export or Bidirectional for that store on the BigCommerce Stores screen or on the Entities screen (BC202000).

### Changes to the Order Types for Imported Orders

As was the case in previous versions of MYOB Advanced, when orders are imported from a BigCommerce store, by default, they are created in MYOB Advanced based on the order type specified in the **Order Type for Import** field on the Order Settings tab of the BigCommerce Stores screen (BC201000).

An administrative user can now override the default order type assigned to imported orders (that is, the order type selected in the **Order Type for Import** field) by configuring an import mapping rule on the Import Mapping tab of the Entities screen (BC202000).

For example, to make the system assign the IO (international order) order type instead the default EO (e-commerce order) order type to an order shipped to a country other than the United States, on the Import Mapping tab, a user can specify the following settings in a mapping rule for the Sales Order entity.

Active	Target Object	Target Field	Source Object	Source Field / Value
Selected	Sales Order	Order Type	Order Data → Order Shipping Address	=IIf(Country='US', 'EO','IO')

With these settings, during the import of a sales order from the BigCommerce store, the system checks the shipping address of the order and assigns the order type to the imported order as follows:

- If the country is US, assigns the EO order type
- If the country is other than US, assigns the IO order type

**Note:** The order types used in the formula editor must exist in MYOB Advanced; otherwise, the import of the order will fail.

### Other Improvements

A number of improvements have been made to the e-commerce functionality. The sections of this topic describe these improvements.

### Updated List of Fields Available for Mapping and Filtering

Revisions have been made to the list of fields that can be used for mapping on the Export Mapping and Import Mapping tabs of the Entities screen (BC202000) and for filtering on the Export Filtering and Import Filtering tabs of that screen. Some of the fields have been removed from the lists of available fields and can no longer be specified in mappings or filtering conditions.

If a removed field was used in a mapping or a filtering condition, after the upgrade, the system will display an error as follows:

- If the removed field was used in a mapping for an entity, an error is displayed when the Prepare Data process for the entity is started for the first time, or when the user makes changes to the entity settings on the Entities screen and tries to save these changes.
- If the removed field was used in a filtering condition for an entity, the system displays an error when the Process Data process is started for any prepared synchronisation records of the entity for the first time; it also displays an error

when the user makes changes to the entity settings on the Entities screen and tries to save the changes.

### Support for Drag-and-Drop Functionality on the Entities Screen

On the Export Mapping and Import Mapping tabs of the Entities (BC202000) screen, users can now change the order of any row in the table by dragging it to its new position.

#### Renamed Availability Options

The options available for selection in the following fields have been renamed:

- The Default Availability field (in the Inventory Settings section of the Inventory Settings tab) on the BigCommerce Stores (BC201000) and Shopify Stores (BC201010) screens
- The Availability field of the Non-Stock Items (IN202000), Stock Items (IN202500), and Template Items (IN203000) screens; this field is found on the eCommerce tab of each of these screens

These options in these fields have been renamed as follows:

- Available Track Qty to Set as Available (Track Qty)
- Available Don't Track Qty to Set as Available (Don't Track Qty)
- Pre-Order to Set as Pre-Order
- Disabled to Set as Unavailable

#### Skipping of the Availability Synchronisation

In some cases, companies may want to update the available quantity of particular items manually in a store instead of exporting this quantity from MYOB Advanced. To support this scenario, a new option, **Do Not Update**, has been added to the availability synchronisation settings to prevent the export of the quantity and availability settings for particular items (or all items) during the synchronisation of the Stock Item, Non-Stock Item, Template Item, and Product Availability entities.

A new **Do Not Update** option has been added to the following screens in the noted fields:

- BigCommerce Stores (BC201000) and Shopify Stores (BC201010): The Default Availability field on the Inventory Settings tab (Inventory Settings section)
- Non-Stock Items (IN202000), Stock Items (IN202500), and Template Items (IN203000): The Availability field on the eCommerce tab

The **Do Not Update** setting is applicable during the synchronisation of the Stock Item, Non-Stock Item, Template Item, or Product Availability entity if any of the following conditions is met:

- The **Do Not Update** option is selected for a non-stock, stock, or template item in the Availability field on the eCommerce tab of the Non-Stock Items, Stock Items, or Template Items screen, respectively.
- The **Store Default** option is selected for a non-stock, stock, or template item in the Availability field on the eCommerce tab of the Non-Stock Items, Stock Items, or Template Items screen, respectively, and the **Do Not Update** option is selected for the store with which data is synchronised in the **Default Availability** field on the Inventory Settings tab of the BigCommerce Stores or Shopify Stores screen.

If this setting is applicable, during the synchronisation of the Stock Item, Non-Stock Item, Template Item, or Product Availability entity, the following settings of the product in this store are not updated:

- For a BigCommerce store, in the Inventory section of the product management page: The **Track inventory** check box, the On the product level and On the variant level option buttons, and the **Stock** field
- For a Shopify store, in the Inventory section of the product management page: The **Track quantity** and **Continue selling when out of stock** check boxes, and the **Available** field

### Changes to the Availability Synchronisation Settings for Shopify Stores

Because the ability to make products available for pre-order is not available in Shopify stores out of the field, the availability synchronisation settings have been updated on the Inventory Settings tab of the Shopify Stores screen (BC201010) as follows:

- In the **Default Availability** field, the "Pre-Order" option has been removed.
- In the **When Qty Unavailable** field, the "Set as Pre-Order" option has been removed.

# **Note:** If any of the removed options were selected on the Shopify Stores screen before the upgrade to MYOB Advanced 2021.1.1, during the upgrade, the system will change the selected option to "Set as Available (Don't Track Qty)".

Stock items, non-stock items, and template items can be synchronised with stores built on e-commerce platforms other than Shopify (for example, BigCommerce). Thus, the Set as Pre-Order option is still available on the eCommerce tab of the following screens:

- Non-Stock Items (IN202000): In the **Availability** field
- Stock Items (IN202500) and Template Items (IN203000): In the Availability and When Qty Unavailable fields

If the "Set as Pre-Order" option is selected for an item in the **Availability** field or the **When Qty Unavailable** field and the item is synchronised with a Shopify store, the e-commerce connector processes it as if the "Set as Available (Don't Track Qty)" was selected in the corresponding field instead of Set as Pre-Order.

### Removal of Overrides for Matching Billing and Shipping Data

In previous versions of MYOB Advanced, when a sales order was imported from an external e-commerce system, the **Override** check box was always selected for the billing contact, billing address, shipping contact, and shipping address, and these details were saved in the database separately even if they matched the existing customer and customer location information. To reduce the amount of data to be stored and improve the system performance, during the export of a sales order, the system now clears the check boxes on the Sales Orders screen (SO301000) as follows:

- If the billing contact matches the customer's saved data, the **Override Contact** check box in the Bill-To Contact section on the Financial Settings tab
- If the billing address matches the customer's saved data, the **Override Address** check box in the Bill-To Address section on the Financial Settings tab
- If the shipping contact matches the data of a customer location, the **Override Contact** check box in the Ship-To Contact section on the Shipping Settings tab
- If the shipping address matches the data of a customer location, the **Override Address** check box in the Ship-To Address section on the Shipping Settings tab

In guest orders—that is, in orders that are placed in an online store by non-registered customers— that are imported to MYOB Advanced, the Override Contact and Override Address check boxes are always selected.

#### Renamed Fields on the Sync History and Process Data Screens

The following enhancements have been made on the Sync History (BC301000) and Process Data (BC501500) screens:

- The following statuses for the commerce records have been renamed so that they align with the names of the screens where the statuses are displayed:
  - o Pending to Prepared
  - o Synchronised to Processed
- The following columns have been renamed:
  - o Local ID to ERP ID
  - Pending Sync to Ready to Process
- The following actions have been renamed:
  - o Set as Synced to Set as Processed
  - o Set Selected Synced to Set Selected as Processed
  - o Set All Synced to Set All as Processed

#### Ability to Tag an External Order Number with an MYOB Advanced Order Number

For Shopify connector, for orders imported from Shopify to MYOB Advanced, the ability to export the sales order number generated in MYOB Advanced back to Shopify has been implemented. To manage this ability, a **Tag Ext. Order with ERP Order Nbr.** check box has been added to the Orders section of the Order Settings tab on the Shopify Stores screen (BC201010), which is shown in the following screenshot. This functionality would be useful for customer sales representatives to cross verify sales orders in MYOB Advanced and Shopify.

Connector:	Shopify		Active			
Store Name:	Rapidbyte	Q.	✓ Default			
CONNECTION SETTING	S ENTITY SETTINGS CUST	OMER SETTINGS	INVENTORY SETTINGS	ORDER SETTINGS	PAYMENT SETTINGS	SHIPPING SETTING
ENERAL		_				
Branch:	RBYTEMAIN - Rapid Byte He 🔎 🖉	,				
RDER		_				
Order Type for Import:	SO - Sales Order 🖉 🖉	?				
Return Order Type:	RC - Return for Credit 🖉 🖉	2				
Refund Amount Item:	Q (	?				
Refund Reason Code:	D Q	2				
Order Time Zone:	(GMT+10:00) Canberra, Me +					
Show Discounts In:	Document Discount -					
	Import Order Risks					
Hold on Risk Status:	High Risk -					
	0	,				

# Manufacturing

### Capable-to-Promise Functionality

Capable-to-promise (CTP) functionality has been implemented In MYOB Advanced Manufacturing Edition, which will be valuable for organisations who use advanced planning and scheduling. This functionality provides these organisations with the ability to commit to delivery dates for customer orders based on production and on resource capacity and inventory.

CTP determines when delivery will be possible by using finite scheduling. It takes into consideration the constraints of the manufacturing system that might hinder production, such as accessibility of necessary resources, lead times for acquiring raw materials or purchased parts, and the ability to acquire resources needed for subassemblies or lower-level components.

This functionality is available only when the Advanced Planning and Scheduling feature is enabled on the Enable/Disable Features screen (CS100000).

### Configuring CTP Functionality

For an organisation using the CTP functionality, we recommend that a specific production order type be created on the Production Order Types screen (AM201100) that is dedicated to CTP. The order type should be assigned to the Planning function and may have a different numbering sequence than the one used for other production order types. We also recommend that the **Exclude from MRP** check box (in the Order Defaults section of the General Settings tab) be selected for the production order type, so that the system excludes production orders of this type from the MRP regeneration process. The following screenshot shows a production order type with the recommended settings for CTP and other sample settings.

Production Order Types CT - CTP production order type				
	© • K < > >I			
Order Type: CT P Description: CTP production Function: Planning	Active			
GENERAL SETTINGS ATTRIBUTES				
NUMBEDING SETTINGS		SCRAP		
* Order Numbering Sequence:	AMCTP - CTP Order Number 🔎 🧷	Scrap Source:	None -	
ACCOUNT SETTINGS		Scrap Warehouse:	MAIN - Main 🔎	0
* Work in Process Account:	100350 - Work in Progress - I ,P	Scrap Location:	RECEIVING - Receiving	0
* Work In Process Sub.:	000-000-000 - Default 🔎	COPY BOM NOTES		
* WIP Variance Account:	100330 - Work In Progress - I 🔎	□ Item/Header □ Mat	erial 🗌 Tool	
* WIP Variance Sub.:	000-000-000 - Default 🖉 🔎	Operation Step	Overhead	
ORDER DEFAULTS				
Costing Method:	Estimated * Exclude from MRP USubstitute work Centers			
PRINTING				
* Print Production Report ID: AM.62 SCHEDULING	2.50.00 - Production Ticket			
	Check for Material Availability			
# Manufacturing

The order type dedicated to CTP should be specified in the new **Capable to Promise Order Type** field in the Data Entry Settings section of the General Settings tab of the Production Preferences screen (AM102000), as shown in the following screenshot.

GENERAL SETTINGS						
NUMBERING SETTINGS				DATA ENTRY SETTINGS		
<ul> <li>Move Numbering Sequence:</li> </ul>	DUMMY - Dummy	Q	Ø	Use Labor Rate:	Standard -	
<ul> <li>Labor Numbering Sequence:</li> </ul>	DUMMY - Dummy	Q	Ø	Default Order Type:	م	Ø
<ul> <li>Material Numbering Sequence:</li> </ul>	DUMMY - Dummy	Q	Ø	Default Disessemble Order Type:	0	2
* Wip Adjust Numbering Sequence:	DUMMY - Dummy	Q	Ø	Capable to Promise Order Type:	CT - CTP production order typ 🔎	0
* Cost Numbering Sequence:	POLANDCOST - PO Landed	Q	Ø		Include Scrap in Completions	
Disassembly Numbering Sequence:		Q	Ø		Post Summary on Updating GL	
Vendor Shipment Numbering Sequence:		Q	0		Hold Documents on Entry	
SCHEDULING					✓ Validate Document Totals on Ent	try
* Default Move Time:	0 h 00 m				Default User Employee ID	
	Use Order Start Date for Mi	RP			Restrict Clock Entry to Current U	lser

Also, to indicate that CTP functionality can be applied to a particular stock item, the new **CTP Item** check box must be selected on the Manufacturing tab (General section) of the Stock Items screen (IN202500), as shown in the following screenshot.

Stock Items ITM0000013 - De ← ᇊ ᇊ ᇊ	esktop Office		•	<	>	>I ACTI	ons - I	NQU	IRIES -			
★ Inventory ID: Item Status: Description:	Active	13 - Desktop C • Office Pro Pack		Pac	Q	Product Wo Product Ma				م م		
GENERAL SUB	ITEMS PRIC	E/COST	MANUFA	CTU	RING	WAREHOU	SES SI	JPPL	IERS ATTRIBU	ITES PACKAGIN	IG	CROSS-REFERENCE
GENERAL				-	SCRA						-	
Default BOM ID:			Q	0	Scra	p Warehouse:				Q	0	
Planning BOM ID:			Q	0		p Location:				Q	0	
Configuration ID:			Q	Ø	SCHE	DULING					-	
Group Planning:	0						Check	for Ma	aterial Availability			
Dflt Mark For:	No Default		*		Su	b Item Default	ts					
	Make to Orde	r Item			8 ۱	Varehouse	Subitem	D	Default BOM ID	Planning BOM		
	MRP Item									ID		
REPLENISHMENTS	Creatity Bou	nd Up		-								
Source:	Purchase		Override									
Safety Stock:	0.00	Override	•									

## CTP for Sales Orders

When a customer service manager creates a sales order on the Sales Orders screen (SO301000) with items to be produced and the customer expects to receive the items by a particular date (the **Requested On** date, which is specified in each line on the Document Details tab), the manager can estimate the projected date when the requested quantity of items can be shipped to the customer. To provide this capability, a **Process CTP** action has been added to the Actions menu of the Sales Orders screen; a manager can click it to open the new Process Capable to Promise screen (AM515000) with the lines of the sales

order that have the **CTP Item** check box selected on the Manufacturing tab of the Stock Items screen (IN202500).

On the Process Capable to Promise screen, the customer service manager can select one line or multiple lines of the sales order (by selecting the unlabelled check box for each line), select the "Process CTP" action in the **Action** field, and click **Process** on the screen toolbar to calculate the projected dates for the items in the selected lines. When the system finishes the calculation, the projected dates are displayed in the **CTP Date** column (see the following screenshot). During the calculation of the projected date, the system creates a planning order, whose type and number are displayed in the **Prod. Order Type** and **Prod. Order Nbr.** columns, respectively (also shown in the following screenshot). The planning order can be viewed on the Production Order Details screen (AM209000).

Action:	Process CT	Р -	CTP ACCE	PTANCE SETTIN	IGS			_			
SO Type:	SO		* Regular F	Production Order	Type: RG -	Regular	Ç	þ			
SO Nbr.:	002244										
ine Description		Warehouse	UOM	Open Qty.	Requested On	Ship On	Prod. Order Type	Prod. Order Nbr.	CTP Date	CTP	Original Request Date
Desktop Office P	ro Package A	MAIN	EACH	1.00	10/06/2021	10/06/2021	СТ	000001	10/06/2021		

The manager can accept the dates by selecting the needed lines of the sales order (using the Included check boxes), selecting the **Accept** action, and clicking **Process** on the screen toolbar. For the accepted lines, the system creates a production order, whose type and number are displayed in the **Prod. Order Type** and **Prod. Order Number** columns, respectively, and ticks the check box in the **CTP Accepted** column (see the following screenshot).

Ο Ω PF	ROCESS	PROCESS ALL	• ن	⊷ x y	,						
Action: SO Type:	Accept SO	•		PTANCE SETTIN		Regular	ېر	þ			
SO Nbr.:	002244						_				-
Line Description		Warehouse	UOM	Open Qty.	Requested On	Ship On	Prod. Order Type	Prod. Order Nbr.	CTP Date	CTP Accepted	Driginal Request Date
D 11 000 D	ro Package A	MAIN	EACH	1.00	10/06/2021	10/06/2021	RG	000002	10/06/2021	$\checkmark$	10/06/2021

If any CTP dates do not meet the date requested by the customer, the manager can reject the dates by selecting the needed lines of the sales order (using the Included check boxes), selecting the **Reject** action, and clicking **Process** on the screen toolbar. For the rejected lines, the system deletes the planning order. In this case, the manager can negotiate with the customer to agree on new dates when the items in the order can be shipped; the manager can then update the requested dates in the sales order.

Also, the manager may want to find out how many of the item the company could actually ship to the customer by the requested date. The manager can click the quantity in the **Open Qty.** column of the needed line to open the Quantity Available window, which displays the following:

- **Requested**: The requested quantity of the item
- **Available**: The available quantity of the item (which is calculated based on availability calculation rules)
- **Supply Available by Requested Date**: The quantity of the item projected to be available by the requested date (due to planned receipts of inventory not allocated to other orders)
- **Production Available by Requested Date**: The quantity of the item projected to be produced by the requested date (based on the current available capacity of production and the demand)
- **Total Available by Requested Date**: The sum of the values in the Available, Supply Available by Requested Date, and Production Available by Requested Date fields

# Enhanced Linking of Sales Order Lines and Production Orders

In the previous versions, a production order could be linked to a sales order line (SO line) only when the production order was directly created from the SO line. In MYOB Advanced 2021.1.1, the ability to link an existing production order to an SO line has been implemented. This ability could be beneficial for organizations that create production orders during material requirements planning and then need to link the production orders to the SO lines that generated the demand.

A user can link the existing production order to the SO line either by specifying the production order for the SO line on the Sales Orders screen (SO301000) or by specifying an SO line for the production order on the Production Order Maintenance screen (AM201500). Additionally, a user can remove the link between an SO line and an production order.

## Linking a Production Order to a Sales Order Line

If a stock item in a sales order should be produced, a production order must be created for the line item. In the previous versions, a customer service manager used the Production Orders action on the Sales Orders screen (SO301000) to create the production order for the entire sales order.

In 2021.1.1, if the production order for the line item already exists, the sales order line can be linked to a production order in either of the following ways:

- On the Sales Orders screen, the customer service manager can:
  - 1. Click the line on the Details tab.
  - 2. On the table toolbar, click **Link Prod Order** to open the Production Details dialog box (shown in the following screenshot).

- 5 8	) v) +	© · K	< >	> CREA	TE SHIPMEN	T HOLD ACTIONS	S • REPC	RIS *				
Order Type:	S0 ,0	* Customer:	AACUSTOMER	R - Alta Ace	ρ	Ordered Qty.:	5.00					
Order Nbr.:	SO006020 P	* Location:	MAIN - Primary	Location	Q	Discount Total:	0.00					
Status:	Open	Contact:			20	VAT Exempt T	0.00					
)ate:	1/12/2021 -	Currency:	USD ,0 1.00	) ~ VI	IEW BASE	VAT Taxable T	0.00					
equested On:	1/12/2021 -	* Project:	X - Non-Project	t Code.	P /	7 Tax Total:	0.00					
ustomer Ord						Order Total:	995.00					
ternal Refer		Description:										
+ 0	× ADD I		X ITEMS AD		PING ADD	RESSES DISCOUNTS	s shipmi Vailability	CONFIGURE	INTS TOTALS		⊷  🗵	
+ 0	× ADD I		X ITEMS AD	D INVOICE			VAILABILITY				⊢ <b>⊻</b> ×	) <u>t</u> 7. Uni
+ 0	ADD I	TEMS ADD MATRI Production D Order Type:	X ITEMS AD	D INVOICE	LINE DETAIL	S POLINK ITEMA	VAILABILITY	CONFIGURE				
+ 0	ADD I	ADD MATRI Production D Order Type: DLE O +	XITEMS AD etails XIIIIS	D INVOICE	LINE DETAIL	S POLINK ITEMA	VAILABILITY	CONFIGURE	LINK PROD O	RDER	×	/. Uni
+ 0	ADD I	ADD MATRI Production D Order Type: ALE O +	X ITEMS AD etails × I→I Σ elected Or	P Prod C der Prod Prod	LINE DETAIL:	S POLINK ITEMAN	VAILABILITY	CONFIGURE •	Qty Complete	RDER Produ	×	/. Uni
+ 0	ADD I	ADD MATRI Production D Order Type: C + B 0 D s	X ITEMS AD etails X IH E elected Or Tyr	D INVOICE	LINE DETAILS	S POLINK ITEMAN	VAILABILITY	CONFIGURE Qty to Produce	LINK PROD OF	Produ UOM	×	/. Uni
+ 0	ADD I	ADD MATRI Production D Order Type: DLE	X ITEMS AD etails X IH E elected Or Ty; R	D INVOICE	LINE DETAILS	S POLINK ITEMAN	VAILABILITY	CONFIGURE Oty to Produce 4.00	LINK PROD OF	Produ UOM EA	×	/. Uni
+ 0	ADD I	ADD MATRI Production D Order Type: DLE	X ITEMS AD etails X IH E elected Or Ty; R	D INVOICE	LINE DETAILS	S POLINK ITEMAN	VAILABILITY	CONFIGURE Oty to Produce 4.00	LINK PROD OF	Produ UOM EA	×	/. Uni
+ 0	ADD I	ADD MATRI Production D Order Type: DLE	X ITEMS AD etails X IH E elected Or Ty; R	D INVOICE	LINE DETAILS	S POLINK ITEMAN	VAILABILITY	CONFIGURE Oty to Produce 4.00	LINK PROD OF	Produ UOM EA	×	/. Uni
→ + ℓ	ADD I	ADD MATRI Production D Order Type: DLE	X ITEMS AD etails X IH E elected Or Ty; R	D INVOICE	LINE DETAILS	S POLINK ITEMAN	VAILABILITY	CONFIGURE Oty to Produce 4.00	LINK PROD OF	Produ UOM EA	×	/. Uni

3. In the dialog box, select the check box in the Selected column in the row with the production order to be linked to the SO line and click Save.

When the dialog box closes, the customer service manager can see the identifier of the production order in the Production Nbr. column of the linked SO line.

- On the Production Order Maintenance screen (AM201500) (in the SO References section of the References tab), a production manager can:
  - 1. At the bottom of the section, click the **Link Sales Order** button, which is displayed only if no SO line has been linked to the production order, to open the SO Line Details dialog box.

Order Type:	RO - Regular	Orders	Q	🖉 * Order 🛛	Date:		1/12/2021 *					
Production Nbr:	AM000024 - K	Ceurig Model 45	م 0	Status:			Planned		d			
Inventory ID:	AMKEURIG45	5 - Keurig Model	450 <sub>P</sub>	Product	t Workg	group:			۵,			
Warehouse:	WHOLESALE	- Wholesale Wa			t Mana	ger:			Q			
Location:	R1S1 - Row 1	Shelf 1	Q	0								
Description:	Keurig Model	450										
GENERAL RE	EFERENCES	EVENT HIS	TORY /	TTRIBUTES	TO	TALS L	INE DETAILS					
		•										
O REFERENCES	;				_	SOURCE						
Customer:				ر	0	Source:			BOM		٣	
SO Order Type:						Source I	Date:		1/12/2021 👻			
SO Order Nbr:						BOM ID			BOM000005 - Bui	ld Keurig Model		0
SO Line Nbr.:			0			* BOM Re			A - Build Keurig M	lodel 450	Q	
		LINK SALES	ORDER			PROJECT	·				-	
SO Line Detail	s									×	Q	/
Customer:		ی Ord	er Type:		Q	Order N	br	Q				
outomor.			or type.			010011		-		- 11		
Ů + ⇒	× 1+1 [	x								- 11		
₿0 D se	elected	Order Type	Order Nbr.				Quantity	Op	en Qty. UOM	- 11		
a ⊎ ⊔ _ Se												

2. In the dialog box, select the check box in the Selected column for the SO line to be linked to the production order, and click **Save**.

When the dialog box closes, the production manager can see the boxes of the SO References section filled in with the customer, sales order type, sales order, and SO line.

A production order can be linked to an SO line if all of the conditions specified in the following table are met.

Entity	Requirements
Sales order	The sales order is not assigned the Cancelled, Back Order, or Completed status.
Production order	<ul> <li>The production order is not linked to an SO line.</li> <li>The order is not assigned the Completed, Cancelled, or Closed status.</li> </ul>
Stock item	<ul> <li>The same stock item is specified in the production order and in the SO line.</li> <li>The stock item is not a configured item. (That is, the Configurable check box is cleared for the SO line on the Details tab of the Sales Orders form.)</li> </ul>
SO line	<ul> <li>The Mark for Production check box is selected for the SO line on the Sales Orders screen.</li> <li>No production order is linked to the SO line.</li> <li>The SO line has not been cancelled.</li> </ul>

When the link between an SO line and a production order is created, the following changes occur in the system:

- The type and number of the production order are displayed in the SO line on the Details tab of the Sales Orders screen.
- The customer, sales order type, sales order number, and SO line are displayed in the SO References section of the References tab on the Production Order Maintenance screen (AM201500).
- The item quantity is allocated for production; the item plan can be viewed on the Inventory Allocation Details screen (IN402000).

#### Changing or Removing the Link

The link between an SO line and a production order can be changed or removed only on the Production Order Maintenance screen (AM201500), because a production manager should know about all changes in production orders. To remove the link, the production manager does the following in the SO References section of the References tab:

- 1. Clicks the **Remove Link** button.
- 2. Confirms the removal in the Confirm dialog box that opens.

When the link between an SO line and a production order is removed, the following changes occur in the system:

- The type and number of the production order are removed from the SO line on the Details tab of the Sales Orders form.
- The customer, sales order type, sales order number, and sales order line are removed from the SO References section of the References tab on the Production Order Maintenance (AM201500) form.
- The allocation of the item quantity for production is removed. That is, the item plan is removed on the Inventory Allocation Details (IN402000) form.

When the link to the SO line is removed a production manager can add the link to another SO line.

#### Implementation Details

The functionality of linking SO lines and production orders has the following requirements:

- One production order can be linked to only one SO line, and an SO line can be linked to only one production order.
- If the *Multiple Warehouses* feature is enabled on the Enable/Disable Features screen (CS100000), the same warehouse must be specified in the production order and in SO line.

## Other UI Enhancements

To support the enhanced linking of sales order lines and production orders, the following enhancements have been made to the UI:

• On the General Settings tab of the Order Types screen (SO201000), all settings related to manufacturing have been moved to the Manufacturing section (see the following screenshot).

Order Numbering Sequence:	SOORDER P	Use Sales Account from:	Posting Class -			
Days To Keep:	0	* Combine Sales Sub. From:	PPP-PPP-CCC			
	Hold Orders on Entry	* Freight Account:	600660 - Freight Expenses			
	Hold Document on Failed Credit Check	Use Freight Account from:	Ship Via +			
	Require Control Total	* Freight Sub.:	000-000-000 - Default			
	Bill Separately	* Combine Freight Sub. from:	LLL-LLL-LLL			
	Ship Separately	* Discount Account:	400670 - Cash Discount			
	✓ Calculate Freight	Use Discount Account from:	Customer Location +			
	Ship in Full if Negative Quantity Is Allowed	* Discount Sub.:	000-000-000 - Default			
	Supports Approval	* Combine Discount Sub. from:	LLL-LLL-LLL			
	Disable Automatic Discount Update		Post Line Discounts Separately			
	Recalculate Discount On Partial Shipment		Use Discount Sub. from Sales Sub.			
	Copy Notes	Auto Write-Off				
	Copy Attachments	INTERCOMPANY POSTING SETTINGS				
	Copy Line Notes To Shipment	Use Sales Account from:	Inventory Item -			
	Copy Line Attachments To Shipment	Use COGS Account from:	Inventory Item -			
	Copy Line Notes To Invoice	FIELD SERVICES SETTINGS				
	Only Non-Stock		Enable Field Services Integration			
	Copy Line Attachments To Invoice	MANUFACTURING SETTINGS _				
	Only Non-Stock		Allow Production Orders - Approved			
	Require Customer Order Nbr.		Allow Production Orders - Hold			
Customer Order Nbr. Validation:	Allow Duplicates		Allow Estimating			
ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE SETTI			Allow Configuration Entry			
* Invoice Numbering Sequence:	ARINVOICE P		Enable Warehouse On Line With Linked	Production		
	Mark as Printed		MTO Order			
	Mark as Emailed					
	Hold Invoices on Entry					
	Use Currency Rate from Sales Order					

• On the Sales Orders screen (SO301000), the **Production Orders** action has been renamed to **Create Production Order**.

# Enhanced Work Centre Capacity Scheduling

In MYOB Advanced Manufacturing Edition 2021.1.1, organisations that use rough cut planning for scheduling production orders will benefit from managing work centre capacity based on crew size and efficiency. The finite scheduling algorithm has been enhanced to consider crew size and efficiency when calculating the duration of an operation. The run time on the operation no longer has to be manually adjusted to account for fluctuations in crew size and efficiency. Instead, the planning manager can alter the crew size number or efficiency percent for the work centre, so that when scheduling is executed, the proper resource capacity is utilised.

For example, suppose that a new process has been introduced to a manufacturing operation. The standard run rate is specified for the operation; however, company personnel expect the resources assigned to the operation to need time to gain experience with the new process. The planning manager can set an efficiency lower than 100% for the work centre to cause each production order to be scheduled for a longer duration. As the efficiency expectation improves, the manager can increase the efficiency percent of the work centre without having to adjust each production operation.

The ability to alter the crew size number or efficiency percent for a work centre is available only when the *Advanced Planning and Scheduling* feature is enabled on the Enable/Disable Features screen (CS100000).

#### Enabling the Use of the Crew Size and Efficiency in Scheduling

For those companies who would like to use the new scheduling algorithm, the **Use Shift Crew Size** check box must be selected in the Scheduling section of the Production Preferences screen (AM102000), (shown in the following screenshot.

roduction Preferences						CUSTOMISA
ŝ						
GENERAL SETTINGS						
SENERAL SETTINGS						
UMBERING SETTINGS		_	DATA ENTRY SETTINGS			MANUFACTURING OPERATIONS SETTINGS
Move Numbering Sequence:	DUMMY - Dummy	0	Use Labor Rate:	Standard -		These settings are specific to the current branch.
Labor Numbering Sequence:	DUMMY - Dummy	0	Default Order Type:	Q	0	Use Default Quantity in Materials
Material Numbering Sequence:	DUMMY - Dummy ,C	0	Default Disassemble Order Type:	Q	0	✓ Use Default Quantity in Move/Labor
Wip Adjust Numbering Sequence:	DUMMY - Dummy ,C	0	Capable to Promise Order Type:	CT - CTP production order typ 🔎	0	Use Remaining Quantity in Materials
Cost Numbering Sequence:	POLANDCOST - PO Landed 🔎	0		Include Scrap in Completions		Use Remaining Quantity in Move
Disassembly Numbering Sequence:	Q	0		Post Summary on Updating GL		✓ Use Default Order Type
Vendor Shipment Numbering Sequence:	۵,	0		Hold Documents on Entry		Request Location for Each Item in Materials
CHEDULING		_		✓ Validate Document Totals on Er	itry	Request Location for Each Item in Move/Labor
Default Move Time:	0 h 00 m			Default User Employee ID		Use Explicit Line Confirmation
	Use Order Start Date for MRP			Restrict Clock Entry to Current	Jser	Default Warehouse from User Profile
	Use Fixed Manufacturing Time	в	VENDOR SHIPMENT SETTINGS			✓ Use Default Auto-Generated Lot/Serial Nbr.
	Machine Scheduling			Hold Shipments on Entry		✓ Use Default Expiration Date
	E Tool Scheddling			Validate Shipment Total on Con	firmation	
	Use Shift Crew Size					
Fixed Mfg Calendar ID:	م	0				
Fixed Mfg Units:	Days -					
Block Size:	00:30 -					

If the check box is cleared, the system uses the same scheduling algorithm as it did in the previous versions of MYOB Advanced Manufacturing Edition.

#### Specifying the Crew Size and Efficiency for a Work Centre

To make the system consider crew size and efficiency during scheduling of operations in a work centre, on the Work Centres screen (AM207000), a planning manager selects "Crew Size" in the **Basis for Capacity** field and then specifies the crew size and efficiency percent for each shift of a work centre in the **Crew Size** and **Efficiency** columns, respectively, on the Shift Info tab. (See the following screenshot.)

Work Center:	WC10 - Assembly	P Standard Cost:	0.00
Description:	Assembly	Basis for Capacit	y: Crew Size
	Active	Scrap Action Def	ault: No Action
	Outside Process		Backflush Materials
Warehouse:	MAIN - Main	Q	Backflush Labor
SHIFT INFO OVERHEAD	MACHINES WHERE USED	SUBSTITUTE WORK CENTE	RS
Č + × ⊢ ⊠			

If any adjustments are required in the duration of the operations, the planning manager can correct the crew size, efficiency, or both on the Work Centres screen and then reschedule the operations by using the Rough Cut Planning screen (AM501000).

## Calculating the Duration of an Operation

The following formula is now used for calculating the duration of an operation:

#### QtP \* (RT / (RU \* C))

Parameters of the formula are the following:

- QtP is the quantity to produce, as specified in a production order.
- RT is the run time specified on the Bill of Material screen (AM208000) for the bill of material used to produce the item included in the production order.
- RU is the number of run units specified on the Bill of Material screen for the bill of material.
- C is the capacity of a work centre assigned to the operation, which is calculated as: Crew Size \* Efficiency.

For example, suppose that the operation of sticking labels to jam jars is performed in the WC10 work centre, and the throughput of the operation is 10 jars per hour (run time is 1 hour, and run units are 10). Further suppose that one employee, Martha, works in the WC10 work centre with 100% efficiency. If a production order for 20 jars has been created in the system, Martha will be able to process this number of jars in 2 hours.

Then suppose that Martha has been moved to another operation, and a new employee, Kim, has started to stick labels. Because Kim is not yet familiar with this operation, her efficiency is lower than Martha's. To adjust the time required for sticking labels in the operation schedule, a planning manager sets the efficiency to 80%. With this setting, the sticking operation for the production order with 20 jars is expected to take 2.5 hours.

Also, suppose that the work centre where the packing operation takes place (which goes after the sticking operation) is idle, so to reduce the idle time, the planning manager decides to involve a second employee, Ben, in sticking labels in the WC10 work centre. Because both employees are new to the sticking operation, their efficiency will still be set to 80%. The sticking operation for 20 jars will now take 1.25 hours.

#### Viewing the Work Centre Schedule by Crew

A planning manager may want to monitor the number of employees involved in production during a working day. To do this, the manager specifies the standard number of crew members per shift in the newly added **Crew Size** column on the Shifts screen (AM205000), which is shown in the following screenshot.

Shifts				
Č 🗄 +	$\times$ $ $ $\mapsto$ $ $			
🖹 🕡 🗋 * Shift	Description	* Diff Type	Shift Diff	Crew Size
> 0 🗅 001	Shift 1, day	Amount	0.00	8.000000
002	Shift 2, night	Amount	1.00	4.000000
0 🗋 003	Shift 3, graveyard	Amount	2.00	4.000000
0 🗋 004	Holiday	Amount	2.00	4.000000
005	Shift Overtime	Rate	1.50	2.000000

# Manufacturing

With the crew sizes specified, the manager can then open the new Work Centre Crew Schedule screen (AM405100) (shown in the following screenshot) and make sure that the number of employees involved in operations in different work centres during a shift does not exceed the standard crew size.

In the following screenshot, time blocks with start time of 9:00 AM on the same schedule date are highlighted. The number of employees involved in production during these time blocks is 3 whereas the maximum number of employees per shift is 8. This means that the planning manager has no need to reschedule the operations in order to reduce the number of employees.

Work Center C の	rew Schedu	ıle				CUSTON	IZATION TOOL
Work Center: Shift:			о 0	From Date: To Date:	1/12/2021 -		
ک + ک	<b>→</b>   <b>X</b>						
Work Center	Shift	Scheduled Blocks		† Start Time	End Time	Crew Size	Standard Crew Size
<u>WC10</u>	<u>0001</u>	2	<u>1/12/2021</u>	9:00 AM	10:00 AM	1.000000	8.000000
<u>WC10</u>	<u>0001</u>	4	<u>1/12/2021</u>	10:00 AM	12:00 PM	1.000000	8.000000
<u>WC10</u>	<u>0001</u>	2	<u>1/12/2021</u>	12:00 PM	1:00 PM	1.000000	8.000000
<u>WC10</u>	<u>0001</u>	8	<u>1/12/2021</u>	1:00 PM	5:00 PM	1.000000	8.000000
<u>WC10</u>	<u>0001</u>	1	<u>1/12/2021</u>	5:00 PM	5:30 PM	1.000000	8.000000
<u>WC10</u>	0001	1	<u>1/12/2021</u>	5:30 PM	6:00 PM	1.000000	8.000000
<u>WC100</u>	<u>0001</u>	4	<u>1/12/2021</u>	9:00 AM	11:00 AM	1.000000	8.000000
<u>WC100</u>	<u>0001</u>	2	<u>1/12/2021</u>	11:00 AM	12:00 PM	1.000000	8.000000
<u>WC100</u>	<u>0001</u>	1	<u>1/12/2021</u>	12:00 PM	12:30 PM	1.000000	8.000000
<u>WC100</u>	<u>0001</u>	5	<u>1/12/2021</u>	1:00 PM	3:30 PM	1.000000	8.000000
<u>WC100</u>	<u>0001</u>	1	<u>1/12/2021</u>	5:30 PM	6:00 PM	1.000000	8.000000
<u>WC30</u>	<u>0001</u>	2	<u>1/12/2021</u>	10:00 AM	11:00 AM	1.000000	8.000000
<u>WC30</u>	<u>0001</u>	2	<u>1/12/2021</u>	12:00 PM	1:00 PM	1.000000	8.000000
<u>WC30</u>	<u>0001</u>	2	<u>1/12/2021</u>	5:00 PM	6:00 PM	1.000000	8.000000
<u>WC40</u>	<u>0001</u>	2	<u>1/12/2021</u>	9:00 AM	10:00 AM	1.000000	8.000000
<u>WC40</u>	<u>0001</u>	16	<u>1/12/2021</u>	10:00 AM	6:00 PM	1.000000	8.000000
<u>WC70</u>	<u>0001</u>	2	<u>1/12/2021</u>	10:00 AM	11:00 AM	1.000000	8.000000
<u>WC10</u>	<u>0001</u>	5	<u>1/13/2021</u>	9:00 AM	11:30 AM	1.000000	8.000000
WC100	<u>0001</u>	1	<u>1/13/2021</u>	9:00 AM	9:30 AM	1.000000	8.000000

# New Workflow in Engineering Change Requests, Engineering Change Orders, and Supplier Shipments

The processing of engineering change requests, engineering change orders, and supplier shipments has been redesigned to use the new workflow engine.

The processes that are performed by using the Engineering Change Request (AM210000), Engineering Change Order (AM215000), or Supplier Shipments (AM310000) screens work as they did as in the previous versions. The UI on these screens has been enhanced to support the functionality of the new workflow engine.

#### **UI Enhancements**

On the Engineering Change Request (AM210000) and Engineering Change Order (AM215000) screens, the **Hold** check box has been removed and replaced with the **Hold** button and action, which can be selected on the screen toolbar.

On the Supplier Shipments screen (AM310000), the **Hold** check box has been removed and replaced with the **Remove Hold** and **Hold** buttons and actions, which can be selected from the screen toolbar.

On these screens, buttons representing the actions that are most relevant to the current status of the document opened on the screen are displayed directly on the screen toolbar.

The following tables (one is shown for each screen) show the actions that are displayed as buttons on the screen toolbar of the screen for each document type and status.

**Note:** Information in the following tables is relevant for the out-of-the-box installation of the system.

# Document Statuses and the Corresponding Actions on the Engineering Change Request screen

Status	Action
On Hold	Submit
Pending Approval	<ul><li> Approve</li><li> Reject</li></ul>
Approved	• Create ECO • Hold

Document Statuses and the Corresponding Actions on the Engineering Change Order screen

Status	Action
On Hold	Submit
Pending Approval	<ul><li> Approve</li><li> Reject</li></ul>
Approved	<ul><li>Commit Changes to BOM</li><li>Hold</li></ul>

#### Document Statuses and the Corresponding Actions on the Supplier Shipments screen



#### Automation Changes

If the organisation uses automation steps, import scenarios, or export scenarios for the Engineering Change Request (AM210000), Engineering Change Order (AM215000), or Supplier Shipments (AM310000) screens, users that work on customisations will need to redesign the automation of the processes related to the applicable screens by using the new workflow engine. Existing workflows can be customised in the Customisation Project Editor, or by extending graphs and workflows in the PX.Objects.AM namespace. Also, actions of the new workflows can be used through the contract-based API.

## Other Improvements

Multiple enhancements have been introduced to MYOB Advanced Manufacturing Edition, as described in the following sections.

#### Enhanced Warehouse Location Settings

In previous versions of MYOB Advanced Manufacturing Edition, to indicate that a warehouse location can be involved in production processes, users selected the **Assembly Allowed** check box in the Location Table tab on the Warehouses screen (IN204000). This check box was also used to indicate that the warehouse location can be involved in kit assembly transactions.

To streamline the configuration of manufacturing processes, a new **Production Allowed** check box has been implemented on the Location Table tab. Users should select the check box in this column for warehouse locations involved in production (see the following screenshot). This column is displayed only if the *Manufacturing* feature is enabled on the Enable/Disable Features screen (CS100000). (The **Assembly Allowed** column remains on the Location Table tab and is displayed when the *Kit Assembly* feature is enabled on the Enable/Disable Features screen; users can select the check box for warehouse locations that will be involved in kit assembly transactions.)

		Main ] ⊟ ∽	+ @ D• K <	>	ACTION	NS ▼ REP	ORTS •				1	NOTES	ACTIVITIES	FILES CUSTOMISAT	ON TOOLS -
* E	Branc	ouse ID: n: IONS CARTS		tion Entry: Default Retu MANUF/		Not Allow On-tr rage	ne-Fly En +								~
S	hippir			Location: -Ship Locatio		- RMA PSHIP - DROF	م م بد			] Use Item De	fault Location fo	r Picking			
Õ	-	⊦× 0	⊢ x t											All Records	* 7
80	D	*Location ID	Description	Active	Include in Qty. Available	Cost Separately	Sales Allowed	Receipts Allowed	Transfers Allowed	Assembly Allowed	Productio Allowed		Primary Item Validation	Primary Item	Primary Item Class
> 0		DROPSHIP	DROPSHIP	$\checkmark$	Y		1	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	Y		1	No Validation		
0		R01A01B01	Rack 1 Aisle 1 Bin 1 Put Away	$\checkmark$								1	No Validation		
0		R01A01B02	Rack 1 Aisle 1 Bin 2 Put Away		V							1	No Validation		
0		R01A02B01	Rack 1 Aisle 2 Bin 1 Put Away	V	V				V			1	No Validation		
0															

For customers who upgrade from the previous versions of MYOB Advanced Manufacturing Edition, the state of the Production Allowed check box is inherited from the state of the **Assembly Allowed** check box. For new installations of MYOB Advanced Manufacturing Edition, the **Production Allowed** check box is selected by default for all warehouse locations.

#### Exclusion of Planning Orders from Rough-Cut Planning

With the new Capable-to-Promise functionality (see "Capable-to-Promise Functionality" on page 67), a large number of planning orders could be created in the system. In this release, a new **Exclude Planning Orders** check box has been added to the Selection area of the Rough Cut Planning screen (AM501000). When the check box is selected, all planning orders become hidden from the list of orders on the screen. If a planning manager wants to schedule operations for regular production orders only, the manager selects the check box and then does one of the following:

- Clicks Schedule All to process all production orders displayed in the list
- Selects the production orders to be processed and clicks **Schedule** on the screen toolbar

Rou	ցh Cւ	ut Plannin	g				
Ç	\$	SCHEDUL	E SCHEDULE A	ILL 🖒 .	INQUIF	RIES ▼  ↔	X Y
	Release	Orders	Z Exclude Plannin	ng Orders			
20		Qt Prod	y to Qty uce Remaining		Order Type	Production Nbr	Inventory ID

### Changes in Manufacturing-Related Replenishment Settings on the Item Warehouse Details Screen

On the Item Warehouse Details screen (IN204500), the following elements have been removed from the Replenishments section of the Manufacturing tab: the Source field, Override check box, and Replenishment Warehouse field.

Users can now view and specify the replenishment source and replenishment warehouse to be used in manufacturing-related processes on the Replenishment tab even when the *Inventory Replenishment* feature is disabled on the Enable/Disable Features screen (CS100000) (see the following screenshot).

# Manufacturing

v + 🖻	Ô• K <	> >			
nventory ID:	ELE32LED - Sam 32-In	ch LED HDTV 。	0	Override Product Manager	
Warehouse:	MAIN - Main	Q	Product Workgroup:		
Status:	Active	•	Product Manager:		0
GENERAL REPLEN		I REPLENISHME			
Replenishment Class:	PURCHASE - Purchas			Override Preferred Supplier	_
Repletiisittietit Class.	Override Replenishn	- ,	Preferred Supplier:	V000000032 - East COM Electronic Sup	- /
Seasonality	NONE - None	ient oettings	Preferred Location:	MAIN - Primary Location	• 0
Replenishment Source:	Purchase		Default Subitem:	0	
Replenishment Method:	None		Supplier Lead Time (Da.		
Replenishment Wareho.			Add. Lead Time (Days):	0	
Max. Shelf Life (Days):	0 Override		Min. Order Freq.(Days):	0	
Launch Date:		Override	Min. Order Qty.:	0.00	
		Override	Max Order Qty.:	20.00	
Termination Date:			Lat Olass	0.00	
Termination Date: Service Level (%):	84.0000	Override	Lot Size:	0.00	

## Renamed Allocations Buttons, Tabs, and Dialog Boxes

The following changes have been made to multiple manufacturing-related screens:

- The Allocations button has been renamed to Line Details on the following screens:
   o Approve Clock Entries (AM516000)
  - O Clock Entry (AM315000)
  - Clock Entry (AM315000)
     Disassembly (AM301500)
  - Disassembly (AM3015
     Labour (AM201000)
  - o Labour (AM301000)
  - Materials (AM300000)
  - o Move (AM302000)
  - o Production Order Details (AM209000)
  - o Supplier Shipments (AM310000)
- The Allocations window, which opened when a user clicked the Allocations button, has been renamed to Line Details (shown in the following screenshot).
- The Allocations tab on the Production Order Maintenance screen (AM201500) has been renamed to Line Details (see the following screenshot).

# Distribution

# Cross-Company Sales

This release provides the ability to process sales and purchase orders between companies or branches in the same tenant.

The cross-company sales functionality is available in the system if the *Inter-Branch Transactions* feature has been enabled on the Enable/Disable Features screen (CS100000).

All cross-company documents are created one to one. That is, for one cross-company purchase order only one sales order can be generated. For one shipment only one purchase receipt can be generated. The functionality works for purchase orders of the Normal type and for sales orders with order types that have the Sales Order (for sales) or RMA (for returns) automation behaviour.

#### The Cross-Company Sale Process

Suppose that the Head Office (MHEAD) of the Muffins & Cakes company regularly buys apple and orange jam for muffin toppings from the SweetLife Head Office and Whole Centre (HEADOFFICE) of SweetLife Fruits & Jams. To allow automatic creation of sales documents by the SweetLife's sales managers, the MHEAD branch has been extended to a customer and the HEADOFFICE branch has been extended to a supplier in MYOB Advanced. The following example shows the general steps that users perform while processing a cross-company sale:

- 1. On the Purchase Orders screen (PO301000), the procurement manager of the purchasing company MHEAD enters a purchase order of the Normal type and specifies the selling company HEADOFFICE as the supplier in the purchase order.
- 2. On the Details tab, the manager adds two rows with the following details:

Branch	Inventory ID	Warehouse	Quantity	Unit Cost
MHEAD	APJAM96	WHOLESALE	10	25
MHEAD	ORJAM96	WHOLESALE	10	19

3. The procurement manager saves the purchase order and clicks the **Remove Hold** button on the screen toolbar.

The system assigns the "Open" status to the purchase order and makes the **Generate Sales Order** action available in the Actions menu. Also, the purchase order appears on the Generate Intercompany Sales Orders mass-processing screen (SO504000).

4. A sales manager of the HEADOFFICE branch initiates the generation of a sales order for the purchase order on the Generate Intercompany Sales Orders screen. (Alternatively, the **Generate Sales Order** action can be selected on the Purchase Orders screen, or a schedule can be created on the Generate Intercompany Sales Orders screen.)

The system generates a sales order related to the initial purchase order with the Open status for the HEADOFFICE company on the Sales Orders screen

(SO301000) and automatically copies the required details of the purchase order. In the sales order, the MHEAD company is specified as a customer.

On the Sales Orders screen, the system also does the following upon generation of the sales order:

- Copies the purchase order number to the **Customer Order Nbr.** field in the Summary area.
- Specifies the link to the purchase order in the **Related Order Nbr.** field on the Shipping tab.

On the Purchase Orders screen, the system does the following in the originating purchase order:

- Copies the number of the sales order to the **Supplier Ref.** field in the Summary area.
- Specifies the link to the sales order in the **Related Order Nbr.** field on the Other tab of the purchase order.
- 5. The sales manager of the HEADOFFICE company verifies that all the data has been inserted correctly, makes changes if necessary, and saves the sales order.
- 6. On the Shipments screen (SO302000), a worker of the WHOLESALE warehouse of the HEADOFFICE company creates a shipment for the sales order.

The system saves the shipment details in the sales order, and the sales order gets the Shipping status.

When the worker confirms the shipment, the system does the following:

- Makes the Generate PO Receipt action available in the Actions menu of the Shipments screen
- Displays the shipment on the Generate Intercompany Purchase Receipts mass-processing screen (PO504000)
- The warehouse worker of the MHEAD company generates a purchase receipt for the shipment on the Generate Intercompany Purchase Receipts screen. (Alternatively, the Generate PO Receipt action can be selected on the Shipments screen, or a schedule can be created for the Generate Intercompany Purchase Receipts screen.)

The system creates a purchase receipt on the Purchase Receipts screen (PO302000). The purchase receipt contains the details copied from the shipment.

The system also specifies the following details:

- On the Purchase Receipts screen, the shipment link in the new Related Shipment field on the Other tab
- o On the Shipments screen, the purchase receipt link on the Shipping tab
- On the Purchase Orders screen (PO301000), the details of the purchase receipt on the PO History tab
- 8. An accountant of the HEADOFFICE company prepares the SO invoice for the shipment and releases the invoice on the Invoices screen (SO303000). The system assigned the Open status to the invoice.

The AR invoice becomes available on the Generate Intercompany Documents (AP503500) screen.

9. From the open AR invoice, an accountant of the MHEAD company generates the related AP bill on the Generate Intercompany Documents screen (alternatively, by using the **Generate/View AP Document** action on the Invoices and Memos screen (AR301000) or a schedule can be created for the mass-processing screen).

In the generated AP bill, the lines are linked to the related purchase order and receipt. The system also adds details of the generated AP bill on the Billing History tab of the Purchase Receipts screen for the related receipt.

The accountants process the financial documents in the system.

#### The Cross-Company Return Process

- 1. On the Purchase Receipts screen (PO302000), a procurement manager of the MHEAD company creates a purchase return for HEADOFFICE company and releases it.
- A sales manager of the MHEAD company initiates the generation of an SO return for the PO return on the Generate Intercompany Sales Orders screen.
   (Alternatively, the **Generate Sales Return** action can be clicked on the Purchase Receipts screen or a schedule can be created for the Generate Intercompany Sales Orders screen).
- 3. When the returned items are received, the warehouse worker of the HEADOFFICE company selects the **Create Receipt** action on the Sales Orders screen, and the system generates a shipment with the Receipt operation and the "Open" status on the Shipments screen (SO302000).
- 4. The worker confirms the shipment so that the shipment gets the "Confirmed" status.
- 5. To update the customer's balance in the amount of the returned items, an accountant of the HEADOFFICE company prepares and releases an SO invoice of the Credit Memo type. When the SO credit memo is released, the system automatically generates a corresponding inventory receipt for the returned items and creates and releases an AR credit memo on the Invoices and Memos screen (AR301000). In the AR credit memo, the MHEAD company is specified as a customer so that an intercompany AP debit adjustment can be created.
- 6. The accountant of the MHEAD company opens the Generate Intercompany Documents screen (AP503500) and generates the debit adjustment on the Bills and Adjustments screen (AP301000). The system adds details of the generated debit adjustment to the Billing History tab of the Purchase Receipts screen for the initial purchase return.
- 7. The accountants process the financial documents in the system.

## Changes to the Sales Orders Preferences Screen

On the Sales Orders Preferences screen (SO101000), the Intercompany Order Settings section has been added. The new section contains the Default Type for Intercompany Sales and the Default Type for Intercompany Returns fields and the Disable Editing Prices and Discounts check box (see the following screenshot). The section is displayed only if the *Inter-Branch Transactions* feature has been enabled on the Enable/Disable Features screen (CS100000).

Sales Orders Preferences					
B N					
GENERAL SETTINGS APPROVAL	REPORTING SETTINGS WAR	EHOUSE	MANAGEMENT		
DATA ENTRY SETTINGS			POSTING SETTINGS		
Default Sales Order Type:	SO	Q		✓ Automatically Release IN Docume	ents
Default Transfer Order Type:	TR - Transfer	Q		Use Shipped-Not-Invoiced Account	nt
* Shipment Numbering Sequence:	SOSHIPMENT - SO Shipment	20	Shipped-Not-Invoiced Account:		
	Advanced Availability Validation		Shipped-Not-Invoiced Sub.:		
PRICE SETTINGS			SALES PROFITABILITY SETTINGS		
Validate Min. Markup:	Warning	*	Cost Calculation Basis for Non-Stock Kits	Non-Stock Kit Standard Cost Plus	St 🔻
	Use a Price Adjustment Multiplier		INTERCOMPANY ORDER SETTINGS		
Ignore Min. Markup Validation for Prices	Specific To		* Default Type for Intercompany Sales:	SO - Sales Order	Q
	Customer		* Default Type for Intercompany Returns:	RM - RMA Order	Q
	Customer Price Class			Disable Adding Items to Orders	
	Promotional Prices			Disable Editing Prices and Discou	unts

The **Default Type for Intercompany Sales** and the **Default Type for Intercompany Returns** settings define the default type of the sales orders and return sales orders, which the system generates automatically for intercompany purchase orders and PO returns respectively.

The **Disable Editing Prices and Discounts** check box defines whether the users can edit the **Unit Price**, **Manual Price**, **Ext. Price**, **Discount Amount**, **Discount Code**, and **Manual Discount** columns in intercompany sales orders generated from a purchase order, and in related invoices on Sales Orders (SO301000) and Invoices (SO303000) screens. Also, on the Discounts tab of the Sales Orders screen, the **Add Row** and **Delete Row** buttons are disabled, and the Recalculate Prices is not available on the screen toolbar.

## Changes to the Order Types Screen

On the Order Types screen (SO201000), an Intercompany Posting Settings section has been added (see the following screenshot). The section is displayed only if the *Inter-Branch Transactions* feature has been enabled on the Enable/Disable Features screen (CS100000).



The **Use Sales Account From** field defines which account is used to record the intercompany sales transactions:

- Inventory Item: The account specified in the inventory item settings is used.
- **Customer Location**: The account specified in customer location is used.

The **Use COGS Account From** field defines which account is used to record the intercompany sales transactions:

- **Inventory Item**: The account specified in the inventory item settings is used.
- Customer: The account specified in customer settings is used.

# Distribution

#### Changes to the Purchase Orders Screen

On the Purchase Orders screen (PO301000), a **Generate Sales Order** action on the screen toolbar and an Intercompany Sale section on the Other tab have been added (see the screenshots below). The new action and section are displayed only if the *Inter-Branch Transactions* feature has been enabled on the Enable/Disable Features screen (CS100000) and the selected supplier is a branch or company that has been extended to a supplier.

Purchase Orders Normal 000001	- Rapidbyte S	vdnev				[	NOTES
← 🖺 🗎	∽ + ®		< > >I	ENTER PO RECEIPT	ACTIONS - REPORTS -		
Order Nbr.: 00 Status: 0 Date: 10	ormal	Location: M Owner:	RBYTESYD - Rapidby MAIN - Primary Locati NUD 1.00		Hold Remove Hold Email Purchase Order Do Not Email Enter PO Receipt Enter AP Bill Complete Order		
DETAILS TAXE	S SHIPPING	SUPPLIER INFO	DISCOUNTS	PO HISTORY PRE		OTHER COMPLIA	ANCE
ڻ + <i>د</i>	× ADD ITEM	IS ADD MATRIX I	TEMS ADD PRO	JECT ITEM ADD BLAN	Re-Open Order	VIEW SO DEMAND	H X
🖹 🖟 🗋 *Branch	Inventory	ID Subitem	Line Type	Warehouse	Create Prepayment Request	UOM	Order Qty
> 0 D RBYTEMA	N <u>ELEBOA</u>	<u>RD</u> 0	Goods for IN	MAIN	Do Not Print Generate Sales Order	EACH	10.00

The **Generate Sales Order** action is available on the Purchase Orders screen (PO301000) if the supplier specified in the purchase order is a related company or branch extended as supplier. When the user selects the **Generate Sales Order** action, the system creates a sales order, in which the current branch is specified as the customer and the lines of the current purchase order are copied.

Normal 00000 ← 🖏 🗒		pidbyte	·	ey D∕r	ĸ	<	>	ы	ENTER PO F	RECEIPT	AC	TIONS -	REPORTS -	<ul> <li>00:00:03</li> </ul>	C NOTE
Туре:	Normal	•	Su	upplier:		RBYT	ESYD -	Rapidb	yte Sydney	0	Line 1	otal:	1,448.90		
Order Nbr.:	000001	Q	Lo	ocation:		MAIN	- Prima	ry Loca	lion		Disco	unt Total:	0.00		
Status:	Open		Ov	wner:							GST	Exempt T	0.00		
Date:	10/06/2	021	Сι	urrency:		AUD	1.0	00	<ul> <li>VIEW BA</li> </ul>	SE	GST	Taxable T	1,448.90		
Promised On:	10/06/2	021	Su	upplier R	ef.:	00224	5				Tax To	otal:	144.89		
Description:											Order	Total:	1,593.79		
	AXES	SHIPPING	3 5	SUPPLIE	ER INF	0 1	DISCOL	UNTS	PO HISTORY	( PRI	PAYME	NTS C	HANGE ORDERS	OTHER	COMPLIANCE
										-					
Branch:		RBYTEM	AIN - F	Rapid By	te Hea	d Quart	ers			Quantity:			0.00		
Requisition Ref.		RBYTEM	AIN - F	Rapid By	te Hea	d Quart	ers		Unbilled	Amount:	-+ T	1,593	3.79		
Requisition Ref. Originating PO		RBYTEM	AIN - F	Rapid By	te Hea	d Quart	ers		Unbilled	-	ent T	1,593			
Requisition Ref.		RBYTEM		Rapid By		d Quart	ers		Unbilled	Amount: Prepayme		1,593	3.79		
Requisition Ref. Originating PO			Print	Rapid By	F		ers		Unbilled Unbilled Unpaid INTERCO	Amount: Prepayme	ALE	1,593	3.79 0.00 9.79		
Requisition Ref. Originating PO		Do Not	Print Email			Printed	ers		Unbilled Unbilled Unputd INTERCO Related	Amount: Prepayme MPANY S	ALE —	1,59: 1,59	3.79 0.00 9.79		

The Intercompany Sale section contains the following fields:

- **Related Order Type**: The type of the sales order created for the selected purchase order on the Sales Orders screen (SO301000).
- **Related Order Nbr.**: The link to the sales order created for the selected purchase order in the related company. When the user clicks the link, the system opens the document on the Sales Orders screen.

## Changes to the Sales Orders Screen

On the Shipping tab of the Sales Orders screen (SO301000), an Intercompany Purchase section has been added (see the following screenshot). The section is displayed only if the *Inter-Branch Transactions* feature has been enabled on the Enable/Disable Features screen (CS100000) and the selected customer is a branch or company that has been extended to a customer.

* Order Type:	SO D	Customer:	DRVT	EMAIN - Rapid	d Duto Ll	and Quarters	0	Ordered Qty.:	10.00		
Order Nbr.:	002245 O	* Location:		- Primary Loca		Pad Quarters	0	Discount Total:	0.00		
Status:	Open Spen	Contact:	WIAIIN	- Phinary Loca	auon	م م	0	GST Exempt T	0.00		
* Date:	10/06/2021 -	Currency:	AUD	,O 1.00	-	VIEW BASE	0	GST Taxable T	1.448.90		
Requested On:	10/06/2021 -	* Project:		n-Project Cod			0	Tax Total:	144.89		
Customer Ord	000001						-	Order Total:	1,593.79		
External Refer		Description:									
DETAILS  DELIVERY SETT  Ship Via:	INGS		NCIAL		DER SHI	DRESSES	INGS		MENTS PA	AYMENTS	TOTALS
	INGS	PACKAGE		ORI	_	IPPING SETT	INGS 10/	/06/2021 -	MENTS P/	AYMENTS	TOTALS
DELIVERY SETT Ship Via:	INGS	PACKAGE	S	ORI Sc	DER SHI ched. Shi	IPPING SETT ipment:	INGS 10/ S	/06/2021 -	MENTS P/		TOTALS
DELIVERY SETT Ship Via: FOB Point:	INGS	PACKAGE	S	P SH	DER SHI ched. Shi hipping R	IPPING SETT ipment: Rule:	INGS 10/ S Ca	/06/2021 ▼ hip Separately ncel Remainder		AYMENTS	TOTALS
DELIVERY SETT Ship Via: FOB Point: Priority:		PACKAGE	S	P St	DER SHI ched. Shi hipping R ancel By:	IPPING SETT ipment: Rule:	INGS 10/ S Ca 10/	/06/2021 ▼ hip Separately ncel Remainder	IENTS P	•	TOTALS
DELIVERY SETT Ship Via: FOB Point: Priority: Shipping Terms		PACKAGE	S	P St Ca P Pr	DER SHI ched. Shi hipping R ancel By:	IPPING SETT ipment: Rule:	INGS 10/ S Ca 10/	/06/2021 ▼ hip Separately ncel Remainder			TOTALS
DELIVERY SETT Ship Via: FOB Point: Priority:		D PACKAGE	S	P St	DER SHI ched. Shi hipping R ancel By:	IPPING SETT ipment: Rule:	INGS 10/ S Ca 10/	/06/2021 ▼ hip Separately ncel Remainder		•	TOTALS
DELIVERY SETT Ship Via: FOB Point: Priority: Shipping Terms	INGS	PACKAGE     O     dential Delivery	S	P St Ca P Pr	DER SHI ched. Shi hipping R ancel By:	IPPING SETT ipment: Rule:	INGS 10/ S Ca 10/	/06/2021 ▼ hip Separately ncel Remainder		•	TOTALS
DELIVERY SETT Ship Via: FOB Point: Priority: Shipping Terms	INGS	Delivery rday Delivery	S	P St Ca P Pr	DER SHI ched. Shi hipping R ancel By:	IPPING SETT ipment: Rule:	INGS 10/ S Ca 10/	/06/2021 ▼ hip Separately ncel Remainder		•	TOTALS
DELIVERY SETT Ship Via: FOB Point: Priority: Shipping Terms	INGS	Delivery rday Delivery	S	P St Ca P Pr	DER SHI ched. Shi hipping R ancel By:	IPPING SETT ipment: Rule:	INGS 10/ S Ca 10/	/06/2021 ▼ hip Separately ncel Remainder		•	TOTALS
DELIVERY SETT Ship Via: FOB Point: Priority: Shipping Terms	INGS	Delivery rday Delivery	S	P St Ca P Pr	DER SHI ched. Shi hipping R ancel By:	IPPING SETT ipment: Rule:	INGS 10/ S Ca 10/	/06/2021 ▼ hip Separately ncel Remainder		•	TOTALS
DELIVERY SETT Ship Via: FOB Point: Priority: Shipping Terms Shipping Zone:	INGS	PACKAGE     O     O     O     O     O     O     O     O	S	P St Ca P P	DER SHI ched. Shi hipping R ancel By:	IPPING SETT ipment: Rule:	INGS 10/ S Ca 10/	/06/2021 ▼ hip Separately ncel Remainder		•	TOTALS

The Intercompany Purchase section contains the following fields:

- **Related Order Type**: The type of the purchase order for which for the sales order has been created.
- **Related Order Nbr.**: The link to the purchase order for which for the sales order has been created. When the use clicks the link, the system opens the document on the Purchase Orders screen (PO301000).

# Distribution

#### Changes to the Shipments Screen

On the Shipping tab of Shipments screen (SO302000), the Intercompany Purchase section has been added (see the following screenshot). The section is displayed only if the *Inter-Branch Transactions* feature has been enabled on the Enable/Disable Features screen (CS100000).

Shipments 000670 - Rap	oid Byte	Head Qu	arters										🗅 NOTES	ACTIVITIES
← 🛱 🗄	na byte	+ 🗈	IK K	>	Я	PREPARE INVOICE	UPDA	E IN	ACTIONS	s •	REPORTS -	0		
Shipment Nbr.:	000670	Q	Customer:	RBY	TEMAII	N - Rapid Byte Head Quarter	rs 🖉	Shippe	d Quant		1.00			
Туре:	Shipmer	nt	Location:	MAI	N - Prim	ary Location		Contro	Quantity:		1.00			
Status:	Confirm	ed	Warehouse ID:	MAI	N - Mair	i		Shippe	d Weight:	(	0.000000			
Operation:	Issue		Workgroup:					Shippe	d Volume:	(	0.00000			
Shipment Date:	10/06/20	121	Owner:					Packag	jes:		0			
								Packag	e Weight:		0.00000			
Description:														
DETAILS O	RDERS	SHIPPING	PACKAGES											
SHIP-TO CONTA	АСТ					SHIPPING INFORMATI	ON							
		Override C	Contact											
Company Nam	e:	Rapid Byte	Head Quarters			Ship Via:		LOCAL -		HOP F	OR RATES			
Attention:								Will Ca	I					
Phone 1:		03 6785897	6			Freight Class:								
Email:						FOB Point:								
SHIP-TO ADDRE	ESS					Shipping Terms:								
		Override A	ddress			Shipping Zone ID:		Deside	ntial Deliver					
Address Line 1		301 Sussex	Street						ay Delivery	у				
Address Line 2								Insurar						
City:		Melbourne				Freight Currency:		AUD	1.00		VIEW BASE			
Country:		AU - AUSTR	RALIA			Freight Cost:		100	0.00		THE THE PROPERTY			
State:		VIC - Victori	a					Overrid	e Freight Pr	rice				
Postal Code:		3033		-	_	Invoice Freight Pric			-					
INTERCOMPAN					_	Freight Price:			0.00					
Related PO Re	ceipt Nbr.:					SERVICE MANAGEME	-							
		Exclude fr	om Intercompany P	roces	sing	SERVICE MANAGEME	IN I					-		

The Intercompany Purchase section contains a **Related PO Receipt Nbr.** field, in which the system inserts the link to the purchase receipt generated for the shipment.

Changes to the Purchase Receipts Screen

On the Other tab of the Purchase Receipts screen (PO302000), the Intercompany Sale section has been added (see the following screenshot). The section is displayed only if the *Inter-Branch Transactions* feature has been enabled on the Enable/Disable Features screen (CS100000).

Type:	Receipt -	Supplier:	RBYTES	YD - Rapidbyte S	vdnev	Ø Total Qty.:	1.00	
Receipt Nbr.:	000002 🔎	* Location:		rimary Location	ر. م	Unbilled Quant.		
Status:	Balanced	Currency:	AUD	1.00 *	VIEW BASE	Total Cost:	100.00	
Date:	10/06/2021 -		Create	Bill				
Post Period:	12-2021 🔎	Supplier Ref.:	000670					
		Workgroup:			Q			
		Owner:			Q			
DETAILS IN Ref. Nbr.: * Branch:		AWAY HISTORY	BILLING	G LANDED C	OSTS OTI	HER		

The Intercompany Sale section contains a **Related Shipment Nbr.** field, in which the system inserts the link to the purchase receipt generated for the shipment.

#### New Generate Intercompany Sales Orders Mass-Processing Screen

The Generate Intercompany Sales Orders screen (SO504000), shown in the following screenshot, has been added for the mass generation of sales orders based on purchase orders from the purchasing company.

	か	PROCES	S PROCESS A	LL Ů▼	→  X Y					
	Pu	rchase Doc. Type:	Purchase Order	s -	Selling Company:			Q		
	Da	te:	10/06/2021 -		Purchasing Company:			Q		
	Sa	les Order Type:	SO - Sales Orde	er ,Q	Copy Project Details to	Generated Sale	s Orders			
1		Selling Company	Purchasing Company	Document Type	Document Nbr.	Document Date	Promised Date	Currency	Total Amount	Description
>		RBYTESYD	RBYTEMAIN	Normal	000003	10/06/2021	10/06/2021	AUD	110.00	
						10/06/2021		110.00		

In the fields of the Selection area of the screen, the user specifies the selection criteria for the documents to be loaded in the table. The user can also manage the process of generating sales orders by using the **Copy Project Details to Generated Sales Orders** check box. The check box appears only if the *Projects* feature is enabled on the Enable/Disable Features screen (CS100000). If the user selects the check box, the values of the project from the purchase order will be copied to the created sales order.

#### New Generate Intercompany Purchase Receipts Mass-Processing Screen

The Generate Intercompany Purchase Receipts screen (PO504000), shown in the following screenshot, has been added for the mass generation of purchase receipts based on shipments from the selling company.

Generate Intercompany Purchase Receipts													
Ċ	5	6	)	PROCESS	PROCESS ALL	⊙ -  ↔  X .	$\overline{V}$						
	Date:     10/06/2021 →     Image: Put Created Receipts on Hold       Purchasing Company:     RBYTEMAIN - Rapid Ø       Selling Company:     Ø												
8	0	D		Purchasing Company	Selling Company	Shipment Nbr.	Shipment Date	Shipped Quantity	Warehouse ID	Description	Excluded	Related PO Nbr.	
>	0			RBYTEMAIN	RBYTESYD	000671	10/06/2021	1.00	MAIN			000004	
	0			RBYTEMAIN	RBYTESYD	000672	10/06/2021	1.00	MAIN			000003	

In the fields of the Selection area of the screen, the user specifies the selection criteria for the documents to be loaded in the table. The user can also manage the process of generating sales orders by using the **Put Created Receipts on Hold** check box. If the user selects the check box, the generated purchase receipts will be assigned the "On Hold" status on creation. If the check box is cleared, the generated purchase receipts will be assigned the "Balanced" status on creation.

# Distribution

## Changes to Customers Screen

On the GL Accounts tab of the Customers screen (AR303000), a **COGS Account** field has been added (see the following screenshot). The field is displayed only if the *Inter-Branch Transactions* feature has been enabled on the Enable/Disable Features screen (CS100000).

Customers CUST000002 - ABC S							🗋 NOTES FIL	ES CUSTOMISATIO
	+	>I VIEW ACCOUNT Balance:	-428.00	INQUIRIES - REP	ORTS -			
	Active	Prepayment Balance:	0.00					
* Customer Class:	.OCAL - Local Customers $\rho$ $\rho$	Retained Balance:	-100.00					
GENERAL FINANCIAL	BILLING SHIPPING LOCATI	ONS PAYMENT METHODS	CONTACTS	SALESPERSONS	ATTRIBUTES	ACTIVITIES	GL ACCOUNTS	MAILING SETTING
* AR Account:	100201 - Account Receivable - Loca							
* AR Sub.:	000-000-001 - Head Office	20						
* Sales Account:	400000 - Sales	Q						
* Sales Sub.:	000-000-001 - Head Office	P 0						
Discount Account:	400000 - Sales	Q						
Discount Sub.:	000-000-001 - Head Office	P /						
Freight Account:		Q						
Freight Sub.:	000-000-001 - Head Office	P 1						
* Cash Discount Account:	420000 - Cash Discount	Q						
* Cash Discount Sub.:	000-000-001 - Head Office	20						
Prepayment Account:	216000 - Customer Prepayments	Q						
- Deserves t Out								
COGS Account:		Q						
Retainage Receivable Acc	ount.	<u>, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , </u>						
Retainage Receivable Sub		Q						

The system uses the account in the **COGS Account** field as a COGS account for stock items and non-stock items with the **Accrue Cost** check box selected in intercompany documents if the Customer option is selected in the **Use COGS Account From** field of the Intercompany Posting Settings section for the related order type on the Order Types screen (SO201000).

#### Cross-Company Sales Functionality Restrictions

In the current version, the following restrictions to cross-company functionality exist which are planned to be removed in the future version:

- On the Purchase Orders screen (PO301000), the following actions are disabled:
  - o Enter PO Receipt
  - o Enter AP Bill
- On the Purchase Receipts screen (PO302000), the following elements are disabled:
  - o The Enter AP Bill action
  - In the Summary area, the Create Bill check box.
  - On the Details tab, the Add Row, Delete Row, Add Line, Add PO, and Add PO Line buttons.
- On the Bills and Adjustments screen (AP301000), the Add PO Receipt, Add PO Receipt Line, Add PO, and Add PO Line buttons are disabled on the Document Details tab.
- On the Sales Orders screen (SO301000), the following buttons are disabled on the Details tab:
  - o Add Invoice
  - o Add Stock Item
  - o Add Matrix Item
  - o Add Row
  - o Delete Row

- The user cannot generate sales orders with the Invoice and Credit Memo automation behaviours on the Generate Intercompany Sales Orders screen (SO504000).
- Non-stock items that have different states of the Require Receipt and Require Shipment check boxes on the Non-Stock Items screen (IN202000), cannot be added to cross-company purchase orders.
- Freight and service lines without an ID cannot be added to cross-company purchase orders.

# Dead Stock Detection

This release introduces the Dead Stock (IN405500) inquiry form, which provides the ability to detect dead stock items.

#### Dead Stock Inquiry Form

The Dead Stock inquiry screen (IN405500) has been added to the Inquiries category of the Inventory workspace. The inquiry form is available if the *Inventory* feature is enabled on the Enable/Disable Features screen (CS100000).

	Dead Stock												
0	° ∽ ⊢	XV											
	* Warehouse:	MAIN - Main		P * Select by: Days	*								
	Item Class:			P In Stock For:	30								
	Inventory ID:			P No Sales For:									
8	Warehouse	Inventory ID	Subitem	Description	In Stock Qty.	Dead Stock Qty.	Base Unit	In Dead Stock (days)		Last Cost	Total Dead Stock Cost	Dead Stock Item Average Cost	
>	MAIN	ITM0000002	0	Bluetooth Keyboard	135.00	10.00	PIECE	382.00	22/10/2020	150.00	1,372.15	137.22	NZD
	MAIN	ITM0000004	0	Kingsbrand Bluetooth Keyboard	2,379.00	2,219.00	PIECE	444.42	24/06/2020	156.00	346,617.78	156.20	NZD
	MAIN	ITM0000006	0	Bluetooth Mouse	100.00	100.00	PIECE	335.00		67.00	7,308.54	73.09	NZD
	MAIN	ITM0000007	0	Kingsbrand Mouse	90.00	90.00	PIECE	335.00	17/06/2020	33.00	3,239.76	36.00	NZD
	MAIN	ITM0000008	0	Kingsbrand Bluetooth Mouse	45.00	46.00	PIECE	335.00	26/03/2020	222.00	11,139.52	242.16	NZD
	MAIN	ITM0000009	0	KTEC Bluetooth Gaming Mouse	1,805.00	1,805.00	PIECE	428.52	30/03/2020	37.00	382,546.06	211.94	NZD
	MAIN	ITM0000010	0	KTEC Standard Mouse	100.00	100.00	PIECE	335.00		35.00	3,817.89	38.18	NZD
	MAIN	ITM0000011	0	KTEC Bluetooth Mouse	100.00	100.00	PIECE	335.00		58.00	6,326.79	63.27	NZD
	MAIN	ITM0000013	0	Desktop Office Pro Package A	721.00	721.00	PIECE	611.31	16/06/2020	1,190.07	906,790.01	1,257.68	NZD
	MAIN	ITM0000014	0	Desktop Office Pro Package B	4,365.00	4,365.00	PIECE	446.09	23/06/2020	1,042.72	1,159,320.64	265.59	NZD
	MAIN	ITM0000015	0	Desktop Editor Pro Package A	328.00	328.00	PIECE	417.00	16/06/2020	1,125.00	369,000.00	1,125.00	NZD
	MAIN	ITM0000016	0	Desktop Editor Pro Package B	532.00	532.00	PIECE	565.80	16/06/2020	1,125.00	598,500.00	1,125.00	NZD
	MAIN	ITM0000017	0	Desktop Education Package A	755.00	755.00	PIECE	533.23	16/06/2020	820.72	658,041.04	871.58	NZD
	MAIN	ITM0000018	0	Desktop Education Package B	443.00	443.00	PIECE	435.65	16/06/2020	968.38	231,123.91	521.72	NZD
	MAIN	ITM0000019	0	Keyboard and Mouse Package	5,455.00	5,430.00	PIECE	450.52	16/06/2020	445.96	2,081,828.98	383.39	NZD
	MAIN	ITM0000020	0	Keyboard and Mouse Package B	1,701.00	1,651.00	PIECE	413.06	30/06/2020	383.81	631,782.93	382.67	NZD
	MAIN	ITM0000021	0	Keyboard and Mouse Package C	338.00	288.00	PIECE	415.52	16/06/2020	340.31	98,788.45	343.02	NZD
	MAIN	ITM0000022	0	Keyboard and Mouse Package D	904.00	829.00	PIECE	597.62	16/06/2020	478.00	396,262.00	478.00	NZD
	MAIN	ITM0000023	0	Desktop Standard Case	6,802.00	6,702.00	PIECE	501.81	16/06/2020	200.00	1,487,844.00	222.00	NZD

The Dead Stock inquiry form shows inventory items in stock that have not been moved that is, the items that have not been added to sales orders, transfers, IN issues, kit assemblies, and other documents that affect the quantity on hand—during the period of time specified in the Selection area of the form. To calculate the quantity of dead stock items, the system deducts the quantity of items in sales orders (including field service orders and production orders), shipments, and other documents that affect the quantity on hand from the quantity of items on hand that have remained in stock for the specified time period.

In the Selection area, the user can specify the following criteria to narrow the range of inventory items to be shown:

- **Warehouse**: The warehouse in which the items are situated, by its ID. This box is empty by default. The user must make a selection in this box to view the list of items.
- Item Class: The class of the items to be shown.

- Inventory ID: The identifier of the item.
- Selected By: The mode of filtering. The following options are available:
  - **By Days**: The time period by the number of days for which the items have been in stock.
  - **By Date**: The time period starting from the specified date.
- In Stock For: The number of days the stock items to be defined as dead stock have been stored in the warehouse. This field appears if the "By Days" option is selected in the Selected By dropdown.
- No Sales For: The number of days the stock items to be defined as a dead stock have not been sold. This field appears if the "By Days" option is selected in the Selected By dropdown.
- In Stock Since: The date from which the stock items defined as a dead stock have been stored in the warehouse. This field appears if the "By Date" option is selected in the Selected By dropdown.
- No Sales Since: The date from which the stock items defined as a dead stock have not been sold. This field appears if the "By Date" option is selected in the Selected By dropdown.

The following limitations apply to the stock items that can be listed on the Dead Stock inquiry form:

- If the **Cost Separately** check box is ticked on the Locations tab of the Warehouses screen (IN204000) for a warehouse, the system calculates the cost of an item for the warehouse, not for the location.
- If a stock item has subitems, the system shows information without subitem details.

# Improvements to Drop-Ship Processing

The processing of drop shipments has been significantly improved through the improved functionality related to interconnections between sales orders and drop-ship purchase orders, new actions on the Purchase Orders screen (PO301000), and direct drop-ship returns from a customer to the applicable supplier. Also, the "Awaiting Link" status can now be assigned to purchase orders on the Purchase Orders screen (PO301000).

#### Improved Interconnection of Sales Orders and Drop-Ship Purchase Orders

On the Purchase Orders screen (PO301000), the following columns have been added to the Details tab for purchase orders of the Drop Ship type:

- Sales Order Nbr.: The number of the sales order that was created for this dropship purchase order line. The number is a link the user can click to view the sales order on the Sales Orders screen (SO301000).
- Sales Order Line Nbr.: The number of the sales order line to which this purchase order line is linked. This is the number displayed in the Line Nbr. column of the Details tab of the Sales Orders.
- **SO Linked**: A check box that indicates whether this line of the drop-ship purchase order has an active link to a line of the sales order. The system selects this check box (and thus considers the link active) if the inventory ID, quantity, and UOMs of the corresponding lines in the drop-ship purchase order and sales order are equal.

The **View SO Demand** button has been removed from the Details tab of the Purchase Orders screen.

# Distribution

A drop-ship purchase order can be linked to only one sales order at a time. In the dropship purchase order, the type and number of the related sales order are now displayed in the **Sales Order Type** and **Sales Order Nbr.** read-only fields, respectively, on the of the Shipping tab (Ship To section) of the Purchase Orders screen; see the following screenshot. If the sales orders is unlinked from the drop-ship purchase order, the system clears the **Sales Order Type** and **Sales Order Nbr.** fields automatically.

	n − +	Ū	₿• K	<	> >	ACTIONS -	REPO	RTS 🗸 📀	00:00:01		
Туре:	Drop Ship -		Supplier:	V00000	0001 - ABC	Studios Inc.	Ø	Line Total:	100.00		
Order Nbr.:	000005 ,C		Location:	MAIN -	Primary Lo	cation		Discount Total:	0.00		
Status:	Awaiting Link		Owner:					GST Exempt T.	0.00		
Date:	10/06/2021		Currency:	AUD	1.00	✓ VIEW BASE		GST Taxable T.	100.00		
Promised On:	10/06/2021		Supplier Ref.:					Tax Total:	10.00		
Description:								Order Total:	110.00		
	TAXES SHIP	PING	SUPPLIER INF	FO DI				EPAYMENTS	CHANGE ORDERS	OTHER	COMPLIANC
Ship to:	IAXES SHIP		SUPPLIER INF	O DI	SI	PO HISTORY		EPAYMENTS	CHANGE ORDERS	OTHER	COMPLIANCI
Ship to:	ination Ty Cust	omer	SUPPLIER INF		SI	HP VIA:		EPAYMENTS	CHANGE ORDERS	OTHER	COMPLIANCI
SHIP TO: Shipping Dest	ination Ty Cust	omer T00000			SI	HP VIA:		EPAYMENTS	CHANGE ORDERS	OTHER	COMPLIANC
SHIP TO: Shipping Dest Ship To:	ination Ty Cust CUS	omer T00000	- 13 - Active Staffing		SI	HP VIA:		EPAYMENTS	CHANGE ORDERS	OTHER	COMPLIANC

On the Sales Orders screen (SO301000), the following read-only columns (shown in the following screenshot) have been added to the Details tab:

- **Drop-Ship PO Order Nbr.**: The number of the drop-ship purchase order to which this sales order line is linked. The number is a link the user can click to view the sales order on the Purchase Orders screen.
- Sales Order Line Nbr.: The number of the drop-ship purchase order line to which this sales order line is linked. This is the number displayed in the Line Nbr. column of the Details tab of the Purchase Orders.
- **PO Linked**: A check box that indicates whether this line of the sales order has an active link to the line of the drop-ship purchase order. The system selects this check box (and thus considers the link active) if the inventory ID, quantity, and UOMs of the corresponding lines in the drop-ship purchase order and sales order are equal.

A drop-ship purchase order and sales order can be linked only if the inventory ID, quantity, and UOMs in all corresponding lines of the drop-ship purchase order and sales order are equal. A sales order line can be linked to only one purchase order. When a user creates a drop-ship purchase order from a sales order by using the Create Purchase Orders screen (PO505000), all line links in the created purchase order and the sales order are active by default.

#### Awaiting Link Status

A new "Awaiting Link" status is now available for drop-ship purchase orders on the Purchase Orders screen (PO301000). The system automatically assigns the "Awaiting Link" status to a drop-ship purchase order in which at least one line with a stock or non-stock item is not linked to a corresponding line of a sales order or at least one line has an inactive link; the system assigns the status when the user removes the "On Hold" status (or the "Pending Approval" status, if approval is required). When all unlinked lines in the drop-ship purchase order with the "Awaiting Link" status have been linked to lines of a sales order, the drop-ship purchase order will be assigned the "Open" status automatically. If at least one line with a stock or non-stock item in the drop-ship purchase order with the "Open" status becomes unlinked or the link is deactivated, the drop-ship purchase order will again be automatically assigned the "Awaiting Link" status.

For a drop-ship purchase order with the "Awaiting Link" status, the **Enter PO Receipt** action is not available on the screen toolbar of the Purchase Orders screen. If a drop-ship purchase order with the "Open" status has an unreleased purchase receipt and one of the purchase order lines included in this purchase receipt is unlinked from a sales order or has an inactive link, the drop-ship purchase order will be assigned the "Awaiting Link" status, and the release of the purchase receipt will fail.

In the Purchasing Details window, which a user opens by selecting a sales order line on Details tab of the Sales Orders screen (SO301000) and clicking the **PO Link** to link a purchase order to the sales order line, the system now displays only drop-ship purchase orders with the "Awaiting Link" status that have a line with the same item and item quantity as the selected line of the sales order has. The Purchasing Details window can display drop-ship purchase orders with a status different from "Awaiting Link" only if these drop-ship purchase orders are created with the "On Hold" status from a sales order.

#### New Actions on the Purchase Orders Screen

The following actions, which are shown in the following screenshot and described in detail below, have been added to the Actions menu on the screen toolbar of the Purchase Orders screen (PO301000):

- Unlink from Sales Order
- Convert to Normal
- Create Sales Order

For a drop-ship purchase order linked to a sales order, a user can now click Actions > Unlink from Sales Order. This action is available if the purchase order has the Drop Ship type and has values specified in the Sales Order Type and Sales Order Nbr. fields in the Ship To section on the Shipping tab of the Purchase Orders screen. The Unlink from Sales Order action removes the interconnection of the sales order and the drop-ship purchase order. The system clears the values in the Sales Order Type and Sales Order Nbr. fields.

If the purchase order has the Drop Ship type and the "On Hold", "Awaiting Link", or "Open" status, a user can now click **Actions > Convert to Normal** to convert the purchase order to a purchase order of the Normal type. Specifically, when the user clicks the **Convert to Normal** action, the system does the following:

- 1. Removes the link to a sales order in the originating drop-ship purchase order (that is, the drop-ship purchase order from which the user linked the documents)
- 2. Cancels the drop-ship purchase order
- 3. Creates another purchase order of the Normal type
- 4. Copies all lines from the originating drop-ship purchase order to the new purchase order of the Normal type with the corresponding Goods for IN or Non-Stock line types

The values of the Ship To section on the Shipping tab of the Purchase Orders screen for the created purchase order are populated with the default values for purchase orders of the Normal type based on the selected option in the **Default Ship Dest. Type** field of the Purchase Orders Preferences screen (PO101000). The **Supplier Tax Zone** field on the Supplier Info tab of the Purchase Orders screen is populated with the value of the Tax

Zone field on the Purchase Settings tab of the Suppliers screen (AP303000) for the current supplier. The values of the line discounts are copied from the originating drop-ship purchase order. Also, in the new purchase order, the system inserts a link to the originating drop-ship purchase order in the **Originating PO Nbr.** field on the Other tab; similarly, in the cancelled drop-ship purchase order, the system inserts a link to the created purchase order of the Normal type in the **Normal PO Nbr.** field on the Other tab.

A purchase order of the Drop Ship type cannot be converted to the Normal type if it has at least one document applied.

If a purchase order has the Drop Ship type, a user can click **Actions > Create Sales Order** to create a sales order from this purchase order. The new action is available for drop-ship purchase orders with the "Awaiting Link" status that don't have a link to a sales order. If the drop-ship purchase order is partially linked to a sales order—that is, some lines of the purchase order are linked to the lines of a sales order and some lines are not, and the system has already inserted the values of the **Sales Order Type** and **Sales Order Nbr.** fields in the Ship To section on the Shipping tab of the Purchase Orders screen—the **Create Sales Order** action is unavailable. The **Create Sales Order** action creates a sales order with the same lines that are in the originating drop-ship purchase order. The lines can contain stock and non-stock items only. The sales order is created with the "On Hold" status, and the **PO Linked** check box is cleared for lines of the new sales order by default.

The system does not allow the creation of a purchase receipt for a drop-ship purchase order if the sales order linked to this purchase order has the "On Hold", "Pending Approval", or "Awaiting Payment" status.

#### Supplier Returns

This release introduces the ability to process returns of drop-shipped goods from the customer directly to the supplier, without the organisation receiving these goods in the warehouse. The **Create Supplier Return** action is available on the Sales Orders screen (SO301000) for sales orders with a sales order type that has the RMA Order automation behaviour.

Note: The automation behaviour is specified in the Automation Behaviour field of the Order Types screen (SO201000) on the Template Settings tab. The predefined RM sales order type has this behaviour; an organisation may have created other order types with the behaviour.

To process a drop-ship supplier return, the following steps must be performed:

- 1. On the Sales Orders screen, a sales manager creates a return sales order of an order type with the RMA Order automation behaviour.
- 2. On the table toolbar of Details tab, the sales manager clicks the **Add Invoice** button and adds the invoice with the drop-shipped lines.
- 3. On the Details tab, the sales manager selects the **Mark for PO** check box for these lines.
- 4. On the screen toolbar, the sales manager selects **Actions > Create Supplier Return**.

The system creates a direct purchase return to the supplier on the Purchase Receipts screen (PO302000), which is a receipt of the Return type with appropriate settings filled in. On the Shipments tab, the system inserts a link a user can click to navigate to the purchase return.

5. A purchasing manager opens and releases the purchase return on the Purchase Receipts screen.

The system does not generate any batches of transactions on release of the purchase return.

- 6. On the screen toolbar, the purchasing manager clicks **Actions > Enter AP Bill** to create a debit adjustment to the supplier. The system opens the Bills and Adjustments screen (AP301000) with appropriate settings copied, so that the purchasing manager can create a debit adjustment.
- 7. On the Bills and Adjustments screen, the purchasing manager releases the debit adjustment.

On release of the debit adjustment, the system debits the Accounts Payable account and credits the Purchase Accrual account.

- 8. The sales manager returns to the return sales order on the Sales Orders screen.
- 9. On the screen toolbar, the sales manager selects **Actions > Prepare Invoice** to create a credit memo on the Invoices screen (SO303000).
- 10. The sales manager releases the credit memo.

On release of the credit memo, the system generates an inventory issue on the Issues screen (IN302000). When the sales manager releases the inventory issue, the system debits the Purchase Accrual account and credits the COGS account.

# Matrix Item Enhancements

Multiple changes have been made to the matrix item functionality to ease the creation and management of matrix items.

#### The Add Spaces Check Box

On the Attribute Configuration tab of the Template Items screen (IN203000), an **Add Spaces** column has been added to the Inventory ID Segment Settings and Description Segment Settings tables (see the following screenshot).

When the user selects a check box in the **Add Spaces** column for a segment, the system adds spaces to the values of the inventory ID or description segment of the matrix items if the values of the segments contain fewer characters than the number specified in the **Number of Characters** column. If the user clears the check box in the **Add Spaces** column for a segment, the system always displays the values of the inventory ID and description segments of matrix items without additional spaces.

For example, the user has the Brand, Size and Colour attributes in the Inventory Segment ID Settings table. For all attributes the Segment Type is Attribute Value and Number of Characters is 6. If the **Add Spaces** check box is selected for all attributes, the **Inventory ID** of the matrix item will be "PUMA -L -RED". If the **Add Spaces** check box is cleared for all attributes, the **Inventory ID** of the matrix item will be "PUMA-L-RED".

# Distribution

Template ID:	JU	ICE - Juice	O Stock Item									
Description:	Jui	ce										
ENERAL FU	JLFILLMENT	PRICE/COST SUPPLIERS	GL ACCOUNTS	DE		IFIGURATION IT	EM CREATION	UPDATE SETTING	S MATR	IX ITEMS	ECOMMER	CE
TTRIBUTES				IN/	ENTORY ID SEGMEI	NT SETTINGS						
Attribute	Require	Category Value		(	స + ×	^ ↓  ⊶	x					
> Ingredients		Variant		B	Segment Type	*Attribute ID	Constant	*Numbering ID	*Number	Use	Separator	Add
Package		Variant								Space as Separator		Spaces
Volume		Variant		>	Attribute Value	INGREDIENT			8		-	~
					Attribute Value	VOLUME			4			
					Attribute Value	PACKAGE			4		-	
Default Colum	INGREDIEN	NT - Ingredients P										
	VOLUME -	Volume P										
			Browse Upload	In	ventory ID Example:	Banana -1000-Card					1< <	> >
		Volume P	Browse Upload		ventory ID Example:						I< <	> >
		Volume P	Browse Upload	DE	SCRIPTION SEGMEN	IT SETTINGS	Q				I< <	> >
		Volume P	Browse Upload	DE	scription segmen ひ + ×	IT SETTINGS	X					
		Volume P	Browse Upload	DE	SCRIPTION SEGMEN	IT SETTINGS	X Constant	*Numbering ID		Use Space as Separator	< < Separator	> > Add Spaces
		Volume P	Browse Upload	DE (	scription segmen ひ + ×	IT SETTINGS	_	*Numbering ID	of	Use Space as		Add
		Volume P	Browse Upload	DE (	SCRIPTION SEGMEN	T SETTINGS ↑ ↓  ⊶  *Attribute ID INGREDIENT	_	* Numbering ID	of Charact	Use Space as Separator	Separator	Add Spaces
		Volume P	Browse Upload	DE (	SCRIPTION SEGMEN 3 + × Segment Type Attribute Caption	T SETTINGS ↑ ↓  ⊶  *Attribute ID INGREDIENT	_	* Numbering ID	of Charact 10	Use Space as Separator	Separator	Add Spaces

#### The Ability to Add Images to Template Items

On the Attribute Configuration tab of the Template Items screen (IN203000), an **Image** field has been added (see the following screenshot). The user can now upload images that will be used as the template item images when the matrix items are imported to eCommerce stores by using the template item. To upload an image, the user needs to click the **Browse** button and select an image file on the computer or drag the image file to the Image field, and then click the **Upload** button.

femplate ID:	JUI	ICE - Juice	Q	✓ Stock Item								
Description:	Juic	be										
ENERAL FU	LFILLMENT	PRICE/CO	OST SUPPLIERS	GL ACCOUNTS	DESCRIPTION	CONFIGURATION IT	TEM CREATION	UPDATE SETTING	S MATR	IX ITEMS	ECOMMER	RCE
TRIBUTES					INVENTORY ID SE	GMENT SETTINGS						
Attribute	Require	Category	Value		ڻ + ×	: ↑ ↓  +	X					
> Ingredients Package		Variant Variant			Segment Type	* Attribute ID	Constant	*Numbering ID		Use Space as Separator	Separator	Add Spaces
Volume		Variant										
					> Attribute Value	INGREDIENT			8		-	$\checkmark$
					> Attribute Value Attribute Value	INGREDIENT			8 4		•	
Default Colum	INGREDIEN		P O									
Dofault Row At	VOLUME 1	NT - Ingredients	0	Browse Upload	Attribute Value Attribute Value	VOLUME			4			
Dofault Row At	VOLUME 1	NT - Ingredients		Browse Upload	Attribute Value Attribute Value	VOLUME PACKAGE nple: Banana -1000-Card GMENT SETTINGS	X		4		-	
Dofault Bow At	VOLUME 1	NT - Ingredients		Browse Upload	Attribute Value Attribute Value Inventory ID Exan DESCRIPTION SEC	VOLUME PACKAGE nple: Banana -1000-Card GMENT SETTINGS	S Constant	*Numbering ID	4 4 *Number of		-	
ofault Row At	VOLUME 1	NT - Ingredients		Browse Upload	Attribute Value Attribute Value Inventory ID Exan DESCRIPTION SEC O + X	VOLUME PACKAGE Apple: Banana -1000-Card SMENT SETTINGS 	_	*Numbering ID	4 4 *Number of	Use Space as Separator	-	
Dofault Bow At	VOLUME 1	NT - Ingredients		Browse Upload	Attribute Value Attribute Value Inventory ID Exan DESCRIPTION SE C + × Segment Type	VOLUME PACKAGE Anple: Banana -1000-Card GMENT SETTINGS C	_	*Numbering ID	4 4 *Number of Charact	Use Space as Separator	- -  < < Separator	Add Spaces
Default Colum Default Colum ImageUrt:	VOLUME A	NT - Ingredients		Browse Upload	Attribute Value Attribute Value Inventory ID Exam DESCRIPTION SE C + X Segment Type > Attribute Captio	VOLUME PACKAGE Apple: Banana -1000-Card GMENT SETTINGS C	_	*Numbering ID	4 4 *Number of Characti 10	Use Space as Separator	· · I< < Separator ·	Add Spaces

#### Editable Fields on the Matrix Items Tab

On the Matrix Items tab of the Template Items screen (IN203000), the values in the **Description**, **MSRP**, and **Default Price** columns can now be edited (see the following screenshot). The changes will be displayed on the Stock Items screen (IN202500).

Previously, the user could edit these values only by opening the settings of matrix items one by one on the Stock Items screen (IN202500) or for all matrix items created from a template item by changing the corresponding settings of the template item on the Template Items screen.

¢ ‼ ‼ γ	+ 🗈 🖓 • K < >	>I CHANG	EID CREATE	MATRIX ITEMS	UPDATE MA	TRIX ITEMS	⊘ 00:00:02				
* Template ID:	JUICE - Juice ,0	Stock Item									
Description:	Juice										
GENERAL FULFILLM	IENT PRICE/COST SUPPLIERS	GL ACCOUNTS	DESCRIPTION	CONFIGURAT	ION ITEM (	CREATION	UPDATE SETTINGS	MATRIX ITEMS	ECOMME	RCE	
Update Only Selected Iten	is with Template Changes								-		
O + × DEL	E <u>TE  ↔  (X</u> )	_							_		
🛯 🕒 🗖 Inventory ID	Description	Default Warehouse	Ingredients	Package	Volume	Item Class	Tax Category	MSRP	Last Cost	Default Price	tock em
	Banana-Juice-1I-Cardboard box	MAIN	Banana	Cardboard box	11	JUICE-	DEFAULTD	0.00	0.00	0.00	Z
Image: Image	Banana-Juice-200ml-Cardboard box	MAIN	Banana	Cardboard box	200ml	JUICE-	DEFAULTD	0.00	0.00	0.00	Z
	Banana-Juice-350ml-Cardboard box	MAIN	Banana	Cardboard box	350ml	JUICE-	DEFAULTD	0.00	0.00	0.00	Z
BANANA-5	Banana-Juice-500ml-Cardboard box	MAIN	Banana	Cardboard box	500ml	JUICE-	DEFAULTD	0.00	0.00	0.00	Z
	Strawberry-Juice-1I-Cardboard box	MAIN	Strawberry	Cardboard box	11	JUICE-	DEFAULTD	0.00	0.00	0.00	Z
	Strawberry-Juice-200ml-Cardboard box	MAIN	Strawberry	Cardboard box	200ml	JUICE-	DEFAULTD	0.00	0.00	0.00	Z
	Strawberry-Juice-350ml-Cardboard box	MAIN	Strawberry	Cardboard box	350ml	JUICE-	DEFAULTD	0.00	0.00	0.00	Z
	Strawberry-Juice-500ml-Cardboard box	MAIN	Strawberry	Cardboard box	500ml	JUICE-	DEFAULTD	0.00	0.00	0.00	Z
	Water-Juice-1I-Cardboard box	MAIN	Water	Cardboard box	11	JUICE-	DEFAULTD	0.00	0.00	0.00	Z
	Water-Juice-200ml-Cardboard box	MAIN	Water	Cardboard box	200ml	JUICE-	DEFAULTD	0.00	0.00	0.00	2
0 D D WATER -3	Water-Juice-350ml-Cardboard box	MAIN	Water	Cardboard box	350ml	JUICE-	DEFAULTD	0.00	0.00	0.00	2
0 D 🗆 WATER -5	Water-Juice-500ml-Cardboard box	MAIN	Water	Cardboard box	500ml	JUICE-	DEFAULTD	0.00	0.00	0.00	2

## Enhanced Update of Matrix Items

On the Template Items screen (IN203000), the **Apply to Matrix Items** button on the screen toolbar has been renamed to **Update Matrix Items**, and an Update Settings tab has been added.



On the Update Settings tab, the user can add fields and attributes that will be excluded from the update of matrix items by specifying the required values in the Fields Excluded from Update and Attributes Excluded from Update sections.

The Fields Excluded from Update section contains a table in which the user can list all fields that will be excluded from the update when the user clicks the **Update Matrix Items** button. The table consists of the following columns:

- **Notes**: A note in which the user can specify the reason for excluding the field from the update.
- **Table Name**: The name of a table that is available for the matrix items on the Template Items screen.
- Field Name: The database field of the table that can be updated.
- **Selected**: A check box that indicates whether the exclusion is active for the field.

The Attributes Excluded from Update section contains a table in which the user can list all attributes that will be excluded from the update when the user clicks the **Update Matrix Items** button. Only attributes with the Attribute category that are specified for the template item on the Attributes tab of the Item Classes screen (IN201000) can be excluded from the update. The table consists of the following columns:

- **Notes**: A note in which the user can specify the reason for excluding the attribute from the update.
- **Attribute**: The attribute available for this template item. Only attributes with the Attribute category can be selected.
- **Required**: A check box that indicates (if selected) that the attribute value is required for matrix items of the template item.
- **Category**: The attribute category. The category can only be Attribute.
- **Value**: The value of the attribute for the template item.
- **Selected**: A check box indicates whether the exclusion is active for the attribute.

On the table toolbar of the Matrix Items tab of the Template Items screen, an **Update Only Selected Items with Template Changes** check box has been added (see the following screenshot). If the user selects this check box, only the selected matrix items that is, the matrix items for which the unlabelled check box is selected in the table—are updated when the user clicks the **Update Matrix Items** button on the screen toolbar. If the user clears this check box, all matrix items in the list are updated when the user clicks the **Update Matrix Items** button.

Template Items       □ NOTES       ACTIVITIES       FILES       CUSTOMISATION       TOOLS -         JUICE - Juice       □       □       N →       □       □       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N →       N → <t< th=""></t<>														
*	Ten	nplate I	ID:	JUICE - Juice P	Stock Item									
1	Des	scriptio	n:	Juice										
GENERAL FULFILLMENT PRICEICOST SUPPLIERS GLACCOUNTS DESCRIPTION CONFIGURATION ITEM CREATION UPDATE SETTINGS MATRIX ITEMS ECOMMERCE														
Delate Only Selected Items with Template Changes														
Ö	Update Only Selected Items with Template Changes													
8 0			Inventory ID	Description	Default Warehouse	Ingredients	Package	Volume	Item Class	Tax Category	MSRP	Last Cost	Default Price	Stock Item
< 0	)		BANANA -1	Banana-Juice-1I-Cardboard box	MAIN	Banana	Cardboard box	11	JUICE-	DEFAULTD	0.00	0.00	0.00	$\checkmark$
0	)		BANANA -2	Banana-Juice-200ml-Cardboard box	MAIN	Banana	Cardboard box	200ml	JUICE-	DEFAULTD	0.00	0.00	0.00	$\checkmark$
6	)		BANANA -3	Banana-Juice-350ml-Cardboard box	MAIN	Banana	Cardboard box	350ml	JUICE-	DEFAULTD	0.00	0.00	0.00	$\checkmark$
0	)		BANANA -5	Banana-Juice-500ml-Cardboard box	MAIN	Banana	Cardboard box	500ml	JUICE-	DEFAULTD	0.00	0.00	0.00	$\checkmark$
0	)		STRAWBER-	1 Strawberry-Juice-1I-Cardboard box	MAIN	Strawberry	Cardboard box	11	JUICE-	DEFAULTD	0.00	0.00	0.00	1
6	•		STRAWBER-	2 Strawberry-Juice-200ml-Cardboard box	MAIN	Strawberry	Cardboard box	200ml	JUICE-	DEFAULTD	0.00	0.00	0.00	$\checkmark$
6	)		STRAWBER-	Strawberry-Juice-350ml-Cardboard box	MAIN	Strawberry	Cardboard box	350ml	JUICE-	DEFAULTD	0.00	0.00	0.00	$\checkmark$
6	•		STRAWBER-	5 Strawberry-Juice-500ml-Cardboard box	MAIN	Strawberry	Cardboard box	500ml	JUICE-	DEFAULTD	0.00	0.00	0.00	$\checkmark$
6	)		WATER -1	Water-Juice-1I-Cardboard box	MAIN	Water	Cardboard box	11	JUICE-	DEFAULTD	0.00	0.00	0.00	1
0	)		WATER -2	Water-Juice-200ml-Cardboard box	MAIN	Water	Cardboard box	200ml	JUICE-	DEFAULTD	0.00	0.00	0.00	1
6	)		WATER -3	Water-Juice-350ml-Cardboard box	MAIN	Water	Cardboard box	350ml	JUICE-	DEFAULTD	0.00	0.00	0.00	~
(	)		WATER -5	Water-Juice-500ml-Cardboard box	MAIN	Water	Cardboard box	500ml	JUICE-	DEFAULTD	0.00	0.00	0.00	~

With the new update options, the user updates matrix items by updating their template item as follows:

- 1. To exclude certain fields from the update of matrix items, the user opens the Update Settings tab of the Template Items screen and selects these fields in the Fields Excluded from Update table.
- 2. To exclude certain attributes of the Attribute type from the update of matrix items, on the same tab, the user selects these attributes in the Attributes Excluded from Update table.
- 3. To update a certain list of matrix items, the user opens the Matrix Items tab on the same screen, selects the **Update Only Selected Items with Template Changes** check box, and selects the matrix items that should be updated in the table below.
- 4. The user clicks the **Update Matrix Items** button on the screen toolbar.

#### Attribute Configuration on the Item Classes Screen

On the Attributes tab of the Item Classes screen (IN201000), **Default Column Attribute ID** and **Default Row Attribute ID** fields have been added. Also, Inventory ID Segment Settings and Description Segment Settings tables have been added to the same tab (see the following screenshot).

Item Classes		NOTES	ACTIVITIES	FILES C	USTOMISATION
₿ ∽ + ê û• K <	> > ACTIONS -				
Hem Class Tree         ◀                ▲ ACCSR-***** ACCESSORIES - UNCLA             ▲ DSKTP-***** DESKTOP             ← ② ELEC*-***** Electionics & Computers Mg             록 COUIP.***** EQUIPMENT             ← ③ EQUIP.****** EQUIPMENT             ← ③ EXPRASS	Class ID: AUCEJake      Description     Jake     GENERAL SETTINGS     REPLENISHMENT SETTINGS     RESTRICTION GROUPS     ATTRIBUTES     SERVICE MANAGEMENT				
JUICE-**** Juice	C + X H ⊠ R Active *Attribute Description Sort Required Contro Category				
The MNTOR-**** MONITOR	ID Ordei Type				
···· E NONST-KDFT* Non Stock Item Default Class	INGRED Ingredients     Combo Variant     PACKAGE Package     Combo Variant				
min NSITM-***** NON STOCK ITEMS     OTHER-***** Other Expenses	VOLUME Volume     Combo Variant				
SERVR-**** SERVER					
S STOCK-DFT** Stock Default Class S SUBCN-***** Subcontracted Labor ⊛ T SUPRT-***** SUPPORT	Default Colum				
	Inventory ID Segment Settings Description Segment Settings Ò + × ↑ ↓ ⊢ 図 O + × ↑ ↓ ⊢ ⊠				
		*Numbering I		er Use of Space as ct Separator	
	* •				
4			K K	$\rightarrow$ $\rightarrow$	

The functionality of the added fields and tables duplicates the functionality of the fields and tables of the same name on the Attribute Configuration tab of the Template Items screen (IN203000). The specified settings will be propagated to new template items of the item class for which the attribute configuration has been performed on the Item Classes screen.

#### Matrix Items with Only One Variant Attribute

On the Attribute Configuration tab of the Template Items screen (IN203000), users can now create matrix items with only one variant attribute. Previously, at least two variant attributes were required to fill in the **Default Column Attribute ID** and **Default Attribute Row ID** fields. Now one of these fields can be left blank.

## Changed Default View for Add Matrix Items Dialog Box

On the Sales Orders (SO301000) and Purchase Orders (PO301000) screens, when a user clicks the **Add Matrix Item** button on the table toolbar, the **Add Matrix Items** window is now opened in the matrix view by default instead of the table view. Also, an **Open Table View** button has been added to the bottom of the Add Matrix Items window in the matrix view (see the following screenshot).

Add Matrix Item:	Matrix View	1										$\times$
Template ID: Column Attribu Row Attribute ID: □ Display Availa Warehouse: Č ⊣	VOLUME - V bility Details	T - Ingredients	م م م	O     I→I       Image: Package       >	X			IK K	>	>		
<ul> <li>Attribute Value</li> <li>11</li> <li>200ml</li> <li>21</li> <li>350ml</li> <li>500ml</li> <li>Total Qty.</li> </ul>		Banana 0.00	Strawberry 0.00	Water 0.00	Total Qty. 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00							
							OPE	N TABLE VIEV			< CLOSE	>  NCEL

## Add Matrix Item Button on Sales Quotes and Opportunities Screens

Matrix items can now be added to documents on the following screens: Sales Quotes (CR304500) and Opportunities (CR304000). An **Add Matrix Item** button has been added to the Document Details tab of both screens.

Sales Quotes 000100 Q0000 ← 🖺 🗒	006 - Black, Mr. の + 前	I< < > >I A(	CTIONS -	SUBMIT	QUOTE MAR	RK AS	PRIMARY			
Quote Nbr.:	000100 P Q000006 P Draft	<ul> <li>Primary</li> <li>Business Account:</li> <li>Location:</li> </ul>				0	Amount: Discount:	□ Manu	995.00 0.00	
	8/06/2020 -	Contact: Currency:	Black, Mr.	10 -	,0 VIEW BASE	0	Tax Total: Total:	1	99.50	
	Black, Mr.									
DOCUMENT DET.	AILS ODETAILS	SHIPPING INFO ACTIVIT	IES TAX D	ETAILS	DISCOUNT DI	ETAIL	S			
O Inventory		Description		Free Item	Warehouse		Quantity	UOM	Unit Price	Ext. Price
> 0 D <u>ELECPU</u>	<u>1</u> 0	Intel CPU - 2.6GHz			MAIN		5.00	EACH	199.00	995.00

# Multi-Currency in Purchase Returns

In previous versions of Acumatica ERP, when a user created a purchase return from the original purchase receipt which had a non-base currency, the purchase return was created in the base currency and the Currency and Exchange Rate boxes were unavailable for editing—that is, the user could not change the currency and the exchange rate of the document. In Acumatica ERP 2021 R1, the purchase return created from a purchase receipt can inherit the currency of the original purchase receipt, and the ability to change the currency rate depends on the Cost of Inventory Return From drop-down list settings.

# Cost of Inventory Return From Drop-Down List

On the Purchase Receipts screen (PO302000), a **Cost of Inventory Return From** dropdown list has been added instead of the **Process Return with Original Cost** check box as shown on the following screenshot.

Purchase Receipts Return ← ♥ ♥ ■		+	Ū Ĉ	• I<	< >	> >I	RELE	ASE AC		IS • REPORTS	3 <b>-</b>
Туре:	Return	•	* Suppl	ier:				Q	Ø	Total Qty.:	0.00
Receipt Nbr.:	<new></new>	Q	* Locat	ion:				Q		Unbilled Quant	0.00
Status:	Balanced		Curre	ncy:	NZD	1.00	- \	/IEW BASE		Total Cost:	0.00
* Date:	31/05/202	1 -			Create E	Bill					
* Post Period:		Q	Cost	of Invent	Original C	ost from Re	eceipt	-			
			Supplier Ref.: Workgroup:		Original Cost from Receipt Cost by Issue Strategy Manual Cost Input						
			Owne	r:	-		_	Q			
DETAILS C	RDERS	PUT	AWAY H	IISTORY	BILLING	G OTH	ER				
ð + 0	, ×	LINE	DETAILS	ADD PR	ADD PF	LINE	VIEW P	⊃ <b> ↔ </b>	X		
🖹 🕕 🗅 *Branch	h	* Inver	ntory ID	Line Type	e	Subiten	n *	Warehouse		Location	Transaction Descr.

The drop-down list defines the way in which the cost of items is determined in a return document. The following options are available:

- Original Cost from Receipt: The items are returned at the cost at which they have been purchased. The currency rate is inherited from the original purchase receipt and is unavailable for editing. The system copies the values in the Unit Cost and Ext. Cost columns on the Details tab of the Purchase Receipts form from the original purchase receipt line. In the purchase return, the Unit Cost and Ext. Cost columns cannot be edited.
- **Cost by Issue Strategy**: The items are returned at the cost calculated according to the valuation method specified for the item in the **Valuation Method** field on the General Settings tab of the Stock Items screen (IN202500). The currency rate is set according to the purchase return date and the effective currency rate specified on the Currency Rates screen (CM301000). The currency rate can be overridden if the **Enable Rate Override** check box is selected on the Vendors screen (AP303000) and the **Allow Changing Currency Rate on Receipt** check box is selected on the Purchase Orders Preferences screen (PO101000).
- **Manual Cost Input**: The currency rate is set according to the purchase return date and the effective currency rate specified on the Currency Rates form. The currency rate can be overridden if the **Enable Rate Override** check box is selected on the Vendors form and the **Allow Changing Currency Rate on Receipt** check box is
selected on the Purchase Orders Preferences screen (PO101000). The system copies the values of the **Unit Cost** and **Ext. Cost** columns on the Details tab of the Purchase Receipts form from the original purchase receipt line. In the purchase return, the **Unit Cost** and **Ext. Cost** columns can be edited. In case the user changes the values of the **Unit Cost** or **Ext. Cost** columns, the system recalculates the value of the **Estimated IN Ext. Cost** column accordingly and copies this value to the inventory issue on the Issues screen (IN302000) when the user releases the purchase return.

On the Purchase Receipts form, in purchase returns that contain stock item lines without a link to the purchase receipt lines, only Cost by Issue Strategy option can be used in the **Cost of Inventory Return From** drop-down list.

On the Purchase Receipts form, the **Currency** field is available for editing until any line is added to the purchase receipt or return. The user can add purchase receipt lines to the purchase return document with the currency defined in the purchase return.

If the user creates a purchase return on the Purchase Receipts form, the currency rate is set according to the date of the created purchase return and the effective currency rate specified on the Currency Rates form:

- If the "Original Cost from Receipt" option is selected in the **Cost of Inventory Return From** dropdown, a user can add lines from different purchase receipts with defined currency and the same currency rate, effective dates, and currency rate types. The currency of the purchase return will be overridden by the currency rate in the selected purchase receipt.
- For other options, the user can select lines from different purchase receipts with specified currency. The currency rate of the purchase return cannot be overridden. The user cannot select the "Process Return with Original Cost" option if the purchase return contains lines in non-base currency from purchase receipts with different currency rates, effective dates, or rate types.

# New Workflow in Order Management Documents

The processing of purchase orders, purchase receipts, landed cost and inventory documents has been redesigned to use the new workflow engine.

The processes that are performed by using the Purchase Orders (PO301000), Purchase Receipts (PO302000), Landed Costs (PO303000), Requests (RQ301000), Requisitions (RQ302000), Receipts (IN301000), Issues (IN302000), Adjustments (IN303000), Transfers (IN304000), and Kit Assembly (IN307000) screens work as they did as in the previous versions. The UI on these screens has been enhanced to support functionality of the new workflow engine.

**Note:** Because the implementation of the new workflow engine entails changes to DACs and business logic, it may affect custom generic inquiries, customisation projects, import and export scenarios, and API integrations. For the complete list of changes, see the MYOB Advanced 2021.1.1 Technical Release Notes.

#### UI Enhancements

On the Purchase Orders (PO301000), Purchase Receipts (PO302000), Landed Costs (PO303000), Requests (RQ301000), and Requisitions (RQ302000) screens, the **Hold** check box has been removed and replaced with the **Remove Hold** and **Hold** actions, which can be selected from the screen toolbar or the Action menu.

On the Receipts (IN301000), Issues (IN302000), Adjustments (IN303000), Transfers (IN304000), and Kit Assembly screens, the **Hold** check box has been removed and replaced with the **Remove Hold** and **Hold** actions, which can be selected from the screen toolbar or the Action menu.

On these screens, the buttons representing the actions that are the most relevant to the current status of the document opened on the screen are displayed directly on the screen toolbar in addition to being included as menu commands in the Actions menu.

For example, in the following screenshot, a purchase order with the "On Hold" status on the Purchase Orders screen is shown. The **Remove Hold** button is displayed on the screen toolbar and the corresponding menu command is included in the Actions menu.

← 🖫 🗄	5	+ 🖻	¢ - K	< :	> >I REN	IOVE HOLD	ACTIONS - REPORTS -	_
Type:	Normal	•	Supplier:	V000000	013 - Blueline Adve	ertisement: 🔎 🍃	Hold	
Order Nbr.:	PO000206	,0,	Location:	MAIN - P	rimary Location	Q	Remove Hold	-
Status:	On Hold		Owner:	EP00000	044 - Andrews Mic	hael, Mr. 🔎	Email Purchase Order	
* Date:	25/06/2020	) -	Currency:	AUD	1.00 -	VIEW BASE	Do Not Email	
Promised On:	25/06/2020	) -	Supplier Ref.:				Enter PO Receipt	
Descriptions							Enter AP Bill	
Description:							Complete Order	
DETAILS	TAXES S	HIPPING	SUPPLIER	INFO DIS	COUNTS PC	HISTORY		MPLIANCE
0 + 0	/ ×	ADD ITEMS	ADD MAT	RIX ITEMS	ADD PROJECT	ITEM ADD I	Re-Open Order	INE VIEW SO DE
🕕 🗋 Branch	n Inv	entory ID	Subitem	Line Type	Warehouse	Line Description	Recalculate Prices Create Prepayment Request	ar Qty. Sales Orde Line Nb
0 D RBYT	EMAIN		0	Service			Do Not Print	1.00

In the following screenshot, a landed costs document with the "Balanced" status on the Purchase Orders screen is shown. The **Release** button is displayed on the screen toolbar and the corresponding menu command is included in the Actions menu.

← 뭐 ₿	∽ +	⊡ C, - K	< > > RELEASE	ACTIONS -			
				Release			
Reference Nbr.:	LC000022 🔎	Supplier:	V00000057 - AU Customs	Hold	ated Am	0.00	
Status:	Balanced	* Location:	MAIN - Primary Location	Remove Hold	ital:	0.00	
* Date:	14/05/2021 -	Currency:	AUD 1.00 - VIEV	B Enter AP Bill	ole Total:	0.00	
* Post Period:	11-2021 P		Create Bill	GST Exe	mpt Total:	0.00	
		Supplier Ref.:		Tax Tota		0.00	
				Docume	nt Total:	0.00	
	DETAILS	TAXES FINANCI	AL				
LANDED COSTS	-						
	×  ⊶	X					
LANDED COSTS ℃ + ℓ 0 □ *Branch		X I Cost Code Descri	ation	Allocation Method	Amount	t Tax Category	Invento

The following tables (a table is shown for each screen) show the actions that are displayed as buttons on the toolbar of the screen for each document type and status.

**Note:** Information in the following tables is relevant for the out-of-the-box installation of the system.

# Distribution

Document Type	Status	Action
Normal	On Hold	Remove Hold
	Open	<ul><li>Enter PO Receipt</li><li>Enter AP Bill</li></ul>
	Completed	Enter AP Bill
Drop Ship	On Hold	Remove Hold
	Open	<ul><li>Enter PO Receipt</li><li>Enter AP Bill</li></ul>
	Completed	Enter AP Bill
Blanket	On Hold	Remove Hold
	Open	Email Purchase Order
Standard	On Hold	Remove Hold
	Open	Email Purchase Order
All types	Pending Approval	<ul><li>Hold</li><li>Approve</li><li>Reject</li></ul>
All types	Rejected	Hold
All types	Pending Printing	<ul><li> Print Order</li><li> Do Not Print</li></ul>
All types	Pending Email	<ul><li>Email Order</li><li>Do Not Email</li></ul>

#### Document types, Statuses and the Corresponding Actions on the Purchase Orders screen

#### Document Statuses and the Corresponding Actions on the Purchase Receipts screen

Document Type	Status	Action
Receipt	On Hold	Remove Hold
	Balanced	Release
	Released	Enter AP Bill
Return	On Hold	Remove Hold
	Balanced	Release
	Released	Enter AP Bill
Transfer	On Hold	Remove Hold
	Balanced	Release

# Distribution

Released Create LC Document

#### Document Statuses and the Corresponding Actions on the Landed Costs screen

Status	Action
On Hold	Remove Hold
Balanced	Release
Released	Enter AP Bill

#### Document Statuses and the Corresponding Actions on the Requests screen

Status	Action
On Hold	Remove Hold
Pending Approval	<ul><li>Approve</li><li>Reject</li><li>Hold</li></ul>
Rejected	Hold

#### Document Statuses and the Corresponding Actions on the Requisitions screen

Status	Action
On Hold	Remove Hold
Pending Approval	<ul><li>Approve</li><li>Reject</li><li>Hold</li></ul>
Rejected	Hold
Bidding	<ul><li>View Bidding</li><li>Send Request for Proposal</li></ul>
Pending Quotation	Create Quote
Open	Create Orders

# Document Statuses and the Corresponding Actions on the Receipts, Issues, Adjustments, and Transfers screens

Status	Action
On Hold	Release from Hold
Balanced	Release

#### Document Statuses and the Corresponding Actions on the Kit Assembly screen

Status	Action
On Hold	Release from Hold
Balanced	Release
Released	Review Batch

#### Automation Changes

If the organisation uses automation steps, import scenarios, or export scenarios for the Purchase Orders (PO301000), Purchase Receipts (PO302000), Landed Costs (PO303000), Requests (RQ301000), Requisitions (RQ302000), Receipts (IN301000), Issues (IN302000), Adjustments (IN303000), Transfers (IN304000), or Kit Assembly (IN307000) screens, users that work on customisations will need to redesign the automation of the processes related to the applicable screens by using the new workflow engine.

### Purchase Receipts for Non-Stock Items Without the Inventory Feature

This provides users with the ability to process non-stock items by using purchase receipts and purchase returns when the *Inventory* feature is disabled on the Enable/Disable Features screen (CS100000).

#### The Purchase Receipts Without Inventory Feature

On the Enable/Disable Features screen (CS100000), a **Purchase Receipts Without Inventory** check box has been added to the Inventory and Order Management group of features.

The *Purchase Receipts Without Inventory* and *Inventory* features are mutually exclusive. That is, a user cannot enable one of these features if the other is enabled; if you attempt to select the check box on the Enable/Disable Features screen corresponding to one of these features and the check box corresponding to the other feature is selected, the system displays an error indicating that you must disable the other feature first.

**Note:** If a company has the Inventory feature enabled and has any unprocessed documents with stock items, we strongly recommend that these documents be processed before the company disables the "Inventory" feature and enables the "Purchase Receipts Without Inventory" feature.

When the *Purchase Receipts Without Inventory* feature is enabled and the *Inventory* feature is disabled on the Enable/Disable Features screen, the following screens can be used:

- Purchase Receipts (PO302000)
- Release Purchase Receipts (PO501000)
- Purchase Receipt (PO646000)
- Purchase Receipt Summary (PO620500)
- Purchase Receipt Unbilled Summary (PO631020)
- Purchase Order Receipt and Billing History (PO643000)
- Purchase Receipt Details by Supplier (PO621000)

# Distribution

When the "Purchase Receipts Without Inventory" feature is enabled, on the Purchase Orders screen (PO301000), the **Enter PO Receipt** menu command becomes available in the Actions menu if the selected purchase order has non-stock items (see the following screenshot).

	v + 🖻	¢- K	< :	> >I EI	NTER PO RECEIF	PT ACTIONS - REPORTS -	
Type:	Normal -	Supplier:	V000000	013 - Blueline Ad	vertisements		
Order Nbr.:	P0000200 P	Location:	MAIN - P	rimary Location		Remove Hold	
Status:	Open	Owner:	EP00000	044 - Andrews N	lichael, Mr.	Email Purchase Order	
Date:	25/06/2020	Currency:	AUD	1.00 -	VIEW BASE	Do Not Email	
Promised On:	25/06/2020	Supplier Ref.:				Enter PO Receipt	
Descriptions						Enter AP Bill	
Description:						Complete Order	
	AXES SHIPPING	SUPPLIER I	IFO DIS	COUNTS F	O HISTORY	PREP Cancel Order	ANCE
DETAILS 1						Re-Open Order	-
			IV ITEMS		TITEM ADD F	DI ANI	VIEW SO D
DETAILS T	ADD ITEN	IS ADD MATE	RIX ITEMS	ADD PROJEC	TITEM ADD E	BLANI Recalculate Prices	VIEW SO D

On the Non-Stock Items screen (IN202000), a **Process Item via Receipt** check box appears on the General Settings tab (see the following screenshot), and the **Require Shipment** and **Require Receipt** check boxes have been removed from the same tab. When the **Process Item via Receipt** check box is selected for a non-stock item, the purchases of this non-stock item must be processed by using a purchase receipt.

Non-Stock Items CONSULTJR - Cons	sulting - Junior Consultant					
	+ 0 0 + 1 < >	>I ACTIONS - IN	NQUIRIES -			
* Inventory ID:	CONSULTJR - Consulting - Junior Cor 🔎	Product Workgroup:	٩			
Item Status:	Active -	Product Manager:	م			
Description:	Consulting - Junior Consultant					
GENERAL       PRICE/COST       SUPPLIERS       CROSS-REFERENCE       RELATED ITEMS       PACKAGING       DEFERRAL       GL ACCOUNTS         Template ID:       UNIT OF MEASURE						
ITEM DEFAULTS		* Base Unit:	HOUR 🔎 🧷 🗹 Divisible Unit			
Item Class:	NONST-KDFT - Non Stock Item Defau 🔎 🧷	* Sales Unit:	HOUR 🔎 🖉 Divisible Unit			
Туре:	Labour -	* Purchase Unit:	HOUR 🔎 🖉 Divisible Unit			
* Tax Category:	DEFAULTD - Default Domestic - Attrac 🔎 🧷	с + ×				
Close PO Line:	Process Item via Receipt By Amount	* From Multiply/I Unit	/Divid Conversion To Unit Factor			
Dflt Mark For:	No Default 👻					

The non-stock items with the **Process Item via Receipt** check box selected on the Non-Stock Items screen can be added to a purchase receipt directly on the Purchase Receipts screen (PO302000) or if the user clicks **Action > Enter PO Receipt** on the Purchase Orders screen (PO301000).

**Note:** If any stock items were added to the system before the "Purchase Receipts Without Inventory" feature was enabled, these stock items can be added to purchase orders on the Purchase Orders screen or purchase receipts on the Purchase Receipts screen along with non-stock items. We strongly recommend that users do not add stock items to purchase orders and purchase receipts when the "Purchase Receipts Without Inventory" feature is enabled.

#### Posting Rules for Non-Stock Items with the Process Item via Receipt Check Box Selected

When a purchase receipt has non-stock items with the **Process Item via Receipt** check box selected on the Non-Stock Items screen (IN202000) and then the purchase receipt is released, the system does not post any GL transactions. The transactions are posted on release of the corresponding AP bill. The GL accounts for transactions are derived from the settings of the non-stock items.

If the **Accrue Cost** check box is selected on the Price/Cost Information tab of the Non-Stock Items screen for a non-stock item that also has the **Process Item via Receipt** check box selected on the General Settings tab, the posting rules will be the same as those for non-stock items with the **Accrue Cost** check box selected when the "Inventory" feature is enabled.

#### Processing of Purchase Returns for Non-Stock Items with the Process Item via Receipt Check Box Selected

When the Purchase Receipts Without Inventory feature is enabled, users can process purchase returns on the Purchase Receipts screen (PO302000) that include non-stock items with the Process Item via Receipt check box selected on the Non-Stock Items screen (IN202000). If a purchase return is processed for lines of a purchase receipt, the value of the **Unit Cost** column for the purchase return line is derived from the **Unit Cost** value of the original purchase receipt line.

If a non-stock item with the **Process Item via Receipt** check box selected on the Non-Stock Items screen is added directly to the purchase return on the Purchase Receipts screen, the value of the **Unit Cost** column in the purchase return line will be derived from the value of the **Last Supplier Price** column on the Supplier Details tab of the Non-Stock Items screen. If there is no value in the **Last Supplier Price** column, the system instead uses the value of the **Current Cost** field on the Price/Cost Information tab (the Standard Cost section).

#### Inheritance of Non-Stock Item Settings

For a non-stock item that was created when the *Inventory* feature was enabled on the Enable/Disable Features screen (CS100000), the state of the **Require Receipt** check box on the Non-Stock Items screen (IN202000) is inherited by the **Process Item via Receipt** check box on the Non-Stock Items screen if the "Purchase Receipts Without Inventory" feature is instead enabled.

For a non-stock item created when the "Purchase Receipts Without Inventory" feature is enabled, the **Process Item via Receipt** check box is cleared by default. If the "Inventory" feature is then enabled instead, the **Require Receipt** check box does not inherit the value of the **Process Item via Receipt** check box.

If the "Purchase Receipts Without Inventory" feature is enabled, if any documents with non-stock items for which the **Process Item via Receipt** check box is selected on the Non-Stock Items screen are created, if you instead enable the Inventory feature, these documents will be processed as documents with non-stock items of the Service type.

#### Purchase Receipt Unbilled Summary Report

A new Purchase Receipt Unbilled Summary report (PO631020) has been added. On this report screen, a user can generate a report displaying items that have already been received but not billed yet or billed partially. The user specifies the date range and any of the following parameters: receipt number, supplier ID, and inventory ID.

The Purchase Receipt Unbilled Summary report is available only if the *Purchase Receipts Without Inventory* feature is enabled on the Enable/Disable Features screen (CS100000).

# UI Changes in Inventory and Order Management Screens

Multiple UI changes and enhancements have been introduced to provide a better experience for users.

#### Changes on the Sales Orders Screen

Various changes have been made to the Sales Orders screen (SO301000). The tabs of this screen have been renamed as follows.

Old Name	New Name
Document Details	Details
Tax Details	Taxes
Financial Settings	Financial
Shipping Settings	Shipping
Discount Details	Discounts

A **Contact** field has been added to the Summary area of the Sales Orders screen (see the following screenshot).

* Order Type:	SO ,0	* Customer:	CUST000005 - AMRO Bank N.V. 🖉 🖉	Ordered Qty.:	1.00	
Order Nbr.:	001702 <sub>P</sub>	* Location:	MAIN - Primary Location O	Discount Total:	0.00	
Status:	Open	Contact:	Bradshaw Wayne, Mr. 🔎 🧷	GST Exempt T	0.00	
* Date:	13/05/2021 -	Currency:	AUD 0 1.00 VIEW BASE	GST Taxable T	0.00	
* Requested On:	13/05/2021 -	* Project:	X - Non-Project Code.	Tax Total:	0.00	
Customer Ord				Order Total:	0.00	
External Refer		Description:				

In the **Contact** field, the user can select or add a contact person for the current customer. If a contact is specified, when the user selects **Actions > Email Sales Order/Quote** on the Sales Orders screen, the system automatically inserts the selected contact as the recipient of the email.

If the user creates a sales order on the Sales Orders screen, the **Contact** field is empty by default. If the user generates a sales order from the Opportunities (CR304000) or Sales Quotes (CR304500) screens by selecting the **Create Sales Order** action on the screen

toolbar of one of these screens, the system copies the value of the **Contact** field (if any value is specified) to the sales order.

The following changes have been implemented related to the buttons on the table toolbar of the Details tab of the Sales Orders screen:

- The Add Stock Items button has been renamed to Add Items.
- The Allocations button has been renamed to Line Details.
- The order of the buttons on the table toolbar has been changed to the following: Add Items, Add Matrix Items, Add Invoice, Line Details, PO Link, and Item Availability.
- The Inventory Summary button has been removed.
- When a user clicks a sales order line on the tab and then clicks the **Item Availability** button, the system now opens the Inventory Allocation Details screen (IN402000) in a new browser tab. In the **Inventory ID** and **Warehouse** fields of this screen, the system inserts the values from the **Inventory ID** and **Warehouse** columns, respectively of the Details tab of the selected sales order line of the Sales Orders screen.

A new Addresses tab (see the following screenshot) has also been added to the Sales Orders screen. The tab contains the Ship-To Contact and Ship-To Address sections (which were formerly on the Shipping tab), as well as the Bill-To Contact and Bill-To Address sections (which were previously on the Financial tab).

SO 001702 -	AMRO E	ank N	V.												
	2	+ 1	Ū ().	ĸ	<	>	>I c	REATE S	HIPMEN	١T	HOLD	ACTIONS	• II	NQUIRIES -	REPORTS -
• Order Type:	SO	Q	* Custome	er:	CUST0	00005 - A	AMRO Ba	ank N.V.	, Q	1	Ordered Q	ty.:	1.0	00	
Order Nbr.:	001702	Q	* Location		MAIN -	Primary	Location		Q		Discount T	otal:	0.0	00	
Status:	Open		Contact:		Bradsh	aw Wayn	ie, Mr.		P a	1	GST Exem	pt T	0.0	00	
Date:	13/05/202	1 -	Currenc	<i>[</i> :	AUD ,	Q 1.00		VIEW	BASE		GST Taxab	ole T	0.0	00	
Requested On:	13/05/202	1 -	* Project:		X - Non	-Project	Code.		2	1	Tax Total:		0.0	00	
Customer Ord											Order Tota	l:	0.0	00	
External Refer			Descript	ion:											
	АСТ			INANCI		HIPPING		ODRESSE	r			SHIPMENTS			TOTALS
DETAILS T.	АСТ								r						TOTALS
	аст		e Contact				BILL-TO		r	0 0		act			TOTALS
SHIP-TO CONTA	аст	] Overrid	e Contact				BILL-TO	CONTAC	r	0 0	Verride Cont	act			TOTALS
SHIP-TO CONTA Company Nam	аст	] Overrid	e Contact				BILL-TO Compa	CONTAC iny Name: on:	r	0 0	Verride Cont	act			TOTALS
SHIP-TO CONTA Company Nam Attention:	аст	] Overrid	e Contact				BILL-TO Compa Attentio	CONTAC iny Name: on:	r	0 0	Verride Cont	act			TOTALS
SHIP-TO CONTA Company Nam Attention: Phone 1:	ACT	] Overrid	e Contact			2	BILL-TO Compa Attentio Phone Email:	CONTAC iny Name: on:	r	0 0	Verride Cont	act			TOTALS
SHIP-TO CONTA Company Nam Attention: Phone 1: Email:	ACT [ e: 	] Overrid	e Contact			2	BILL-TO Compa Attentio Phone Email:	CONTAC any Name: on: 1:	۲ 	AM	Verride Cont	act V.			TOTALS
SHIP-TO CONTA Company Nam Attention: Phone 1: Email:	ACT [ e: = = = = = = = = = = = = =	] Overrid AMRO B	e Contact ank N.V.		Ē	2	BILL-TO Compa Attentio Phone Email: BILL-TO	CONTAC any Name: on: 1:	۲ 	AM	Verride Cont IRO Bank N.	act V.			TOTALS
SHIP-TO CONTA Company Nam Attention: Phone 1: Email: SHIP-TO ADDRE	ACT [ e: ESS :	] Overrid AMRO B	e Contact ank N.V.		Ē	2	BILL-TO Compa Attentic Phone Email: BILL-TO Addres	CONTAC <sup>®</sup> iny Name: on: 1: ADDRES	۲ 	AM	Verride Cont IRO Bank N.	act V.			TOTALS
SHIP-TO CONTA Company Nam Attention: Phone 1: Email: SHIP-TO ADDRE Address Line 1	ACT C 	] Overrid AMRO B	e Contact ank N.V. e Address 4 200 GEOR(		Ē	2	BILL-TO Compa Attentic Phone Email: BILL-TO Addres	CONTAC <sup>®</sup> iny Name: on: 1: ADDRES: is Line 1:	۲ 	□ 0 AM	Verride Cont IRO Bank N.	act V.			TOTALS
SHIP-TO CONTA Company Nam Attention: Phone 1: Email: SHIP-TO ADDRE Address Line 1 Address Line 2	ACT [ e: ESS :	] Overrid AMRO B ] Overrid LEVEL 2	e Contact ank N.V. e Address 4 200 GEOR(		Ē	2	BILL-TO Compa Attentic Phone Email: BILL-TO Addres Addres	CONTAC iny Name: on: 1: ADDRES: is Line 1: is Line 2:	۲ 	AM	IRO Bank N. IRO Bank N. Iverride Addr VEL 24 200 (	act V. ess GEORGE STI			TOTALS
SHIP-TO CONTA Company Nam Attention: Phone 1: Email: SHIP-TO ADDRE Address Line 1 Address Line 2 City:	ACT e: ESS : :	Overrid AMRO B Overrid LEVEL 2 SYDNEY AU - AUS	e Contact ank N.V. e Address 4 200 GEOR(	GE STR	Ē	2	BILL-TO Compa Attentio Phone Email: BILL-TO Addres Addres City:	CONTAC iny Name: on: 1: ADDRES: is Line 1: is Line 2:	۲ 	□ 0 AM □ 0 LE' SY	Verride Cont IRO Bank N. Verride Addr VEL 24 200 ( DNEY	act V. ess GEORGE STI			TOTALS

The Financial tab (see the following screenshot) of the Sales Orders screen has been changed as follows:

- The arrangement of sections has been changed.
- A new Ownership section has been added, which contains the Workgroup and Owner fields (previously in the Financial Information section).

# Distribution

• A new Other Information section has been added to the Financial tab (shown in the following screenshot). It contains the **Orig. Order Type** and **Orig. Order Nbr.** fields and the **Emailed** check box, which were previously in the Financial Information section.

Sales Orders SO 001702 -	AMRO Ban	< N V								
< ₽ ₿		D D - K	<	> >	CREATE SHI	PMENT	HOLD	ACTIONS -	INQUIRIES -	REPORTS -
* Order Type:	S0 ,	* Customer:	CUST00	0005 - AMR	O Bank N.V.	0	Ordered C	tty.:	1.00	
Order Nbr.:	001702	> * Location:	MAIN - P	rimary Loca	tion	Q	Discount 1	otal:	0.00	
Status:	Open	Contact:	Bradshav	w Wayne, M	r.	0	GST Exer	npt T	0.00	
* Date:	13/05/2021 -	Currency:	AUD 🔎	1.00	✓ VIEW BA	SE	GST Taxa	ble T	0.00	
* Requested On:	13/05/2021 -	* Project:	X - Non-I	Project Cod	э.	0	Tax Total:		0.00	
Customer Ord							Order Tota	d:	0.00	
External Refer		Description:								
* Branch: Customer Tax 2	Ov	TEMAIN - Rapid Byte H erride Tax Zone /IESTIC - Domestic	ead Quari 🔎	Pr	epayment Percen epayment Amoun	it:	Override Prep 10.00 0.00	_		
Tax Calculation	Mode: Tax	Settings	•			~	Prepayment I	Requirements Sa	atisfied	
	🗌 Bill	Separately			yment Method:		ASH - Cash F	·	Q	
Invoice Nbr.: Invoice Date:					sh Account:	10	00016 - AU W	BC Bank Corp /	Account $P$	
* Terms:	301	HMONTH - 30th of Monti	h p	W	orkgroup:				Q	
Due Date:	3011	Information of Monta			vner:	Δ	ndrows Micha	ol Mr	0	
Cash Discount	Date:			OTH	IER INFORMATIO	DN NC				
Post Period:					ig. Order Type: ig. Order Nbr.:					
				U	ig. order NDL.	E	Emailed			

Changes have also been made to the Shipping tab (see the following screenshot) of the Sales Orders screen, including the addition of Delivery Settings and Order Shipping Settings sections. These two new sections hold the UI elements of the now-removed Shipping Information section.

Sales Orders SO 001702 -	AMRO Ba	ank N.V.								🗋 NOTE
← □	\$Q .	+ 🖻	ĵ∙ k	< >	>I CR	EATE SHIPME	INT	HOLD ACTIONS	- INQUIR	IES • REPORTS •
* Order Type:	SO	۶ × Cu	istomer:	CUST00000	- AMRO Bar	k N.V. 🔎	Ø	Ordered Qty.:	1.00	
Order Nbr.:	001702	ب ۸ × Lo	cation:	MAIN - Prima	ry Location	Q		Discount Total:	0.00	
Status:	Open	Co	intact:	Bradshaw W	ayne, Mr.	Q,	Ø	GST Exempt T	0.00	
* Date:	13/05/2021	- Cu	irrency:	AUD ,P 1.	• 00	VIEW BASE		GST Taxable T	0.00	
* Requested On:	13/05/2021	• * Pr	oject:	X - Non-Proje	ect Code.	Q,	Ø	Tax Total:	0.00	
Customer Ord								Order Total:	0.00	
External Refer		De	scription:							
DETAILS T/ DELIVERY SETT Ship Via:	INGS	ommissions Q	FINANCI		ORDER S	HIPPING SETTI	INGS	OUNTS SHIPMENTS	PAYMEN	ITS TOTALS
	<b>V</b>	Will Call						Ship Separately		
FOB Point:				Q	Shipping			ancel Remainder	•	
Priority:		0			Cancel E	·		/05/2021 - Cancele		
Shipping Terms				Q	Preferre	d Warehouse ID			Q	
Shipping Zone:				Q						
		Residential De	· · · ·							
	_	Saturday Deliv	ery							
		Insurance								
		Use Customer'	s Account							

Finally, on the Totals tab of the Sales Orders screen, the column widths have been adjusted to match the column widths on the Financial tab.

#### Changes on the Invoices Screen

The tabs on the Invoices screen (SO303000) have been renamed as follows.

Old Name	New Name
Document Details	Details
Tax Details	Taxes
Freight Details	Freight
Address Details	Addresses

The Assigned To section on the Financial tab has been renamed to Ownership.

#### Changes on the Purchase Orders Screen

The tabs on the Purchase Orders screen (PO301000) have been renamed as follows.

Old Name	New Name
Document Details	Details
Tax Details	Taxes
Shipping Instructions	Shipping
Approval Details	Approvals
Discount Details	Discounts
Other Information	Other

The following changes have been implemented on the Details tab of the Purchase Orders screen, as shown in the following screenshot:

- The Add Item button has been renamed to Add Items.
- The Add Matrix Item button has been renamed to Add Matrix Items.
- The order of the buttons on the table toolbar is now the following: Add Items, Add Matrix Items, Add Project Item, Add Blanket PO, Add Blanket PO Line, and View SO Demand

Purchase Orders Normal PO00	0071 - ABC Stud	ios Inc.							🗅 NOTES	ACTIVITIES	FILES
← 🖺 🗄		¢∙ K	< >	×	ENTER PO REC	EIPT ACTIONS -	REPORTS -				
Type:	Normal -	Supplier:	V000000	01 - ABC Stu	idios Inc.	Line Total:	40,000.00				
Order Nbr.:	P0000071 ,0	Location:	MAIN - Pri	mary Locatio	n	Discount Total:	0.00				
Status:	Open	Owner:	EP000000	44 - Andrews	s Michael, Mr.	GST Exempt T	0.00				
Date:	1/06/2020	Currency:	AUD	1.00	* VIEW BASE	GST Taxable T	40,000.00				
Promised On:	1/06/2020	Supplier Ref.:				Tax Total:	4,000.00				
Description:						Order Total:	44,000.00				
DETAILS T	AXES SHIPPING	SUPPLIER INF	O DIS	COUNTS	PO HISTORY	PREPAYMENTS		NCE			
U + 0	ADD ITEM	S ADD MATRI	X ITEMS	ADD PROJ	IECT ITEM AD		DTHER COMPLIA	VIEW SO DEMAND	0  ⊷	<u>x</u> t	
	ADD ITEM:		X ITEMS ne Type	ADD PROJ Warehouse	ECT ITEM AD	D BLANKET PO ADD	) BLANKET PO LINE	VIEW SO DEMAND	D  ⊷  Unit Cost	SO Linked	Ext. Co:
	Inventory ID	Subitem Li			Line	D BLANKET PO ADD Sales Order NE	) BLANKET PO LINE	VIEW SO DEMAND		\$O	Ext. Cos 25,000.00
B D Branch	Inventory ID EMAIN ITM0000001	Subitem Li	ne Type	Warehouse	Line Descriptio	D BLANKET PO ADD	BLANKET PO LINE pr. Order Qty.	VIEW SO DEMAND	Unit Cost	SO Linked	

## Other Changes in the Inventory and Order Management Screens

Tabs have been renamed on other inventory and order management screens, as detailed in the following table.

Old Name	New Name
Shipments (SO302000)	
Document Details	Details
Shipping Settings	Shipping
Picking Worksheets (SO302500)	
Document Details	Details
Purchase Receipts (PO302000)	
Document Details	Details
Purchase Orders	Orders
Put Away History	Put Away
PR History	History
Billing History	Billing
Other Information	Other
Landed Costs (PO303000)	
Document Details	Details
Tax Details	Taxes
Financial Details	Financial
Requests (RQ301000) and Requisitions (RQ302000)	
Document Details	Details
Shipping Instructions	Shipping
Approval Details	Approvals
Budget Details	Budget
Other Information	Other
Receipts (IN301000), Issues (IN302000) and Adjustments	; (IN303000)
Transaction Details	Details
Financial Details	Financial
Manufacturing Details	Manufacturing
Transfers (IN304000)	

# Distribution

	Details Financial
nancial Details	Financial
Assembly (IN307000)	
Allocations	Kit Line Details
nancial Details	Financial
ock Items (IN202500) and Non-Stock Items (IN202000)	
eneral Settings	General
ice/Cost Info	Price/Cost
arehouse Details	Warehouses
pplier Details	Suppliers
plenishment Info	Replenishment
eferral Settings	Deferral
m Warehouse Details (IN204500)	
eneral Settings	General
plenishment Info	Replenishment
ice/Cost Information	Price/Cost
arehouses (IN204000)	
cation Table I	Locations
Idress Information	Address
arehouse Buildings (IN204010)	
Idress Information	Address
mplate Items (IN203000)	
eneral Settings	General
ice/Cost Info	Price/Cost
pplier Details	Suppliers
tribute Configuration (	Configuration
eate Matrix Items	Item Creation

Also, on the following screens, the **Allocation** button on the table toolbar of the Details tab and the Allocations window has been renamed to **Line Details**:

- Sales Orders (SO301000)
- Shipments (SO302000)
- Picking Worksheets (SO302500)
- Purchase Receipts (PO302000)
- Receipts (IN301000)
- Receive and Put Away (PO302020)
- Issues (IN302000)
- Transfers (IN304000)
- Kit Assembly (IN307000)

The Release from Hold, Put on Hold, Put on Credit Hold, and Remove from Credit Hold actions (and buttons, when applicable) have been renamed to Remove Hold, Hold, Credit Hold, and Remove Credit Hold, respectively, on the following screens:

- Purchase Orders (PO301000)
- Purchase Receipts (PO302000)
- Landed Costs (PO303000)
- Requests (RQ301000)
- Requisitions (RQ302000)
- Sales Orders (SO301000)
- Shipments (SO302000)
- Invoices (SO303000)

# Platform

# SMS Messaging for Business Events

This release adds the ability to automatically send SMS messages to mobile phones when business events are triggered.

To use these features, the *MYOB SMS* feature must be enabled under Monitoring and Automation on the Enable/Disable Features screen (CS100000).

#### Licensing SMS Messaging

To send SMS messages from MYOB Advanced, your organisation must purchase *licensing bundles* that determine your SMS message allowance—each bundle allows the sending of 500 SMS messages per month. Two types of bundles are available:

• **Subscribed bundles** are paid for in advance. They are available to <u>all tenants</u>. Once you have decided on the number of subscribed bundles you want to be billed for, this number cannot be changed.

**Flexible bundles** are paid for at the end of each month, depending on how many you use. Flexible bundles are <u>specific to each tenant</u>, and are only used once the subscribed bundles have been used up. You can change the number of flexible bundles available to you at any time during the month (see "SMS Messaging Settings" on page 119) and you will only be billed for the bundles you actually use.

The intention of this licensing arrangement is that your organisation should purchase enough subscribed bundles to cover the normal amount of SMS messages you expect to send in a month. If you are running low on messages in a month, you can purchase flexible bundles as necessary to be able to continue sending SMS messages that month. System alerts will warn you when the SMS allowance is close to being used up and when it has been reached—see "SMS Allowance Alerts" on page 121.

(Because you only pay for the flexible bundles that you use, it is possible to set the number of flexible bundles to a very high number to be sure that you will never run out of messaging; however, if a misconfiguration or other unexpected event results in a large number of messages being sent in a short time, you would have to pay for them all. Keeping the number of flexible bundles to a minimum guards against this.)

# **Note:** When you run out of messages, no more will be sent. If the allowance was reached part way through sending a batch of SMS messages, the remaining messages will not be sent, even if the allowance is increased after the fact by adding flexible bundles.

#### Examples

An organisation is configured with:

- two subscribed bundles (1,000 messages)
- no flexible bundles

In one month, the site sends 400 SMS messages. The organisation is billed for <u>two</u> subscribed bundles.

An organisation is configured with:

- two subscribed bundles (1,000 messages)
- three flexible bundles (an extra 1,500 messages)

In one month, the site sends 1,100 SMS messages. The organisation is billed for <u>one</u> flexible bundle in addition to the <u>two</u> subscribed bundles. The remaining two flexible bundles were not used this month, so the organisation is not billed for them.

#### SMS Messaging Settings

The SMS messaging functionality is set up on the new MYOB SMS Preferences screen (MYSM1000). This screen displays your messaging allowances and your current usage.

#### MYOB SMS Preferences

n N	SEND TEST MES	SAGE						
MESSAGE	SETTINGS							
* Sender ID	* Sender ID:							
SMS BUND	LE DETAILS	-						
Subscribe	d bundles:	2						
Flexible bu	undles:	0						
Total SMS	allowance:	1000						
Number of	f messages sent:	0						
Total mess	sages remaining:	1000						
Renewal o	date:	30/05/2021						

#### Note: A user account with the "Administrator" role is required to access this screen.

The **Sender ID** field is only used in Australian companies. It lets you enter text that will be displayed as the sender of SMS messages on recipients' devices. (In New Zealand, the sender ID is always a four-digit number defined by mobile service providers.)

Field Description Subscribed bundles A read-only field displaying the number of pre-paid messaging bundles available to all tenants, based on your licence. Flexible bundles This field allows you to specify the number of flexible bundles available to this tenant only. You can increase or decrease the number of flexible bundles available each month as necessary. You are only billed for the flexible bundles you use. A read-only field showing the total number of messages that can be sent this **Total SMS allowance** month. This is the total of subscribed bundles and flexible bundles. (As flexible bundles are tenant-specific, this total can differ from tenant to tenant.) Number of messages sent A read-only field showing how many messages have been sent this month from this tenant.

The fields in the SMS Bundle Details section show your SMS message allowances and current usage:

Total messages remaining	A read-only field showing how many messages can be sent from this tenant before your bundles are used up.
	<b>Note:</b> Because this total includes the subscribed bundles, which are available to all tenants, this value can go down even if no messages have been sent from this tenant.
Renewal date	The date when your organisation's messaging allowance next renews – this is based on the date when you first purchased a licence for SMS messaging. At this date, your bundle allowances are refreshed and the <b>Number of</b> <b>messages sent</b> value is reset to zero.

Clicking **Send Test Message** lets you test the SMS messaging configuration. When you click this button, a small window opens where you can enter the mobile number to send the message to and some message text. Click **OK** to send the message.

MYOB SMS Preferences		
B 🕫 send test messag	GE	
MESSAGE SETTINGS		_
* Sender ID:		
SMS BUNDLE DETAILS		_
Subscribed bundles:	Send Test Message	×
Flexible bundles:		
Total SMS allowance:	* To:	
Number of messages sent:	* Body:	
Total messages remaining:		
Renewal date:	30/0: OK	CANCEL
		_

Note: Test messages count against your SMS allowance for the month.

#### Sending SMS Messages from a Business Event

Once SMS messaging has been enabled and set up, you can use them with business events. When adding a subscriber to a business event on the Subscribers tab of the Business Events screen (SM302050), select **Create Subscriber > Mobile SMS Notification**.

Business Events CashAccountRemitta	anceSettings					
	+ 🗊 🗘 • K	$\langle \rangle \rangle$	VIEW SCREEN VIEW	HISTORY		
* Event ID:	CashAccountRemittanceSetti 🔎	Active	* Scree	n Name:		Q
* Type:	Trigger by Record Change 🔹		Scree	in ID:	CA202000	
Raise Event: For Each Record -						
Description:	CashAccountRemittanceSettings					
TRIGGER CONDITIONS	SUBSCRIBERS					
Ċ + × ↑	↓ CREATE SUBSCRIBER	I↔ X				
Active Type	Import Scenario		Subscriber ID			
> Email Notification	n Email Notification		CashAccount	RemittanceSettings		
	Mobile Push Notifica	tion				
	Mobile SMS Notifica	tion				

This opens the Mobile Notifications screen (SM204004). On this screen, enter a description for the subscriber, then enter a mobile number or numbers into the **To** field and select "MYOB SMS Global Provider" in the **From** field. Enter the text of the message to be sent on the Message tab, then click **Save & Close**.

Notification ID:	<new></new>	Q	* Delivery Method:	SMS	*	
Screen:			Screen ID:			
	Cash Accounts	Q	Screen ID:	CA202000		
Description:						
To:					Q	
From:					Q	
ESSAGE						
ESSAGE	D INSERT PREVIOUS DATA FIE					

When the business event is triggered, SMS messages will be sent to the number(s) set up in the subscriber.

#### SMS Allowance Alerts

The system uses business events to alert you when you are close to running out of SMS messages and when you have reached you allowance. In an upgrade to MYOB Advanced 2021.1.1, two pre-configured business events are added:

- SMS allowance at 90% this event is triggered when your number of messages sent is at 90% of your total SMS allowance.
- **SMS allowance reached** this event is triggered when you have run out of messages to send this month.

These business events are set up to send email notifications by default. After upgrading to MYOB Advanced 2021.1.1, you should review these events on the Business Events screen (SM302050) and set up subscribers as necessary to ensure that the alerts are sent to the right people.

**Note:** If SMS messages fail to send (due the SMS allowance being reached or any other reason), this failure and the reason for it will be shown on the Business Event History screen (SM502030).

# Mobile Push Notifications for Business Events

This release adds the ability to automatically send messages to users via the MYOB Advanced mobile app when business events are triggered.

#### New Subscriber Type

A new Mobile Notification subscriber type has been added to the Create Subscriber menu on the Subscribers tab of the Business Events screen (SM302050). (See the following screenshot.) A user selects this type to configure a push notification sent to a mobile device.

Business Events CashAccountRemitta ← ♡ □ ∽	, in the second s	SCREEN VIEW HISTORY
∗ Event ID: ∗ Type: Raise Event:	CashAccountRemittanceSetti > ZActive Trigger by Record Change ~ For Each Record ~	* Screen Name: ,> Screen ID: CA202000
Description: TRIGGER CONDITIONS	CashAccountRemittanceSettings SUBSCRIBERS	
Č + × ↑ B Active Type	CREATE SUBSCRIBER      H     Import Scenario     Email Notification	Subscriber ID
Email Notificatio	Mobile SMS Notification	CashAccountRemittanceSettings

After the user selects the new subscriber type, the system navigates to the Mobile Notifications screen (SM204004), where the user can configure details for the push notification. These details include the users who will receive the notification and the record that should be opened after a user taps the notification.

Notification ID:	<new></new>	Q	* Delivery Method:	Push	•		
Screen:	Cash Accounts	Q	Screen ID:	CA202000			
Description:	Cash Account changed						
To:	((CreatedByID!PKID));				Q		
Title:	Cash Account ((CurrentCashAccount.Signatu	reDescr	) has been modified		Q		
ESSAGE							
ERT DATA FIELD	INSERT PREVIOUS DATA FIELD						

Once the push notification has been configured, the specified users will receive a push notification when the configured conditions are met.

#### **Receiving Push Notifications**

A user will receive a push notification if push notifications are allowed for the Acumatica ERP mobile application. If the user taps the notification, the system redirects the user to the record that triggered the notification.

# Improvements to Business Events and Notification Configuration

Business Events and Notifications menu commands have been added to the Tools menu of the screen title bar of entry screens—for example, Invoices and Memos (AR301000), Customers (AR303000), and Sales Orders (SO301000)—and generic inquiry screens. For the entry or generic inquiry screen you are viewing, a customiser can now view the notifications and business events that trigger them.

Also, the Send by Events tab has been added to the Notification Templates (SM204003) and Mobile Notifications (SM204004) screens. On the tab, the customiser can view the business events that trigger each notification.

#### Updated Tools Menu

The following screenshot shows the updated Tools menu of the screen title bar of the Invoices and Memos screen (AR301000).

	∽ + USER-DEFINED	<sup>™</sup> <b>₽ · K</b>	< > >I	PAY AC	TIONS -	INQUIR	,ES ▼ R	EPORTS -	Get Link Web Se		
Туре:	Invoice -	Customer:	CUST000012 - Euro H		0	Detail Tot		2,800.00	Notificat	tions s Events	
Reference Nbr.: Status:	001464 , Open	Location: Currency:	AUD 1.00	▼ VIEW E	BASE	Discount GST Taxa		2,800.00	Audit Hi	story	
Date:	15/07/2020	Terms:	30THMONTH - 30th of	Month		GST Exe	mpt T	0.00	Manage	Partner Suppo	ort Access
Post Period:	01-2021	* Due Date:	30/08/2020 -			Tax Total		280.00	Educatio	on Centre	
Customer Ord		* Prompt Payme	30/08/2020 - F	Pay by Line		Balance:		3,080.00	Access	Rights	
		Project/Contract:	X - Non-Project Code.		0	Rounding	g Diff.:	0.00	Share C	Column Configu	iration
Description:						Amount:		3,080.00	Trace		
						Prompt P	ayme	0.00	Profiler		
DOCUMENT DE	TAILS FINANC	CIAL DETAILS ADI	DRESS DETAILS T.	AX DETAILS	SALES	PERSON	COMMISSIO	)N APPROVA	About	DISCOUNT DE	TAILS
U + 0	$\times$ VIEW	SCHEDULE  ↔	X 1								
0 🗅 *Branch	Inventory	ID Subitem	Transaction Descr.	Quantity	NON	Unit Price	Ext. Price	Discount Percent	Discount Amount	Retainage Amount	Manual Discount



#### **Viewing Notifications**

To view the notifications that are specified for the selected data entry or generic inquiry screen, the customiser clicks **Tools > Notifications** on the screen title bar. In the Notifications window, which opens, the customiser can view the notifications that are configured for the screen (see the following screenshot).

Notifications		$\square$ ×
CREATE -		
Ŭ  ⊷  Č		
🖻 Туре	Description	
> EMail	Invoice Approval	
EMail	AR Invoice	
EMail	Project AR Invoice Notification	

Depending on the type of the selected notification, the customiser can click the link in the **Description** column of the Notifications window to open the Notification Templates (SM204003) or Mobile Notifications (SM204004) screen.

The customiser can also create new notifications by clicking **Create** in the Notifications window and selecting the needed type: Email Notification, Push Notification, or SMS Notification.

#### Viewing Business Events

To view the business events that are specified for the selected data entry or generic inquiry screen, the customiser clicks **Tools > Business Events** on the screen title bar. The Business Events window, which opens, is shown in the following screenshot.

Business Events		$\square$ ×
CREATE BUSINESS EVENT	<b> </b> ⊷	
■ 0 Type	* Event ID	
> 0 D Trigger by Record Change	Employee email changed	

The customiser can click the link in the **Event ID** column in the Business Events window to open the Business Events screen (SM302050) for the selected event.

The customiser can also create new business events by clicking **Create Business Event** in the Business Events window.

#### Send By Events Tab on the Notification Templates Screen

This release adds Send by Events tab to the Notification Templates screen (SM204003) screen, which a customiser uses to view business events that trigger the selected email notification.

Notification Template Project AR Inve	es oice Notification					🗅 NOTES	FILES	CUSTOMISATION	TOOLS -
, 1		> >							
Notification ID:	Project AR Invoice Notification	Q	* Screen Name:	Invoices and $P$					^
* Description:	Project AR Invoice Notification		Screen ID:	AR301000					
From:		Q		Attach Activity					
To:	((Document.BillContactID.Email))	Q	Link to Contact:		Q				
CC:		Q	Link to Account:		Q,				
BCC:		Q							
Subject:	Invoice # ((Document.RefNbr)) for project	t ((Documen	t.ProjectID.ContractCE	))) "((Document.Proje	ctID.Desci 🔎				
MESSAGE A	ATTACHED REPORTS SEND BY EVE	NTS							
ک + ×	CREATE BUSINESS EVENT  ↔	X							
🗟 🕕 🗅 *Event ID		Description	n		Act	ive Ty	уре		

If the customiser clicks the link in the **Event ID** column on the tab, the system opens the Business Events screen (SM302050) for the selected event. The customiser can also create an event by clicking **Create Business Event** on the table toolbar, or add a link to an existing event by clicking **Add Row** on the table toolbar.

#### Send By Events Tab on the Mobile Notifications Screen

The Send by Events tab of the Mobile Notifications screen (SM204004), which a customiser uses to view business events that trigger the selected push or SMS notification, is shown in the following screenshot.

Mobile Notifications Opportunity assi ←	igned to salesperson	· >/				🕒 NOTES	FILES	CUSTOMISATION	TOOLS -
Notification ID:	Opportunity assigned to salesperson	Q	* Delivery Method:	Push	•				
* Screen:	Opportunities	Q	Screen ID:	CR304000					
* Description:	Opportunity assigned to salesperson								
* To:	((CampaignSourceIDIOwnerIDIUserID))	(			0				
Title:	Opportunity assigned to salesperson				0				
MESSAGE SEI	ND BY EVENTS								
♦ + ♦	CREATE BUSINESS EVENT  ↔	X							
🖻 🔍 🗋 *Event ID		Description				Active	Туре		
> 0 D <u>Opportunity</u>	<u>y - Salesperson assigned</u>	Send push	notification when opport	tunity assigned	to salesperson		Trigger by R	ecord Change	

If the customiser clicks the link in the Event ID column on the tab, the system also opens the Business Events screen (SM302050) for the selected event.

# Business Events Triggered by an Action

This release introduces a new type of business events that are triggered by an action. An event of this type can be set up if a generic inquiry is used as a source for data monitoring. With a business event of this type configured for a generic inquiry, a user will be able to launch the event for the list of all, selected, or filtered records of the inquiry. For example, a sales manager might filter pending invoices by using a corresponding generic inquiry and initiate the sending of reminders to customers about the invoices.

h	nvc	oice	s ar	nd N	lemos	;						
C	ひ	\$		+	0	ACTIONS -	↔	X				
	Туре	e: All	•	Sta	tus: All	Email Invoid	e Remi	nder				
8	0			Туре	e	Email Invoid Nor.		nder (All)	Date	Post Period	Customer	Customer Name
	0			Cre	dit Mem	o <u>001466</u>	0	pen	23/11/2020	05-2021	CUST000002	ABC Studios Inc.
>	0			Inv	oice	<u>001464</u>	0	pen	15/07/2020	01-2021	CUST000012	Euro Hair Fashion
	0			Inv	oice	<u>001463</u>	0	pen	15/07/2020	01-2021	CUST000024	Computer World

#### Configuration of an Event Triggered by an Action

A system administrator uses the Business Events screen (SM302050) to configure business events. A new "Trigger by Action" option has been added to the **Type** drop-down list in the Summary area of the screen.

# **Note:** The "Trigger by Action" option is available only if a generic inquiry is selected in the **Screen Name** field on the screen.

With this option selected, the new **Action Name** field becomes available on the screen. In this field, the system administrator specifies an action name, which will be displayed in two commands on the Actions menu on the screen toolbar of the generic inquiry: **Action Name>** and **Action Name>** (All). The actions are used similarly to the actions available on the mass processing screens. For example, a user might click **Actions > Email Invoice** Reminder to send reminders of only the selected records of an inquiry or the user can click **Actions > Email Invoice Reminder (All)** to email reminders for all records returned by the inquiry.

As the last step of the configuration, the system administrator needs to configure the event subscribers to be processed when a user clicks the action on the inquiry toolbar. All types of event subscribers are available for this type of business event.

The following screenshot demonstrates the configuration of a business event to be used to send invoice reminders to customers from the Invoices and Memo screen (AR3010PL), which is a generic inquiry that lists invoices.

- I I V	+ 🖞 🗘 • K	< >	> VIEW SCREEN	VIEW HISTORY		
* Event ID:	InvoiceReminder	Active		* Screen Name:	Invoices and Memo	s ,Q
* Type:	Trigger by Action -			Screen ID:	AR3010PL	
Action Name:	Email Invoice Reminder					
Raise Event:	For Group of Records +					
Group Records By:	BAccountR.AcctCD ,P					
Description:	Remind customer of invoices					
SUBSCRIBERS						
SOBSCIADENS						
రి + × ↑	↓ CREATE SUBSCRIBER	-  ⊷	X			
Active Type		Subec	riber ID			Stop on Error

# Key Performance Indicator (KPI) Widget

In MYOB Advanced, users can add different types of widgets to their dashboards. By using these widgets, users can present information on dashboards in various formats, such as trends, key performance indicators (KPIs), tables, or even embedded content.

This release adds the following enhancements to widgets:

- A Link widget has been introduced. For more information, see "Link Widgets for Dashboards" on page 130.
- A Key Performance Indicator (KPI) widget has been introduced with the Scorecard and Meter visualisation types.
- The former Scorecard KPI widget is now the Scorecard visualisation of the Key Performance Indicator (KPI) widget.
- For the Key Performance Indicator (KPI) widget, **Normal Level Type** and **Alarm Level Type** fields have been added.
- For Key Performance Indicator (KPI) widget, the following options have been added to the **Normal Level Type** and **Alarm Level Type** fields:
  - o Absolute Value
  - o Percent Value
  - o Inquiry Field

#### Key Performance Indicator Widgets

KPI widgets are used to monitor data that is critical for particular business processes in the organisation. With the new KPI widget in MYOB Advanced, the user defining each KPI widget specifies what data will be displayed: the inquiry screen which the data is extracted from and the particular field on that screen (that is, the column of the inquiry screen whose data is used). The user also selects one of the following types of visualisation for the KPI widget:

• **Scorecard**: Data is presented in the screen of a card with a single parameter (that is, a single value of the selected field of the specified inquiry screen) displayed, such as YTD sales. The colour of the card corresponds to the colour the user has selected for the specific level—normal, warning, or alarm. Users can also add names and icons to these cards. The following screenshot shows an example of this type of visualisation showing year-to-date (YTD) sales.



• **Meter**: Data is presented in the screen of a gauge, where dashboard users can view all levels of the data (normal, warning, and alarm), with the colours and values that the user designing the widget has assigned to each level. The name that is specified for the widget is presented as the widget header.

The system builds the view of each widget automatically, based on the properties specified for the widget in the Widget Properties window. If the numbers defining the ranges of the normal, warning, and alarm levels (for the selected field of the specified screen) are positive, then the starting point of the gauge is 0; if any

number defining the levels is negative, then the starting point of the gauge is a negative number. See the following screenshot for an example of this type of visualisation; the labelled items are described below.



- 1. **Widget header**: The text that is specified in the Caption field of the Widget Properties window
- 2. **Alarm level**: The alarm range of the widget, whose lower bound is specified in the Alarm Level field of the Widget Properties window
- 3. **Warning level**: The warning range, which is automatically calculated by the system based on the values the user designing the widget has specified in the Alarm Level and Normal Level fields of the Widget Properties window.
- 4. **Normal level**: The normal range of the widget, an upper bound of which is specified in the Normal Level field of the Widget Properties window.
- 5. **Current value**: The current value of the parameter whose data is displayed, which is determined by the options selected in the Field to Aggregate and Aggregate Function fields of the Widget Properties window. These values indicate, respectively, the field from the selected inquiry whose data is displayed on the widget, and the function that is used to aggregate the values of the selected inquiry column (which can be the average, count, maximum, minimum, or sum of the values in the column).

The system uses the default colours for the level, but a dashboard designer can easily override these default settings when needed.

#### Key Performance Indicator (KPI) Widget Properties

When the user designing a dashboard selects Key Performance Indicator (KPI) in the Add Widget window, the system opens the Widget Properties window for this type of widget. In this window (shown in the following screenshot), the user can specify the properties of the KPI widget.

Widget Properties				×
Specify the widget proper	ties			
* Inquiry Screen:		Q		
	INQUIRY PARAMETERS			
Shared Filter to Apply:	All Records	Q		
	FILTER SETTINGS			
Refresh Data:	Every 5 Min	•		
* Field to Aggregate:		•		
Aggregate Function:	Count All	•		
Normal Level Type:	Absolute Value	-		
Normal Level:	0			
Alarm Level Type:	Absolute Value	-		
Alarm Level:	0			
Normal Color:	MYOB			
Warning Color:	MYOB ▼			
Alarm Color:	MYOB 🕶			
Visualization Type:	Scorecard	•		
lcon:				
Caption:	Meter			
		041051	0051/	50000
		CANCEL	PREV	FINISH

The set of parameters for the new Key Performance Indicator (KPI) widget is similar to those for the old Scorecard KPI widget. In the new widget, the following fields have been introduced:

- Normal Level Type: The type of the value for the normal level.
- Alarm Level Type: The type of the value for the alarm level.
- **Visualisation Type**: The type of the KPI widget to be displayed on the dashboard. The following two widgets are available: Scorecard or Meter.

In the **Normal Level Type** and **Alarm Level Type** fields, the user designing the dashboard can select one of the following options:

- Absolute Value: The value to be specified for the level is any positive or negative integer or decimal number. If this option is selected in the Normal Level Type or Alarm Level Type field (or both fields), then the user needs to specify the number in the Normal Level or Alarm Level field (or both fields), respectively.
- Inquiry Field: The value to be specified for the level is any inquiry field (that is, a field represented by a column in the inquiry screen selected in the Inquiry Screen field) that contains numeric values. If this option is selected in the Normal Level Type or Alarm Level Type field (or both fields), then the user needs to select the

field to be used in the **Normal Level** or **Alarm Level** field (or both fields), respectively. In the **Normal Level** and **Alarm Level** fields, the system will display only those fields whose data is represented numerically, such as amounts or totals. The system will sum the values of the selected field (that is, the field values shown in the corresponding inquiry column) and display the result in the widget.

• **Percent Value**: The value to be specified for the level is any positive or negative integer or fractional number that represents the percent value (without %). If this option is selected in the **Normal Level Type** or **Alarm Level Type** field, then the user needs to specify the number in the **Normal Level** or **Alarm Level** field respectively. The user can select the "Percent Value" option in only one of the levels. So if user has selected the "Percent Value" option in the **Normal Level Type** field, then in the **Alarm Level Type** field, the user can select only the "Absolute Value" or "Inquiry Field" option.

Previously, users could specify absolute values only. If business priorities changed and the normal and alarm levels changed, users had to change them manually. Moreover, it could happen that some values (like annual sales quota or number of processed cases) can be specific for a particular person, customer, or supplier, so having a fixed number for all of them was not acceptable. With the newly added options in the **Normal Level Type** and **Alarm Level Type** fields, users can now build widgets with greater flexibility: Instead of manually calculating what the alarm level is, they can specify the percent value or the field value from the inquiry.

#### Applicable Scenarios of Using the Inquiry Field Option in the Widget Properties

As mentioned above, for the **Normal Level Type** and **Alarm Level Type** fields of the Key Performance Indicator (KPI) widget, a user can select **Inquiry Field**. If a user selects this option, then the inquiry screen selected in the **Inquiry Screen** field must contain columns with numeric values, such as amount or totals.

For instance, suppose that a company has multiple salespersons. Each salesperson has an annual sales quota that must be reached by the end of the year. The inquiry that will be used in the KPI widget must have columns with the annual quota and the current sales volume by salesperson. So for the **Field to Aggregate** field, the user can select the field that contains the current sales volume, and in the **Normal Level** field, the user can select the field that holds the annual quota. In the **Alarm Level Type** field, user can select either of the available options and then specify the **Alarm Level**. After the user saves the changes, the system will calculate the levels and display the result with associated colour for the level.

# Link Widgets for Dashboards

In previous versions of MYOB Advanced as well as the current version, a user designs a dashboard to provide dashboard users with a view of key information in MYOB Advanced as well as a single point of navigation to MYOB Advanced items. By adding different types of widgets on a dashboard, the

dashboard designer can display data and configure navigation that is especially useful for users with a particular type of job or user role.

In previous versions of MYOB Advanced, a dashboard designer could not give dashboard users the ability to navigate with one click from a dashboard to an MYOB Advanced screen or another dashboard. As of this release, a user designing a dashboard can add a new type of widget—a link widget—to dashboards with links to MYOB Advanced screens and dashboards.

#### Changes in the Add Widget Wizard

In the Add Widget wizard, which is opened when a user switches to design mode of a dashboard, a new type of widget named Link has been added, as the following screenshot demonstrates.

Add	Widget	$\times$
Select	the widget you want to add to dashboard	
⊕	Chart Displays the chart using data from a particular view.	
ΞΞ	Data Table Displays the table with data from a particular view.	
	Embedded Page Shows embedded document within a widget.	
A=-	Header Shows just a title.	
17	Key Performance Indicator (KPI) Displays a KPI as a meter or scorecard.	
Ð	Link Displays a link to a workspace item or a form.	
٤ē	Pivot Table Displays the pivot table using data from a particular view.	
<u>ال</u>	Power BI Tile Displays embedded Power BI tile.	
+9	Trend Card KPI Displays the trend of the selected column value from the inquiry over the time period.	
<u></u>	<b>Wiki Page</b> Displays a wiki page.	
		_
	CANCEL PREV NEXT	

#### Adding a Link Widget to a Dashboard

The user designing a dashboard selects the Link type widget and then specifies the following properties in the Widget Properties window (as shown in the screenshot below):

- **Icon**: The icon that is displayed left of the widget's caption. This property is required.
- **Form**: The name of the MYOB Advanced screen that can be selected from the list of screens. This property is required.
- **Parameters**: The parameters that are applied to the specified screen when it is opened. This property is specified exactly the same way as the properties of the workspace tiles in the UI are. To find the parameter that corresponds to a field in the Summary area of a screen, the user designing a dashboard should open the screen, select the value in the field, and look at the screen URL. The parameter follows the screen number. The user can add multiple parameters, with each separated by an ampersand (&). If a dashboard is specified in the **Form** property, the Parameters property is not applicable.

- **Description**: A description of the widget.
- **Caption**: The caption to be used for the widget.

The following screenshot demonstrates the properties specified for the Link widget type.

Widget Properties			
Specify the widget pr	operties		
* Icon:	🖉 pen frame	•	
* Form:	Invoices and Memos	Q	
Parameters:	&DocType=INV&RefNbr= <new></new>		
Description:	To Create New Invoice		
Caption:	New Invoice		

In view mode of the dashboard, when a user clicks the link with the pen frame icon and the New Invoice description, the system opens Invoices and Memos screen (AR301000) for the user to add a new record with the Invoice type.

# Changing the Title of a Generic Inquiry

This release introduces the capability to change a generic inquiry title on the Generic Inquiry screen (SM208000) for both predefined generic inquiries (those provided with MYOB Advanced) and custom generic inquiries (those developed within your company).

In previous versions of MYOB Advanced, a user could not change a generic inquiry title, which is specified in the **Inquiry Title** field of the Summary area of the Generic Inquiry screen. Starting in MYOB Advanced 2021.1.1, a user can change the title of a generic inquiry directly on the Generic Inquiry screen while designing the generic inquiry or modifying its design. This ability can be useful when the user wants to do the following:

- Organize generic inquiries by categories. For example, predefined generic inquiries related to the accounts receivable category have names that start with AR, such as AR-Invoices and Memos, AR-Customers, and AR-Salespersons.
- Assign more precise names to the generic inquiries that are exposed by using OData.

# Platform

#### Changes on the Generic Inquiry Screen

To implement the ability to change a title of a generic inquiry, on the screen toolbar of the Generic Inquiry screen, the following changes have been made:

- The **Export as Report** and **Change Screen ID** buttons have been removed, with these actions becoming menu commands on the Actions menu.
- An Actions menu has been added with **Change Inquiry Title**, **Export as Report**, and **Change Screen ID** menu commands (as shown in the following screenshot).

Generic Inqui	у		🗋 NOTES	FILES CUSTOMISATION	TOOLS -
= v +	<u> </u>	> > VIEW INQUIRY	ACTIONS -		
			Change Inquiry Title		~
* Inquiry Title:	AR-Invoices and Men	nos 🔎 🗹 Make Visible on	Export as Report		
Site Map Title:	Invoices and Memos	Show Deleted R	Change Screen ID		
TABLES REL	ATIONS PARAMETERS	CONDITIONS GROUPING	SORT ORDER RESULTS	GRID ENTRY POINT	>
Ů + ∅	× ADD RELATED TAB	LE  ↔ X			
🗄 🕕 🗅 *Table Na	me	Description		*Alias	
> 🕼 🗋 PX.Objec	ts.AR.ARInvoice	Represents the Accounts Receivable	invoices, credit and debit me	ARInvoice	
PX.Objec	ts.AR.ARInvoice	Represents the Accounts Receivable	invoices, credit and debit me	Correction	
D PX.Obied	ts.CR.BAccount	Represents a business account used		BAccountR	

#### Change to the Generic Inquiry Title

In previous versions of MYOB Advanced as well as the current version, the user who creates a generic inquiry on the Generic Inquiry screen (SM208000) assigns a title to the generic inquiry. Previously, this title could not be changed. To change the title of a generic inquiry, a user can now click the **Change Inquiry Title** menu command on the Actions menu of the screen toolbar of the Generic Inquiry screen. In the window that opens, the user enters the new title for the generic inquiry and clicks **OK**. If the specified title is not unique, the system displays an error and prompts the user to enter another title. After the user saves the generic inquiry screen, the new title is inserted in the **Inquiry Title** field.

Generic Inquiry		NOTES FILES CUSTOMISATION TOOLS -
	< < >> > > VIEW INQUIRY ACTIONS ▼	
* Inquiry Title: AR-Invoice Site Map Title: Invoices ar	and Memos P Alake Visible on the UI	~
TABLES RELATIONS PARAM	Change Inquiry Title	X RESULTS GRID ENTRY POINT
ひ     +     ℓ     ×     ADD REL       B     0     D     * Table Name	* Inquiry Title:	*Alias
>      PX.Objects.AR.ARInvoice	OK CANCI	debit me ARInvoice
PX.Objects.AR.ARInvoice	Represents the Accounts Receivable invoices, credit	and debit me Correction
PX.Objects.CR.BAccount	Represents a business account used as a prospect, o	customer, or v BAccountR

# Navigating from a Generic Inquiry to an External URI

In previous versions of MYOB Advanced, on the Generic Inquiry screen (SM208000), the user creating or modifying the generic inquiry could configure navigation from the generic inquiry screen to another MYOB Advanced screen. As of this release, on the Navigation tab of the Generic Inquiry screen, a user can configure navigation from the generic inquiry screen to an external link (URI) with dynamic parameters from multiple columns in a row of the generic inquiry results. This ability can be very useful, for example, in e-commerce solutions to monitor items whose state can change.

Changes on the Generic Inquiry Screen

To implement the ability to navigate to an external URI, on the Generic Inquiry screen (SM208000), on the Navigation tab, the Screens pane has been renamed to Navigation Targets, as shown in the following screenshot.

Generic Inquiry 🕸			🗋 NOTES FILES CUSTOMI2	TOOLS -
🖹 🖍 🕂 🖻	© • K < > >I	VIEW INQUIRY ACTIONS	5 -	
* Inquiry Title:	SO-Packages ,0	✓ Make Visible on the UI		^
Site Map Title:	Packages	Show Deleted Records		
Workspace:	Data Views ,0	🗌 Expose via OData		
Category:	Inquiries ,P	Expose to the Mobile Applicat	tion	
Screen ID:	GI640096	Arrange Parameters in:	3 columns	
		Select Top:	0 records	
		Records per Page:	0	
		Export Top:	0 Records	
TABLES RELATION Navigation Targets	S PARAMETERS CONDITION			ON ŷ
		Window Mode: Pop-Up	p Window 👻	
с + ×				
	s/fedextrack/?action=track&trackingnumb	Navigation Parameters		
	Jfedextrack/?action=track&trackingnumb	× + ن	* Parameter	From Schema

The screenshot shows how the Generic Inquiry screen is used to configure navigation for the SO-Packages generic inquiry (which has the Packages site map title) to a page on the site of the FedEx delivery services company. In the Navigation Targets pane, the external URI is specified. In the Navigation Parameters table, the **Field** column contains the parameter corresponding to the tracking number from the URI, and the Parameter column of the row contains the field of the data access class specified on the Tables tab.

#### Navigation Target for an External URI

A user designing a generic inquiry needs to construct the template of the URI that a user can open by clicking the links in a column of the resulting generic inquiry screen. To do this, in the original URI of the target resource, the designer of the generic inquiry surrounds the parameter with double parentheses, and when the user clicks the link, the parameter is replaced by its actual value in the row. Returning to the FedEx example from the previous section, the user designing the generic inquiry enters:

https://www.fedex.com/apps/fedextrack/?action=track&trackingnumber=((TrackingNumber))

in the Navigation Target pane. When the user clicks the link with the 398305336614 delivery item identifier, the system navigates to the URI:

https://www.fedex.com/apps/fedextrack/?action=track&trackingnumber=398305336614.

The following screenshot shows the resulting generic inquiry screen with the tracking numbers that are links. As you can see in the screenshot, when a user clicks the link in the generic inquiry results, the system opens the window with the FedEx tracking information based on the tracking number.

L	Drag	, colu	umn header here to confi	igure filter				Y 🖪		\$
	0		Shipment Nbr. †	Customer	Shipment Date	Tracking Number	Description			
	۵		002667	CONSTPLAZA	9/23/2019	1Z84E0R60392401	Track your package or shipment with FedEx Track	acking - Google Chrome	- C	) X
	Û	D	002667	CONSTPLAZA	9/23/2019	1Z84E0R60390626	fedex.com/apps/fedextrack/?action=tr	rack&trackingnumber=398305	336614 🔯	QX
	Û	D	002698	NAAAPASSOC	9/26/2019	794647358001	Federate Ship + Track + Manage My Account +		Appel (Lossily (G)	
	Û		002990	CONSTPLAZA	3/2/2020	794688177023		Customs Tools -	Login	
	Û		002998	ELITEANSW	3/2/2020	Sample Label-(2ab)		8305336614	\$ ®	
	۵		003025	BESTYPEIMG	3/10/2020	1Z84E0R60391727		ed delivery date:		
>	٥		003026	DIGITECHPR	3/10/2020	<u>398305336614</u>		Pending		
	Û	D	003028	ETELLIGENT	3/10/2020	<u>390989937340</u>		pdated when FedEx receives the package.		
	Û	D	003029	ABARTENDE	4/ <mark>1</mark> /2020	391559726144	<b>0</b> •	0		
	Ù	D	003115	AACUSTOMER	4/17/2020	<u>391980351997</u>		LABEL OREATED		
	Û	D	003116	ABCSTUDIOS	5/1/2020	392439202123		nformation sent to FedEx		
	۵		003137	AACUSTOMER	5/1/2020	392441546050	DE FROM	T STATUS UPDATES		
	Û	D	003172	AACUSTOMER	5/1/2020	1Z84E0R60330669	SEATTLE, WAUS	TO LITTLE FALLS, NJ US		
	Ù		003233	AACUSTOMER	7/1/2020	394396146630	Travel History Shipment Facts			
	Û	D	003234	ANTUNSWEST	7/1/2020	394396185557		Local	Scan Time 🗸 🗸	

## Improvements to Generic Inquiry Side Panels

A number of improvements have been made that affect the design and display of generic inquiries with a side panel. These improvements are described in detail in the following sections.

#### Changes on the Generic Inquiry Screen

Various changes have been made to the Generic Inquiry screen (SM208000) related to the functionality of side panels of generic inquiries that have been developed on the screen. On the Navigation tab, the Screens pane has been renamed to Navigation Targets. The table in this pane has the following columns:

- Active: A check box that is used to activate (when it is selected) or deactivate (when it is cleared) navigation to the navigation target specified in the Link column of this row).
- Link: The navigation target, which is either the ID and name of the screen (which can be a dashboard), or the URI of the page to be shown.
- Window Mode: The navigation mode for the screen, dashboard, or URI specified in the Link column of this row. If Side Panel is selected in this column, the selected screen or dashboard can be viewed in the side panel of the resulting generic inquiry screen.

# **Note:** If the Navigation Targets pane contains multiple active rows with the Side Panel window mode, each of these rows is represented as a tab on the side panel.

In all the columns, the user designing the generic inquiry can filter and sort values. The user can click any column header to open the Sorting and Filtering Settings window and sort or filter rows by this column.

In the right pane of the Navigation tab, settings can be specified for the row selected in the Navigation Targets pane. This pane contains the **Icon** field, where the designer can select the icon that the user can click on the side panel of the generic inquiry screen to view the screen or dashboard. The pane also contains the following tabs, where settings can be specified for the row selected in the Navigation Targets pane:

- **Navigation Parameters**: This tab contains the same table with navigation parameters as was shown on the Navigation tab in previous versions of MYOB Advanced.
- **Visibility Conditions**: This tab, which is displayed only if Window Mode is set to Side Panel for the selected navigation target, can be used to specify conditions for the specification of the side panel or side panel tab.

#### Deactivating a Side Panel or Side Panel Tab

A user designing a generic inquiry may need to deactivate a side panel tab temporarily for example, while editing its settings. As of this release, this user can easily deactivate a side panel or side panel tab that has been configured.

To do this, on the Navigation tab of the Generic Inquiry screen (SM208000), in the Navigation Targets pane, the user designing the generic inquiry clears the check box in the **Active** column of the row whose side panel tab should be deactivated. This check box is available only for the navigation targets for which **Window Mode** is set to "Side Panel". Once the generic inquiry designer saves these changes to the generic inquiry, when a user opens the resulting generic inquiry screen, the side panel is no longer displayed (if there are no other active rows with the "Side Panel" window mode in the Navigation Targets pane) or the icon corresponding to the now-deactivated side panel tab is not displayed (if there are other active rows with the "Side Panel" window mode). Thus, the user cannot view the corresponding navigation target in the side panel.

The following screenshot demonstrates the cleared **Active** check box to deactivate the side panel; in this example, the side panel that displays the Invoices screen (SO303000) is deactivated for the generic inquiry with the AR-Invoices and Memos title and the Invoices and Memos site map title. The generic inquiry designer can later select the check box to quickly reactivate the side panel.

Gene	eric Inquiry									FILES CUST	OMISATION	TOOLS -
	ら + 道	0•	I< <	>		>I	VIEW INQUIRY	ACTIONS -				
* Inqu	iry Title:	AR-Invo	pices and Memo	os	Q		✓ Make Visible or	n the UI	Arrange Parameters in:		columns	^
Site	Map Title:	Invoice	and Memos				Show Deleted F	Records	Select Top:	(	records	
Wor	kspace:				Q		Expose via OD	ata	Records per Page:	(	)	
Cate	egory:				Q		Expose to the N	Nobile Application	Export Top:	(	Records	
Scre	een ID:	AR3010	PL						Attach Notes To:		*	
-	tion Targets	PAF	AMETERS	co			GROUPING	SORT ORDER	RESULTS GRID ENTR	RY POINT N	AVIGATION	
Q	+ ×				1001		II receipt					
Activ€	*Link		Window Mode		NAVI	GATI	ON PARAMETERS	VISIBILITY CON	DITIONS			
$\checkmark$	AR301000 - Invoice	es and	Inline	(	ひ	+	×					
	SO303000 - Invoice	es	Side Panel	8	* Field	1		* Parameter			From Scl	hema
				>	Doc	уре		Correction.Doc	Туре			

#### Reordering Icons on a Side Panel

As mentioned previously, during the design of a generic inquiry, the designer can specify the icon for each tab to be shown on the side panel to be displayed if the icons are clicked. A user of the generic inquiry screen can click any icon to view the tab with the screen or dashboard to which navigation has been defined. The icons in the side panel have tooltips with the names of the screens to be displayed if the icons are clicked; the tooltips help the user to navigate to the targets.

A user designing a generic inquiry can now quickly reorder the icons for the tabs in the side panel if multiple navigation targets have been configured to be displayed there. Thus, the generic inquiry designer can easily display the icons for the navigation targets in the order that corresponds to the order in which users usually work with the navigation targets, based on the company's business processes.

To reorder icons in the side panel, on the Navigation tab of the Generic Inquiry screen (SM208000), in the Navigation Targets pane, the user designing the generic inquiry drags the rows in the list to the needed place; the user then saves the generic inquiry. In the resulting generic inquiry screen, the icons in the side panel are displayed in the order that corresponds to the order of the navigation targets in the table on the Navigation Targets pane.

#### Visibility Conditions of a Side Panel

A user designing a generic inquiry can now specify the conditions that must be met for a side panel to be visible.

In the Navigation Targets pane on the Navigation tab of the Generic Inquiry (SM208000) screen, the generic inquiry designer can click any row with "Side Panel" selected in the **Window Mode** column, which makes the Visibility Conditions tab available in the right pane. On this tab, this user can specify a condition or a set of conditions that must be met for the side panel to be visible for users. The table on the Visibility Conditions tab has the same structure as the table on the Conditions tab of the same screen. That is, the table has the following columns:

- Active: A check box that the generic inquiry designer selects to activate the condition in the row or clears to deactivate the condition. By default, the check box is selected.
- **Brackets**: An optional open parenthesis to enclose a complex condition that is specified in more than one row of the table.
- **Data Field**: The data field (from the data access classes specified for the generic inquiry) to which the condition is applied.
- **Condition**: The logical condition that is applied to the specified data field and a value from the Value column (or values from the Value and Value 2 columns).Values do not need to be specified for some logical conditions, such as Is Empty and Is Not Empty, do not need values.
- From Schema: A check box that the generic inquiry designer can select to select a predefined value of the specified data field in the Value and Value 2 columns.
- **Value**: The value to be used in the condition, which can be entered or selected (if the check box in the From Schema column is selected).
- **Value 2**: The second value to be used in the condition, if the logical operator requires two values for the condition.
- **Brackets**: An optional closing parenthesis if this is a complex condition.
- **Operation**: The logical operator to be used to join conditions if this is a complex condition specified in more than one row of the table.

# Platform

For example, consider the CR-BAccounts generic inquiry (which has the Business Accounts site map title), which is defined on the Generic Inquiry screen and has two side panels defined on the Navigation Targets pane of the Navigation tab. One side panel is designed to display the Suppliers screen (AP303000) if in the grid of the generic inquiry screen, a user clicks a business account of the supplier type. The second panel is designed to display Customers screen (AR303000) if in the grid of the resulting generic inquiry screen, a user clicks a business account of the customer type. Different icons are specified to display these screens in the side panel. The following screenshot demonstrates an example of the configuration of a visibility condition for the first side panel listed in the Navigation Targets pane two side panels.

Inquiry Title:	CR-BAccounts	Q	✓ Make Visible on	the LU	Arrange Parameters in:	2	columns	^
Site Map Title:	Business Accounts		Show Deleted R		Select Top:		records	
Workspace:	Data Views	s ر			Records per Page:	0	records	
Category:	Inquiries	م م			Export Top:	0	Records	
	inquines	70		nobile Application	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1		Records	
Screen ID: TABLES RELATIONS	GI000086 PARAMETER	S CONDI	TIONS GROUPING	• SORT ORDER	Attach Notes To: RESULTS GRID EN	Not Applicable	NAVIGATION	
Screen ID:		S CONDIT	TIONS GROUPING	• SORT ORDER				
Screen ID: TABLES RELATIONS avigation Targets O + ×		lcon:	i receipt	SORT ORDER				
Screen ID: TABLES RELATIONS lavigation Targets $\circlearrowright$ + ×	S PARAMETER: Window Mode	Icon: NAVIGATION	i receipt	•				

The following screenshot shows the resulting generic inquiry screen. In the list of business accounts, a user has clicked a business account of the Supplier type. As a result, only one icon, which corresponds to the Suppliers screen, is displayed; when the user clicks the icon, in the side panel, the Suppliers screen is displayed with information about the selected business account.

Business Acc			>	Suppliers	- ACTIONS - INQUIRIES -	ß	0 [
O ∽ Þ	X			REPORTS -			
Drag column heade	er here to configure filter						
Account ID	Account Name	Туре		Supplier ID:	ATO - Australian Taxation Office		^
> <u>ATO</u>	Australian Taxation Office	Supplier		Vendor Status:	Active		
COAT	Coat Wright and Compay	Customer		* Supplier Class:	TAXAGENCY - Tax Agency	P 0	
CUST000001	BA Industries	Customer		Balance:	0.00		
CUST000002	ABC Studios Inc.	Customer		Prepayment Balance:	0.00		
CUST000003	Active Staffing Service	Customer		Retained Balance:	0.00		
CUST000004	Alphabetland School Center	Customer		GENERAL FINA	ANCIAL PAYMENT		
CUST000005	AMRO Bank N.V.	Customer					ş
CUST000006	Antun's of Westchester	Customer		ACCOUNT INFO			
CUST000007	Church of The Apostles	Customer		* Account Name:	Australian Taxation Office		
CUST000008	Artcages Co.	Customer		ACCOUNT ADDRESS			
CUST000009	Asahi Sun Tours	Customer			VIEW ON MAP		
CUST000010	Nautilus Bar SABL	Customer		Address Line 1:			
CUST000011	AC Equipment	Customer		Address Line 2:			
CUST000012	Euro Hair Fashion	Customer		City:			
CUST000013	Bestype Image	Customer		State:		Q	
CUST000014	Bibimbab Korean Restaurant	Customer		Postal Code: * Country:	AU - AUSTRALIA	Q	
CUST000015	Borders Books, Music & Cafe	Customer			AU - AUSTRALIA	ç	
				Business 1 -			
1-17 of 255 recor	rds			Business 2 +			

# Selecting the Table for Notes and File Attachments

While working with a list of records on a generic inquiry screen, a user can attach a file, such as a scanned document with a signature, and a note, such as important information for colleagues about a customer, to a record (that is, to a particular row of the grid). In previous versions of MYOB Advanced, in some scenarios, the files and notes were attached to a record of a different internal table instead of the record that the user expected.

To prevent misplaced attachments, on the Generic Inquiry screen (SM208000), the user designing or modifying a generic inquiry can now select the table to which notes and files will be attached if a user attaches these to a record in the resulting generic inquiry screen.

#### Changes on the Generic Inquiry Screen

In the Summary area of the Generic Inquiry screen (SM208000), an **Attach Notes To** drop-down list has been added. In this list, a user designing or modifying a generic inquiry can select the table to which files and notes should be attached in the resulting generic inquiry screen; the designer can instead disable any attachments by selecting the "Not Applicable" option. In addition to "Not Applicable", this drop-down list includes only the tables listed on the Relations tab of the Generic Inquiry screen, as shown in the following screenshot.

		VIEW INQUIRY ACTIONS -		
* Inquiry Title:	AR-Invoices and Memos	✓ Make Visible on the UI	Arrange Parameters in:	3 columns
Site Map Title:	Invoices and Memos	Show Deleted Records	Select Top:	0 records
Workspace:	٩	Expose via OData	Records per Page:	0
Category:	٩	Expose to the Mobile Application	Export Top:	0 Records
Screen ID:	AR3010PL		Attach Notes To:	ARInvoice -
TABLES RELATIONS	PARAMETERS CONDITIONS	GROUPING SORT ORDER	FESULTS GRID ENTR	Not Applicable ARInvoice BAccountR Correction
Ů + ∅ ×	↑ ↓ ADD RELATED TABLE	⊷  X		
🗄 🕕 🛛 Active	Parent Table	Join Type	Child Table	
	ARInvoice	Left	BAccountR	
	ARInvoice	Left	Correction	

The screenshot shows the selection of the ARInvoice table for attachments and the dropdown list screen ed by the system based on the tables listed on the Relations tab. In the resulting generic inquiry, when a user attaches a note or file to any record on the grid, the record will be selected in the ARInvoice table.

#### Attaching Files and Notes on the Generic Inquiry Screen

After the generic inquiry has been designed and saved, a user who is working with the grid of a generic inquiry screen can attach a file or note to any of the listed records, and the file or note will be attached to the correct record of the expected table. To attach the file or note, the user can do the following:

- Click the paperclip icon in a row of the grid; then in the Files window, the user attaches a file to the record of the table that is selected on the Generic Inquiry screen.
- Click the note icon in a row of the grid; then in the Enter Record Note window, the user attaches a note to the record of the table that is selected on the Generic Inquiry screen.
### Platform

The following screenshot demonstrates attaching a file to a record on the Invoices and Memos screen (AR3010PL), whose settings on the Generic Inquiry screen were shown earlier in the topic. The file will be attached to a record in the ARInvoice table, based on the settings of the generic inquiry.

Generic Inquiry Contes FILES CUSTOMISATION TO	OLS · ·			Memos								5
◎ ∽ + ◎ □・K < > >I VIEW INQUIRY	_	Q	0	+ 0 4	CTIONS -	⊷  X	Y					, A
ACTIONS -	۲	860		Туре	Reference Nbr.	Status	Date	Post Period	Customer	Customer Name		
	^	0			Files						×	
* Inquiry Title: AR-Invoices and Memos P		0 0		Invoice	Select the file.					Browse	Upload	
Site Map Title: Invoices and Memos		0 C		Invoice						0101130	. opious	
Vorkspace: 0		0 0		Invoice	Ů Ŧ	ADD LINK	REMOVE LINK	↔  U	PLOAD USING M	OBILE APP		
Category: Screen ID: AR3010PL		0 0		Invoice	E File name		Comment		Last Da	ate		
				Invoice								
Make Visible on the UI		> 🗈 🗆		Credit Memo								
Show Deleted Records				Invoice							- 1	
Expose via OData		0 C		Invoice								
Expose to the Mobile Application		0 0		Credit Memo							- 1	
Arrange Parameters in: 3 columns		0 E		Invoice							- 1	
Select Top: 0 records		0 C		Invoice							- 1	
Records per Page: 0		0 C		Invoice			No re	cords fou	und. = +		- 1	
Export Top: 0 Records		0 C		Invoice							- 1	
Attach Notes To: ARInvoice -		0 C										
TABLES RELATIONS PARAMETERS CONDITIONS GROUPING	~	0 C		Invoice							- 1	
able Relations		0.0									- 1	
Ů + ℓ × ↑ ↓ ADD RELATED TABLE  →  🕅		0 0		Invoice								
		0 0		Invoice								
		8 0			001441	Closed	1/06/2020	12-2020	0110700000	11	_	
ARInvoice Left BAccountR									CUST000008	Artcages Co.		
ARInvoice Left Correction		0 0		Invoice	001440	Closed	1/06/2020	12-2020	CUST000005	AMRO Bank N.V.		
		0			001439	Closed	1/06/2020	12-2020	CUST000004	Alphabetland School C		
		0 0		Invoice	001438	Closed	1/06/2020	12-2020	CUST000003	Active Staffing Service		
lata Field Links For Active Relation		4										
O + × ↑ ↓ ADD RELATIONS  →  X		1-23 0	F 702 n	ecords						K K 1	of 31 pages	>

### Expanded Search and Recently Viewed Records

In MYOB Advanced, a user can perform a search within the system by using the **Search** field on the top pane of the MYOB Advanced screen. In MYOB Advanced 2021.1.1, the following entities can be searched in addition to those previously available for searching:

- Generic inquiries
- Pivot tables
- Business events
- Dashboards
- Filters
- Report definitions including column sets, row sets, and unit sets
- Email accounts
- Notifications
- Users
- Customisation projects

The Recently Viewed workspace has also been expanded to include more information about these entities. Also, a user cannot now delete an entity from the list above if it is already used somewhere else in the system.

### Creating Business Events from an Inquiry Screen

A Business Events menu command has been added to the Tools menu of the screen title bar of generic inquiry screens. By clicking the command, a customiser can view existing business events based on the generic inquiry being viewed and create new business events; for a new business event, the system inserts the generic inquiry identifier and name into the respective fields on the Business Events screen (SM302050).

Also, for a generic inquiry that has shared filters saved as tabs, when a customiser creates a business event from the generic inquiry, the system fills in the **Shared Filter to Apply** field on the Business Events screen (SM302050) with the active shared filter (that is, the filter tab the customiser was viewing).

### Creating a Business Event Based on a Shared Filter

If a particular generic inquiry has any shared filter as filter tabs, a customiser can create a business event based on the shared filter if its conditions suit the requirements of a business event. To create the business event, the customiser opens the tab and then clicks **Tools > Business Events** on the screen title bar.

In	vo	ice	s an	d Memo	S							CUSTOMISATION - TOOLS -
Ċ	,	\$		+ /	ACTIONS -	→ X						Screen ID CST.AR.30.10.PL
0		- /	·		Actions -							Get Link
	AL	L RE	COR	DS OP	EN INVOICES							Web Service
T	ype	: = In	voice	- Stat	tus: = Open 👻	Date: All 👻					Υ	Notifications
a (	0.	D		Туре	▼ Reference	Status	т	Date	Post	Customer	Customer Name	Business Events
				Type	Nbr.	Status		Date	Period	Customer	Customer Name	Manage Partner Support Access
	0			Invoice	001464	Open		15/07/2020	01-2021	CUST000012	Euro Hair Fashion	Education Centre
>	0			Invoice	<u>001463</u>	Open		15/07/2020	01-2021	CUST000024	Computer World	Access Rights
	0			Invoice	001462	Open		15/07/2020	01-2021	CUST000024	Computer World	Share Column Configuration
	0			Invoice	001461	Open		15/07/2020	01-2021	CUST000024	Computer World	Trace
	0			Invoice	001460	Open		15/07/2020	01-2021	CUST000024	Computer World	Profiler
	0			Invoice	001458	Open		30/06/2020	12-2020	CUST000099	Australian Law Firm	About
	0			Invoice	001457	Open		30/05/2020	11-2020	CUST000098	QRT financial service	WIP Project Billing
	0			Invoice	001454	Open		31/03/2020	09-2020	CUST000053	SPC Machines	Progress Bill for th

The system opens the Business Events window, where the customiser clicks **Create Business Event** on the toolbar. The system opens the Create Business Event window, where the user enters a name for the new business event and clicks **OK** (see the following screenshot).

The system opens the Business Events screen (SM302050) with the Screen Name and Screen ID fields populated with the values of the generic inquiry for which the business event has been created. Also, the **Shared Filter to Apply** field is populated with the shared filter that was active when the user created the event (see the following screenshot).

Business Events New Open Invoices					🗋 NOTES	FILES	CUSTOMISATION	TOOLS
← Ω Ω ∽	+ 🛈 C	) • I< <	> >I VIEW SCREET	VIEW HISTORY				
* Event ID:	New Open Invoice	es 🔎 🗹 A	tive	* Screen Name:	Invoices an	d Memos	Q	
* Type:	Trigger by Record	Change -		Screen ID:	AR3010PL			
Raise Event:	For Each Record	-					S	
Group Records By:				Shared Filter to	Apply: Open Invoid	es	Q	
Description:								
TRIGGER CONDITIONS	SUBSCRIBERS	6						
<b>с +</b> × т	$\downarrow$ $\mapsto$ $\mathbb{N}$							
Active Bracket: Oper	ration	Table Name	Field Name	Condition Va		Value 2	Brackets	Operat

The customiser can now proceed to configuring the business event.

## **Project Management**

### Account Groups

This release adds the ability to make an account group inactive. Inactive account groups cannot be selected on data entry screens, and the system cannot generate project transactions or create project budget lines with inactive account groups.

To make an account group inactive, for the account group, a user clears the **Active** check box in the Summary area of the Account Groups screen (PM201000), as shown in the following screenshot. The account group can be inactivated if it has no associated accounts on the Accounts tab.

Account Groups WIPP - Work in Prog ← 『 『 ∽	ress - Projects + ₪ ঢ় - ⊮	< < > >I		
* Account Group ID: Type: * Description:	WIPP $ ho$ Asset Work in Progress - Projects	Active Default Revenue Account Group	:	
ACCOUNTS ATTRIBU	JTES SETTINGS	3		
C + ×  ↔  E Account Type	Account Class	Description	Currency	Default
> 100340 Asset	WIP	Work In-Progress Project		

As a result of the upgrade to MYOB Advanced 2021.1.1, all the existing accounts groups become active—that is, for all the account groups, the **Active** check box is selected on the Account Groups screen.

### **Closing Commitments**

The logic related to the closing of commitments has been reviewed; this release implements a consistent solution. The solution covers all of the identified scenarios, including partial billing, receiving, and closing the corresponding line by quantity or by amount.

### Changes to the User Interface

On the Commitments screen (PM306000), the following columns have been added to the table:

- **Status**: The status of the commitment, which depends on the status of the Closed check box of the corresponding purchase order line or subcontract line on the Document Details tab of the Purchase Orders (PO301000) or Subcontracts (SC301000) screen, respectively. The status can be one of the following options:
  - **Open**: The Closed check box is cleared in the corresponding purchase order line or subcontract line.
  - **Closed**: The Closed check box is selected in the corresponding purchase order line or subcontract line.

- **Committed Variance Quantity**: The difference between the values in the Committed Revised Quantity and Committed Invoiced Quantity columns.
- **Committed Variance Amount**: The difference between the values in the Committed Revised Amount and Committed Invoiced Amount columns.

#### Changes to the Calculation of Committed Values

The calculation of the following columns in the table of the Commitments screen (PM306000) has been changed (with the descriptions reflecting the current calculation of the committed values):

- **Committed Received Quantity**: The received quantity of the corresponding purchase order line or subcontract line.
- **Committed Invoiced Quantity**: The billed quantity of the corresponding purchase order line or subcontract line.
- **Committed Invoiced Amount**: The billed amount of the corresponding purchase order line or subcontract line.

For multicurrency accounting, when the project currency and the billing currency differ, the committed invoiced amount equals the sum of the amounts of all the related AP document lines multiplied by the rate, where the rate is the conversion rate from the currency of the purchase order or subcontract from which the commitment originates to the project currency.

- Committed Open Quantity: The lowest value of the following differences:
  - o Committed Revised Quantity Committed Received Quantity
  - o Committed Revised Quantity Committed Invoiced Quantity

The committed open quantity becomes zero when the commitment is assigned the Closed status.

• **Committed Open Amount**: A value whose calculation for non-stock items is based on the option selected in the Close PO Line field on the General Settings tab of the Non-Stock Items screen (IN202000) for the inventory item of the purchase order line or subcontract line from which the commitment originates.

For stock items and for the non-stock items with the By Quantity option selected in the Close PO Line field, the committed open amount is calculated as follows:

Committed Revised Amount / Committed Revised Quantity \* Committed
 Open Quantity if the committed revised quantity is greater than zero

The Committed Received Amount is the unit cost multiplied by the received quantity of the corresponding purchase order line or subcontract line.

- Committed Revised Amount Committed Invoiced Amount if the committed revised quantity equals zero
- For the non-stock items with the By Amount option selected in the Close PO Line field, the committed open amount equals the lowest value of the following differences:
  - o Committed Revised Amount Committed Received Amount
  - o Committed Revised Amount Committed Invoiced Amount

The committed open amount becomes zero when the commitment is assigned the Closed status.

If the received and billed quantity and amount are greater than the ordered ones, then the release of the change order that increases the original ordered values of the corresponding purchase order or subcontract does not lead to the closing of the document line, and the commitment status remains "Open" even if the Committed Revised Quantity and Committed Revised Amount equal the Committed Invoiced Quantity and Committed Invoiced Amount, respectively, on the Commitments screen. The purchase order line or the subcontract line can be closed manually if a user puts the purchase order or subcontract on hold, selects the **Closed** check box for the line, and then takes the purchase order or subcontract off hold.

#### Changes to the Validation of the Original Values

On the Document Details tab of the Purchase Orders screen (PO301000), if the inventory item of a purchase order line from which a commitment originates has the **By Quantity** option selected in the **Close PO Line** field and the **Require Receip**t check box cleared on the General Settings tab of the Non-Stock Items screen (IN202000), the value in the Order Qty. column of the purchase order line must be greater than zero.

On the Document Details tab of the Subcontracts screen (SC301000), the same validation is implemented for the subcontract lines from which commitments originate.

### Default Accounts and Subaccounts

In earlier versions, projects and project tasks had a default account and default subaccount that could be used as a source of accounts and subaccounts for documents related to both the project income and project costs. In MYOB Advanced 2021.1.1, the default account and subaccount have been replaced with separate default accounts and subaccounts for sales and costs.

#### Defining Sales and Cost Accounts and Subaccounts

On the Settings tab of the Projects screen (PM301000), instead of the **Default Account** and **Default Subaccount** fields, the following fields have been added (see the screenshot below):

- Default Sales Account
- Default Sales Subaccount
- Default Cost Account
- Default Cost Subaccount

Projects PR00000081 - WIP -	Software Implementation			[	NOTES FILES C	USTOMISATION TOOLS -
	+ 🔟 I< < > >I A	CTIVATE PROJECT	RUN PROJECT E	BILLING ACTIONS -	INQUIRIES - REPO	RTS -
* Project ID:	PR00000081 - WIP - Software Implem &	Status:	Completed	Actual Income:	149,177.50	^
Customer:	CUST000098 - QRT financial service	0		Actual Expenses:	70,824.00	
Template:	WIPPROJECT - WIP - Software Impleme	a //		Margin:	78,353.50	%: 52.52
* Description:	WIP - Software Implementation					
Currency Rate for Budget:	AUD 1.00 - VIEW BASE					
SUMMARY TASKS	REVENUE BUDGET COST BUDGET	BALANCES INVO	CES CHANGE	ORDERS CHANGE REQ	QUESTS UNION LOC	ALS SETTINGS »
Default Sales Account:	400000 - Sales 🔎	Č ( X	⊢ + 🗈	× D		
* Default Sales Subacco	000-000-001 - Head Office 🔎	🗟 Туре	Description		Value Project	a
Default Cost Account:	500100 - Cost of Goods Sold 🖉					
Default Cost Subaccount:	000-000-001 - Head Office 🔎					
Accrual Account:	٩					
Accrual Subaccount:	Q					
Time Activity Approver:	EP00000032 - Manu Junior, Mr. 🖉					

### Project Manage

On the Summary tab of the Project Tasks screen (PM302000), instead of the **Default** Account and **Default Subaccount** fields, the **Default Sales Account**, **Default Sales** Subaccount, **Default Cost Account**, and **Default Cost Subaccount** fields have also been added (see the following screenshot).

	+ 🖻	Ç. K	<	> > > > > > > > > > > > > > > > > > > >	COMPLETE	CANCEL ACT	TIONS -	
Project ID:	PR0000084 -	WIP - Softwa	are Implem ${\cal P}$	🖉 Status	c	Active		
Task ID:	0005 - Impleme	entation	Q			Default		
SUMMARY RECUR	RING BILLING	ACTIVITY	HISTORY	ATTRIBUTES	S COMPLIA	NCE		
ASK PROPERTIES				DEEALI				
ASK PROPERTIES Planned Start Date:					LT VALUES	400000 - Sales		٥
				Defau		400000 - Sales		Q
Planned Start Date:	7/05/2020 -			Defau Defau	It Sales Account:	400000 - Sales		Q
Planned Start Date: Planned End Date: Start Date:				Defau Defau Defau	It Sales Account: It Sales Subacco It Cost Account:	400000 - Sales	Head Office S - Direct Labour C	Q
Planned End Date:	7/05/2020 •	-		Defau Defau Defau Defau	It Sales Account: It Sales Subacco It Cost Account:	400000 - Sales 000-000-001 - H 500410 - COGS	Head Office S - Direct Labour C	ク osts ク
Planned Start Date: Planned End Date: Start Date: End Date:	7/05/2020 -			Defau Defau Defau Defau Accrua	It Sales Account: It Sales Subacco It Cost Account: It Cost Subaccou	400000 - Sales 000-000-001 - H 500410 - COGS	Head Office S - Direct Labour C	osts O O

On the Settings tab of the Project Templates screen (PM208000) and on the Summary tab of the Project Template Tasks (PM208010) and Common Tasks (PM208030) screens, the Default Account and Default Subaccount fields have also been replaced with the Default Sales Account, Default Sales Subaccount, Default Cost Account, and Default Cost Subaccount fields.

If the *Subaccounts* feature is enabled on the Enable/Disable Features screen (CS100000), a user must specify the default sales subaccount for a project and each project task. If the default cost account is selected for a project or project task, a user must also specify the default cost subaccount.

#### Using Sales Accounts and Subaccounts in Project Billing

When a project is billed, the system uses the sales account and subaccount based on the settings of the corresponding step of the billing rule specified in the right pane of the Billing Rules screen (PM207000) (see the screenshot below).

The sales account the system uses is determined by the option selected in the **Use Sales Account From** field, which is one of the following:

- **Project**: The default sales account of the project
- Task: The default sales account of the project task

The segment of the sales subaccount the system uses is determined by the option specified in the **Sales Subaccount Mask** field, which is one of the following:

- **PPP**: The default sales subaccount of the project
- TTT: The default sales subaccount of the project task

Billing Rules FPBILL - F	ixed Price	Billing Rule			C NOTES FILES	CUSTOMISATION TOOLS		
↓ D	B 🛛	+ 🖻	© • K < > >I					
* Billing Rule	ID:	FPBILL						
Description		Fixed Price Billi	ng Rule					
Ċ +	× ⊨	X	Billing Type:	Progress Billing	•			
Active	† Step ID D	escription	INVOICE SETTINGS					
	1 1	Progress Bill	Invoice Description Formula:	='Progress Bill for the	='Progress Bill for the Project'			
			Line Description Formula:			Q		
			* Use Destination Branch from:	Current Branch	<ul> <li>Destination Branch:</li> </ul>	RBYTEMAIN - Rapid 🔎		
			* Use Sales Account from:	Project	•			
			* Sales Subaccount Mask:	PPP-PPP-PPP	Sales Subaccount:	030-000-WST - Servi 🔎		
			BILLING OPTIONS					
			Create Lines with Zero Amou	int				

#### Using Sales and Cost Subaccounts in Project Allocations

When a project is allocated, for the created allocation transaction that is posted to the general ledger, the system uses the debit and credit subaccounts that are combined based on the following options specified in the **Subaccount** field in the Debit Transaction and Credit Transaction sections, respectively, on the Allocation Settings tab in the right pane of the Allocation Rules screen (PM207500) (see the screenshot below):

- CCC: The default cost subaccount of the project
- **DDD**: The default cost subaccount of the project task
- **PPP**: The default sales subaccount of the project
- TTT: The default sales subaccount of the project task

Allocation Rules TMWIP - Time ar	nd Material with	ו WIP		
← [] []	∽ + ®	₿• K < >	>I	
* Allocation Rule:	TMWIP - Time and	Material w 🔎		
Description:	Time and Material	with WIP		
ٽ + ×	⊢ X	CALCULATION RULES	ALLOCATION SETTINGS	
Step ID Description	on	TRANSACTION OPTION	s	
10 Labor ex	penses		Post Transaction to GL	Create Transaction with Zero Qty.
20 Travel ex	kpenses	Reverse Allocation:	On AR Invoice Release -	Create Transaction with Zero Amount
30 Material	expenses	Date Source:	Original Transaction +	Allocate Non-Billable Transactions
		TRANSACTION BRANCH	Can be used as source in anot	ner allocation.
		Filter:	None -	
		Branch:	Use Source +	
		DEBIT TRANSACTION _		
		Project:	Use Source +	
		Task:	Use Source +	
		Account Group:	From Account	
		Account Origin:	Replace -	100340 - Work In-Progress Project ,P
		Subaccount:	AAA-AAA-SSS	000-000-000 - Default
		CREDIT TRANSACTION		
		Account Group:	From Account	
		Subaccount:	PPP-PPP-PPP	000-000-000 - Default
		Subaccount.		000-000 - Deraun 50
		ASONEONIE HONOAO	By Date By Ver	ndor
			By Employee By Iter	

### Using Cost Accounts and Subaccounts in Time Activities

When project transactions are created on release of time activities and time cards, the system uses the expense account and subaccount based on the settings specified on the General Settings tab of the Projects Preferences screen (PM101000), as shown in the screenshot below.

The expense account the system uses is determined by the option selected in the **Expense Account Source** field, which is one of the following:

- **Project**: The default cost account of the project
- Task: The default cost account of the project task

The segment of the sales subaccount the system uses is determined by the option specified in the **Expense Sub. Source** field, which is one of the following:

- **PPP**: The default cost subaccount of the project
- **TTT**: The default cost subaccount of the project task

Projects Preferences			
B 4			
GENERAL SETTINGS MAILING SETTING	SS		
NUMBERING SEQUENCE		VISIBILITY SETTINGS	
* Transaction Numbering Sequence:	PMTRAN - PM Transaction Numbering	0	🗹 GL 🗹 AP 🗹 AR 🗹 SO 🗹 PO
* Batch Numbering Sequence:	BATCH - GL Batch ,0	0	🗹 IN 🗹 CA 🗹 CRM 🗌 PROD
* Pro Forma Numbering Sequence:	PROFORMA - PM Pro Forma Invoice Numberii 🔎	0	✓ Time Entries ✓ Expenses
* Change Order Numbering Sequence:	CHANGEORD - PM Change Order Numbering 🔎	Restrict Project Selection:	All Projects
* Change Request Numbering Sequence:	CHANGERST - PM Change Request Numberir 🔎	ACCOUNT SETTINGS	
* Quote Numbering Sequence:	PMQUOTE - Quotes in Project 0		Task
GENERAL SETTINGS		* Expense Sub. Source:	TTT-TTT-TTT
* Non-Project Code:	X	Expense Accidal Account Boarce.	Laboar term toordal
* Empty Item Code:	<n a=""></n>	* Expense Accrual Sub. Source:	111-111-111

### Using Cost Subaccounts in Accounts Payable Documents

When a non-stock item is selected on data entry screens for accounts payable entities and documents, the way the system combines the expense subaccount is based on the option specified in the **Combine Expense Sub. From** field on the General Settings tab the Accounts Payable Preferences screen (AP101000), which is one of the following (see the screenshot below):

- **PPP**: The default cost subaccount of the project
- TTT: The default cost subaccount of the project task

Accounts Payable Prefere	inces								
GENERAL SETTINGS PRICE/	DISCOUNT SETTINGS APPP	ROVA	AL REPORTING SETTINGS						
NUMBERING SETTINGS		_	DATA ENTRY SETTINGS						
* Batch Numbering Sequence:	BATCH - GL Batch 🔎	0	Default Supplier Class ID:	VENDOFT					
* Bill Numbering Sequence:	APBILL - AP Bill 🖉	0	* Combine Expense Sub. From:	PPP-PPP-PPP					
* Debit Adjustment Numbering Se	APBILL - AP Bill 🖉	0	Use intercompany Expense Account From	- Oupplier Location					
* Credit Adjustment Numbering S	APBILL - AP BIII	0	Rounding Rule for Bills:	Use Currency Precision -					
* Payment Numbering Sequence:	APPAYMENT - AP Payment 🔎	0	Rounding Precision:	0.10					
* Price Worksheet Numbering Se	APPRICEWS - AP Price Work &	0	Payment Lead Time:	3 Days					

### Project Manage

### Using Sales and Cost Subaccounts in Expense Claims

For an expense claim, the way the system combines subaccounts is based on the settings specified on the General Settings tab of the Time and Expenses Preferences screen (EP101000), as shown in the screenshot below.

The segment of the sales subaccount the system uses is determined by the option specified in the **Combine Sales Sub. From** field, which is one of the following:

- **PPP**: The default sales subaccount of the project
- TTT: The default sales subaccount of the project task

The segment of the expense subaccount the system uses is determined by the option specified in the **Combine Expense Sub. From** field, which is one of the following:

- **PPP**: The default cost subaccount of the project
- **TTT**: The default cost subaccount of the project task

Time & Expenses Preferences				
GENERAL SETTINGS				
NUMBERING SETTINGS		EXPENSE CLAIM SETTINGS		
* Expense Claim Numbering Sequence:	EPCLAIM - EP Expense Clair 🔎 🧷	* Combine Sales Sub. From:	PPP-PPP-PPP	
* Expense Receipt Numbering Sequence:	EPRECEIPT - EP Expence R 🔎 🧷	* Combine Expense Sub. From:	TTT-TTT-TTT	
* Time Card Numbering Sequence:	TIMECARD - Time Card 🖉 🧷		Hold Expense Claims on Entry	
* Equipment Time Card Numbering Sequence:	EQTIMECARD - Equipment T 🖉 🧷		Post Summarized Company Expe	nses by Corporate Ca
APPROVAL SETTINGS			Require Ref. Nbr. in Expense Rec	eipts
Expense Receipt Approval Map:	ρ /		Allow Mixed Tax Settings in Claims	3

### New Workflow Support on Project Entry Screens

Multiple screens that used automation steps—including those related to projects, construction, and time and expenses—have been redesigned to support the new workflow engine. The processes that are performed on these screens work as they did in the previous version. The UI on these screens has been enhanced to support the functionality of the new workflow engine.

**Note:** Because the implementation of the new workflow engine entails changes to DACs and business logic, it may affect custom generic inquiries, customisation projects, import and export scenarios, and API integrations. For the complete list of changes, see Release Notes for Developers.

#### **UI Enhancements**

On multiple screens related to projects, construction, and time and expenses, the buttons representing the actions that are most relevant to the current status of the document opened on the screen are displayed as buttons on the screen toolbar, in addition to being included as menu commands on the Actions menu.

The **Hold** check box has been removed from the Summary area of these screens and replaced by the **Hold** and **Remove Hold** actions, which can be clicked on the screen toolbar as well as on the Actions menu.

With the new workflow, the value in the **Status** field of the Summary area cannot be selected manually. The system changes it automatically as users perform the corresponding actions, which have been included as menu commands on the Actions menu and can be also clicked on the screen toolbar.

### Project Manage

The order of commands on the Actions menu has been rearranged. Now the commands related to the document workflow are located at the top of the menu, and the commands not related to the workflow have been moved to the bottom of the menu. Also, the **Put on Hold** and **Re-open** actions have been renamed to **Hold** and **Reopen**, respectively.

Screen	Hold check box	Status field	Existing actions
Projects (PM301000)	Removed	Updated	Updated
Project Tasks (PM302000)		Updated	
Pro Forma Invoices (PM307000)	Removed		
Change Orders (PM308000)	Removed		
Change Requests (PM308500)	Removed		
Project Templates (PM208000)		Updated	
Cost Projection (PM305000)	Removed		
Request for Information (PJ301000)		Updated	Updated
Project Issue (PJ302000)		Updated	
Daily Field Report (PJ304000)	Removed		
Expense Claim (EP301000)			Updated
Expense Receipt (EP301020)			Updated
Employee Time Card (EP305000)			Updated
Equipment Time Card (EP308000)			Updated

The following table summarises the UI enhancements that have been introduced on the screens.

#### Example of the UI Changes to the Projects Screen

On the Projects screen (PM301000), the following changes have been introduced:

**Note:** Similar UI changes, which support the new workflow, have been made on the other screens, as listed in the previous section.

- The Hold check box has been removed from the Summary area.
- The **Status** field in the Summary area has become read-only.
- The Activate Project, Complete Project, Suspend Project, Cancel Project, and Hold menu commands have been added to the Actions menu.
- The **Run Project Billing** menu command, which duplicates the functionality of the button with the same name, has been added to the Actions menu.
- The **Create Change Order** and **Create Change Request** buttons have been removed from the screen toolbar, and the menu commands with the same name have been added to the Actions menu.

The following screenshot shows an example of a project with the "Active" status on the Projects screen. The **Complete Project** and **Run Project Billing** buttons are displayed on the screen toolbar, and the corresponding menu commands are included on the Actions

menu. Other menu commands that can be invoked for the project with this status are available for selection on the menu.

C □ □ □	+ 🖻	K	<	> >	COMPLETE PRO	DJECT RUN	I PROJECT B	ILLING	ACTIONS - INQUIRIES	<ul> <li>REPORTS</li> </ul>	
Project ID:	PRO	0000101	- Fixed Pr	ice - Software	Status:	Active	•	Actual I	Activate Project Complete Project		
Customer:	CUS	т000058	- NPC Ca	all Center	P 0			Actual I	1 2		L
Template:	FPI	<b>IPPROJ</b>	- Fixed Pri	ice - Software	Imp 🖉			Margin:	Suspend Project		L
Description:	Fixe	d Price -	Software I	mplementatio	n				Cancel Project		L
Currency Rate for Budget:	USE	1.0	65155767	- VIEW B	ASE				Run Project Billing		L
SUMMARY TASKS	REVENU	E BUDGE	т со	OST BUDGET	BALANCES	INVOICES	CHANGE O	RDERS	Copy Project		
PROJECT PROPERTIES	THE FEITO			501 202021		IECT ADDRESS			Create Template		ľ
	Task			-	PROJ				Change ID		ľ
PROJECT PROPERTIES				- -	PROJ	JECT ADDRESS			Change ID Create Change Request		,
PROJECT PROPERTIES . Revenue Budget Level:	Task	•			PROJ Add City	JECT ADDRESS			Change ID		
PROJECT PROPERTIES . Revenue Budget Level: Cost Budget Level:	Task Task				PROJ Add City	IECT ADDRESS Iress Line 1: : intry:			Change ID Create Change Request Create Change Order	ce	
PROJECT PROPERTIES - Revenue Budget Level: Cost Budget Level: * Start Date:	Task Task			• •	PROJ Add City Cou Stat	IECT ADDRESS Iress Line 1: : intry:			Change ID Create Change Request Create Change Order Run Allocation		
PROJECT PROPERTIES . Revenue Budget Level: Cost Budget Level: * Start Date: End Date:	Task Task			•	PROJ Add City Cou Stat Posl	IECT ADDRESS Iress Line 1: : : intry: ie:			Change ID Create Change Request Create Change Order Run Allocation Recalculate Project Balanc		
PROJECT PROPERTIES . Revenue Budget Level: Cost Budget Level: * Start Date: End Date: Project Manager:	Task Task	•	ET RATES	۰ ۰	PROJ Add City Cou Stat Pos Latit	JECT ADDRESS iress Line 1: : intry: ie: tal Code:			Change ID Create Change Request Create Change Order Run Allocation Recalculate Project Balan Auto-Budget Time and Ma		

### Automation Changes

If the organisation uses automation steps, import scenarios, or export scenarios for the screens listed above, users who work on customisations will need to redesign the automation of the processes related to the applicable screens by using the new workflow engine. For more information, see the "Creating Workflows" chapter in the MYOB Advanced Customisation Guide.

Users can still import documents with one of their possible initial statuses (such as In "Planning" and "On Hold") on the following screens where the **Hold** check box has been removed:

- Projects (PM301000)
- Pro Forma Invoices (PM307000)
- Change Orders (PM308000)
- Change Requests (PM308500)
- Cost Projection (PM305000)
- Daily Field Report (PJ304000)

On the following screens, to support the import of documents with a particular status except the status of an initially created document (such as "In Planning" or "On Hold"), the existing import scenarios should be updated to use the functionality of the corresponding actions:

- Projects
- Project Tasks (PM302000)
- Project Templates (PM208000)
- Request for Information (PJ301000)
- Project Issue (PJ302000)

## Service Management

### Customisation Improvements to Calendar Boards

The ability to customize the functionality for screens with calendar boards—Calendar Board (FS300300), Staff Calendar Board (FS300400), and Room Calendar Board (FS300700) screens—has been improved and extended.

The new Calendar Preferences screen (FS100500) has been designed. The Calendar Preferences screen (FS100200), which had the same name but less functionality related to customising the calendar board screens, has been removed.

On the new Calendar Preferences screen, a user sets up the colour layout of the appointment fields that the system shows on dashboards on the calendar board screens—that is, the fields representing appointments and showing when they occur. The user also specifies the visibility of the appointment fields for each appointment status.

On this screen, a user can also add or delete the columns to be displayed on the Service Orders and Unassigned Appointments tabs of the calendar board screens. The user can add custom columns, specify the order of these columns, and define the column visibility options.

The screen is shown and described in more detail in the following section.

#### The New Calendar Preferences Screen

The new Calendar Preferences screen (FS100500) has been designed to give the user control over the columns displayed on the Service Orders and Unassigned Appointments tabs of the calendar board screens. A user can add custom columns to the table, and hide or show any column. The user also specifies the desired order of these columns.

On this screen, a user can define the background and text colours of the appointment fields for each appointment status. The user can also modify the visibility of the appointment field (that is, whether it is visible or hidden in the calendar) for each status. Additionally, the user customises the information to be shown on appointment fields, specifying the fields whose values will be displayed in each appointment field. For each field, the user specifies an appropriate field name and adds a custom icon.

(	Calendar Preferences									
(	- - -									
_	STATUS COLOR APPOINTMENT BOX SERVICE ORDER UNASSIGNED APPOINTMENT									
SELECTED STATUS										
	* Backgroui	nd C	#c8c8c8							
	* Text Color		#6d6d6d							
	Ů + ×  ⊶  ⊠									
	ID	* Status	*Background Color	* Text Color	Visible					
>	В	Billed	#c8c8c8	#6d6d6d						
	С	Completed	#c8c8c8	#6d6d6d	$\checkmark$					
	н	On Hold	#e2e495	#6d6d6d	<b>~</b>					
	Ν	Not Started	#c5e3b1	#008a33						
	Р	In Process	#b2cfea	#247ab2						
	U	Paused	#e2e495	#6d6d6d	$\checkmark$					
	W	Awaiting	#fbb909	#6d6d6d	$\checkmark$					

The user specifies the needed settings on the following tabs of the Calendar Preferences screen:

• **Status Colour**: On this tab, the user, specifies the background and text colours of the appointment fields that the system shows on the calendar dashboard so that the colours are based on the predefined statuses. The user selects a row with the status in the table; then in the Summary area of the tab, the user selects a colour in the **Background Colour** field or the **Text Colour** field (or both fields).

A user can also specify the background and text colour for appointment fields for new statuses that can be defined in the system through customisation, if applicable. In this case, the user adds new rows to the table on the Calendar Preferences screen and then specifies the custom colours for appointment fields for each of these statuses.

- **Appointment Box**: On this tab, the user modifies the fields that will be displayed in the appointment fields on the dashboard on the calendar board screens. The user adds any number of custom fields (by adding each row to this table, selecting the object reference and entering field name, and defining an appropriate icon for this field). Also, the user can change the default order of the fields to be displayed by moving the rows up or down in this table.
- Service Order: On this tab, the user specifies the columns to be displayed on the Service Orders tab of the calendar board screens. To add a column, the user adds a row to this table and selects the object reference and column name for each row. The user specifies whether each column is visible or hidden by selecting or clearing the Visible check box. Also, the user can change the default order of the columns to be displayed by moving the rows up or down in this table.
- Unassigned Appointment: On this tab, the user specifies the columns to be displayed on the Unassigned Appointment tab of the calendar board screens. To add a column, the user adds each row to this table and selecting the object reference and column name for the row, and specifies whether a column is visible or hidden by selecting or clearing the Visible check box. Also, the user can change the default order of the columns to be displayed by moving the rows up or down in this table.

### Addition of AP Bills to Appointments and Service Orders

It is now possible to add an accounts payable bill to an appointment or a service order. A user can do this in two ways:

- On the Appointments (FS300200) or Service Orders (FS300100) screen, the user initiates the creation of an AP bill so that this bill will be linked to an appointment or a service order.
- On the Bills and Adjustments screen (AP301000), the user creates an AP bill and links an item or multiple items of the bill to an appointment or a service order.

To perform these operations, improvements have been made on the Appointments, Service Orders, and Bills and Adjustments screens.

#### Ability to Create an Accounts Payable Bill from an Appointment or a Service Order

On the Appointments (FS300200) and Service Orders (FS300100) screens, a user can now initiate the creation of an AP bill related to the appointment or service order, respectively. For this purpose, the **Create AP Bill** button has been added to the table toolbar of the Details tab on both screens. (The following screenshot shows this button on the Appointments screen.)

← 🕄 🗄	5	+ t	D D - K	$\langle \rangle \rangle$	I ARR	IVE PAU	JSE	COMPLETE	ACTIONS -	REPORTS -			
* Service Order	SSO - Sale	s P 0	Customer:	CUST000005 - A	MRO Bank	N.V.	0	Estimated Ser	0 h 00 m				
Appointment N	000682-1	Q	* Location:	MAIN - Primary L	ocation	Q	0	Actual Service	0 h 00 m				
Service Order	000682	0	Currency:	AUD 1.00	-	VIEW BASE		Tax Total:	23.75				
Status:	In Process		* Branch Location:	MAIN - Main		Q	0	Appointment T.					
Workflow Stage:	ASSESSM	ЕŅ	Project:	X - Non-Project C	ode.		Ø	Cost Total:	62.50				
* Scheduled Sta	8/06/2020	-						Profit (%):	510.00				
Actual Start D	25/11/2020	•							Waiting for P	urchased Items			
			Description:	Daily									
0 + <i>0</i>	1	TAX E ADD ITE Ref. Nbr.	DETAILS STAFF	RESOURCE	TAFF A	IT LOG ACTIONS - Inventory ID	CR	INANCIAL SETTI REATE EXPENSE Subitem E	RECEIPT CR		RIBUTES ⊷I 🛛	PREPAYMEN <u> t</u>	NTS TOTALS
Ċ + ℓ	×	ADD ITE Ref. Nbr.	ETAILS STAFF	RESOURCE I NBRS ADD S Line Type	TAFF A	ACTIONS -	CR	Subitem E	RECEIPT CR	EATE AP BILL	⊷  <u>x</u>		Equipment Action
<ul> <li>C + ∅</li> <li></li></ul>	X MAIN	ADD ITE Ref. Nbr. 0001	DETAILS STAFF MS LOT/SERIAL Line Status In Process	RESOURCE I NBRS ADD S Line Type Non-Stock I	TAFF A	ACTIONS - Inventory ID	CR	Subitem E	RECEIPT CR Billing Rule	EATE AP BILL Description Support Man Hours	⊷I X		Equipment Actio
Ů + ℓ 0 □ *Branch	X MAIN	ADD ITE Ref. Nbr.	ETAILS STAFF	RESOURCE I NBRS ADD S Line Type	TAFF A	ACTIONS -	CR	Subitem E	RECEIPT CR	EATE AP BILL	⊷I X		Equipment Ac

When the user clicks this button, the system opens the Bills and Adjustments screen (AP301000). The user specifies the details of the bill and saves it. In the **Related Svc. Doc. Type** and **Related Svc. Doc. Nbr.** columns of the Document Details tab of a bill, the user can see the document type and reference number, respectively, of the appointment or service order associated with each line of the bill.

If a user clicks the reference number link, the system opens the corresponding appointment document, in which the Details tab contains a new line for an item from the bill.

**Note:** When an AP bill is saved, the system always creates a new line in the service order or appointment, regardless of whether the same item has already been added to the document.

#### Ability to Link an Accounts Payable Bill to an Appointment or a Service Order

A user can now associate an accounts payable bill with an appointment or a service order. To do so, while creating an AP bill on the Bills and Adjustments screen (AP301000), for each line of the bill on the Document Details tab, the user selects the field service document (Appointment or Service Order) with which the AP bill will be associated in the **Related Svc. Doc. Type** column, and then selects the document's reference number from the list in the **Related Svc. Doc. Nbr** column. The user then saves the bill.

When the bill is saved, the system adds the line with the non-stock item from the AP bill to the appointment or service order details on the Details tab of the Appointments (FS300200) or Service Orders (FS300100) screen.

## Synchronisation Between an AP Bill and the Related Appointment or Service Order

A user will not be able to change the details of any AP bill item on the Appointments (FS300200) or Service Orders (FS300100) screen. To change the details, the user has to open the bill on the Bills and Adjustments screen (AP301000) and make the necessary corrections there. When the changes to the bill are saved, the system updates the applicable lines of the related appointment or service order with the changes made to these lines of the bill.

It is possible to add a bill to an appointment or a service order with the "Closed" or "Completed" status. In this case, the item or items of the bill affects the cost of the appointment or service order but is not reflected in the billing document.

### Changes in the Mobile App

In the mobile app, on the Details tab of the Appointments screen, the Create Bill action has been added to the Actions menu to give users the ability to create the bills related to an appointment or a service order.

### Ability to Make Corrections in a Field Service Document

A user can now correct data in field service documents—appointments, service orders, and service contracts—even if billing documents (sales orders, SO invoices, AR invoices, or AP bills) have already been generated from the corresponding field service document and released. Additionally, improvements have been made to the process of correcting a field service document that has a billing document generated from this service document but not yet released.

The options of correcting field service documents are described in the next several sections of this topic.

## Updating a Service Document if an AR Invoice Has Been Generated and Released

Once an AR invoice has been generated from a service document (for example, an appointment) and released, a user may decide that some corrections should be made to the service document; in this case, an AR invoice should be generated again with the new information and released. Corrections may be the following: changing stock items or non-stock items, updating some values (such as a quantity or a price), adding or removing detail lines, or changing tax information.

As of this release, the process of making these corrections to a field service document is the following: For an AR invoice that has been generated for a service document, the user creates an AR credit memo by using the **Reverse and Apply to Memo** action on the Actions menu on the Invoices and Memos screen (AR301000), and releases this credit memo.

Then in the previously generated invoice on the Invoices and Memos screen, the user clicks the link in the new **Related Svc. Doc. Nbr.** column of any line of the Document Details tab. The system opens the document on the Appointments (FS300200), Service Orders (FS300100), or Service Contracts (FS305700) screen. The user makes needed corrections to the service document and then generates a new AR invoice.

## Updating a Service Document if an SO Invoice Has Been Generated and Released

Once an SO invoice has been generated from a service document (for example, an appointment) and released, a user may decide that some corrections should be made to the service document; in this case, an SO invoice should be generated again with the new information and released. Corrections may be the following: changing stock items or non-stock items, updating some values (such as a quantity or a price), adding or removing detail lines, or changing tax information.

As of this release, when corrections must be made to a field service document after an SO invoice has been generated and released, the process has been changed. Now on the Invoices screen (SO303000), a user should create a document of the "Credit Memo" type, and manually enter all the details from the original invoice that has been generated for a service document in the Summary area. On the Details tab of the screen, the user adds the detail lines by clicking the **Add Return Line** button on the table toolbar (which opens a window where the user can select the lines of the needed SO invoice). Once the information is entered, a user saves and releases this SO credit memo.

Then in the original invoice, on the Invoices screen, the user clicks the link in the new **Related Svc. Doc. Nbr.** column of any line of the Details tab to open the service document on the appropriate screen. The user makes needed corrections to the service document and then generates a new SO invoice.

### Updating a Service Document if a Time Activity Has Been Generated and Released

Once a time activity has been generated from the Appointments screen (FS300200) and then released, a user can make the following corrections to the appointment on the Log tab of the Appointments screen: reducing or increasing the duration of the service tracked in the log lines, or changing any value in a log line (for example, the values specified in the **Earning Type, Start Time**, and **End Time** columns).

To make these corrections, the user identifies the number of the appointment associated with the released time activity on the Employee Time Activities screen (EP307000) in the **Appointment Nbr.** column. Then on the Appointments screen, the user makes the needed corrections in the appointment on the Log tab (in this release, the user can now add a negative value in the **Duration** column of the log line), save the appointment, and release new time activities.

### Updating a Service Document if Project Documents Have Been Generated but Not Released

This section is applicable only if the *Projects* feature is enabled on the Enable/Disable Features screen (CS100000) in MYOB Advanced.

This release includes improvements to the process of correcting a service document (such as an appointment) if a project transaction (and an inventory issue, if applicable) is generated from the service document but not released. Now a user deletes the project transaction (and any inventory issue); the user can then make the required corrections to the related service document. The system reallocates any stock items from the deleted project transaction to the initial service document (the system also saves serial numbers if the serialised stock items have been used), so that they can be used in when another project transaction is generated.

#### Updating a Service Document if Project Documents Have Been Generated and Released

This sections is applicable only if the *Projects* feature is enabled on the Enable/Disable Features screen (CS100000) in MYOB Advanced.

After a project transaction (and an inventory issue, if any) has been generated from a service document and released, a user might decide that some corrections should be made to the service document, and the new project transaction (and any inventory issue) should be generated and released.

In this case, a user now needs to use the new actions that are available on the Actions menu of the screen toolbar of the Appointments (FS300200) and Service Orders (FS300100) screens—**Run Appointment Bill Reversal** and **Run Service Order Bill Reversal**, respectively. For the released project transaction associated with the service document for which you have selected one of these actions, the system generates one reversed project transaction (a project transaction with similar settings but a negative amount and quantity) and releases the transaction. For the released inventory issue associated with the service document, the system generates a credit memo issue and releases it.

After that, the user makes the needed corrections to the service document and runs the billing process, which causes the system to create the new project transaction (and inventory issue, if applicable).

#### Updating a Service Document if a Billing Document Has Been Generated but Not Released

This release includes improvements to the process of correcting a service document if the billing document (sales order, SO invoice, AR invoice, or AP bill) generated from this service document is not released. Now when a user deletes an unreleased billing document that contains stock items with unique serial numbers, the system reallocates these stock items to the initial service document, so that the serial numbers are saved and can be used when another billing document is generated.

Once a user has deleted a billing document, the user can find the service document related to the deleted billing document by using the new Service Billing History screen (FS405000) (shown in the following screenshot). This screen shows the list of billing documents that have been generated from the field service documents, including deleted billing documents.

S	Service Billing History								
(	ン ACTIONS •	↔  X	Y						
	Svc. Doc. Type	Svc. Ref. Nbr.	Doc. Type	Referen Nbr.	Doc. Date	Doc. Status	Amount	Service Contract Billing Period	
>	Appointment	<u>NSO, 0011</u>	AR Invoice	<u>INV, 00094</u>	31/03/2020	Closed	825.00		
	Appointment	<u>NSO, 0011</u>	AR Invoice	<u>INV, 00103</u>	31/03/2020	Closed	660.00		
	Appointment	<u>NSO, 0011</u>	AR Invoice	<u>INV, 00104</u>	31/03/2020	Closed	720.00		
	Appointment	<u>NSO, 0011</u>	AR Invoice	<u>INV, 00094</u>	31/03/2020	Closed	600.00		
	Appointment	<u>NSO, 0011</u>	AR Invoice	<u>INV, 00103</u>	31/03/2020	Closed	660.00		
	Appointment	<u>NSO, 0011</u>	AR Invoice	<u>INV, 00104</u>	31/03/2020	Closed	825.00		

### Modified UI Elements on Some MYOB Advanced Screens

The following changes have been made on the Document Details or Details tab of the Invoices and Memos (AR301000), Invoices (SO303000), Bills and Adjustments (AP301000), and Sales Orders (SO301000) screens:

- The Appointment Nbr., Service Order Nbr., Location, and Service Appointment Date columns have been removed.
- The **Related Svc. Doc. Nbr.** column has been added. When a billing document is generated from a service document, the system inserts the related appointment, service order, or service contract document number in this column; the user can later click the link to navigate to the appropriate screen and view the service document quickly.

The following changes have been made on the Appointments (FS300200), Service Orders (FS300100), and Service Contracts (FS305700) screens:

• A new Billing Documents tab has been added (as shown in the following screenshot). The tab displays the list of all billing documents related to the appointment, service order, or service contract, respectively.

Appointments SSO 000364-	1 - Euro Hai	r Fas	shion						NOTES	ACTIVITIES	FILES	CUSTOMISATION	TOOLS
← [] []	∽ +	Û	Ô• K	<	>	×	ACTIONS -	REPO	RTS -				
Service Order	SSO - Sales 🔎	0	Customer:	CUST	000012	- Euro	Hair Fashion	0	Estimated Ser	0 h 00 m			
Appointment N	000364-1 🔎		Location:	MAIN	- Prima	ry Loca	tion	0	Actual Service	0 h 00 m			
Service Order	000364	Ø	Currency:	AUD	1.	00	<ul> <li>VIEW BASE</li> </ul>		Tax Total:	23.75			
Status:	Billed		Branch Locatio	n: MAIN	- Main			Ø	Appointment T	381.25			
Workflow Stage:	ASSESSMENT		Service Contra	ct:				0	Cost Total:	62.50			
Scheduled Sta	8/06/2020		Project:	X - N	on-Proje	ct Code	a.	0	Profit (%):	510.00			
Actual Start D	8/06/2020									Waiting for Pure	chased Iter	ms	
			Description:	Spec	fic Date	in a Mo	onth						
Č  ↔  X		X DE		FR	ESOUR	CE EQU	JIPMENT LOG		INANCIAL SETTIN	GS PROFITA	BILITY	BILLING DOCUMENT	S
୦ ା⊶ା ⊠			TAILS STAF	FR	ESOUR	CE EQU		F	INANCIAL SETTIN	GS PROFITA	BILITY	BILLING DOCUMENT	S
	Referen Nbr.	Des			ESOUR	CE EQU	Date S			GS PROFITA	BILITY	BILLING DOCUMENT	S

• The Billing Info section has been removed from the Other Information tab.

On the Service Orders screen (FS300100), the **Allocation** buttons on the table toolbar of the Details tab and the Allocations window have been renamed to **Line Details**.

### Changes to the Mobile App

The following changes have been made to the Appointments screen in the MYOB Advanced mobile app:

- On the Other Information tab, the Billing Info section has been removed.
- On the Additional tab, a new Billing Documents section has been added.

### Integration with Workflow Engine

The processing of service orders and appointments has been redesigned to use the improved MYOB Advanced workflow engine. New automated service order and appointment workflows have been developed based on this workflow engine.

With the new workflow, the state of a service order or an appointment—which is reflected in the Status field of the Service Orders (FS300100) or Appointments (FS300200) screen, respectively—is automatically changed by the system based on the actions a user clicks. These actions may be buttons on the screen toolbar or menu commands in the Actions menu.

The set of actions available on the Actions menu of the Service Orders and Appointments screens has also been updated, and the system dynamically displays the most relevant actions as buttons on the toolbar, in addition to showing them on the Actions menu.

For the processing of service orders and appointments, the system provides default workflow types, each of which provides a particular set of statuses to dynamically update the state of each service order or appointment. These workflow types are based on the user-selected behaviour of the service order type associated with a particular service order or appointments; the behaviour is a category that determines how service orders and appointments of the service order type are processed.

### Default Workflow Types

As mentioned, the system provides default workflow types, which in turn provide particular service order and appointment workflows.

On the Preferences tab (General Settings section) of the Service Order Types screen (FS202300), the system inserts a workflow type in the **Service Order Workflow Type** and **Appointment Workflow Type** fields depending on the behaviour that a user selects in the **Behaviour** field. If the user selects the "Regular", "Route", or "Internal" behaviour, the system inserts "Simple" in both the **Service Order Workflow Type** field and the **Appointment Workflow Type** field. (Because the "Simple" workflow type is associated with different statuses in service orders than in appointments, we will describe these workflow types separately.) If the user selects "Quote" in the **Behaviour** field, the system inserts "Quote" in only the **Service Order Workflow Type** field.

Thus, the following workflow types are available by default, based on the settings specified for the service order type on the Service Order Types screen:

- Service Order Workflow Type is set to Simple for the service order type: During the processing of a service order of the service order type, the system may assign the following statuses, which are predefined for the workflow type, to the service order: Open, On Hold, Awaiting, Completed, Closed, and Cancelled. The Awaiting status is new in this release.
- Appointment Workflow Type is set to Simple for the service order type: During the processing of an appointment of the service order type, the system may assign the following statuses, which are predefined for the workflow type, to the

appointment: Not Started, On Hold, Awaiting, In Process, Paused, Completed, Closed, Billed, and Cancelled. The Awaiting and Billed statuses are new in this release.

The following screenshot shows a service order type for which "Simple" is specified as the **Service Order Workflow Type** and as the **Appointment Workflow Type**.

Service Order Type: NSO	- ,0 🗸 Active			
Description: Norm	al Service Order			
PREFERENCES TIME BEH	AVIOR PROBLEM CODES ATTRIBUTE	S MAILING SETTINGS		
GENERAL SETTINGS		BILLING SETTINGS		_
Numbering Sequence:	SOORDER - SO Order 🖉 🖉	Generated Billing Documents:	AR Documents	•
Behavior:	Regular		Create AP Bills for Negative Balances	
Service Order Workflow Type:	Simple	* Default Terms for AR and SO:	NET30DAYS - Net 30 Days	0 0
Appointment Workflow Type:	Simple	Default Terms for AP:		0
	Complete Service Order When Its Ap	Use Sales Account From:	Customer/Supplier Location	•
	Close Service Orders When Its Appoi	* Combine Sales Sub. From:	PPP-PPP-PPP	
	Require Contact	General Subaccount:	L	P
	Require Customer Signature on Mobil		Bill Only Closed Appointments	
	Copy Notes From Customer	INTEGRATING WITH TIME & EXI	PENSES	_
	Copy Attachments From Customer		Require Time Approval to Close Appoi	
	Copy Notes From Customer Location		Automatically Create Time Activities fr.	
	Copy Attachments From Customer Lo	* Default Earning Type:	RG	P
	Copy Notes To Appoinment			
	Copy Attachments To Appoinment			
	Copy Line Notes To Invoice			
	Copy Line Attachments To Invoice			
	Start Appointment When Travel is Co			

• Service Order Workflow Type is set to Quote for the service order type: During the processing of a service order of the service order type, the system may assign the following statuses, which are predefined for the workflow type, to the service order: Open, Confirmed, Copied, and Cancelled. The Confirmed and Copied statuses are new in this release.

The following screenshot shows a service order type for which "Quote" is specified as the **Service Order Workflow Type**.

Service Order Type:	Active
Description: Quot	e Service Order
PREFERENCES TIME BEH	AVIOR PROBLEM CODES ATTRIBUTES MAILING SETTINGS
GENERAL SETTINGS	
Numbering Sequence:	QUOTE - Quote $\rho$
Behavior:	Quote
Service Order Workflow Type:	Quote
	Complete Service Order When Its Ap
	Close Service Orders When Its Appol
	Require Contact
	Require Customer Signature on Mobil
	Copy Notes From Customer
	Copy Attachments From Customer
	Copy Notes From Customer Location
	Copy Attachments From Customer Lo
	Copy Notes To Appoinment
	Copy Attachments To Appoinment
	Copy Line Notes To Invoice
	Copy Line Attachments To Invoice
	Start Appointment When Travel is Co

**Note:** A customiser can modify these sets of statuses and create new workflow types for service orders and appointments through the customisations process.

### Status-Based Colours of Appointment Fields

A user can specify the background and text colours of the appointment fields that the system shows on the calendar dashboard so that the colours are based on the predefined statuses. To do this, on the Status Colour tab of the Calendar Preferences screen (FS100500), the user selects a row with the status in the table; then in the Summary area of the tab, the user selects a colour in the **Background Colour** field and/or the **Text Colour** field.

(	Calendar Preferences										
C											
STATUS COLOR APPOINTMENT BOX SERVICE ORDER UNASSIGNED APPOINTMENT											
SELECTED STATUS											
	* Backgrou	nd C	#c8c8c8								
	* Text Color	r.	#6d6d6d								
	$\circ$ + × $\mapsto$ $\boxtimes$										
8	ID	* Status	* Background Color	* Text Color	Visible						
>	В	Billed	#c8c8c8	#6d6d6d							
	С	Completed	#c8c8c8	#6d6d6d	$\checkmark$						
	н	On Hold	#e2e495	#6d6d6d	$\checkmark$						
	Ν	Not Started	#c5e3b1	#008a33							
	Р	In Process	#b2cfea	#247ab2	$\checkmark$						
	U	Paused	#e2e495	#6d6d6d	$\checkmark$						
	W	Awaiting	#fbb909	#6d6d6d	$\checkmark$						
	Х	Canceled	#ebb6bf	#b1505a							
	Z	Closed	#c8c8c8	#6d6d6d	$\checkmark$						

A user can also specify the background and text colour for appointment fields for new statuses that have been defined in the system through customisation, if applicable. In this case, the user adds new rows to the table on the Calendar Preferences screen and then specifies the custom colours for appointment fields for each of these statuses.

To improve and ease the process of customising the calendar board screens, especially modification of the appointment fields on dashboards, the new Calendar Preferences screen (FS100500) was designed. The Calendar Preferences screen (FS100200), which had the same name but less functionality related to customising the calendar board screens, has been removed.

### Controlling the Workflow Stage Functionality

Because of the development of the new automated workflow functionality, which allows users to define an expanded set of statuses, the previous functionality of workflow stages now can be turned off (and turned on again, if needed) in the system. To control this functionality, the user can select or clear the new **Enable Workflow Stages** check box on the Service Management Preferences screen (FS100100).

Service Management Preferen	ces					
GENERAL SETTINGS CALENDARS A	AND MAPS MAILING SETT	ING	s			
NUMBERING SETTINGS				APPOINTMENT VALIDATION SE	TTINGS	_
* Batch Numbering Sequence:	PBATCH - Posting Batch	Q	0	Skills:	Warn	
* Staff Schedule Numbering Sequence:	SCHED - Staff Scheduling	Q	0	Service Areas:	Warn	
Equipment Numbering Sequence:	EQSCH - Equipment Schedu	Q	0	Licences:	Warn	
Licence Numbering Sequence:	LICNUM - License Number	Q	0	Overlapping Appointments:	Warn	
GENERAL SETTINGS						
Enable Time & Expenses Integration						
Enable Rooms						
Enable Default Staff in Service Orders						
Enable Default Resource Equipment in	Service Orders					
Enable Workflow Stages						
Manage Multiple Billing Options per Cu	stomer					
Alert About Open Appointments Before	Service Orders Are Closed					
Require Manual Filtering on Billing Form	ns					
Track Start and Completion Appointment	nt Locations					

Once the check box is cleared and the settings on the screen are saved, the workflow stages functionality is disabled in the system, and the Workflow Stages field disappears from the Summary area of the Service Orders screen (FS300100) and the Appointments screen (FS300200).

Note that with the workflow stages functionality enabled (that is, if the **Enable Workflow Stages** check box is selected), the settings specified for the workflow stages on the Workflow Stages screen (FS202100) (such as **Allow Complete**, **Allow Cancel**, **Allow Reopen**, **Allow Close**, **Allow Update**, and **Allow Delete**) will no longer be supported. The configuration of these settings will be available on the screen to support users in migrating to the new workflow.

#### UI Enhancements On Service Orders and Appointments Screens

The processes that are performed on the Appointments (FS300200) and Service Orders (FS300100) screens work as they did in the previous version. The UI on these screens has been enhanced to support the functionality of the new workflow engine.

The buttons representing the actions that are most relevant to the current status of the document opened on the screen are displayed as buttons on the screen toolbar, in addition to being included as menu commands on the Actions menu.

The **Hold** check box has been removed from the Summary area of these screens and replaced by **Hold** and **Remove Hold** actions, which can be clicked on the screen toolbar (when they appear there as buttons) as well as on the Actions menu.

With the new workflow, the value in the **Status** field of the Summary area is changed automatically by the system as users click actions, which have been included as menu commands on the Actions menu and can be also clicked on the screen toolbar.

The order of commands on the Actions menu has been rearranged. Also, most of the names of commands in the Actions menu were renamed or shortened.

The following screenshot shows a service order with the "Open" status on the Service Orders screen. It illustrates the buttons that appear on the screen toolbar for this status, and the corresponding menu commands included on the Actions menu.

← 🕄 🗄	∽ +	û ¢∙ K	< > > HOLD C	OMPLETE	SCHEDULE	ALLOW BILLING	ACTIONS -	REPORTS -	_
* Service Order	SSO - Sales 🔎	-	CUST000005 - AMRO Bank N.V.	0	Appointment D		Hold Remove Hold		
Service Order Status:	000760 ,0 Open	* Location: Currency:	AUD P 1.00 - VIEW B	ASE	Estimated Dur Tax Total:	0 h 00 m 69.20			
Workflow Stage:	ASSESSME $P$	* Branch Location:	MAIN - Main	P 0	Service Order	1,116.20	Cancel Complete		
* Date: Customer Order:	9/09/2020 -	Service Contract: * Project:	X - Non-Project Code.	0 0	Billable Total:	1,116.20 Waiting for Purchase	Close		
External Refer						Appointments Neede	d Unclose Schedule		
		Description:	Daily				Purchase		
SETTINGS	DETAILS TA	X DETAILS APPOIN	ITMENTS FINANCIAL SETTING	S ATT	RIBUTES PRI	EPAYMENTS TOTA	LS Allow Billing		R
Override			SERVICE ORDER S	SETTINGS			Schedule on S Schedule on C		
CONTACT			SLA:		-	-			

The following tables summarize the renamed actions on the Appointments and Service Orders screens.

#### Previous action name New action name Put on Hold Hold Complete Order Complete Cancel Order Cancel Reopen Order Reopen Close Order Close Unclose Order Unclose Run Service Order Billing Run Billing Copy to Service Order Сору Create Purchase Order Purchase Schedule Appointment Schedule Schedule on Calendar Board Schedule on Calendar Schedule on Staff Calendar Board Schedule on Staff Calendar

#### Actions renamed on the Service Orders screen

#### Actions renamed on the Appointments screen

Previous action name	New action name
Put on Hold	Hold
Start Travel	Depart
Complete Travel	Arrive

Start Appointment	Start
Pause Appointment	Pause
Resume Appointment	Resume
Complete Appointment	Complete
Cancel Appointment	Cancel
Reopen Appointment	Reopen
Close Appointment	Close
Unclose Appointment	Unclose
Clone Appointment	Clone
Run Appointment Billing	Run Billing
Create Purchase Order	Purchase
Schedule on Calendar Board	Schedule on Calendar
Schedule on Staff Calendar Board	Schedule on Staff Calendar
Send Email with Signed Appointment	Email Signed Appointment
Send Email Confirmation to Customer	Email Confirmation to Customer
Send Email Confirmation to Staff Member	Email Confirmation to Staff
Send Email Notification to Service Area Staff	Email Notification to Service Area Staff

### Other Improvements

### File Security Enhancements

In previous versions, the system calculated access rights to a file attachment by combining the access rights a user has to a screen (which was used when a file was uploaded) and to the entities linked to the file—for example, a file was uploaded by using the Sales Orders screen (SO301000) and then linked to a purchase order on the Purchase Orders screen (PO301000). In this case, users will have access to the file if they have access to at least one of the mentioned screens.

To make the configuration of file access more strict, an **Inherit Access Rights from Entities** check box has been added to the Access Rights tab of the File Maintenance screen (SM202510) (see the following screenshot). The check box is selected by default to preserve the previous system behaviour.

File Maintenance					
🗒 🖍 🗓 CI	HECK OUT UNDO CHECK	COUT UPLOAD NEW V	ERSION GE	T LATEST VERSION	SYNCHRONISATION -
File:	ReleaseNotes/Imag	ges/RN_2021_R1_OrderMgm	t_ Is Hidden	External Link:	http://localhost/MYOBAdvLiveDB20206/Frames/G
Checked Out By:				Wiki Link:	[Image:ReleaseNotes/Images/RN_2021_R1_Orde
Check Out Comment:				WebDAV Link:	
			h.		
VERSIONS ARTIC	LES ENTITIES ACCE	SS RIGHTS SYNCHRO	VISATION		
	☐ Is Public (the file ignores a	ccess rights and is visible to e	everybo		
	Inherit Access Rights from	Entities			
Wiki:		Q			
Primary Page:		Q			
Primary Screen:		Q			
Access Rights:	*Role Name	Access Rights			

If a system administrator clears the check box for a file, then users will have access to the file only if they have access to the screen specified for the file in the Primary Screen field on this tab.

#### Enhancements Related to Deleting Attachments

In MYOB Advanced, a user can attach multiple files to multiple entities and their details in the system. When an entity is deleted or some of its details are deleted, the entity's attached files remain in the database taking up space.

As of this release, the system will remove attached files and all their versions along with the entity they were attached to if there are no other links for these files in the system. If an attachment has links to other entities in the system, then the system deletes only the link to the entity that is to be deleted.

For example, suppose that the file **ABC.png** was uploaded and attached to a sales order using the Sales Orders screen (SO301000), and the same file was then linked to a purchase order. The system displays both entities the file is linked to on the Entities tab of the File Maintenance screen (SM202510).

Further suppose that a user deletes the sales order. The system deletes the link to the sales order for the **ABC.png** file, but keeps the file in the system because it is linked to the purchase order. If a user deletes the purchase order, then the system deletes the link for the file, verifies that the file has no other links on the Entities tab, and then deletes the file from the database.

## **User Interface**

### Screen Subtitles

As of this release, on the screen title bar of some screens, users can now view a screen subtitle under the screen title. A screen subtitle provides users with additional information about the entity they work with. For instance, upon opening any supplier record, a user will see the supplier ID and account name divided by a hyphen.

### UI Changes to Screen Titles

A screen subtitle represents the record ID and name, description, or additional information. A subtitle is located under the screen title on the screen title bar and is shown for all data entry screens, as shown in the screenshot below. Depending on the screen, a subtitle may consist of two or more parts.

1	Payments and App Payment 0002		artridg	ge W	orld Inc	3						
-	← 🖫 2	S	+	Î	Û•	к	<	>	Я	VOID	ACTIO	NS 🕶
	Туре:	Payment	•		Custome	r:	CUST	000019	) - Cartr	idge World	Inc	0
	Reference Nbr.:	000276	Q		Location:		MAIN	- Prima	iry Loca	tion		

- 1. Record type, which is shown if the type is a key element for the type of record
- 2. Record ID
- 3. Additional information about the record

For a new record, the system may display "New Record" as the subtitle. If the required screen fields are not empty when the screen is opened, the system will display the limited record details. For example, if you create an AP bill on the Bills and Adjustments screen (AP301000), the system will display "Bill" as the screen subtitle because the required **Type** field is filled by default with the "Bill" option. If you change the value of the **Type** field to "Credit Adj.", the system will change the subtitle to "Credit Adj.". However, if you create a task on the Task screen (CR306020), the system will display "New Record" in the screen subtitle because all required elements needed for creating a caption are empty by default.

### Creation Logic for the Screen Subtitle

To create the screen subtitle, the system searches for the record information based on predetermined logic that is tailored to the particular record and displays the parts of the subtitle as follows:

- The key information of the record, which is presented on the Summary area of the screen, such as the record type if it is a key element for the record, the record number or ID, or both of these. Key information can be taken from one element or multiple elements, depending on the screen. Key information is followed by a hyphen.
- The record description, or additional information, which is selected from the elements development has deemed most important to users.

### Examples of Screen Subtitles

Depending on the screen, the system may construct the subtitle from one setting or multiple settings. See the following examples of screen subtitles:

• Bills and Adjustments (AP301000): Because the Type and Reference Nbr. settings are both key elements, both of these settings are used before the hyphen (Bill 002608 in the example). For the description part of the subtitle, the supplier name (Empire BlueCross BlueShield) is used because it was determined to be important information for a user.

	∽ +		ACTIONS • INQUI	RIES - REPORTS -	
Туре:	Bill -	Supplier:	VSFP000002 Munich Electronics	Detail Total:	1,070.0
Reference Nbr.:	000411 🔎	Location:	MAIN - Primary Location	Discount Total:	0.0
Status:	Open	Currency:	USD 1.5588586 - VIEW BASE	GST Taxable Total:	0.0
		Terms:	NET30DAYS - Net 30 Days	GST Exempt Total:	0.0
Date:	1/06/2020	* Due Date:	1/07/2020 -	Tax Total:	0.0
Post Period:	12-2020	* Prompt Payme	1/06/2020  Pay by Line Track for TPAR	With. Tax:	0.0
Supplier Ref.:	673563		Joint Payees	Balance:	1,070.0

• **Customers (AR303000)**: The key element of the customer record is the customer ID (ASBLBAR in the example) which is used for the first part of the subtitle, before the hyphen. For the additional info that goes after the hyphen, the system uses the account name (Nautilus Bar SABL).

Customer CUST000002 - ABO	C Studios Inc.			
ς [] [] γ	+ 🗓 🗘 • ĸ <	> > VIEW ACCOUNT	ACTIONS - INQUIRIES -	REPORTS -
* Customer ID:	CUST000002 - ABC Studios Inc.	P Balance:	-428.00	
Customer Status:	Active	Prepayment Balance:	0.00	
* Customer Class:	LOCAL - Local Customers		-100.00	
GENERAL FINANC	IAL BILLING SHIPPING	LOCATIONS PAYMENT METHODS	CONTACTS SALESPERS	ONS ATTRIBUTES
ACCOUNT INFO		PRIMARY CONTACT		
* Account Name:	ABC Studios Inc.	Name:	Simpson Mill, Mr.	P 0
ACCOUNT ADDRESS		Job Title:	Marketing Manager	
	VIEW ON MAP	Email:	mill.simpson@abcstudios.con	

• Warehouses (IN204000): The key element of the record on this screen is the warehouse ID (RETAIL in the example), which is placed; the additional information for this type of record is the description of the selected warehouse (Retail Warehouse).

Warehouses MAIN - Main Wareho	ouse		
	+ 🖞 🗘 • K	< > >I AC	CTIONS • REPORTS •
* Warehouse ID:	MAIN	Location Entry:	Do Not Allow On-the-Fly En
* Branch:	RBYTEMAIN - Rapid 🔎	Avg. Default Returns C	Average -
Replenishment Class:	PURCHASE - Purch: P	FIFO Default Returns C	Average -
Description:	✓ Active Main Warehouse		

## Customisation

### Customising Screens of the Self-Service Portal

A developer can now customize MYOB Advanced Self-Service Portal by using the Customisation Project Editor. To open the Customisation Project Editor and start customising a screen, a developer should open the editor from the Publish Customisation screen (SM204505) or by using the Element Inspector. The Customisation Project Editor for the MYOB Advanced Self-Service Portal looks as shown in the following screenshot.

Customization Project	Editor		<u>Back</u> <u>Reload</u>
File Publish Extension Libr	ary Source Control		
SalesDemoDashboards	Portal Map		
Screens	ပံ 🖹 က X 🕂 R	ELOAD FROM DATABASE MAN	IAGE PORTAL MAP
Data Access Code	B Object Name Description	Last Modified By	Last Modified On
Files	> Salesperson Sales	admin admin	10/30/2020
Generic Inquiries (70)	Field Service Technician	admin admin	10/30/2020
Reports (5)	DB Project Employee T	admin admin	10/30/2020
Dashboards (25) Portal Map (101)	Project Consultant	admin admin	10/30/2020
Database Scripts	DB Sales Activities	admin admin	10/30/2020
System Locales	DB Vendor Performanc	admin admin	10/30/2020
Shared Filters (131)	DB Service Orders	admin admin	10/30/2020
Access Rights Wikis (1)	DB GL History	admin admin	10/30/2020
Business Events	DB Replenishment	admin admin	10/30/2020
User-Defined Fields	DB Cash By Period	admin admin	10/30/2020
	Engineering Change R	admin admin	10/30/2020
	DB Opportunities	admin admin	10/30/2020
	DB Request Items	admin admin	10/30/2020
	BI-Creation Date	admin admin	10/30/2020

Developers can customize the screens of the MYOB Advanced Self-Service Portal using the same techniques as they use for MYOB Advanced, which are described in the Customisation Guide.

The following items can be customised and added to a customisation project in the Customisation Project Editor for the Self-Service Portal:

- Screens
- Data access classes
- Code items
- Custom files
- Generic inquiries
- Reports
- Dashboards
- Elements of the portal map
- System locales
- Shared filters
- Access rights
- Wiki pages
- Business events

• User-defined fields

#### Note: Only items related to screens used on the portal are available in the

Customisation Project Editor for the Self-Service Portal. That is, a developer can customize only the screens and system entities that are added to the Portal Map page of the Customisation Project Editor or related to screens added to the Portal Map page.

The following entities are not available for customisation in the Customisation Project Editor for the Self-Service Portal:

- Import and export scenarios
- Mobile site map
- Web service endpoints
- Push notifications
- Analytical reports
- Webhooks

### Default Values of User-Defined Fields

For each screen that has user-defined fields configured, a customiser can now specify the default value for each user-defined field. Also, the Visibility tab of the Edit User Defined Fields screen (CS205020) has been renamed to Properties.

#### Specifying the Default Values

To specify the default values of user-defined fields, the customiser opens a screen where user-defined fields are available (see User-Defined Fields) and then selects **Customisation** > **Manage User-Defined Fields** on the screen title toolbar. On the Edit User Defined Fields screen (CS205020), which opens, the customiser opens the Properties tab (shown in the screenshot below).

In the **Document** field, the customiser selects the document type to which the settings should be applied. In the table, the customiser specifies the default values of the required attributes in the **Default** column. These values will be displayed on the screen when the user edits the user-defined fields.

The following screenshot shows the Properties tab with the Invoice document type selected and the default values specified in the **Default** column specified for the **Resolution Code** and **Workgroup ID** attributes.

← ADE	USER-DEFINE		MANAGE ATTRIE	UTES			
USER DEF	INED FIELDS	PROPERTIE	S				
Document:	<all></all>				•		
Č  ⊶	X						
• • •	X ed Attribute			Required	Hidden	Default	
• · ·	ed Attribute			Required	Hidden	Default	
User-Define	ed Attribute Date			Required	Hidden	Default Driver Update	

After the customiser has specified the appropriate settings for the screen and document types on the Edit User Defined Fields screen, the customiser then clicks the Back arrow

button on the screen toolbar to save the changes and go back to the screen that supports user-defined fields.

### Displaying the User-Defined Fields of the Document

On the User-Defined Fields tab of the screen to which the customiser returns, the fields for which the customiser has specified the Default values now contain these values. The following screenshot shows the default values specified for the User-Defined Fields tab of the Invoices and Memos screen (AR301000). When a user is entering values on this tab for a particular invoice or memo, they can change the default values, if needed.

Invoices and Memos Invoice 001457 - QRT financial set	<u>0</u> - K < > >I	PAY ACTION	IS - INQUIRIE	ES • REPORTS •		🗋 NOTE	S ACTIV	VITIES FILES
	Driver Update     Sales							
DOCUMENT DETAILS FINANCIAL DET	TAILS ADDRESS DETAILS	TAX DETAILS S	SALESPERSON C	OMMISSION APPRO	VAL DETAILS	DISCOUNT DE	TAILS /	APPLICATIONS
Ů + ⊘ × VIEW SCHEDU	ULE ⊣ 🕱 ⊥ੈ							
B D *Branch Inventory ID	Subitem Transaction Descr.	Quantity UOM	Unit Price	Ext. Discount Price Percent	Discount Amount	Retainage Amount	Manual Discount	Discount Code
> 0 D RBYTEMAIN CONSULTJR	0 PR00000081 wip: T	. 1.00 HOU	JR 120.00	120.00 0.000000	0.00	0.00		

### Improvements in Workflows

Improvements have been made to the workflow engine. These improvements are described in detail in the sections below.

### Mapping Workflow Actions

When a customiser creates a new action of the Workflow type on the Actions page of the Customisation Project Editor, the **Rights to Enable Action** field of the Action Properties window is populated with "Update" by default. (This window, which is shown in the screenshot below, can be invoked on the Actions page.) This means that for the action to be available on the screen, a user should have the access rights to edit the screen.

### Customisation

Action Properties						
* Action Name:			Action Type:		Workflow -	
Display Name:			loolbar Folder:		Top Level 🔹	-
Disabled:		•	Rights to Enable	Action:	Update -	
Hidden:		•	Rights to View Ad	ction:	•	
Dialog Box:		•			Expose to Mobile	
Processing Screen:		Q				
	Batch Mod	le				
FIELD UPDATE						
Ů + × ↑	↓ ⊢	• 🕅				
Active Field			From P Schema	New Value	e	Status
		No records found. Try to modify paramet		cords her	e.	
						OK CANCEL

#### Disabling Legacy Automation Steps

If a workflow that uses the new workflow engine is configured for a screen, automation steps are disabled and cannot be used, even if the new workflow has been published as code customisation. If a customiser tries to use the old automation steps on such a screen, the following warning is displayed on the Automation Steps screen (SM205000) for the **Screen ID** field: This screen uses the new workflow engine. All automation steps will be ignored.

#### Prohibiting the Customisation of Some of the Workflows

For some of the workflows, customisation may be prohibited by MYOB Advanced developers. In this case, for the State Identifier field of the Workflows page of the Customisation Project Editor, the following message is displayed: The predefined workflow for this screen cannot be customised.

#### Exposing Actions to the Mobile App

In the Action Properties window of the Customisation Project Editor, an **Expose to Mobile** check box has been added (shown in the screenshot below). If a customiser selects this check box, the selected action becomes available on the corresponding mobile screen. The check box is cleared by default.

To expose certain actions on the mobile screen, the customiser needs to make sure the **Expose to Mobile** check box is selected for each of these actions.

### Customisation

Action Properties				
* Action Name: Display Name: Disabled: Hidden: Dialog Box: Processing Screen:		Action Type: Toolbar Folder: Rights to Enable Action: Rights to View Action:	Workflow  Top Level Update  Expose to Mobile	
Č + × ↑	↓ ↓ x			
Active *Field	• • • •	From New Valu Schema	le	Status
	No records four Try to modify parar	nd. neters above to see records he	re.	
				OK CANCEL

### Upgraded Automated Warehouse Operations Engine

Developers can now use the upgraded automated warehouse operations engine. This section describes the steps a developer should perform to enable the engine.



The upgraded engine provides the following features:

- Improved customisation capabilities
- More structured, modular code that is easier to read and write

**Note:** The current version of MYOB Advanced uses the old engine, and the new engine is switched off by default. Customisation projects based on the old engine will publish successfully in the current version. We recommend that independent software suppliers (ISVs) and partners who have customised screens related to automated warehouse operations enable the new engine and rework their customisation packages within the current version.

To enable the new automated warehouse operations engine, a developer should perform the following steps:

- 1. Open the aspx file of any screen related to automated warehouse operations.
- 2. Locate the code that is similar to the following code.

<px:PXDataSource ID="ds" runat="server" Visible="True" Width="100%" TypeName="PX.Objects.SO.PickPackShipHost" PrimaryView="HeaderView"> <%--<px:PXDataSource ID="ds" runat="server" Visible="True" Width="100%" TypeName="PX.Objects.SO.WMS.PickPackShip+Host" PrimaryView="HeaderView">--%>

3. Delete the first <px:PXDataSource> tag from this code block.

Note: Commenting out the tag is not enough; a developer should delete it completely.

4. Remove comments from the second <px:PXDataSource> tag.

The resulting code block should look as follows.

<px:PXDataSource ID="ds" runat="server" Visible="True" Width="100%" TypeName="PX.Objects.SO.WMS.PickPackShip+Host" PrimaryView="HeaderView">

5. Refresh the page.

## **Mobile Development**

### Mapping Smart Panels to the Mobile App

A customiser can now map smart panels to the MYOB Advanced mobile app by using MSDL. (A smart panel is a complex window, as described in Dialog Box (PXSmartPanel).)

In the MYOB Advanced mobile app, smart panels are displayed as common screens.

For the mapping of smart panels, the following changes in MSDL have been made in this release:

- A new object named "dialog" has been introduced. A customiser should add this object inside the screen object to map a smart panel. Inside the dialog object, a customiser can map container and action objects.
- A new object named "action" has been introduced. A customiser should add this object inside the dialog object to map an action of a smart panel.
- The container object has been extended with the Boolean includeDialogActions property, which indicates whether a container includes an action of a smart panel.
- The recordAction, containerAction, selectionAction, and listAction objects have been extended with the redirectToDialog property. A customiser should assign the property the name of the window that the action should open.

### Example: Adding a Smart Panel on the Sales Orders Screen

The following code demonstrates how to map the Inventory Lookup smart panel, which is implemented in the Details tab of the Sales Orders screen (SO301000).

```
update screen SO301000 {
 update container "OrderSummary" {
   formActionsToExpand = 3
   add recordAction "AddInvBySite" {
     displayName = "Add Stock Item"
      redirect = true
     redirectToDialog = "SO301000D1"
    }
  }
 add dialog SO301000D1 {
   type = FilterListScreen
   openAs = List
   add action "Ok" {
     DisplayName = "Add&Close"
     DialogAnswer = "OK"
     closeDialog = true
    add action "Cancel" {
     DisplayName = "Cancel"
     DialogAnswer = "Cancel"
     closeDialog = true
   add action "AddInvSelBySite"
     DisplayName = "Add"
     closeDialog = false
    add container "InventoryLookupInventory"
      add field "Inventory"
```

### Platform API

```
add field "HistoryDate"
  }
  add container "InventoryLookup"{
   type = SelectionActionList
   includeDialogActions = true
   add field "QtySelected"
    add field "Selected" {
     special = "ListSelection"
    add field "Warehouse"
    add field "AlternateDescription"
    add listAction "AddInvSelBySite" {
     DisplayName = "Add"
    }
   add containerAction "Cancel" {
     displayName = "Cancel"
   add listAction "Ok"
    {
     DisplayName = "Add&close"
     after = Close
  }
}
```

## **Platform API**

### Moved Functionality

As of this release, some functionality has been moved as follows:

- The PXLogin class of the PX.Data namespace has been marked with the PXInternalUseOnly attribute, which means that this class is not intended for use by developers. Two services have been introduced that provide some of the functionality of the PXLogin class:
  - The service that implements the ILoginUiService interface: This service can be used from a customised login page to interact with the platform.
  - The service that implements the ILegacyCompanyService interface: With this service, developers can use some company-related methods that were previously available via the PXLogin class.
- Many members of the PXAccess class (which belongs to the PX.Data namespace) have been marked with the PXInternalUseOnly attribute, which means that they are not intended for use by developers. The service that implements the ICurrentUserInformationProvider interface has been introduced. This service provides the developers with some of the functionality of the PXAccess class.

**Note:** Some members of ICurrentUserInformationProvider are also marked with the PXInternalUseOnly attribute.

# **Resolved Issues**

The following tables detail the issues that are addressed by this release.

## Finance

Problem ID	Description
CE00013426 CE00012114 CE00013260 CE00013401	In some cases, Allocation Reversals posted to the original transaction period, even though transaction date belonged to a later period, resulting in an error. This has been resolved.
CE00011817 CE00010773 CE00016537	On the Production Order Details screen (AM209000), when selecting a config key on a new production order, items for the configuration were not added to the BOM. (When clicking <b>Configure</b> and recreating the configuration, the items were added.) This has been resolved.
CE00014549 CE00014481	In some cases, an error could occur when attempting to release Debit Adjustments on the Release AP Documents screen (AP501000). This has been resolved.
174466370635 173733720291	It was not possible to select a Source Branch on the Consolidation screen (GL103000) if the Ledger type was "Budget". This has been resolved.

## Distribution

Problem ID	Description
<b>CE00009659</b> CE00009592 CE00011038 CE00012203 CE00012480	The error message "The given key was not present in the dictionary" could occur when adding lines to a sales order. This has been resolved.
CE00013431 CE00012183	An error message occurred when attempting to correct an invoice, if an item was sold from a Warehouse location that had <b>Receipt Allowed</b> unticked. This has been resolved.
CE00013506 CE00011887	Sales Orders of type TR (transfer) did not display details in some of the columns on the Inventory Transfers list screen (IN3040PL). This has been resolved.
CE00014277 CE00014051	In some cases, payment references were not inserting/updating via the API when assigning a payment to a sales order. This has been resolved.
CE00015128 CE00014371	When copying a Stock Item, if the original stock item had an image on the Attributes tab, the new stock item will have the same <b>ImageUrl</b> as the original, but the image would not appear. This has been resolved.

## **Project Management**

Problem ID	Description
<b>CE00013385</b> CE00012902 CE00015005	In some cases, the PM History balances were always out, requiring the Validate Project Balances to be run regularly. This has been resolved.
CE00013996 CE00012735	In some cases, project costs were converted incorrectly based on the UOM on the Project Quotes screen (PM304500). This has been resolved.

## Service Management

Problem ID	Description
CE00012994 CE00012924	In some cases, Service Orders were not allocating stock, even though stock was still available. This has been resolved.

## **Customer Portal**

Problem ID	Description
CE00013973 CE00013802	Customer Portal did not observe the <b>Apply Line Discounts to Prices</b> <b>Specific to:</b> option selected on the Accounts Receivable Preferences screen (AR101000). This has been resolved.

## System and Platform

Problem ID	Description
CE00013441 CE00013414	This release includes performance improvements to the Generate Recurring Transactions screen (GL504000).
CE00013970 CE00014018	This release improves performance when moving transactions on the Move screen (GL504000).